Copyright: The author, Michaela Louise James, 2021.



ACTIVE CHILDREN THROUGH INDIVIDUAL VOUCHERS – EVALUATION (ACTIVE): A MIXED METHOD RANDOMISED CONTROL TRIAL TO IMPROVE THE CARDIOVASCULAR FITNESS AND HEALTH OF TEENAGERS

Michaela Louise James

Submitted to Swansea University in fulfilment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Swansea University

2021

ABSTRACT

To experience the health benefits of physical activity, it is recommended that children and young people take part in at least 60 minutes of moderate to vigorous activity on average per day across the week. In Wales, only 11% of girls and 20% of boys are reported to meet these government recommendations with accessibility (e.g., cost and lack of local facilities) cited as the main barrier to participation. To date, interventions have experienced short-term success. These interventions often place emphasis on policymakers as the leaders, or experts on the matter in question. However, this can result in a disconnect between what is provided and what the group receiving the intervention value and need. The Active Children through Individual Vouchers – Evaluation Project (ACTIVE), funded by the British Heart Foundation (BHF), aimed to empower teenagers and tackle accessibility barriers to improve the physical activity, cardiovascular fitness, motivation and heart health of those aged 13 - 14 in south Wales. This study was co-produced by teenagers from its inception to delivery of the ACTIVE intervention and included a multi-component intervention encompassing a voucher scheme, peer mentoring and support worker engagement. The ACTIVE RCT had a positive impact on cardiovascular fitness and blood pressure as well as perceptions of activity. The findings from observational data provide some key predictors of teenage health which can be used to be proactive in promoting healthy behaviours in young people and identifies some protective factors which can be promoted to families and first-time parents. The key message from ACTIVE is that young people want to have their say in activity provision so that they can increase their opportunities to participate in unstructured, fun and social activity in their local communities. To improve physical activity, more should be done to listen to teenagers as to what they want and need.

DECLARATIONS AND STATEMENTS

This work has not previously been accepted in substance for any degree and is not being concurrently submitted in candidature for any degree.

Date 23/02/2021

This thesis is the result of my own investigations, except where otherwise stated. Where correction services have been used, the extent and nature of the correction is clearly marked in a footnote(s).

Other sources are acknowledged by footnotes giving explicit references. A bibliography is appended.

Date 23/02/2021

I hereby give consent for my thesis, if accepted, to be available for photocopying and for inter-library loan, and for the title and summary to be made available to outside organisations.

Signed (candidate)

Date 23/02/2021

This thesis has followed the University's ethical procedures and, where appropriate, that ethical approval has been granted.

Date 23/02/2021

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	1
LIST OF TABLES AND FIGURES	2
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	3
INTRODUCTION	5
1.1 Adolescence: A key period of change	5
1.2 Defining physical activity	5
1.3 Physical (in)activity	9
1.4 Facilitators of activity	11
1.5 Barriers to being physically active	12
1.6 Motivation to be active; Self-Determination Theory	14
1.7 The ACTIVE Project	15
1.8 The feasibility study	15
1.9 The ACTIVE RCT	16
AUTHORS CONTRIBUTION AND THESIS SIGNIFICANCE	18
2.1 Conception of the work	18
2.2. Data collection	18
2.3 Data analysis and interpretation	19
2.4 Thesis contribution to knowledge and significance	19
LITERATURE REVIEW	21
3.1 Publication descriptives	22
3.2 How important is physical activity and what facilitates it?	23
3.3 What stops teenagers from being active?	26
3.4 The importance of considering motivation	31
3.5 Using young people's voices to underpin activity promotion	32

3.6 What type of interventions have been used to improve teenage fitne	ss and
activity?	
3.7 Summary of the literature	44
3.8 The ACTIVE feasibility study and the ACTIVE RCT – building on	the
literature	
METHODS	
4.1 Trial Design	48
4.2 Participants	48
4.3 The intervention	
Physical activity vouchers	
Peer mentoring scheme and advocacy	51
Support worker engagement	52
Control schools	53
4.4 Aims	53
Primary aim	53
Secondary aims	54
4.5 Data collection	
Cardiovascular fitness (Cooper Run Test [CRT])	55
Physical activity (actigraph accelerometers)	56
Motivation (exercise motivation questionnaire (BREQ-2))	56
Cardiovascular health (blood pressure and pulse wave analysis [PWA])	57
Accessibility modelling	58
Adolescents' views (focus groups)	59
Data linkage	60
4.6 Analysis	60
4.7 ACTIVE's initial work	64
EXPERIMENTAL RESULTS	66
5.1 Teenage recommendations to improve physical activity for their ag	e group
- setting the scene for the ACTIVE intervention	
Lower/remove of the cost of activities without sacrificing the quality	

Improve local access to physical activity opportunities	67
Improving the standards of existing facilities	68
Make activities more specific to teenagers	72
Give teenagers a choice and variety of activities	72
Provide activities that teenage girls can enjoy	73
How did the recommendations feed into ACTIVE?	73
5.2 Results from the ACTIVE RCT	74
Voucher use	75
5.3 Primary aims of ACTIVE	80
Cardiovascular fitness	81
Physical activity (MVPA)	95
5.4 Secondary aims of ACTIVE	96
Exercise motivation (BREQ-2)	96
Cardiovascular health (blood pressure and pulse wave analysis)	96
Impact of the intervention	96
5.5 What works best when implementing a physical activity intervention	n for
teenagers? Reflections from the ACTIVE Project	98
teenagers? Reflections from the ACTIVE Project	 98 98
teenagers? Reflections from the ACTIVE Project Ability to choose own activities Using external influences (e.g. peer mentors and a support worker)	 98 98 99
teenagers? Reflections from the ACTIVE Project Ability to choose own activities Using external influences (e.g. peer mentors and a support worker) The intervention's settings	 98 98 99 100
teenagers? Reflections from the ACTIVE Project Ability to choose own activities Using external influences (e.g. peer mentors and a support worker) The intervention's settings	98 98 99 100 101
 teenagers? Reflections from the ACTIVE Project	
teenagers? Reflections from the ACTIVE Project	
 teenagers? Reflections from the ACTIVE Project	
teenagers? Reflections from the ACTIVE Project	98 98 99 100 101 101 102 103 104
teenagers? Reflections from the ACTIVE Project Ability to choose own activities. Using external influences (e.g. peer mentors and a support worker) The intervention's settings. 5.6 Discussion of experimental results Voucher use Cardiovascular fitness and physical activity. Motivation. Cardiovascular health What works when implementing a physical activity intervention for young	98 98 99 100 101 101 102 103 104 g
teenagers? Reflections from the ACTIVE Project Ability to choose own activities. Using external influences (e.g. peer mentors and a support worker) The intervention's settings. 5.6 Discussion of experimental results Voucher use Cardiovascular fitness and physical activity. Motivation. Cardiovascular health What works when implementing a physical activity intervention for young people?	98 98 99 100 101 101 103 104 g 104
teenagers? Reflections from the ACTIVE Project Ability to choose own activities. Using external influences (e.g. peer mentors and a support worker) The intervention's settings. 5.6 Discussion of experimental results. Voucher use Cardiovascular fitness and physical activity. Motivation. Cardiovascular health What works when implementing a physical activity intervention for young people? OBSERVATIONAL RESULTS – OUTCOMES FROM LINKED DATA	98 98 99 100 101 101 102 103 104 g 104 AND
teenagers? Reflections from the ACTIVE Project Ability to choose own activities. Using external influences (e.g. peer mentors and a support worker) The intervention's settings. 5.6 Discussion of experimental results Voucher use Cardiovascular fitness and physical activity. Motivation. Cardiovascular health What works when implementing a physical activity intervention for young people? OBSERVATIONAL RESULTS – OUTCOMES FROM LINKED DATA AGIS	98 98 99 100 101 101 102 103 104 g 104 g 104 g 104 g 104
teenagers? Reflections from the ACTIVE Project Ability to choose own activities. Using external influences (e.g. peer mentors and a support worker) The intervention's settings. 5.6 Discussion of experimental results Voucher use Cardiovascular fitness and physical activity. Motivation. Cardiovascular health What works when implementing a physical activity intervention for young people? OBSERVATIONAL RESULTS – OUTCOMES FROM LINKED DATA . GIS 6.1 Predictors of cardiovascular health in teenagers: a cross-sectional st	98 98 99 100 101 101 102 103 104 g 104 g 104 g 104 mD 107 107 udy
 teenagers? Reflections from the ACTIVE Project	98 98 99 100 101 101 102 103 104 g 104 g 104 g 107 udy 107

Blood pressure	
Cardiovascular fitness	111
6.2 The impact of a teenager's environment on physical activity leve	ls and
fitness	112
Moderate to vigorous physical activity	114
Fitness	115
Path analysis	116
6.3 Discussion of observational results	117
DISCUSSION	122
7.1 Summary of key findings	122
7.2 Implications of ACTIVE for promoting fitness and physical activ	vity 124
7.3 What works best when promoting activity in teenagers? Give the	em a
voice	
7.4 What about external support for young people?	129
7.5 Wider community benefits and learning from ACTIVE	131
7.6 Lessons learned and future implications	134
7.7 Limitations	
7.8 ACTIVE's take home messages	
CONCLUSION	
8.1 ACTIVE's primary aims (the experimental arm)	
8.2 ACTIVE's secondary aims (the observational arm)	140
8.3 Concluding remarks	141
THE FUTURE FOR ACTIVE	
8.1 ACTIVE 2.0	145
REFERENCES	147
Appendix 1 Bronfenbrenner's Socioecological Model	170
Appendix 2 Literature for review	171

Appendix 3 ACTIVE Protocol Paper23	57
Appendix 4 Information sheets, parent and pupil consent forms	15
Appendix 5 Behavioural Regulation in Exercise Questionnaire (BREQ-2) 25	55
Appendix 6 Topic Guides25	57
Appendix 7 Variable List27	7
Appendix 8 Teenage Recommendations To Improve Physical Activity For Thei	ir
Age Group28	34
Appendix 9 Recruitment of Activity Providers29	13
Appendix 10 Active Children Through Individual Vouchers Evaluation: A	
Mixed Method RCT 29)4
Appendix 11 What Works Best When Implementing a Physical Activity	
Intervention For Teenagers?)6
Appendix 12 Predictors of Cardiovascular Health in Teenagers (aged 13 – 14	
years): A Cross-Sectional Study Linked with Routine Data	3

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Firstly, I would like to thank the British Heart Foundation for funding ACTIVE. Without their support, the project would never have existed. I would also like to thank my supervisors Prof. Sinead Brophy and Dr. Richard Fry for their guidance, motivation and knowledge. Thank you, Sinead, for believing I am capable and giving me the confidence to pursue a doctorate. You have been a great mentor and advisor in this process. Richard was kind enough to offer his support after the passing of Prof. Damon Berridge. For this, I am truly grateful as he has provided constant support and guidance. I need to acknowledge the early input of Damon, who made statistics feel a lot less terrifying for someone who feels much more comfortable communicating in pictures and words. He was one of a kind and I feel privileged to have worked with him for a short time.

I need to thank all the schools, all the activity providers who helped deliver activities and the stakeholders involved with ACTIVE. Without them this project would not have been successful. I especially need to acknowledge the contribution of the teenagers. Thank you for sharing your thoughts and feelings with me. You are not too small to make a difference. Please keep sharing your voice. Shout loud on all matters than affect you; it is your right to be heard. I will do my upmost to continue the legacy you have created with ACTIVE.

I would like to thank my family for their unrelenting support not just through this thesis but in my life in general. I consider myself very lucky to be from a family who care so deeply about me pursuing my passions. I need to also thank my friends who have been a welcome distraction from the analysis and the writing. I need to thank Owen, who has been a sounding board and huge influence in the way I approached this work.

Last but not the least, Ceri, who believes in me more than I believe in myself. Through the good and the bad days, I would not have done any of this without you.

LIST OF TABLES AND FIGURES

Table 1 Inclusion criteria for literature review.	21
Table 2 Braun and Clarke's thematic analysis	63 - 64
Table 3 Key quotes from recommendations focus group	69 – 71
Table 4 Demographics of schools for experimental outcomes	75
Table 5 Frequency of voucher use by gender	77
Table 6 Regression outcomes for voucher use.	79
Table 7 Reasons for lack of voucher use	80
Table 8 Intervention compared to control in terms of outcomes	82 - 93
Table 9 Regression outcomes for fitness	94
Table 10 Regression outcomes for fitness and voucher use	94
Table 11 Regression outcomes for MVPA	95
Table 12 Participant demographics for cardiovascular health outcomes	.107 - 108
Table 13 Regression outcomes for AIx	108 - 109
Table 14 Regression outcomes for blood pressure	110 - 111
Table 15 Regression outcomes for fitness and cardiovascular health	.111 - 112
Table 16 Participant demographics for built environment	112 - 114
Table 17 Regression outcomes for MVPA and built environment	115
Table 18 Regression outcomes for fitness and built environment	116

Figure 1 Flow diagram of literature search	22
Figure 2 ACTIVE data collection and timeline	49
Figure 3 Participant flow	74
Figure 4 Frequency of voucher use	76
Figure 5 Voucher use by month	76
Figure 6 Voucher use by school	76
Figure 7 Voucher use by fitness and gender	78
Figure 8 Voucher use by fitness and school deprivation	79
Figure 9 Path analysis of predictors of cardiovascular health in teenagers	109
Figure 10 Path analysis of built environment	117

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- WHO The World Health Organisation
- MVPA Moderate to Vigorous Physical Activity
- MET Metabolic Equivalent; Muscle Energy Technique
- PE Physical Education
- UK United Kingdom
- NCD Non-communicable Disease
- UNCRC United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child
- WFGA Wellbeing of Future Generations Act
- BME Black and Minority Ethnic
- AYPP Active Young People Programmes
- SDT Self-Determination Theory
- ACTIVE Active Children through Individual Vouchers Evaluation
- BHF British Heart Foundation
- RCT Randomised Control Trial
- FSM Free School Meals
- BMI Body Mass Index
- GIS Geographic Information Systems
- MPAM-R Motivation for Physical Activity Measure Revised
- BOKS Build Our Kids Success Programme
- WISH Walking In Schools Intervention
- PLAN-A Peer-Led physical Activity iNtervention for Adolescent girls
- GLAMA Girls! Lead! Achieve! Mentor! Activate! Project
- ASSIST A Stop Smoking In Schools Trial
- BGDP Bristol Girls Dance Project
- WIMD Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation
- AYP Active Young People
- CRT Cooper Run Test
- BREQ-2 Behavioural Regulation in Exercise Questionnaire
- NHANES National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey
- RAI Relative Autonomy Index
- PWA Pulse Wave Analysis

- AP Augmentation Pressure
- AIx Augmentation Index
- SAIL Secure Anonymised Information Linkage
- $CVD-Cardiovascular\ Disease$
- MICE Multiple Imputation by Chained Equations
- SEM Structural Equation Modelling
- ALF Anonymous Linking Field
- NCCHD National Community Child Health Database

TECC – Tagged Electronic Cohort Cymru

- CI Confidence Interval
- TA Thematic Analysis
- GP General Practitioner

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Adolescence: A key period of change

The teenage years involve many physical, emotional and cognitive changes. It marks the period of adolescence; defined as the period of development between childhood and adulthood (1). The beginning of adolescence is loosely attached to the onset of puberty (2) and ends at the point an individual attains a stable, independent role in society (3). During this time, teenagers begin to make decisions independently and therefore they become advocates of their own health and behaviours. Adolescence and the onset of puberty is associated with changes in motivations, psychology and social life/influence of peers (2). Along with the psychological changes associated with puberty comes the potential to make decisions with elevated risk such as experimenting with alcohol, tobacco and drugs (4). Risky behaviours coupled with an increasing trend in physical inactivity is a public health issue for the future health and wellbeing of young people.

Participation in sport and physical activity has been identified as one way of encouraging positive youth development (5). The United Kingdom's Department for Education states that sport is one of the five foundations for building character, developing resilience, determination and self-belief and instilling values of friendship and fair play (6). Being physically active in school and in the community is thought to promote better health behaviours and less risky behaviour in young people.

1.2 Defining physical activity

The World Health Organisation (WHO) defines physical activity as "any bodily movement produced by skeletal muscles that requires energy expenditure" (7, p.14). Original guidelines from the WHO stated that children and young people aged 5 - 17 years old should accumulate at least 60 minutes of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity (MVPA) daily (8). In 2020 these guidelines were updated from 'at least' to 'an average of 60 minutes of physical activity per day per week' reflecting evidence gathered by the WHO's Guideline Development Group (9,10). This should be of moderate to vigorous intensity and mostly aerobic activity across the week with the belief that some physical activity is better than none (9).

The WHO defines moderate-intensity physical activity as any activity with a MET value between 3 and 5.9 and vigorous-intensity physical activity as ≥ 6 MET (11). A MET refers to 'metabolic equivalents' and are used to explain the intensity of activities. A single MET would be the cost of 'sitting quietly' and is the equivalent to a caloric consumption of 1kcal per kilogram of bodyweight per hour (12). This includes aerobic activities such as play, games, sports, transportation, recreation, physical education (PE), or planned exercise in the context of family, school and community activities (8).

These guidelines were recently updated by the four nations in the United Kingdom (UK) (England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland) drawing on the new evidence presented by the WHO. They echo that children and young people should engage in MVPA for an average of at least 60 minutes on average per day across the week (13). The new guidelines allow for the accumulation of activity throughout the week rather than a specific total per day, allowing a more flexible approach to achieving physical activity recommendations. The guidelines include all forms of activity such as PE, active travel, after-school clubs, play and sports. The rationale behind these guidelines is that this 60-minute threshold is required for health benefits. The benefits include improvements in body composition and the reduced risk of being overweight/obese, improved cardiorespiratory, cardiovascular and muscular fitness, improved cardiometabolic health (blood pressure and insulin resistance), the reduced risk of non-communicable disease (NCD) and improved bone health (9,14,15). Being active also has an impact on mental health by increasing wellbeing, self-esteem and socialization opportunities (16,17).

Fitness in reference to the cardiorespiratory system (the heart and lungs), cardiovascular system (the heart and blood vessels) and musculoskeletal system (bones, muscles, ligaments, tendons and connective tissue) is important in early life. It has a protective value preventing the risk of NCDs in later life (18,19). One such NCD, cardiovascular disease (CVD), is the leading cause of mortality and morbidity worldwide (19). CVD risk factors should be low in young people but the rise in childhood inactivity and poor cardiovascular fitness in particular has led to an increase in prevalence and potential impact on lifetime CVD risk (20,21). Therefore, improving activity levels and cardiovascular fitness is important to benefit the cardiovascular health of the general population.

The UK has the tenth-highest rates of obesity globally with 26% of the population reported as obese (22) and 14% of children reported as overweight (23). The WHO regards obesity as one of the most serious public health challenges of the 21st century (24). The consequences of inactivity are not just a health issue, they are a social one too. It brings people together to enjoy shared activities and contributes to building strong communities. The Chief Medical Officers for the four nations describe physical activity in a compelling way; "If physical activity were a drug, we would refer to it as a miracle cure, due to the great many illnesses it can prevent and help treat" (13, p.3).

In early years and childhood there is a focus on 'play' as a form of physical activity but also as a way of learning. Wales adopted a play-based curriculum for pupils between the ages of 3 - 7 in 2008 following a global trend that saw school subjects clustered into more holistic areas of learning (25). Play is defined as "...freely chosen, personally directed and intrinsically motivated" (26, p.14) and is performed for no reward but is fundamental for health development (27). Wales has become the first country to legislate for play publishing its play policy in 2002 and subsequent relevant guidance (26,27). Welsh Government policy states that play can reduce inequalities due to its accessibility and is critically important to all children in the development of physical, social, mental, emotional and creative skills (27). There is also importance placed on the role of play in physical literacy, defined as "the motivation, confidence, and physical competence, knowledge to value and take responsibility for engagement in physical activities for life." (25, p.432). Thus allowing activity to be confidently sustained into adulthood (28). This has been underpinned by the child's right to play enshrined in the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) (29). Article 31 of the UNCRC calls for young people to be able to participate fully and equally in recreation and leisure activity. It also calls for them to have a right to be heard and taken seriously on all matters affecting them (Article 12) and to gather and use public space (Article 15). The UNCRC defines being a child as being under the age of 18 (29,30) therefore teenagers have a right to be offered this opportunity too.

Rather than the concept of play, physical activity and 'sport' in its traditional form is upheld for older children in the UK's secondary schools in the national curriculum as PE. Promoting the widely believed spiritual, moral, cultural, mental and physical development of pupils (31) attributed to participation in the form of football, netball, rugby and hockey. The Education Act (2002) prohibits prescribing the amount of time to be spent on any curriculum subject, and as a result the UK government does not set a target for how much curriculum time schools must dedicate to PE (31). However Department for Education guidelines recommend schools provide a minimum of two hours per week (32) but with increasing pressure for schools to perform in formative assessments time dedicated to PE is reduced as pupils progress through secondary school.

On average pupils in Key Stage 4 (aged 14 - 16) receive 98 minutes of dedicated PE time each week (31). The minimum content changes as a pupil transitions through key stages. The PE curriculum is much more prescriptive in early key stages (e.g. athletics, football, netball), ending at Key Stage 4 where individuals are given the opportunity to plan and participate in a regular and balanced programme of PE (33).

In 2011 the Welsh Government committed to make physical literacy as important as reading or writing to develop a physically literate nation as a key part of improving engagement with lifelong physical activity (34). The Welsh national curriculum is at an important juncture with the proposal of a new curriculum to be rolled out nationally by 2022 (35). Since 2016 the Welsh Government has worked with a network of pioneer schools and experts to co-produce a curriculum that better reflects wider national and societal needs. Within this proposed new format health and wellbeing features as one of the six areas of learning and experience, thus

assuming a much more prominent position on the school agenda. Moreover developing physical health and wellbeing and participating in regular physical activity is explicitly mentioned (36) with a focus on developing and promoting confidence, enthusiasm, commitment and the self-motivation to do so.

1.3 Physical (in)activity

Globally, it is estimated that 80% of teenagers are not sufficiently active (37). In Wales only 11% of girls and 20% of boys are reported to meet recommendations (38). The Active Healthy Kids Report, a global alliance of 52 countries worldwide, ranked Wales a 'D+' for physical activity and an 'F' for sedentary behaviour with 80% of children reporting sitting for two or more hours in their free time (39). There is an increasing trend for teenagers to be sedentary due to the increased availability of electronic forms of entertainment (the internet, television, mobile phones and video games) (40). Evidence shows that physical activity continues to decline throughout adolescence (14) and that there are differences in boys and girls, with girls likely to be less active (17,41–44).

Although physical activity and MVPA decreases in both boys and girls, this decline is much steeper in girls (17). According to the Active Healthy Kids – Wales 2018 Report (45), a significant effort needs to be made to address the very high levels of sedentary behaviour among young people in Wales. This has been echoed in a joint statement from Public Health Wales and Sport Wales who together state that the passive attitude towards activity, where movement and exercise is viewed as a personal choice, is not sustainable and is an issue that needs to be addressed (46).

Wales has world-leading legislation which puts the country in a unique position to make progress with physical activity in young people. Developments in the new curriculum and legislation such as the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act (WFGA) (47), the Active Travel Act (48) and the previously mentioned Play legislation (27) requires public bodies to make provision and to implement change in the pursuit of economic, social, environmental and cultural wellbeing of Wales. The WFGA features seven wellbeing goals and includes 'A healthier Wales', 'A resilient Wales' and 'A Wales of cohesive communities' as notable objectives (47). However, reports such as 'Getting Wales Moving' (46) note that despite this legislation little progress has been made.

Sport Wales is the national organisation responsible for increasing participation and performance in sport. Their vision is to create an active nation where everyone can have a lifelong enjoyment of sport where the benefits of sport can be experienced by all (49). This is underpinned by the WFGA. The body recognise the importance of participation during childhood and how this can develop essential physical skills that build confidence and enjoyment (49). Their intent is to be person-centred, to give every young person a great start, to ensure there are opportunities for all, to bring people together, to showcase the benefits of sport and to be a highly valued organisation (49). There is a clear focus on sports participation outlined in Sport Wales reports and guiding documents. While physical literacy is woven through this, there is little reference to activity and play particularly for teenagers and in the secondary school setting.

Sport Wales conducts one of the largest national surveys of physical activity in Wales under their School Sports Survey. Since 2011, this survey has captured a detailed picture of frequency of participation in young people (50). In 2018 it estimated that less than half of those in school years 3 - 11 (aged 7 to 16) are participating in organised sport in extracurricular terms more than three times per week. With Black and minority ethnic (BME) groups, more deprived young people and females are the least likely to participate. Participation levels in Wales remain stagnant and inequalities are increasing (50).

In the school setting Sport Wales have invested £5 million per annum in Active Young People Programmes (AYPP). These are led by local authority staff and are designed to promote and sustain sports participation. They target those less likely to get involved in school sport via PE (51). Recently AYPPs have transformed to include; i) the insight of young people, ii) flexible approaches between local authorities, iii) to widen the focus into the community as well as school setting and, iv) to connect to education contributing to curriculum needs, teacher skills and promotion of physical literacy (51). The journey to this current form of AYPPs stemmed from Dragon Sport in primary schools in the early 2000's. The success of this project left an extracurricular gap in provision when pupils transitioned to secondary school, hence the 5x60 Programme was piloted in 2004/05 and launched nationally in 2009 (51). The idea behind this offers secondary pupils the opportunity to engage in at least five sessions of 60 minutes of physical activity a week. There is a strong ethos of consultation in the 5x60 Programme with activities tailored to young people's preferences (51).

1.4 Facilitators of activity

Sport Wales acknowledge the multitude of factors that affects physical activity and sport participation. Their strategy reflects this by promoting activity in schools, homes, communities, individually, in groups and inclusively. Socio-environmental settings (homes, communities, schools) are important actors in the promotion of physical activity. Like any type of health promotion, acknowledging how a setting is conducive to health is important. Research suggests that the local communities that children and young people occupy have an effect on their sense of belonging, levels of self–esteem and their social and emotional wellbeing (52). This includes their homes, schools, residential streets, city or town centres and cyberspace.

In more specific terms for physical activity, previous research using objective measures of accelerometry has shown the number of park spaces, multi-use pathways (e.g. pavements for walking and cycling) and gyms in local neighbourhoods positively influences activity levels (53–55). Being within walking distance of these spaces is beneficial for young people's health and fitness (54,56). Independent mobility is decreasing in teenagers (57). Therefore supportive environments that facilitate local activity should be valued when planning activity promoting interventions for this age group (58,59).

As explained by Naidoo and Wills (60), the settings approach to promoting health behaviour is designed to introduce interventions to create healthy environments, develop policies and integrate quality, audit and evaluation procedures to allow an environment to perform better (60). The most well-known example of this kind of settings-based health promotion is the Healthy Cities project by the WHO (61). In terms of physical activity, a healthy city will provide and sustain opportunities to be active through legislation such as the likes implemented in Wales (play, active travel and WFGA). This approach is complex and also conceptualises health as determined by a range of socio-economic, organisational, environmental and personal factors (60).

Bronfenbrenner's socioecological model (62) is a framework that shows how various factors and levels affect health. These are shown in the model as layers (Appendix 1). This model has been used to understand physical activity and how the relationships between individuals and the social, physical and policy environment influence decisions to participate (63,64). The most successful programmes are based on an understanding of this (63), bringing into context how an individual's characteristics, parents, friends, colleagues, schools, homes, communities, local governments, resources, mass media and culture can all facilitate physical activity.

1.5 Barriers to being physically active

Accessibility (in terms of ease of access) has been reported as the main barrier to being active for teenagers (16,65–67). This is affected by cost, lack of local facilities and, motivation to be active among teenagers (65,68,69), especially those from more deprived backgrounds (70). In terms of cost, young people report that activities they want to do are often too expensive or the equipment to take part is costly. In particular they note having to ask their parents and the burden this places on their guardians to provide finances (70). This also means teenagers do not have the freedom to go and be active at their own autonomy. For more deprived children, this cost is inflated due to activities being located in more affluent areas and so a form of transport is also required (68). Value for money has also been identified under the cost barrier with young people highlighting how the quality of activity/facility is also important to them (71).

Due to the extra cost of travelling, activities are typically limited to locations that teenagers can access by walking or cycling (54). Therefore, the location of provision is important to improving activity levels. Distances from homes to activity enabling

spaces has suggested that being within walking distance of these amenities is beneficial for teenage health and fitness, with girls needing to live closer to experience benefits (54,56). With independent mobility on the decline, it is important that environments foster the characteristics that make them accessible to young people. In particular, walkability, connectivity and a close proximity to activity provision.

Many physical activity interventions have chosen to focus on these barriers (i.e. cost or location) to underpin their approaches to activity promotion in the school setting (17,65,72,73). The school has been noted as an important setting for physical activity promotion as it reaches a large amount of young people (74,75). Interventions in the school have been prescriptive whereby teenagers are given access to specific activities or teaching strategies (17,73). These interventions have observed mixed success, often only increasing activity in the short-term (73,76). Once the intervention is over, they fail to provide on-going opportunities.

This style of intervention design and implementation is 'top down' with the emphasis on policymakers as the leaders, or experts on the matter in question. However, this results in a disconnect, or 'policy gap', between what is provided and what the group receiving the intervention value (16,65,67,77). Article 12 of the UNCRC calls for young people to have the right to express their views in all matters affecting them (29) and therefore, they should be involved in the intervention design process.

Involving target populations in policy-making processes is said to increase their legitimacy, justifiability and feasibility over those made through more traditional, top-down methods (67,78). Co-producing interventions in this way are more responsive to individual's needs (79,80). When discussing activity with teenagers, research has shown that there is a difference between current activity provision and what young people want and recommend (16,65,81). Therefore, involving teenagers in the design and implementation of physical activity initiatives may be key in influencing the uptake, sustainability and enjoyment of activity among this age group (82,83).

1.6 Motivation to be active; Self-Determination Theory

In terms of motivation to be active, Self-Determination Theory (SDT) (84) has emerged as a popular theoretical framework for examining motivation and physical activity (85). It helps provide insight into why an individual may adopt and maintain health behaviours (86). Although motivation is often treated as a singular construct, SDT suggests that people choose to act by different types of factors (84). The theory differentiates between controlled and autonomous forms of motivation; with 5 motivation regulations existing across these two categories (85).

Autonomous forms of motivation include integrated, intrinsic and identified regulation. Integrated regulation is the most self-determined type of motivation and occurs when an individual is active because it aligns with their personal values and their 'sense of self' (85). Intrinsic regulation is when an individual will participate in an activity for an activity's sake (86) or simply, because they deem it enjoyable and interesting (85). Finally, identified regulation exists when an individual sees activity as beneficial or important, even when the activity itself might not be deemed enjoyable (86). Autonomous motivation overall is regulated by feelings of enjoyment, personal importance and personal values (87). Therefore, physical activity is adopted and maintained based of these motivation characteristics.

Conversely, controlled forms of motivation include external regulation, introjection and amotivation. External regulation is when being physically active is as a result of satisfying an external requirement (86), for example to gain a reward or avoid a punishment (85). Introjection occurs when feelings of guilt or negative feelings drive being active (85,86). Amotivation refers to the absence of motivation altogether (85).

SDT helps provide a rationale for why individuals choose or do not choose to be active. For example, some individuals may value activity for fun and be inclined to be active if the enjoyment of taking part is a priority. Some may only be active as a result of pressure from external sources for example, from teachers or parents. Or perhaps, inactivity is result of negative feelings towards activity. The theory suggests that autonomous forms of motivation will result in sustained participation whereas controlled forms will promote behaviours only in the short-term (85).

1.7 The ACTIVE Project

The Active Children through Individual Vouchers – Evaluation Project (ACTIVE), funded by the British Heart Foundation (BHF), aimed to tackle accessibility barriers and increase physical activity in teenagers (aged 13 - 14) by giving teenagers vouchers to spend on activities of their choice. This study was co-produced from its inception and preliminary feasibility study all the way through to the creation of the randomised control trial (RCT) and delivery of the ACTIVE intervention. The coproduction element meant that the motivation of teenagers could be better understood and utilised in line with SDT, improving the likelihood of delivering a successful trial.

Initially the concept of the study began with interviews with teenagers (aged 16 - 18) in participating schools in South Wales, UK (16). This took a child-focused approach to explore how interventions should be designed. Findings concluded that interventions need to improve access to facilities but also counteract the rhetoric that teenagers need to be studying all the time; that 'hanging about' with friends is also an essential part of youth development (16). This value of activity needed to be promoted widely to the community, to teachers and the media, essentially to all the levels within Bronfenbrenner's socioecological model (88).

1.8 The feasibility study

The ACTIVE feasibility study (65) was a mixed method cohort and process evaluation study of a single secondary school in a deprived area of Swansea, South Wales. The school was classed as deprived based on: i) the number of pupils eligible for free school meals (FSM) (54% at time of study) (89), ii) the area's eligibility for community-based initiatives and funding (e.g. Communities First) (65) and iii) the location in one of Wales' most deprived areas for children (90).

The study measured outcomes (physical activity via accelerometer wear over seven days, cardiovascular fitness, self-reported activity and focus groups) at three different time points (baseline, five months (during intervention) and 12 months. All Year 9 pupils in the school were given activity vouchers (n = 115; 51 % boys). In this study,

vouchers were used to empower teenagers to be consumers and influence activity provision in their area (65). In this instance, ACTIVE encouraged friends to socialize through activity, and enabled students to access activities they normally could not afford (65). The feasibility study found increases in MVPA and decreases in sedentary behaviour, suggesting a positive impact from voucher usage (65). Process evaluation based on the RE-AIM Framework (91) demonstrated that ACTIVE was well received by pupils and teachers and was a feasible approach to increasing activity in this age group (65). Furthermore, the approach was highly supported by teachers and pupils who encouraged the development of a larger trial (65).

Adjustments were made to the ACTIVE RCT protocol following these outcomes and recommendations from funding partners. These adjustments were made to further improve the project and increase its sustainability, prior to conducting an RCT in order to assess effectiveness rather than its feasibility (92).

1.9 The ACTIVE Randomised Control Trial

The ACTIVE Randomised Control Trial (RCT) explored in this thesis was developed as a result of the feasibility study and follow-up conversations with teenagers recommending what they felt was needed to improve PA opportunities and subsequently, cardiovascular fitness, physical activity and cardiovascular health (16,69). The findings from the initial studies showed that teenagers wanted more choice over the activities they participate in rather than the traditional, structured exercise. They also wanted more information as to what is available in their local communities.

This mixed-method RCT aimed to assess whether a voucher-based multi-component intervention can improve the health of participating teenagers in seven secondary schools. To overcome accessibility barriers, voucher-based interventions to increase PA in the United Kingdom have been previously tested among adults (93,94). Financial incentives have been effective in increasing PA in adults (72,76,95), but it remains uncertain whether a similar approach could work with teenagers (92).

ACTIVE encouraged teenagers to access existing provisions or generate their own to tackle accessibility issues and create the opportunity to participate in desired activities (65,92). Evidence has shown that empowering teenagers to make their own choices over which activity they engage in, the location where they engage, and the people they participate with, can improve activity levels (80). ACTIVE also encouraged teenagers to express the importance of choice and empowerment in advocacy meetings with stakeholders. As a result, the project aimed to enhance socialisation and peer support, in order to facilitate PA uptake. This has been positively associated with teenage activity levels (96). In response to this, the ACTIVE RCT aimed to empower teenagers to make their own activity choices via a voucher scheme, peer mentoring and support worker engagement.

This thesis explores whether ACTIVE's intervention encompassing a voucherscheme, peer mentoring and support worker engagement improved the cardiovascular fitness and cardiovascular health of participating teenagers in four intervention (compared with three control) secondary schools in South Wales. Moreover, novel data linkage and accessibility modelling are used to explore predictors of heart health and activity in young people from baseline data collection, providing further context to the current landscape of activity provision in the UK.

It explores teenage physical activity through a co-produced narrative, working with teens to inform how we can meet the wants and needs of teenage activity. It allows young people to tell their story by empowering them to have a voice on matters which not only benefit them, but also the wider community. Not only will this study present the findings of an RCT but will also discuss next steps, future developments and the implications of ACTIVE.

CHAPTER 2

AUTHORS CONTRIBUTION AND THESIS SIGNIFICANCE

The ACTIVE RCT was a novel approach to promoting physical activity to teenagers with the aim of improving cardiovascular fitness, physical activity levels, cardiovascular health and motivation to be active amongst young people. The authors role within the RCT was to manage the project and a respective team of individuals who helped collect data and provided critical input when necessary.

2.1 Conception of the work

ACTIVE was conceptualised through initial conversations with teenagers regarding barriers to being active and possible recommendations. This work was led by Professor Sinead Brophy, who supervised this thesis. From this start point, a feasibility study was developed and led by Professor Sinead's team. The work of this supported the development of a bigger trial. The development and implementation of this RCT was managed by the author. The author designed, wrote and implemented the protocol (92).

This work was funded by the British Heart Foundation who peer reviewed the protocol at the time of grant application but had no further involvement other than providing funding. The grant application was developed alongside co-applicants. Coapplicants were involved due to their expertise in their areas.

2.2. Data collection

Data collection took place between September 2016 and December 2017. This process was planned, managed and carried out by the author alongside a small team of six individuals who assisted with various measures. Members of this team feature as co-authors on published articles where applicable.

Where feasible, the author took a lead in the data collection from baseline to 12month follow-up while assigning suitable roles and responsibilities for the team. In particular, the author led the fitness data collection in terms of the Cooper Run Test as well as assisting in measures of motivation, blood pressure and pulse wave analysis. For the latter, colleagues at Swansea University's Medical School helped produce a protocol alongside the author that could be followed by the team.

Focus groups were led by the author with support from members of the team. The author acted as the lead moderator with support from team members who took notes. Topic guides for the focus groups were constructed by the author.

2.3 Data analysis and interpretation

Data was managed, analysed and interpreted by the author. Critical input was applied from the supervisory team; Professor Damon Berridge, Professor Sinead Brophy and Dr Richard Fry. The author worked with the supervisors to develop an analysis plan which was then led and carried out by the author.

The author sought assistance from a second analyst to ensure the validity and reliability of analysis. In this instance, the second analyst was asked to reproduce findings using the same methods. This was to remove any researcher bias that may occur.

Findings were interpreted by the author alongside the supervisors. Where applicable the author wrote the first draft of the research outputs from this study with critical input from co-authors who were either co-applicants of the initial RCT grant or those involved in the data collection processes.

This thesis has been written by the author with the supervisory team providing input and revisions where necessary. The final draft of this thesis is the authors own work.

2.4 Thesis contribution to knowledge and significance

The ACTIVE RCT was developed following initial work with teenagers and a feasibility study. It was co-produced by teenagers following subsequent conversations recommending what they felt was needed to improve physical activity opportunities and fitness. This made it a novel study with a flexible approach to tackling teenage inactivity underpinned by the wants and needs of the participants. The multi-component nature of the intervention aimed to empower teenagers in a multitude of ways, encompassing both the school and community setting. This meant it was not prescriptive in nature, but allowed young people to explore activities they enjoyed with their friends and at their own leisure. This is an aspect of physical activity interventions that is often neglected. Thus, ACTIVE contributes to existing knowledge surrounding physical activity by taking a novel approach.

Moreover, ACTIVE uses novel data linkage methods to provide insight into the health of teenagers. This method has not been widely used in previous literature and therefore, this is a significant contribution to existing knowledge.

The work of ACTIVE is embedded in the theoretical framework of Self-Determination Theory, understanding that motivation is not singular but encompasses a range of regulations which will impact uptake and sustainability; therefore, understanding that teenagers may want and need different things dependent on the individual. This work's evidence combined with existing evidence highlights the significance of co-producing interventions alongside young people. By doing so, interventions are tailored to the wants and needs of participants, thus improving the likelihood of their success.

The significance of this work is underpinned by the learning from what teenagers choose to do when given the opportunity to choose their own activities. Particularly for teenagers, it is important to encourage enjoyment and socialisation in activities. Providing more local opportunities for teenagers to take part in activities that are fun, unstructured and social improves fitness, cardiovascular health and, changes attitudes towards activity.

CHAPTER 3

LITERATURE REVIEW

To assess the current landscape of physical activity, cardiovascular health and motivation in teenagers, searches of three databases; MedLine, PubMed and Scopus were conducted in February 2020. Hand searching was also used to identify literature ensuring relevant studies were not overlooked. The search process used combinations of the words: "physical activity", activity, fitness, teenage*, adolescen*, intervention, "cardiovascular fitness", exercise, barriers, motivation, "cardiovascular health" and "environment". Boolean operators were used to form more focussed searches. Date parameters were set to narrow the search to more recent publications which would reflect contemporary research on teenage physical activity. Publications meeting the following criteria were retained for review (Table 1).

Table 1 - Inclusion criteria for literature review

Date of publication	2010 - 2020
Participants	Identified as healthy children, adolescents/teenagers, adults in
	the literature
Setting	School (extra-curricular) or community
Outcome measure	Physical activity (self-report or objective), cardiovascular
	fitness (objective), motivation, heart health (objective), focus
	groups/interviews
Research design	Cross-sectional, qualitative, randomised control trial, mixed
	methods

After scanning titles in this search process, 78 remained. On closer review a further 49 were removed as they did not meet inclusion criteria. For example, they were not written in English (n=4), included participants outside healthy children, teenagers and adults (n=20), were protocol papers or systematic reviews (n=5), used technology/apps in their interventions (n=4), were carried out in other settings (e.g. care homes) (n=9) or used measures not relevant to this study (n=7). After these exclusions, a total of 29 publications remained from the original search and further

13 publications were included as a result of citations, hand searching, and the authors own collection (Figure 1).

3.1 Publication descriptives

A total of 42 publications (Appendix 2) were included in this review from both intervention (n=20) (counting 5 pilot studies) and cross-sectional (n=22) research. Studies were from Europe (n=24 [17 from the UK]), South Africa (n=1), Australia (n=3), South America (n=2), North America (n=10) and Asia (n=2). The majority of studies were carried out in the school setting (n=28) with 20 of those taking place in secondary schools (aged 11 - 16).

The most commonly used measure in these studies was a self-report questionnaire investigating the amount of physical activity and, wellbeing and motivation (n=18). Focus groups (n=16), anthropometry (n=13), physical fitness (n=12), accelerometery (n=11), geographic information systems (GIS) (n=5), step counts (n=2) and data linkage to routine data (n=1) was also used. It is worth noting that seven of the studies included were mixed methods and therefore several measures feature in a single study.



Figure 1 - Flow diagram of literature search

3.2 How important is physical activity and what facilitates it?

The health benefits of participating in regular physical activity is widely acknowledged in public health. Young people, especially those from more deprived backgrounds, are less likely to engage in activity in the form of structured activities and competitive sports. Subsequently they are at an increased risk of more sedentary lifestyles. These traits may also cluster with other health behaviours (e.g., diet) which can contribute to cardiovascular disease risk when a child is older. Consequently, prevention strategies that decrease sedentary behaviour have been designed to combat this issue.

Rangul et al. (19) examined the effect of sustained physical activity in general on cardiovascular risk and health status in adulthood in a 10-year longitudinal study. Using Norweigan health surveys, 1869 participants (n=838 male) gave information regarding activity levels, mental health and perceived health along with objective measures of body mass index (BMI), waist circumference, cholesterol, blood work, heart rate and blood pressure at 13 - 19 years old and again at 23 - 31. Maintainers of activity had lower heart rate and active boys had lower waist circumference than inactive participants. In conclusion, those who maintained physical activity levels had lower disease risk and better mental health (19).

Sedentary behaviour is also a risk factor in low cardiovascular fitness. Denton et al.'s (97) work assessed how sedentary behaviour and different physical activity components are associated with fitness in 10–14 year-old schoolchildren. This was done using accelerometry (RT3 devices) and using activity thresholds developed by Rowlands et al. (98) to determine the time spend in sedentary, light, moderate or vigorous physical activity. Participants also undertook a fitness test; a cycle-based ergometer test. This study found vigorous activity holds greater potential for cardiorespiratory fitness compared to activity at lower intensities. There was no relationship between sedentary behaviour and cardiorespiratory fitness. This suggests activity promotion should focus on higher intensity physical activity and not simply removing sedentary behaviour as a means to maintain or improve cardiorespiratory fitness (97). This is echoed by the work of Taber et al. (99), who performed a similar lab-based fitness assessment with 1,029 13 – 14 year old girls compared with self-

report data on participation in sport. They concluded that the number of vigorous sports is positively associated with fitness (p = 0.04). Thus, promoting vigorous activity at an early age can prevent age-related declines in fitness among adolescent girls in particular.

However Young et al. (100) highlight how complex moderate to vigorous physical activity (MVPA) is due to how predictors differ between ages in girls. Lower body fat, more social support and interestingly, lower maths scores were associated with higher MVPA in 11 - 14-year-old girls but self-efficacy/motivation was associated with higher levels in older girls. Accelerometery was used again to assess activity using ActiGraphs. Cut points were derived from the researchers of this study and therefore may not be as valid as other more widely used methods.

Interestingly Young et al. (100) examined neighbourhood level influences using geographic information systems (GIS) which modelled the distance from participant's homes to their schools and park provision. This piece of work noted that individual, social, school and neighbourhood levels are all associated with MVPA, but the level of their influence differs across ages. The authors note that to achieve behaviour change towards more active lives, intervention planners need to consider not just the barriers and motivations to being active but also the school/neighbourhood environments in which young people live (100). Perceived and objective access of supportive infrastructure (e.g. parks or schools) correlated with MVPA, which according to previous studies would also contribute to greater fitness levels (97,99).

Boone-Heinonen et al. (101) investigated which areas of neighbourhoods are specifically related to physical activity in those aged 11 - 22. The study used data from the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health featuring measures of self-reported MVPA from over 20,000 respondents. Associations were then explored between activity and physical activity facilities counts and street connectivity within 1, 3, 5 and 8.05km (Euclidean distance) of each respondents home (101). Similar to Young et al. (100), supportive environments were concluded to be conducive to MVPA. In particular, resources for activity within 1 – 5km helped with improving activity levels alongside better connectivity. Although a significantly smaller sample (n=293), a study by Rodriguez et al. (102) explored the built environment's impact on female activity (aged 15 - 18). In a similar methodological approach, the built environment was mapped in a GIS alongside participant homes. The odds of higher physical activity were higher in places with parks, schools and larger population (102). Activity was lower in places with more roads and food outlets. This is interesting as increased roads would suggest better connectivity, yet Boone-Heinonen et al.'s (101) work notes that it is street connectivity and walkability that is necessary to improve activity.

Villa-Gonzalez et al. (103) and Wheeler et al. (104) have examined the environment in relation to active travel infrastructure and greenspace respectively. Villa-Gonzalez et al.'s (103) study used 494 children (229 girls) from five primary schools in Granada and Jaén (Spain), aged between 8 and 11 years. Participants completed a fitness test battery and answered a self-reported questionnaire regarding the weekly travel mode to school. Active commuting to school was significantly associated with higher levels of speed-agility in boys (p = 0.048) and muscle strength of the lower body muscular fitness in girls (p = 0.016) (103). However, there was no relationship with cardiovascular fitness. The authors acknowledge more work needs to be done examining these relationships and its location makes it difficult to generalise. Yet it does highlight the importance of good active travel infrastructure.

In Wheeler et al.'s (104) study, most activity occurring outdoors performed by 10 – 11 year olds in the United Kingdom was not in greenspace. However, when boys were in greenspace activity is likely to be higher intensity. The odds of being in MVPA in greenspace relative to outdoor non-greenspace was 1.37 (95% CI 1.22– 1.53) for boys and 1.08 (95% CI 0.95–1.22) for girls. This provides evidence that young people can and will be active anywhere. Participants wore an ActiGraph accelerometer and GPS tracker over 7 days.

GIS has emerged as a novel method for exploring how an environment can impact physical activity and provides important insight into how activity provision, greenspace and transport infrastructure can support or hinder participation. However, it is not without its limitations. It omits variables such as individual (e.g. personality), inter-personal (e.g. family characteristics and social support), and community-wide factors (e.g. weather) (102). Furthermore, while it may map the amount of activity provision and resource, it cannot ascertain whether it is 'fit for purpose'. For example, a teenager may have access to a number of leisure centres or sports clubs, but the facilities may be poor and unattractive. GIS research does, however, emphasise that MVPA has emerged as an important attribute to improving health outcomes and fitness levels in young people which will transpire into better health in later life according to previous studies. However, despite the health benefits, many teenagers do not achieve recommended amounts of MVPA.

3.3 What stops teenagers from being active?

Ten studies selected for review explicitly explored barriers to teenage activity. Three used focus groups (16,105,106) as a method for investigating barriers. Three of these studies were mixed methods; two used either focus groups or interviews to provide context to quantitative survey results (107,108) and one combined anthropometric measures linked to routinely collected data (68). Four of the studies used questionnaire data exclusively (109–111).

Focus groups were split into either gender or mixed in the studies which used focus groups exclusively (16,105). The latter also used prompts in the form of a figure with words used to initiate discussion. Participants in these focus groups were sampled from and carried out in the school setting (aging from 11 - 18 years old), in schools with above average levels of minority students. With the exception of two focus groups in Brophy et al.'s (16) study which were held in a leisure centre to overcome accessibility barriers (16). The studies also differed in location with Brophy et al.'s taking place in the United Kingdom (n=74) and Jonsson et al.'s (105) taking place in Sweden (n=53). Both studies identified themes as part of their analysis process.

The studies agreed that lack of motivation (e.g., time) and lack of support (social and parental) were barriers to being active. Brophy et al. (16) also identified cost (too expensive), accessibility (lack of local facilities/need for adult supervision) and confidence (ability, body image) as further barriers. This study also noted gender differences. For example, boys discussed the positive aspects of being active in their

focus groups. Being active gave them confidence but they saw adult supervision and access to facilities as their main barriers (16). Girls discussed motivation, or the lack of it in more detail than boys. The Jonsson et al. (105) study also spoke about gender differences. They identified that girls were concerned about their 'looks' in relation to activity and they were aware of their appearance when being active.

Ashton et al. (106) conducted their study exclusively with males (n=61) between 18 – 25 years of age from Australia. According to this study the research group is classed as a 'hard to reach' group due to males of this age lack of engagement in preventative health interventions (106). This makes this study of particular interest due to assessing barriers in a group that perhaps do not engage as regularly as their female counterparts in this type of health intervention. Males identified in focus groups that lack of time, cost, feelings of inferiority (lack of confidence) and social factors were key barriers. Interestingly, they noted that these responses varied little by BMI. This study draws parallels to Brophy et al. (16) and Jonsson et al. (105) suggesting that an exclusive group of male's barriers do not differ widely to the population. However, the authors note that the sample lacked diversity and may represent the opinions of young, white, less deprived males.

Charlton et al. (68), a study from the UK (n=1147 [n=20 for focus groups]), complimented findings of cost, accessibility and, lack of motivation and support as barriers for teenagers similar to Brophy et al. (16) and Jonsson et al (105). This was a mixed method study carried out in ten schools where half were considered deprived and half non-deprived. It used focus groups and also assessed fitness, blood samples and anthropometric measures linked to routinely collected data to examine education outcomes, deprivation and health service use (68). This helped to provide some further context to the barriers. Using logistic regression and conditional trees, Charlton et al. (68) found that unfit children are more likely to be deprived, female, have obesity in their family and not achieve in education (68). Thus, revealing a specific group of teenagers who may have been overlooked by previous studies. Charlton et al. (68) did not explore gender differences but rather, presented findings as the voice of all deprived teenagers. This was a similar approach to that of Jonsson et al.'s research (105). A similar study by Brockman et al. (112) from the United Kingdom (n=77) with 10 - 11 year olds from four primary schools found that parents constraints over rules inspired by social fears (e.g. strangers and older children), safety of their areas and concerns about the weather stopped them from being active. This study chose to frame activity under 'active play' which may change the connotations children attached to it. Findings were exclusively from focus groups analysed thematically.

Although focus groups allow in-depth exploration of responses and the opportunity to build rapport with participants, this method does not lend itself to gathering data from a large number of teenagers. Therefore, as a quantitative element, two studies adopted questionnaires as well. Withall et al.'s study (108), based in the United Kingdom, used the 'Motivation for Physical Activity Measure – Revised' (MPAM-R) questionnaire to assess the barriers and enablers to physical activity in low income groups (n=152) as well as focus groups (n=33). Again, they identified cost and accessibility as key barriers and highlighted the need for support, confidence building and competence in order to take up activity, particularly in girls. Interestingly, Withall et al. (108) highlight that they found males difficult to recruit for the qualitative arm of the study. Therefore, they are underrepresented in the sample making it difficult to generalise findings to the whole population.

Wetton et al. (107) adopted a similar approach, however they used interviews to enhance questionnaire data. This study was a relatively small sample of girls from two high schools in the UK (n=60 [n=6 recruited for interviews]). The rationale for selecting these two schools is unclear. The survey itself was specifically designed for this study and therefore its validity and reliability can be questioned. The focus was around extracurricular team sport, and four barriers became prominent; internal factors (e.g., perceived lack of ability), existing stereotypes (boys are better than girl's rhetoric), other hobbies (time constraints) and teachers (bias over those who are good at PE). Apart from internal factors, these barriers differ from the previous studies. This could be due to the small, all female sample which may have limited the number of different perspectives on certain themes such as teachers and available sports clubs. However, it does indicate that teachers and the school setting have an important part to play in creating either good or bad perceptions of activity for teenagers.
Four studies used questionnaire data only to investigate barriers. In Jodkowska et al.'s study (113), 3346 Polish teenagers (n=1759 girls) took part in a 21-item questionnaire about perceived barriers with a self-report question measuring the amount of MVPA (113). The most common barriers found were lack of energy, lack of time and lack of support. Older adolescents reported more barriers. Again, responses were broken down into gender with boys reporting more about lack of time, skills and support for low activity levels with girls reporting lack of skills (confidence), energy and support; similar to the previous studies (16,107,108). The other methodologically similar study from Dias et al. (n=1409) reported lack of friends company for both boys and girls as the top barrier (109). For both genders, there was also a strong association between number of perceived barriers and physical inactivity. The lack of a qualitative element in both these studies means there is a lack of depth to them and obtaining results through a questionnaire could present response bias.

In the context of Wales, Morgan et al. (110) looked at predictors, as opposed to the barriers, of activity via questionnaire data. This is the largest of these ten studies, recruiting 7,376 adolescents aged between 11 and 16 across 67 schools. Recruitment of this scale was helped by a partnership with the WHO. Sampling for this study was done via local authority and free-school meal eligibility before asking schools to randomly select one class in each year group for participation. After collating responses analysis was done via multilevel modelling to examine predictors of total activity, MVPA and sedentary behaviour.

The study found that active travel to school in girls predicted high levels of activity. School level factors did not predict activity, but a lower socio-economic school status was associated with higher MVPA. Shorter lunch breaks and interestingly, greater access to facilities were predictors of sedentary behaviour. Extending lunch breaks in schools could have a positive impact on sedentary behaviour and active travel could offer a mechanism for increasing activity in girls (110). This comprehensive study, including a wide sample of Welsh school-aged children highlights how important the school setting can be for provision and how the impact of school policies could influence behaviour in and out of school. Complimenting this is the work of Baceviciene et al. (111) who explores how selfperception of physical activity and fitness impacts psychosomatic health symptoms in adolescents. The study, based in Lithuania, used self-report data on lifestyle, participation, activity, perceptions and psychosomatic health complaints in 3,284 11 – 19-year-olds. Again, recruitment took place via the school setting. Positive physical activity and physical fitness perception show lower complaints, despite the presence of unhealthy habits. This study underpins how important positive associations with activity can be for mental health and wellbeing in young people. Therefore, it is important that opportunities lend themselves to facilitating good experiences. In line with the barriers suggested by previous literature (16,68,105,107–109,113), these good experiences will need to come as a result of affordable, easily accessible, supportive, confidence-building provision.

The above studies highlight the popularity of the school setting as a method of recruiting adolescents to a physical activity study. While it is evident that focus groups can gather rich explorations of narratives around barriers to physical activity, it is difficult to carry out this style of research in large numbers due to resources and time constraints. Furthermore, they can be difficult to facilitate with power relations coming into play and more dominant characters featuring in conversations about activity barriers (16,105). Equally, questionnaires are not without their biases too. There can be participant bias based on those who consent to/take the time to participant in the survey process (68,111).

What is clear is from these studies is that cost, accessibility and confidence are key barriers to being active for teenagers (16,68,105,107–109,113). The work of Brophy et al. (16) is the only study in this review to provide recommendations underpinned by overcoming these barriers; citing the improving attitudes towards activity (treating boys and girls equally), giving freedom to need supervision or not, lowering the cost of provision and involving parents and community to improve their mind sets. The teenagers in Brophy et al.'s (16) study stressed the need to recognise, and support, girls in being active, and to give more freedom to boys rather than focusing on the formal supervision of activity. It is this novel insight, giving teenagers a voice to say how they would facilitate activity rather than simply discuss what makes them

inactive or predicts their activity that can provide the foundations to build future interventions on.

3.4 The importance of considering motivation

Two studies looked at the pivotal role motivation takes in teenage physical activity (114,115). Gillison et al. (114) examined this in the context of body-related factors. A cohort of 310 adolescents (age 14.08 years at baseline; n=51% male) were classified into four groups based on reported change in leisure-time exercise over 10months: i) those who maintain, ii) drop out from exercise, iii) take up exercise, and iv) those who were continually inactive. Analysis was conducted to predict which group adolescents were assigned to based off profiles of motivational and weightrelated perceptions at baseline. For boys, maintainers reported higher identified regulation, introjected regulation, competence, relatedness, and body satisfaction than all other groups. In girls, maintainers reported higher intrinsic motivation, identified regulation, autonomy, competence, relatedness, and lower external regulation than all other groups. In the context of SDT, which is the theory of motivation used by Gillison et al. (114), identified regulation refers to motivation to act a personally meaningful goal while introjected regulation refers to acting to avoid guilt, shame and for ego enhancement (114). Intrinsic motivation occurs for the enjoyment of an activity (114).

Fostering autonomous (self-determined) motivation regulated by personal goals and enjoyment seems a key determinant to maintaining leisure-time exercise for both boys and girls. Additionally, positive interactions with others during exercise may be particularly useful to prevent dropout in girls. Gillison et al. (114) shows that allowing teenagers to feel more self-determined to be active and giving positive opportunities to be active with friends would promote and sustain activity intake.

This is reflected in the work of Duncan et al. (115) who's quantitative questionnaire work with 544 teenagers (age 14.2 +/- .94 years) shows that intrinsic goals for activity positively influence behaviour in British adolescents but only through autonomous motivation. The study which used self-reported measures of physical

activity goal content, behavioural regulations, and physical activity behaviour, again highlights the importance of giving teenagers autonomy.

3.5 Using young people's voices to underpin activity promotion

Five of the studies selected for review highlighted how using young people's voices can underpin the development of successful interventions. All of these studies were qualitative; four used focus groups (81,116-118) and one used interviews (119). The work of Corder et al. (117) and Kinsman et al. (118) looked to provide a model for promoting activity to adolescent girls that could be used by future studies. Corder et al.'s work looked to gain insight into how 13 - 14-year-old girls would promote activity to their age group and to improve participant engagement in the development of a physical activity intervention. While this was a small study, the authors used both focus groups (n=26 participants) and also identified a number of individuals who were more introverted and less active to conduct interviews with (n=5). This method helped overcome power relations and dominant individual's voices being heard most as mentioned previously in other studies.

This work identified six themes from its qualitative work which would encourage teenagers to do more activity; choice, novelty, mentorship, competition, rewards and flexibility (117). Thus suggesting that interventions should look to provide options for activity that are new, fun and flexible in their delivery based on timings and access. The use of role models, rewards and competitions were identified as important ways of improving motivation. This would be much more engaging for young people. Furthermore, Corder at el. (117) identified that there were significant gaps in promotion for older adolescents and a lack of effective interventions, lack of a whole population approach (as opposed to sub-groups, i.e. deprived teenagers, girls), lack of a whole day approach (both community and school-based activity) and the lack of involvement in the design and development of interventions.

The work of Kinsman et al. (118) compliments this. Their work with South African girls (aged 13 - 19 years) (n=51) promoted a model of 'supply and demand' (118). Notably, supplying more female role models and increasing/acquiring more facilities

and equipment for a wider range of activity. In terms of demand, empowering teenagers, making it fun and providing incentives were suggested by the young girls. The authors promote the use of the 'supply and demand' model in future interventions which could provide a tool for ongoing efforts to promote activity to this age group.

Corder et al. (117) and Kinsman et al. (118) provide useful insight into promoting activity to adolescents. Most noteworthy is how narrow and non-inclusive interventions have previously been in that they focus on sub-groups of teenagers and have lacked a co-production element. The work of Mitchell et al. (119) helps solidify the importance of co-production or giving young people a choice. Their work with five girls (aged 15 - 16 years) over three phases of interviews (resulting in 15 interviews) showed that an activity intervention, which included consultation and a choice of activity, resulted in increased participation and more positive perceptions of activity, for most of the selected girls. Albeit a small sample, Mitchell et al.'s work is heavily embedded in the work of SDT (84) and the notion that being more autonomously motivated contributes to healthy psychological development which can positively impact engagement and participation in activity. This is a useful theory which can be used by activity research to underpin why young people are engaged/disengaged.

These studies focus primarily on girls. Carlin et al.'s (81) study (n=62) examines the gender differences on teenage recommendations. Interestingly, both genders suggested promoting new activities for them to try, with most happy to attend activities that were mixed gender. They also wanted more opportunities to be active with their friends and suggested rewards/incentives and the use of technology as ways of improving motivation to be active. Thus, it could be suggested that both boys and girls have similar recommendations in relation to the above studies.

The work of van den Berg et al. (116) refers to the use of young people's voices as an untapped resource for intervention design and implementation. Their work with 10 - 13-year-olds aimed to gain insight into how to increase activity in the school setting. The results show that young people are enthusiastic about additional activity; they wanted more time to do it, better facilities, better content in PE, better opportunities and, emphasised variation and being given a voice in activity as key to being engaged in the long-term. This study again uses focus groups (n=52 [n=20 boys]) and recruited from two primary schools in the Netherlands.

It is interesting that these studies, although they differ in location and sample, offer similar recommendations for activity promotion in young people; more opportunities, more choice, more fun and provide incentives. To gain insight into these perceptions, focus groups appear to the most popular choice but limit the number of participants that can be engaged with. This form of data collection is not without its limitations; there is a lack of generalisability, a risk of participation bias, the presence of power relations/dynamics and the lack of objective data to provide quantitative evidence (81,116–119). It is evident there has been a lack of consultation and inclusion of young people in physical activity interventions, an aspect future research needs to address.

3.6 What type of interventions have been used to improve teenage fitness and activity?

Of the studies selected for review, 16 were intervention studies aiming to promote, change and improve activity. Of these, 10 (120–129) have utilised the school setting; one of which was not-randomised. Young people spend a majority of their time at school and as such, most of their activity can occur in this setting (120). There is also the added benefit of continuous contact and broad reach of the school (121). Many interventions have based themselves upon PE lessons (124) but differ vastly in approach, style, sample and duration.

Whooten et al.'s (120) investigation employed a 12-week intervention before school in 24 schools in North America (n=707, aged 5 - 14) using non-participants as controls (n=396). The 'Build Our Kids Success' (BOKS) programme had children participate in either a 2 (n=442) or 3 (n=217) day a week programme. This involved before school physical activity sessions lasting 60 minutes with a trained volunteer who delivered a core curriculum. The sessions started with a warm-up game into running, relays or obstacle courses including a 'skill of the week' (e.g., plank,

running, jumping) (120). This curriculum was developed by the BOKS education team.

The main outcomes were 12-week change in BMI z-score, odds of a lower BMI category at follow-up, and child report (with those >8 years of age) of social–emotional wellness. The 3-day a week programme proved more successful with improvements in BMIz-score (-0.22, 95% CI¹/₄-0.31, -0.14) in comparison with the control group (-0.17 difference, 95% CI¹/₄-0.27, -0.07). Children in the 2-days/week program had no significant changes in BMI (120). Children in the 3-days/week group demonstrated improvement in their student engagement scores.

While it would appear that a greater amount of physical activity before school improves BMI and wellness, there are some limitations to consider before drawing conclusions. The non-randomised design meant that there were some differences in groups prior to the intervention starting. As well as this fewer schools opted for the 3-day a week programme due to limited resources (120). Thus, meaning a smaller sample. Randomisation in interventions such as this would result in less differences in groups prior to implementation.

The additional nine studies in schools did use a randomisation process. Four of these were feasibility studies. Corder et al. (129) evaluated the feasibility of the 'GoActive' trial in one school (n=460; 46.6% female; aged 13 - 14); this was an 8-week intervention involving classes weekly activities encouraged by mentors and inclass peer leaders. Teenagers gained points for trying activities which were used as an incentive for participation. Accelerometer based MVPA (primary outcome), adolescent reported activity and wellbeing were used as measures of success. Accelerometers were worn for 7-days set to record at a rate of 5s epochs, however it is unclear where participants wore the device. Moreover, capacity of the study meant devices were given out on a first-come-first-served basis (129) which may incur participant bias of more active pupils wanting to engage with this element of data collection. Corder et al. (129) used Evenson et al.'s (130) cut-points to distinguish the varying intensities of physical activity in the teenagers in their study. It is worth noting that these cut-points are based on children (aged 5 - 8 years) wearing accelerometers on the hip (130) and establish MVPA at >2000 counts/min at 15s

epochs (130). Interestingly Corder et al. (129) used 5s epochs putting the reliability and validity of their methods into question.

Pilot results indicated effectiveness in improving MVPA (5.1 minutes (1.1 to 9.2) p=0.014)) and justified the development of a bigger trial. Qualitative feedback was also positive suggesting the intervention was fun, increased confidence and improved likelihood to participate in activities once the trial had finished.

Studies by Sebire et al., Carlin et al. and Jenkinson et al. (121,125,127) were also feasibility studies conducted on a small scale. All three of these studies chose to promote activity in adolescent girls, further adding to the literature gap identified in the qualitative work of Corder et al. (117) who noticed a trend amongst approaches to target sub-groups rather than the whole population. The rationale for this being that girls are noted in the literature to be less active and their activity levels decline faster than boys (127). Carlin et al.'s (125) approach chose to promote walking as a method of getting girls more active due to its lack of skill and expense.

The intervention, 'Walking In Schools Intervention' (WISH), was the second study to adopt a 12-week duration, provided girls (n=199; aged 11 - 13) the opportunity to do structured 10-15-minute walks spread across the school week, before school, midmorning and at lunch time. These walks were led by older peers (15 - 16 years old) or 'walk-leaders'. Measures included school-time activity post intervention (week 12), assessed objectively using an Actigraph accelerometer (using Evenson et al. (130) cut offs), anthropometry, cardiorespiratory fitness and psychosocial measures. A significant effect was observed for changes in light activity across the school day (p = 0.003), with those in the intervention increasing their light activity by 8.27 minutes compared with a decrease of 2.14 minutes in the control group. However, these changes were not sustained post-intervention and no significant changes were observed in anthropometry (e.g. waist circumference) or fitness. The authors acknowledge that the use of accelerometers in adolescents encounters some limitations; the accelerometers cannot monitor all types of activity (e.g. water-based) and wear adherence can be problematic (125).

Sebire et al. (127) and Jenkinson et al. (121) interventions were underpinned by peer support and mentoring. This a method that has been suggested by teenagers and mentioned as a facilitator to being active. Sebire et al. (127) conducted a randomised control trial; 'Peer-Led physical Activity iNtervention for Adolescent girls' (PLAN-A) in six secondary schools in England (4 intervention and 2 control) with 427 girls (aged 12 - 13). The intervention involved training girls (n=53) who were identified by their peers as influential, to provide support to their friends to increase activity. Accelerometery and questionnaires were used at the beginning and end of the academic year to monitor the success of the intervention. Accelerometers were worn on the waist and Evenson cut points (130) to estimate daily minutes of MVPA. In comparison, Jenkinson et al.'s (121) 'Girls! Lead! Achieve! Mentor! Activate!' (GLAMA) project trained girls (aged 12 - 16) in a state secondary schools in Australia to lead and focussed on gaining knowledge of activities and games structures. Data were collected using a mixed-methods approach including questionnaires and observations.

While Sebire et al. (127) showed evidence of a 6.09 minute (95% CI = 1.43, 10.76) between-arms difference in weekday MVPA in the intervention arm and showed promise to be rolled-out wider, the work of Jenkinson et al. (121) showed that there are other factors that need to be considered when implementing an intervention. Interestingly, factors that have the greatest impact on intervention success are those that come from within the school setting including the structure of the curriculum, pressure to meet curriculum targets, lack of support, multiple programs already running within the school, time allowances for teachers, appropriate training for teachers, and support for students to participate. This is valuable information for school-based interventions as these are factors that need to be considered for success.

Peer-led behaviour change has been adopted in other aspects of teenage health. Hollingworth et al. (128) has used this approach in smoking cessation in adolescents. 'A Stop Smoking in Schools Trial' (ASSIST), was a much larger randomised control trial than the previous studies reviewed. ASSIST was conducted in 59 secondary schools in England Wales (n=30 intervention schools) involving 10,730 12 – 13year-olds (n=5,358 intervention participants). The intervention involved the identification of influential students (known as peer supporters) who were trained to have informal conversations with their peers about the effects of smoking. This process was developed by Audrey et al. (131). Smoking behaviour was collected at baseline, 1-year and 2-year follow-up using a question with six possible responses from "I have never smoked" to "I usually smoke more than six cigarettes a week". Saliva samples were also collected from participants to minimise misreporting; a way of improving validity and reliability of self-report data. In conclusion, students in the intervention were less likely to believe that they would be a smoker at age 16 years (0.80; 95% CI: 0.66 to 0.96) (128). This study highlights how peer support can translate across the promotion of other health behaviours aside from physical activity.

Ho et al. (122) also looked at mentorship within a specific sporting context. Conducted in China with 12 secondary schools, the intervention arm received an after-school, youth development sport mentorship for 18 weeks lasting 90 minutes per week. Participants (n=664; 58.1% girls; aged 12 - 13-year-old) could choose which sport they wanted to learn e.g., basketball, volleyball and kickboxing. The mentors acted like facilitators rather than adopting a teacher-led approach. Wellbeing was the primary outcome using a 12-item, self-report questionnaire. Wellbeing was shown to improve (0.25; 95% CI: 0.10 to 0.40) alongside self-efficacy and resilience (122). Fitness and physical activity (self-reported) also improved highlighting how less structured sessions, facilitated by mentors not teachers can improve teenage health and wellbeing.

Like Ho et al. (122), the promotion of specific sports or activities has been a common feature of many physical activity based interventions for teenagers; for example the WISH Project chose to promote only walking (125). Jago et al. (126) looked at the effect of providing after-school dance classes to improve physical activity in girls in the 'Bristol Girls Dance Project' (BGDP). Dance has been noted to be a favourite form of activity in girls and was therefore chosen due to its appeal. The project focussed on building the autonomous motivation of the girls in line with SDT (84).

The primary aim was to determine if a 20-week dance intervention after school (lasting 75 minutes) could improve the MVPA (measured via accelerometers) among 11–12-year-old girls across nine intervention schools out of the 18 schools involved

(n=284/571 girls) at baseline and 1-year post intervention. An average of 31 girls signed up for the dance sessions per school. Girls were asked to wear Actigraph accelerometers for seven days, although it is unclear where these were worn on the body. Evenson et al.'s (130) cut-points were again used to establish mean MVPA minutes. Analysis based on intention-to-treat principles showed no differences in MVPA and attendance in the sessions decreased throughout time. It could be that the structured nature of this intervention deterred girls from sustaining engagement.

Andrade et al. (123) took a much more individualised approach to implementing a physical activity intervention. The 'ACTIVITAL' study was a randomised control conducted in South America, 28 schools met inclusion criteria and ten were allocated to the intervention (n=700), ten to the control arm (n=740) and eight were not allocated. The intervention program used the results of a needs assessment through qualitative (focus groups) and quantitative (physical fitness assessments) work. Results from this preliminary work showed there was a need to improve knowledge about activity, reduce laziness, overcome time constraints and provide role models, parent and peer support (123). At individual level the intervention delivered education packages in the classroom, workshops with parents, the organisation of social events and environmental modifications such as a walking trial drawn on the school playground.

The ACTIVITAL intervention ran for 28 months. Measures of fitness (EUROFIT test battery (132)), screen time (self-reported), physical activity (accelerometry of a sub-sample due to cost of the Actigraphs worn over 5 days) and BMI were taken before and after the trial. The proportion of schools meeting the recommendations for physical activity improved by 37% in interventions schools and increases were seen in vertical jump (2.5cm; 95% CI: 0.8 to 4.2) and the time taken to complete the speed shuttle run (-0.8s; 95% CI: -1.58 to -.07) (123). However, there was no follow-up to show if the intervention effects were sustained. Short-term, Andrade et al. (123) shows that a more individualised approach to promoting activity, assessing the needs of the population can be effective. Young people have different interests, likes and dislikes and therefore it would be difficult to promote a single type of activity to a whole population. In line with SDT, being active for enjoyment is pivotal to being

motivated to participate and therefore, this individualisation should be considered by studies.

Follow-up is essential if studies want to explore the sustainability implications of their intervention. In physical activity research, follow-up post-intervention often shows little long-term impact or there is no follow-up planned. Jurak et al. (124) looked at the long-term effects of an enhanced PE curriculum in Slovenia. This curriculum featured extra lessons, a wider selection of activities and additional outdoor education for 324 children in 9 primary schools over 4 years and then 7 years post intervention. This was compared to 164 in the control group. Over the 11 years of the study, the intervention differed in motor skills measured by the SLOFIT test battery, but not in anthropometric measures or BMI (124). This study highlights how important a broad and wide-ranging curriculum can be on developing important motor skills in young people even 7 years post-intervention.

The school setting is a popular place to recruit and deliver activity provision. In terms of school-based interventions for young people, cut-points established by Evenson et al. (130) have been used as popular cut-points for distinguishing between varying levels of intensity in physical activity. However, there is ambiguity on where the accelerometer should be placed on the individual as this may be pivotal to wear compliance and the validity and reliability of recordings. Evenson et al.'s cut-points were distinguished in hip worn accelerometers (130).

These interventions are often prescriptive in nature, with young people required to access adult-determined activities e.g. walking (125) or dance (126). In line with SDT (84) and the findings from this research, it appears a better approach is to assess the wants and needs of young people prior to the start of the intervention and implement activities based off this initial consultation.

Jong et al. (133) used over 1542 participants (age 13.2 +/- 0.4 years) responses to questionnaires at baseline (shyness, activity level) and post-intervention (intervention acceptability) to provide evidence of adolescent's perspectives of using the school as a setting. Boys preferred class-based sessions (0.2, 95% CI: 0.1 to 0.3). Shy/inactive

students did not enjoy the competition. Boys also enjoyed trying new activities more. These results highlight the importance of considering gender differences (133).

A further six intervention studies looked at promoting physical activity using the community setting (76,134–138). The 'Healthy for Life' pilot (134) combined community and school to implement a multi-component activity intervention for 8 – 13 year olds. Activity was assessed at an intervention and nearby control school in Australia using accelerometers and self-report at 3-time points: baseline, post-intervention and 10-week follow-up. The intervention itself provided 10-hour long school-based activity sessions, a 'passport to fun' activity booklet to complete at home and four parent workshops to support activity lasting an hour. The study showed 73% of the children at the intervention school (n= 27) did not increase MVPA after-school, or over the whole day or during school break time immediately following the intervention or at follow-up. The researchers acknowledge that this lack of change may be to do with barriers of parental, teacher and student engagement. Therefore, highlighting the importance of buy-in from all partners when implementing interventions, particularly in the school setting. Especially in deprived settings where joined up working could be vital to success.

Borawski et al. (135) used running as a vehicle to promote physical activity in youths. The community-supported but school-based programme assessed changes in obesity, health, and fitness, before and post-intervention, among 1,419 11 – 14-year olds students with a primary objective of exploring the intervention's effect on overweight or obese teens. Participants took part in a 12 – 14 weeks training programme to run or walk sections of the Cleveland Marathon in America (1.2, 6.2 or 13.1 miles). This was led by coaches. The intervention saw significant improvements in a sit-to-stand test (-0.72 seconds faster, p=0.02) and in the Progressive Aerobic Cardiovascular Endurance Run (PACER) test (+ 8 laps, p < 0.01). There was no difference in BMI but blood pressure was reduced (135). This study provides evidence that a structured approach like this can work to get teenagers fitter and healthier. The authors attribute its success to the partnership working between school and community. As a result, the 'We Run This City' intervention appeared to offer a unique opportunity to be active with friends (as previously noted as important to motivation in previous studies) outside of their formal PE classes and

allowed the freedom to travel and explore parts of their city on foot (135). The lack of comparison group does limit the study and it would have benefited from a control.

The other four studies identified for review as using the community combined this approach with incentivising physical activity (76,136–138). All approaches used financial incentives. Short et al. (136), Finkelstein et al. (76) and Fennel et al. (138) used financial incentives solely. These incentives were awarded after completion of certain activity-related tasks; 8,000 steps per day measured by a pedometer on half the days in a month equated to \$30 Toys-R-Us vouchers for 6 - 12 year olds in Finkelstein et al.'s 9 month trial (76), 450 miles measured by an accelerometer worn on the wrist for 12 weeks equated to \$25 for adults and completion of exercise on 3 days/week for 11 - 20 year olds over 48 weeks equated to \$4 per session in one group and \$4, \$7 and \$16 respectively in the enhanced incentive group (136). Thus, highlighting the different ways activity could be incentivised in interventions such as these.

Fennell et al.'s (138) study used adults of working age (age = 48.7 + 1; n = 13 females) exclusively. Although this is outside of the age range being explore by this review, it is worth noting how a voucher model has been previously tested within other populations. Voucher-based incentives to increase activity in the UK have been tested in adults, but it remains uncertain whether a similar approach would work with teenagers (93,139). In the case of Fennell et al., the study took previously sedentary staff at a University in America and asked them to take part initially in a 12-week non-incentivised programme of exercise and then 12-weeks incentivised. At each exercise session, participants could choose from four stations; a bootcamp, weight training, circuit training or cardio-dance class, giving them some autonomy over the activity they did. Participants wore a 'Movband' (138) as much as possible throughout the study and also had body fat percentage, blood pressure, heart rate, maximum push-ups/sit-ups and flexibility measured. When comparing an exercise intervention with no incentives to a programme with incentives, there was no difference in the change of health variables, physical activity, or attendance; indicating that the current extrinsic reward system had no effect on improving healthrelated behaviour (138). However, with no control comparison and including a small

sample of an older population it is difficult to conclude the feasibility of this approach in a younger group.

The work of Short et al. (136) (n=77 participants) provides a contrasting conclusion of incentivised activity. Sessions were flexible with no time constraints and a range of facilities used to host. Anthropometry measures, fitness, physical activity (measured by waist-worn accelerometers), blood work and questionnaire data showed that the enhanced financial incentives increased the duration of exercise sessions but had minimal effects on exercise participation. These results indicate that financial incentives can motivate previously sedentary, overweight/obese adolescents to exercise longer, but motivating them to sustain an exercise programme remains a challenge (136). Thus, providing evidence that a voucher-scheme alone is not enough to change activity behaviour and may need to be used in conjunction with another component. For example, previous studies in this review have shown how peer support can also be influential to activity uptake.

A physical activity programme explicitly outdoors with 138 children aged 6 - 12 showed incentives for increased step activity were effective in producing greater steps and showed a trend toward improvements in other health outcomes (6 minute walk test, BMI and parent-reported quality of life) (76). However, it is noted that the step target may have been modest and greater step targets and longer follow-up periods to provide evidence of the long-term effect of these incentives.

While the previous studies have looked at financial incentivisation alone and provided evidence that a multi-component element might be needed, Patel et al. (137) explored the use of social comparison feedback alongside incentives. Twentysix weeks of weekly feedback on 'team' performance was then followed by 13 weeks of weekly lottery-based financial incentive plus feedback on team performance followed by 13 weeks of only performance feedback related to physical activity. Teams were comprised of eligible participants who were either employees or family members of employees from the University of Pennsylvania Health System, aged above 18 or with access to a smartphone (137). Participants were asked by the research team to form a team of four members and select a captain with the primary goal of reaching an average step count per day per team member of 7000 steps. Feedback was given via text, e-mail or both depending on participant preference. The primary outcome of achieving 7000 steps (measured by a pedometer) was significantly greater for the incentive group with team feedback (137). This highlights how financial incentives and combining elements can improve motivation to be active.

There has been mixed success with financial incentives. There is also some evidence to suggest that financial incentives may undermine the enjoyment of an intervention. Moller et al. (139) suggests that financial incentives were reliant upon meeting behaviour goals for three weeks and became dependent upon merely providing data during the 4.5-month maintenance period. Furthermore, financial motivation and gender interacted significantly in predicting maintenance of healthy diet and activity changes (2.42; p=0.016), and financial motivation had a more harmful influence among men. However, this study was carried out with older adults.

Research regarding barriers to being active suggest more needs to be done to overcome accessibility issues faced by teens, including the cost and locality of provision whilst also giving teenagers a choice and the autonomy to choose activity that they can do with their friends (16,68,113,105–112). A financial incentive could help underpin this, providing a catalyst to overcome initial barriers and go and do activity. It would not act as a reward for being active. Interestingly, previous studies use incentives as rewards after achieving a prescribed amount of exercise/activity (76,136–138) rather than using them as an initial access tool. There is also evidence that incentives should be used in conjunction with another method for further success. With this in mind, for teenagers this could include combining an incentive for initial access with external support from peers or another source. Peers have been identified as important source of motivation (121,127).

3.7 Summary of the literature

The existing literature regarding physical activity barriers, motivations and interventions is broad. It encompasses a variety of different approaches from quantitative, qualitative to mixed methods and occurs across the school and community settings. The research designs are highly variable and change from studyto-study dependent on the location, research population and aims. The school setting is most popular due to the ease of access to a large group of young people. Selfreport questionnaires and accelerometry appear to be the most popular tool for data collection within physical activity research. However, there is no universal agreement on the accelerometry protocol, in particular where the device is worn or how cut-points are derived.

Studies which report on the barriers existing for young people adopt a more qualitative approach using focus groups or interviews to encourage conversation. Within these studies, accessibility arises as the top barrier encompassing the cost and location of activities as well as the various motivations to being active. The intervention studies acknowledge this using the barriers of cost and location to underpin their deliveries. Notably, many of these interventions are prescriptive. They offer a single type of activity to a group at a specific time/day. This does not account for the ways in which motivation is regulated in teenagers.

With four of the intervention studies that were selected for review being feasibility studies, it is important to note the implications when discussing the effectiveness of these studies. Feasibility studies are undertaken to prepare for a bigger trial study and to assess any uncertainties within the research question, design, methods or analysis (140). As such, they are often smaller in scale and provide an objective evaluation of study's potential success. Without a larger, trial-based methodology for exploring the question at hand, it is difficult to ascertain the validity and reliability of findings and the effectiveness of the feasibility study.

3.8 The ACTIVE feasibility study and the ACTIVE RCT – building on the literature

Prior to the development of the ACTIVE RCT discussed in this thesis, the ACTIVE feasibility study (65) was carried out in one school in a deprived area of Swansea, South Wales. It took a mixed-method approach collecting data on activity levels (objective and self-reported), fitness, motivation and focus groups. The intervention saw £25 worth of activity-enabling vouchers given to teenagers each month for 6

months to help them overcome the barriers of accessibility identified in the literature above (n=115; 13.3 ± 0.48 years; 51 % boys) (65). The study found that MVPA increased, sedentary behaviour decreased, and the vouchers encouraged socialisation.

A process evaluation (91) demonstrated that ACTIVE was a feasible approach to increasing physical activity amongst adolescents from low socio-economic backgrounds. Adjustments were made to the ACTIVE protocol following outcomes, process evaluation and recommendations from funding partners. These adjustments were made to further improve the project and increase its sustainability, prior to conducting an RCT in order to assess effectiveness rather than its feasibility.

The ACTIVE RCT was developed following the feasibility study and builds upon what is already known about physical activity and teenagers. Most notably, it is evident not enough is being done to empower teenagers and target autonomous motivation in line with SDT. SDT has emerged as a popular framework for examining motivation and activity as it differentiates between controlled motivation (e.g., regulated by external pressure or guilt) and autonomous motivation (e.g., regulated by enjoyment). SDT helps explain why people engage with, adopt, and maintain physical activity which is why it underpins the work of the ACTIVE RCT.

This literature review highlights that previous interventions have been prescriptive, with specific activities or teaching strategies given to teenagers. These interventions have had mixed success to date, often only increasing activity short-term as they fail to provide ongoing opportunities. This style of intervention design and implementation is 'top down' with the emphasis on policymakers as the experts and sole designers. This results in a disconnect between what is provided and what teenagers need and want to do. Research shows that involving participants and those expected to deliver the intervention at an early stage aids the development of a strong intervention and increases the likelihood of success, effectiveness and sustainability.

Secondary school has been identified as a key period of change in teenage activity behaviours and is an important setting for promoting activity due to its broad reach. As well as this, behaviours adopted during this time are likely to be continued in adulthood which has been highlighted as important for lifelong health and protection against cardiovascular disease and other chronic health conditions. However, there has been evidence supplied by research that suggests a joined-up approach with the community can help promote activity. Thus, ACTIVE has chosen to situate itself in both the community and in schools, using previous work to underpin its development, aims and objectives.

CHAPTER 4

METHODS

4.1 Trial Design

The ACTIVE RCT was co-produced by teenagers from its inception to its implementation which allowed some flexibility in the way in which the intervention was delivered from school to school. It allowed teenagers to access activities that they wanted and needed individually, rather than being given access to prescriptive activities as a group. The intervention recognized that not all communities are the same, they have different levels of accessibility and different provisions located within them. Despite a flexible delivery, there were no changes to the data collection procedures from the protocol after the trial commenced. ACTIVE was developed within the context of strong patient and public involvement.

Data collection took place at baseline, 6 months and at 12 months for both intervention and control schools (Figure 2). Randomisation into either arm occurred prior to baseline data collection. This was done by an external statistician who had no involvement in ACTIVE.

Due to the nature of the study, participants were aware of which arm they had been allocated to. The College of Human and Health Science Ethics Committee at the College of Medicine, Swansea University granted ACTIVE ethical approval on 12/05/2016.

The protocol for ACTIVE has been peer reviewed and published (92) (Appendix 3).

4.2 Participants

All 13 schools from one local authority in South Wales were assessed for eligibility; four did not meet inclusion criteria of being deprived or located in one of Wales' most deprived areas (92).



Figure 2 - ACTIVE data collection and timeline

This was a purposive sampling technique based on specific characteristics of the schools location (141). Thus, allowing the RCT to target a dense population of pupils who are most exposed to accessibility barriers to physical activity. School level deprivation was derived from the Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation (WIMD) which is used to identify areas of deprivation based on income, employment, health, education, access to services, community safety, environment and housing (142). Schools were constituted as being 'deprived' if they were in the highest two quintiles (1 and 2) according to WIMD based on their location. These quintiles were developed by Welsh Government. Two schools declined to participate, one prior to randomisation and the other after being assigned to the control arm. This meant the total number of secondary schools taking part in ACTIVE was 7; four intervention and three control schools.

Following initial school recruitment, participants were recruited for primary and secondary outcome measures via Year 9 (aged 13 - 14) assemblies. All year 9 pupils were eligible to participate creating a census, rather than sample. The advantages of this approach included reducing sampling bias and facilitating a collection of data on all members of the target population (92). Therefore, creating a representative sample of the target population (dependent on the amount of nonresponse/lack of consent) (143). During school assemblies, information was provided to the teenagers about the project and time was allowed to answer any immediate questions or queries from both the young people and staff members. Post-assembly information, parental consent and pupil assent forms were distributed (Appendix 4). All schools received the same assembly and same amount of initial contact time.

Consent was voluntary and involved both written parental consent and pupil assent forms. Consent was via parental and participant opt-in, a popular approach which has been used by previous interventions (65,76,121,126,144). For consent to be valid both parental and child consent was needed for the pupil. After the distribution of the project's literature, parents and participants were given 2-3 weeks to consider the study to allow baseline data collection to commence in the September. Once consent and assent had been obtained, participants were eligible to take part in the study. ACTIVE recruited 908 pupils from 1,026 across all year 9 classes: a consent rate of 88%. As well as this members of the local council's Active Young People (AYP) team (n=15) were recruited voluntarily at twelve months to take part in a one-off focus group. Recruitment of AYP team members was initially done through their team meetings. During which information was provided and members were given the opportunity to opt-in to the one-off focus group.

4.3 The intervention

The ACTIVE intervention had three components: a) physical activity vouchers, b) peer mentor scheme and advocacy, and c) support worker engagement. The intervention ran from January to December 2017.

Physical activity vouchers

Physical activity enabling vouchers equating to a monetary value of £20 (four vouchers in increments of £5) per pupil were given out each month for 12 months (92). They were distributed in schools with the purpose of being used by the teenagers to; i) access existing activities, ii) fund new activities in the schools or local communities, and iii) purchase sporting equipment. The vouchers were treated similar to a cash transaction, but change was not given to prevent the purchase of non-activity-based items.

At the end of each month, the support worker collected vouchers from each provider with an accompanying invoice for reimbursement of fees. This transaction process was informed by the ACTIVE feasibility study (145). The activity providers were recruited during the development stages of ACTIVE and continued to be recruited throughout the intervention based on pupil suggestions.

Peer mentoring scheme and advocacy

After randomisation teenagers form each of the intervention schools were asked to identify key influencers to be peer mentors (10 from each school). A peer nomination questionnaire was given to all pupils in the year and those who received the most nominations were invited to be mentors (146). Participants were asked; "Who do you

respect in your year group at school?", "Who are good leaders in sports?", "Who do you look up to in your year group?" and "Who have you had a conversation with today?" as part of the questionnaire. The rationale being that individuals who were identified as the most respected and as good leaders would make the best influences for ACTIVE. This approach was underpinned by the ASSIST stop smoking trial; an intervention that involved training Year 8 students to promote the benefits of not smoking amongst their peers (128).

The role of peer mentor was to encourage the uptake and sustainability of physical activity. The mentors received training from the AYP team at Swansea Council. This training happened as baseline, 6 months and 12 months via workshops that took place at each intervention school. A student from the PR and Marketing Taught Masters course at Swansea University also assisted with training on social media use.

The purpose of these workshops was to encourage the mentors to voice their passion for activity and help others in their year group access provision. They were asked to produce videos throughout the intervention to explain why activity is important to them, how to overcome barriers to being active and any recommendations to improve activity for teenagers (92). These would help provide an innovative way to display the work of the ACTIVE at advocacy meetings and conferences. The use of popular social networking apps such as 'Snapchat' was encouraged. Studies showed that 'Snapchat' is used to facilitate relationships and 'bonding' amongst social circles (147,148) and combined with its use of filters and text would create a novel way of displaying physical activity perceptions of this age group.

ACTIVE held advocacy meetings with key stakeholders at 12 months. These meetings involved the discussion of needs, barriers to activity and changes that could improve teenager's access and uptake from the peer mentors' point of view.

Support worker engagement

ACTIVE recruited a support worker to act as link between the research team and the teenagers. They regularly attended the intervention schools to increase pupil

awareness of what provision was available, give advice on how to access activities and encourage pupils to design new activities or attract new coaches to the area (92). Regular contact with the schools aided communication and maintained a presence to help pupils and teachers feel supported by the project. Assemblies were held to update the teenagers with important information regarding their vouchers and activity providers, also providing a general summary. The support worker also communicated with local activity providers to create new activity options and ensure vouchers remained redeemable throughout the 12-month intervention.

The support worker audited activities available and monitored voucher usage monthly. Each month the support worker hosted drop-in style sessions in school lunchtimes so that pupils could discuss their ideas, their current engagement with the vouchers and raise any questions/clarify any issues they may have had. Feedback from these sessions was used to target new activity providers that pupils have specifically expressed interest in.

Control schools

Control schools were encouraged to continue with their usual practice throughout the duration of the study. They received a mindfulness course for staff or pupils because of their participation in the study.

4.4 Aims

The ACTIVE RCT built upon the feasibility study by examining the effect of a multi-component voucher-based intervention on the cardiovascular fitness, health and motivation of teenagers aged 13 - 14 years in 7 schools in Swansea (4 intervention and 3 control schools). The specific aims of the ACTIVE Project were as follows:

Primary aim

1. To examine evidence of the effect of a multi-component intervention in improving cardiovascular fitness based on Cooper Run Test (CRT) score.

 To examine evidence of the effect of a multi-component intervention in improving MVPA based on 7-day accelerometry wear.

Secondary aims

- To explore how ACTIVE impacts the exercise motivation (BREQ-2) of teenagers.
- To provide predictors of cardiovascular health (blood pressure and pulse wave analysis as an indicator of arterial stiffness) in teenagers from observational data using data linkage.
- To examine the impact of a teenager's (aged 13 14) built environment (using Geographic Information Systems [GIS]) on the physical activity levels (using accelerometers) and the fitness levels of teenagers (using the CRT).

This study also aims to explore the qualitative experiences of the intervention from teenagers and stakeholder's perspective. This helped to provide some further insight into the intervention's effectiveness.

Cardiovascular fitness and MVPA were chosen as the primary outcomes for the ACTIVE RCT in line with the ACTIVE feasibility study (65) which used fitness and accelerometery as its primary aims. As a continuation of this work, the ACTIVE RCT wanted to remain consistent with previous aims. There is also evidence from previous interventions (123,125–127,129,135) that the increased access to activity provision combined with peer mentoring can increase these outcomes.

4.5 Data collection

Data collection periods took place at three time points: baseline (September to December 2016), 6 months (March to May 2017) and 12 months (September to December 2017) for both intervention and control schools. Quantitative measures of cardiovascular fitness, physical activity, motivation and cardiovascular health were assessed at all three time points using the measures described below. In addition focus groups were used to assess qualitative aspects of the project (92). Mapping of

teenager's areas occurred after baseline to provide an exploration of influences on teenage activity and fitness prior to the intervention.

Cardiovascular fitness (Cooper Run Test [CRT])

The CRT is a 12-minute walk/run test that was performed at all three time points in both intervention and control schools to assess cardiovascular fitness. The CRT was selected as a method of assessing fitness due to its simple design and ability to be performed in the school setting under similar parameters. Researchers from the University led the testing but was supported by PE staff from the schools. The validity of the CRT as a predictor of aerobic fitness has been tested by numerous studies in both young males and females (149–151).

Researchers set up and explained the protocol of the CRT to all pupils in year 9 as part of normal PE lessons in the schools to avoid disruption to school timetables. The CRT was conducted inside the school's sports halls at all time points to improve reproducibility of the conditions (e.g. to avoid weather disruption). This involved setting up an area to walk/run around as 'laps' and asking pupils to record each other's scores. To allow this to happen, two 12-minute sessions were running during a single 1-hour PE lesson. This meant pupils could warm up, take turns to perform the test, recover and cool down in the lessons. They were instructed to complete as many laps as possible of the sports hall, perform the test to the best of their ability and to keep moving as much as possible for the 12-minute time frame. The team of researchers were present to provide further encouragement by means of clapping and cheering and, to ensure pupils were recording accurately. This meant continuously circulating the room to confirm counting was taking place. All year 9 pupils in the study were encouraged to take part but were reminded by researchers that participation was voluntary.

Pupils were categorised as 'fit' or 'unfit' based on whether their total metres ran and normative data (152). 'Fit' was considered average and above according to normative data and 'unfit' as below average and poor.

55

Physical activity (actigraph accelerometers)

Physical activity was measured using Actigraph GT3X+ accelerometers (Actigraph, Pensacola, Florida, United States). This is a tri-axial accelerometer which has previously been used in adolescents with both hip and wrist placement (153,154). The accelerometers were worn on the participant's non-dominant wrist. Previous studies used the hip as a site for the accelerometers but the wrist has shown improved wear compliance (92,155). This is a methodology which has also adopted by the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) between 2011 -2012.

The Actigraphs were worn for 7 full days at all times, apart from bathing or swimming, and were set to record at a frequency of 30Hz with a 5s epoch duration. Participants needed to wear the accelerometers for over 500 minutes on >3 days to be included in the analysis with non-wear time defined as >60 minutes with a measure of 0 counts based on a 24-hour protocol. This is in line with previous studies with similar aims (17,37). Research regarding wear-time in children and young people have stated that using data from children with more than two days lasting 10 hours/day should provide reliable estimates of physical activity (r=0.86) (156). However, to remain in line with studies similar in design (17,37), the >500 minutes on >3 days protocol was selected for this inclusion criteria.

The cut points for physical activity were taken from Chandler et al. (157) incorporating the vector magnitude (VM) output. VM was incorporated as it is more suitable for wrist-worn placement as there is no dominant plane of movement, particularly in children (157). Sedentary behaviour was defined as periods with counts (the unit of measurement for activity used by Actigraph) below 161 per 5 seconds and MVPA defined as periods with counts >1462.

Motivation (exercise motivation questionnaire (BREQ-2))

The modified Behavioural Regulation in Exercise Questionnaire (BREQ-2) (Appendix 5) is a 19-item questionnaire that provides a total motivation score. This was used to define pupils as 'autonomous' or 'controlled' via 5 subscales; amotivation, external regulation, introjected regulation, identified regulation and intrinsic motivation (158). The mean of the five subscales forms an idea of whether teenagers are motivated more autonomously or controlled (158).

For this study, the Relative Autonomy Index (RAI) was used. This provided insight into the degree of autonomy the teenagers had. The RAI was calculated by weighing each of the subscales and summing the weighted scores; the minimum score of RAI is -24 and the maximum is +20 (158). According to SDT (84) scoring higher equates to being more autonomously motivated. This is associated with participating in activity for the enjoyment of it and for personal values as opposed to controlled motivation and being made to feel guilty and external pressure to be active (87).

The BREQ-2 was selected due to its accessibility. It is clearly written to aid pupils understanding of the questions. The BREQ-2 has been noted by previous studies to obtain good psychometric information (159) and has been previously used to provide information regarding teenager's motivation to exercise (86,160,161). The teenagers completed the questionnaire at all time points.

Cardiovascular health (blood pressure and pulse wave analysis [PWA])

Blood pressure was measured using a standardised upper arm cuff methodology using a sphygmomanometer (Omron M2 monitor, OMRON Healthcare UK Ltd, United Kingdom). ACTIVE's protocol asked participants to be seated for a minimum of five minutes to ensure they were rested prior to any measures being taken (92). The Omron cuff was positioned on the upper left arm, with the midline of the cuff positioned over the brachial artery, and the arm out straightened, resting gently on a table so as not to influence the blood pressure reading (162). The cuff was inflated until a blood pressure recording appeared on the Omron M2 monitor screen, at which point the cuff deflated. This process was repeated twice more, allowing the average of the three measures to be taken. If any of the measures were very different (+/- 5 mmHg) an additional measure was taken (92).

To further assess the heart health of teenagers, the non-invasive measurement of pulse wave analysis (PWA) was used as an indicator of arterial stiffness (163). PWA was assessed using the Vicorder (Skidmore Medical Limited, Bristol, United Kingdom). Participants were seated and a SC10 Hokanson cuff positioned around their upper left arm. Similar to blood pressure, participants were asked to sit for 5 minutes to ensure they were rested. The cuff was then gradually inflated according to an inbuilt automated protocol, during which the brachial artery pulse-pressure waveform is recorded. Central augmentation pressure (AP) and augmentation index (AIx) were determined from the waveform using a transfer function integral to the software. This process was performed a second time, if both measures of AP were within ±5 mmHg of each other and AIx were within ±5% the two measures are accepted, if not a third reading was taken and a mean of all three taken (92).

A more in-depth exploration of cardiovascular health was completed using data linkage via the Secure Anonymised Information Linkage (SAIL) Databank (164). This part of the study used measures of arterial stiffness (augmentation index [AIx]), blood pressure and cardiovascular fitness (cooper run test) as indicators of cardiovascular health (165). Higher AIx and blood pressure readings can be used as an assessment of arterial stiffness as they indicate cardiovascular disease (CVD) risk (166–168). Poorer fitness has also been attributed to CVD risk (20,169). Participants were recruited from the baseline measures from the participating schools. Consent was voluntary and involved both written parental consent and pupil assent forms. All pupils in school year 9 (aged 13 - 14) were eligible to participate. No pupils were excluded from participation. A total of 224 (n=129 boys) out of 908 pupils across the 7 schools (25.7%) were included in this cross-sectional analysis with data linkage.

Accessibility modelling

At baseline the objective measures recorded by ACTIVE were mapped in a GIS alongside datasets relating to activity provision, active travel routes, public transport stops, main roads and natural resource. Lle (170), a geo-portal for Wales which is a partnership between Welsh Government and Natural Resources Wales, was used to access open source maps and create these datasets. Participant homes and schools were geocoded, and nearest Euclidean distance were measured from each school and home location to the nearest activity provider using QGIS 2.18. This created a database which was exported for statistical analysis.

Similar to the wider exploration of cardiovascular health, participants were recruited from baseline measures in all participating schools.

Adolescents' views (focus groups)

Digitally recorded semi-structured focus groups were conducted at all-time points (n=37 focus groups) by two researchers. A lead moderator facilitated the focus groups, and an assistant moderator was also present at each focus group and was responsible for taking notes and audio recording. The assistant moderator was also responsible for reporting back to participants on their main discussions from the focus groups to ensure correct interpretation and understanding and gain clarity over any points discussed, a method of respondent validation (171). Focus groups were selected as the preferred methodology due to their distinguishing feature of group interaction, which can encourage in-depth discussion (172).

Focus groups were carried out at the schools during the school day to ensure pupils remained in a comfortable, familiar setting. They lasted between 30 - 50 minutes each time. The groups consisted of 6 - 8 pupils with boys and girls in separate groups (equating to two focus groups per school) were carried out at all three time points. Participants were asked their opinions regarding what physical activity is, its barriers and what could be done to improve activity in their areas. Intervention schools discussed the ACTIVE project specifically (see topic guides: Appendix 6).

Baseline focus groups consisted of randomly selected consented pupils. After this, participants were purposively selected to explore the views of those engaging well with the intervention and those not. This included some peer mentors, although a focus group exclusively with the peer mentors was not considered. The focus groups provided ACTIVE with a greater understanding of the mediating factors that

influence teenage physical activity. They also helped provide context to the quantitative measures.

In addition to focus groups with teenagers, focus groups and interviews were held with stakeholders (e.g. AYP Officers from the local council). These were held at 12 months.

Data linkage

The SAIL databank allowed for data linkage to take place for this these (164). For this to take place, measures of arterial stiffness (AIx), blood pressure and cardiovascular fitness were linked with routinely collected health data e.g. deprivation at school and at home, birth weight and hospital admissions. The process of this in SAIL assigns a unique Anonymous Linking Field (ALF) to person-based records before it is joined to clinical data via a system linking field (173). This ensures anonymity and ensures participants cannot be identified once their data has been linked.

The linked routine data came from two sources; the National Community Child Health Database (NCCHD) and the Tagged Electronic Cohort Cymru (TECC). The full list of variables and how they were cleaned can be seen as Appendix 7. Variables were removed from analysis if they had missing data on over 100 participants. Deprivation at school and individual level was the only variable to be measured at different time points (at birth, at 1 years old, at 13 years old and at secondary school). The purpose of this was to explore whether moving in and out of deprived areas during life affects heart health and whether deprivation impacts heart health at specific ages (165). This is in line with the study's secondary aim of providing predictors of cardiovascular health in teenagers. In this instance, exploring how deprivation across the life course at a young age impacts heart health outcomes.

4.6 Analysis

For primary outcomes, regression analysis was used as this would provide an indicator of the magnitude of effect between variables and not just whether there is a simple correlation (141). For the primary outcome of cardiovascular fitness, linear

mixed effects multilevel regression with intention-to-treat principles was used to analyse the effects of the intervention on the primary outcome in terms of distance. Multiple regression involves one dependant variable and two or more predictor (independent) variables; the use of more than one predictor variables increases the accuracy of prediction (174). Gender and deprivation were used as predictor variables in the primary and secondary outcome analysis. This was clustered by school and at an individual level in STATA, version 15. Logistic regression was also used to assess whether the intervention had an effect on whether pupils were fit or not fit. A similar analysis approach was used for accelerometry (MVPA and sedentary time).

Poisson regression was used to analyse vouchers due to usage being a count variable rather than continuous. For secondary outcomes (cardiovascular health), comparisons were made between baseline and 12 months with differences and confidence intervals (CIs) presented for a measure of estimation. Two independent statisticians carried out parallel data analysis on all outcomes to avoid researcher bias. The level of significance for the results of statistical analysis was set to p < 0.05.

Multiple imputation of missing data due to absence during some testing was conducted using the chained equations command in STATA. Data was assumed to be missing at random (e.g. children did not have follow up data because they were not in school on the day of the measurement rather than a factor due to heart health). This included 102 participants at baseline (12%) and 170 at follow-up (19%) using measures of fitness, activity and blood pressure at other timepoints (baseline/followup), gender, and deprivation. This generated a complete data set, which was used for analysis.

This RCT will examine change in the intervention group compared to controls. Findings from the feasibility study showed that sedentary behaviour reduced by 65 minutes (95% CI: 12.0 to 117.6) from baseline (n=75) (65). Fitness improved in the feasibility study in the intervention group by 98 metres (95% CI: 19 to 177, children ran 1730 meters in 12 minutes at baseline and 1823.3 meters at post intervention). Therefore, estimating improvement in cooper run of 98 metres (intervention) and 22 meters (control) with average cluster size of 150 children per school and ICC of 0.16 (as above) would require 300 children or two schools per cluster (3 schools if consent rate is assumed to be 60%).

Secondary outcomes; heart health and accessibility modelling

Linear multilevel regression was used to explore the relationships between variables collected via routine data (e.g hospital admissions, birth data, GP visits) and a) AIx, b) blood pressure and, c) cardiovascular fitness. Gender was included in the models to assess any differences by gender. The level of significance for the results of statistical analysis was set to p < 0.05. Clustering by school was also taken into account due to school level deprivation assuming a role in predicting heart health. Structural equation modelling (SEM) in STATA was also used to show relationships between routinely collected data and the cardiovascular phenotypes collected in this study. Data linkage in SAIL allowed for observational data from NCCHD and TECC (Appendix 7). The role of data linkage allowed access to variable that were not collected by ACTIVE and were not feasible to collect under ACTIVE's protocol.

For accessibility modelling, multivariate linear regression models were estimated in STATA (Version 15). Three models were created to answer how the environment influences a) MVPA, b) fitness and c) motivation. Regression models used to assess the associations of variables in the GIS dataset on MVPA, as well as fitness and motivation. Gender was included in the models as physical activity and fitness levels in particular differ by gender. Models were clustered by school as their locations differed and access changing from school to school. SEM in STATA was also used to show relationships between the environment and physical activity as the primary aim and also fitness and motivation as secondary aims.

The focus groups were transcribed in verbatim and names were removed to ensure anonymity. NVivo 10 was used to manage and analyse the data (175). Two researchers separately analysed the data and compared coding/themes in order to guarantee no new codes/themes emerged and there were instances of the same theme to ensure data saturation (176). The researchers used thematic analysis (TA) to identify and report patterns in the focus groups. Braun and Clarke's Phases of TA (2006) (177) underpinned the coding process. This version of thematic analysis provides a robust, systematic framework for coding qualitative data, and for then using that coding to identify patterns across the dataset in relation to the research question (178). There are six phases of analysis; i) familiarising yourself with the data, ii) generating initial codes, iii) searching for themes, iv) reviewing themes, v) defining and naming themes and, vi) producing the report (177). A checklist for Braun and Clarke's analysis can be seen as Table 2.

Process	No	Criteria
Transcription	1	The data have been transcribed to an appropriate level of
		detail, and the transcripts have been checked against the tapes
		for 'accuracy'.
Coding	2	Each data item has been given equal attention in the coding
		process.
	3	Themes have not been generated from a few vivid examples
		(an anecdotal approach), but instead the coding process has
		been thorough, inclusive and comprehensive.
	4	All relevant extracts for all each theme have been collated.
	5	Themes have been checked against each other and back to the
		original data set.
	6	Themes are internally coherent, consistent, and distinctive.
Analysis	7	Data have been analysed – interpreted, made sense of - rather
		than just paraphrased or described.
	8	Analysis and data match each other – the extracts illustrate the
		analytic claims.
	9	Analysis tells a convincing and well-organised story about the
		data and topic.
	10	A good balance between analytic narrative and illustrative
		extracts is provided.

Table 2 - Braun and Clarke's thematic analysis (177)

Overall	11	Enough time has been allocated to complete all phases of the
		analysis adequately, without rushing a phase or giving it a
		once-over-lightly.
Written	12	The assumptions about, and specific approach to, thematic
		analysis are clearly explicated.
	13	There is a good fit between what you claim you do, and what
		you show you have done $-i.e.$, described method and reported
		analysis are consistent.
	14	The language and concepts used in the report are consistent
		with the epistemological position of the analysis.
	15	The researcher is positioned as active in the research process;
		themes do not just 'emerge'.

4.7 ACTIVE's initial work

ACTIVE was a novel intervention aimed at examining the effect of a multicomponent intervention in improving the cardiovascular fitness, arterial physiology and general health, whilst reducing time spent sedentary, in adolescents. The RCT takes a mixed methods approach to explore how to improve the cardiovascular fitness and health of teenagers. This includes cardiovascular fitness testing (CRT), heart health (blood pressure/PWA), physical activity (accelerometery), motivation (BREQ-2) and qualitative interviews.

Prior to the start of the ACTIVE intervention, a gap was identified regarding recommendations made by teenagers to improve activity for their age group. In order to co-produce the intervention and ensure it would meet the wants and needs of young people, 13 focus groups were carried out in the 7 secondary schools. Participants (n=78) were recruited randomly but a mix of genders was ensured. Focus groups were carried out at the schools during the school day to ensure pupils remained in a comfortable, familiar setting and lasted 30 - 50 minutes. Boys and girls were mainly in separate groups to establish any gender differences in discussions and recommendations. As a result, two focus groups were conducted in each school, except for one school where, due to time constraints, boys and girls were combined to make one focus group.
A lead moderator facilitated the focus groups to allow detailed discussion of the teenager's recommendations and gain a better understanding of their needs; improving the quality of ACTIVE's aims. An assistant moderator was also present at each focus group and was responsible for taking notes and audio recording. To ensure consistency across all focus groups, a semi-structured topic-guide was used, which reflected the study's aims. This was to provide triggers for discussion rather than a prescriptive structure. As with all other qualitative work in ACTIVE, thematic analysis was used to identify key issues from the perspective of the teenage participants.

This work provided the start point for ACTIVE and provided reference for the direction of the RCT's intervention. It was pivotal in recruiting preliminary activity providers and generating awareness and initial buy-in from schools and the community.

CHAPTER 5

EXPERIMENTAL RESULTS

This chapter discusses the experimental results of the ACTIVE RCT which formulate much of this thesis' primary and secondary outcomes. These are the findings exploring how effective the ACTIVE intervention had been in improving fitness, physical activity, motivation, heart health and, perceptions of activity in teenagers. Baseline focus groups formed the start point for the ACTIVE RCT as this allowed the trial to be co-produced and proactive in addressing the wants and needs of teenagers. As a result, these findings are presented first to provide context.

5.1 Teenage recommendations to improve physical activity for their age group – setting the scene for the ACTIVE intervention

The findings from this work have been published in BMC Public Health (67) (Appendix 8). This initial work involved 74 teenagers (aged 13 - 14) from across all 7 secondary schools involved in ACTIVE. This work identified 6 recommendations made by the teenagers; i) Lower or remove the cost of activities without sacrificing the quality, ii) make physical activity opportunities more accessible, iii) Improve the standards of existing facilities, iv) Make activities more specific to teenagers v) Give teenagers a choice of activities/increase variety of activity and vi) Provide activities that teenage girls enjoy (e.g. fun, sociable activity instead of competitive sports). Key quotes from the focus groups are in Table 3.

This section has been taken from the "Teenage recommendations to improve physical activity for their age group: a qualitative study" publication (67).

Lower/remove of the cost of activities without sacrificing the quality

Teenagers identified reducing the cost of being active as a key recommendation. They suggested that there could be a reduction made to the existing price of activities in order to increase accessibility and sustainability. One girl explained how she would have to ask for money from her parents in order to access activities and this would make her feel bad, as she knew her parents were reluctant to pay. This would deter her from being active.

Free activities were recommended as an alternative approach; however, teenagers were aware that there is sometimes a trade-off in quality in exchange for lower priced activities. If the facilities are without heat, are dirty or unsafe due to low investment this will not encourage activity. Hence, purely lowering cost, without maintaining the quality of provision would not have the desired effect in enhancing teenage activity levels. One way to tackle this is to offer informal activities in a good quality venue, as these incur less cost to run and attend (179). This would include offering self-directed gym sessions, unstructured football sessions where teenagers can attend and play without coaching, or provision of any venue where a qualified coach is not required to teach technical movements or referee. This focus on quality of facilities is also re-iterated in a following theme pertaining to improving the standards of existing facilities.

Improve local access to physical activity opportunities

Throughout the focus groups, it was evident activities should be made more local to where teenagers lived. Similar to the theme of cost, improving access to activity has repeatedly been expressed as a barrier (16,17,65,81). Teenagers advocated for closer proximity of facilities, commenting that they would be more inclined to access activities that are closer to their homes. This was particularly relevant to outdoor spaces like pitches and parks. Teenagers suggested that they need to travel to be able to play outdoors, and this would incur an additional cost. Removing the need for travel to venues, would go some way to making physical activity more accessible to these teenagers.

Both boys and girls provided examples of specific equipment and/or facilities to increase physical activity such as more local *"football pitches, basketball hoops"* and *"little gyms in the park"*. It was apparent in the focus groups that both teenage

boys and girls were happy to organise their own activity if provided with the facilities, as they did not mention the need for formal coaching in these activities.

This suggests teenagers would like the increased opportunity and space to participate in unstructured, non-competitive forms of their favourite sports.

Improving the standards of existing facilities

When teenagers discussed their local facilities, they noted their current standards are in need of improvement. This was due to facilities, such as parks, falling into states of neglect and equipment being broken. This conversation focussed on local parks but also extended to discuss gym equipment and the aesthetic features of facilities (e.g., lighting).

There were small differences in the ways in which boys and girls felt this maintenance could be done. Boys recommended buying new equipment to replace the old, while girls discussed improving what is already there. However, it was apparent among focus groups with both genders that local facilities are lacking. The council's control of local provision was frustrating for teenagers because they felt more should be invested to maintain the environment and improve local facilities. It was evident that what is already in the community is not appealing to teenagers due to a lack of general maintenance.

By improving and updating local activity provision, teenagers say they are more likely to access them. Their recommendations propose that the local council need to be more proactive in their monitoring and upkeep of facilities. There was a mutual feeling among boys and girls that the local council is avoiding investing in teenagers and have chosen to invest in other developments, such as road maintenance, which teenagers do not value.

This point also draws out the need for activities and facilities invested in to be useable and appealing to teenagers and relates strongly to the next theme of ensuring activities provided are specific to teenagers. *Table 3 – Key quotes from recommendations focus groups*

Lower/remove of the cost of activities without sacrificing the quality

"And probably if like the leisure centres dropped their prices, you know, maybe people will think, oh that's cheaper, okay I'll go back." (Girl, Focus Group 6)

"What they could do is like get like something in a park... if they say it's like a free thing they would all just like come in and do it, instead of... if they say it's like £3 to come in they'd be like oh okay, bye." (Boy, Focus Group 13)

"...if it was like free and all that you'd see loads of other older kids going to try it out because they know it's free and it's

something to do with their friends, and they don't have to spend their own money." (Boy, Focus Group 13)

"...they've got like one indoor pitch which costs a lot to play in, or they've just got outdoor pitches which are, like, really cheap to play but it's, like, really cold. They don't put, like, any lights on." (Boy, Focus Group 9)

"...I feel bad when I have to go up to my parents and ask them for money, because their face is just like, right, and then you can see them as they pass the money over and they don't like it." (Girl, Focus Group 4)

Improving the locality of physical activity opportunities

"Well I would say bring more facilities, bring more stuff so then like more football pitches, basketball pitches, like more stuff so they're going to want to go outside." (Boy, Focus Group 5)

"Just like a little gym, in the park or something, 'cos I would go then 'cos it's like really close." (Girl, Focus Group 6)

"So there's the travel, but if it was, like, in your community, then it wouldn't be so bad." (Girl, Focus Group 10)

"They could spend more money and invest in putting buildings in that area where they could put, for example, badminton, tennis, football, rugby" (Girl, Focus Group 8)

"Well I would say bring more facilities, bring more stuff so then like more football pitches, basketball pitches, like more stuff so they're wanting to go outside" (Boy, Focus Group 5)

Improving the standards of existing facilities

"Like we said, like, fix the parks and stuff like that." (Girl, Focus Group 10)

"I think they could like, well not even like every year, like every other year they could go round to each park and renew all the apparatus." (Boy, Focus Group 5)

"And in the gym there's umm a few of the machines are broke, you could pay to get them fixed or like help get new ones and stuff like that." (Boy, Focus Group 7)

"They need to make the environment better." (Girl, Focus Group 10)

"But why don't they invest in building more things down there for our age because I, you walk through there and you mostly see glass bottles on the floor, on benches and..." (Boy, Focus Group 9)

"Yeah, council investing in, like, one-way systems and everything and they're wasting money on build, on making these one-way

systems and everything when they could be looking at our age and start investing in buildings that we can go to and enjoy

ourselves after school." (Boy, Focus Group 9)

Make activties more specific to teenagers

"And they always do adult things, like they never really aim at anything for teenagers, like people our age." (Girl, Focus Group 6) "Yeah, the government is complaining saying that we're getting like, there's like less people being fit but there's not really more facilities and stuff for like teenagers." (Girl, Focus Group 6)

"No, and like I just think they should put more activities out for younger people, like..." (Girl, Focus Group 6)

"For our age group and under 16's, not so much adults..." (Boy, Focus Group 7)

Give teenagers a choice and variety of activities

"There's like clubs on, it's the exact same every single time you go." (Girl, Focus Group 2)

"...they should give you a sheet at the beginning of the year and then choose which ones you want to do and then they go with

the majority..." (Girl, Focus Group 12)

"Rather than doing the same thing, like football, hockey, you know..." (Girl, Focus Group 4)

"Yeah, but they could take us out of our PSE when we have it and then maybe at dinner times?" (Boy, Focus Group 1)

"Yeah I think it's as much quantity as it is quality." (Boy, Focus Group 13)

Provide activities that teenage girls can enjoy

"If I don't like it, I won't do it."(Girl, Focus Group 10)

"You could hold like a football game but then for the people who like football and then for the people who like cheerleading they could let them cheerlead, or people who like dancing and things you could just hold a massive event of sports and have people performing." (Girl, Focus Group 12)

"Make sure, like get their friends to do it as well, so then their friends can encourage them, like oh I'm going to go there, oh come with me, be like oh okay. Ask them." (Girl, Focus Group 12)

"Yeah, just ask them if they want to go swimming, like say it's a normal thing, 'cos nobody would think of swimming as like an active thing isn't it, just for fun" (Girl, Focus Group 6)

Make activities more specific to teenagers

Both girls and boys commented on making activities more age relevant. Girls in one focus group discussed the ways in which activity provision does not target their age group and wanted more *"encouragement"* or to clearly be included and invited. There is very little that specifically invites teenagers or promotes and provides where they feel it is for them.

The provisions suggested by these teenagers included whole gyms designed for their age group and the ability to be able to attend existing classes for example, currently, there are age restrictions on classes like Zumba and Yoga. Boys also acknowledged the lack of provision for their age group, noting that that most provision is aimed at adults. The teenagers believed the local council has neglected their age group.

Give teenagers a choice and variety of activities

Teenagers in most of the focus groups recommended that they have a choice over which activities are available for their age group. In terms of local community provision, they wanted "*quantity as well as quality*", allowing them to access a broad variety of activities. The focus groups made it evident that local activity provision is lacking in variety and teenagers do not get a choice as to what activities they would like to do. Like the "improving locality of physical activity" theme, the activities suggested to provide variety were unstructured. For example, one participant suggested they would like more choice to be able to play nonconventional sports like dodgeball in an unstructured format, where they could organise teams and rules themselves.

This lack of choice and variety was evident in the school setting too. The girls discussed this lack of choice in detail, suggesting they were more disengaged with school sport than the boys were. Girls discussed how inflexible PE lessons were to providing variety and suggested giving each pupil a sheet at the beginning of the year with which they could suggest/pick activities they would like to do. They noted that schools provide traditional, structured forms of sport, whereas they would prefer

more unstructured activities. The boys discussed being able to have the ability to choose when they could be active, for example, being able to come out of other lessons to do so. For the boys, it was more of a case of being able to choose to do more activity rather than being discontent with the activity already on offer.

Provide activities that teenage girls can enjoy

It was apparent when discussing types of activity that teenage girls are more likely to be active if they can access activities they enjoy. It was evident that if they do not like what is on offer they will not participate in it and would prefer to be inactive. The idea of being able to enjoy activity was prominent amongst the girls in the focus groups and a greater emphasis was placed on the enjoyment aspect of activity among girls throughout discussions. It was important for girls that the purpose of the activity was not to 'be active' per se, rather they preferred the emphasis to be on the opportunity for them to have fun. The examples of activities that fit these criteria were the local waterpark (with slides and wave machines) and a trampoline park because *"it's fun,"* yet still gets teens active. One focus group also suggested the idea of a girls only gym in which girls could be the only ones allowed to access it which would make the experience more enjoyable, as being red and sweaty in front of boys was described as a barrier.

Inclusivity was a big part of this theme as girls suggested that everyone has a role to play in activities. These different roles included unstructured forms of activity such as cheerleading for school sports teams, which could be led and organised by teenagers. Inclusive activities would also mean peers could be active together allowing more time to spend with friends and facilitate social networks, which was appealing for teenagers (68).

How did the recommendations feed into ACTIVE?

Using the above themes, the initial provision that teenagers could access as part of the intervention was selected based on these requirements and informed of the teenagers wants and needs. As the project developed, ongoing consultation and feedback from the peer mentors and support worked allowed this provision to adapt and change which is echoed in the findings from the later focus groups. Appendix 9 shows more information regarding initial activity providers recruited and those added to the project throughout.

5.2 Results from the ACTIVE RCT

Findings from the quantitative results have been peer reviewed and published in the American Journal of Preventative Medicine (69) (Appendix 10). Figure 3 shows the participant flow of the study; a total of 118 participants were lost from baseline to 12 months (n=73 in the intervention) due to moving schools or being absent during testing. The total number of participants in ACTIVE was 908 (n=524 in the intervention). The demographics of the schools are reported in Table 4.



Figure 3 - Participant flow

#	Number of pupils in year 9 (n=boys)	Free school meal % in the		
		school*		
School 1	113 (n=56)	26.4%		
School 2	231 (n=107)	19.2%		
School 3	125 (n=59)	10%		
School 4	128 (n=62)	38.1%		
School 5	97 (n=50)	50.5%		
School 6	142 (n=77)	21.7%		
School 7	190 (n=105)	27.5%		
*Free school meal eligibility is a marker that the family income is below the				
poverty threshold				

Table 4 - Demographics of schools for experimental outcomes

Voucher use

Teenagers in the intervention arm had the opportunity to use 48 vouchers each over the 12 months (a total of 25152 vouchers). Frequency of voucher use is displayed in Figure 4. Over the course of ACTIVE, 6327 of these vouchers were used equating to 25.1% of the total number of vouchers available to spend. The frequency of voucher use can be seen as Figure 4. Boys used 3353 vouchers (52.9%), compared to the 2974 that girls used (47.1%). Some participants used no vouchers at all (n=125 [n=55 boys; 21.6%]). The mean number of vouchers used was 15 (median = 12). Interestingly, 5 participants recorded using more than the 48 vouchers available to them suggested vouchers were given by friends or shared.

Figure 5 shows voucher use broken down by month. Highest voucher use occurred in December which would have been the last month of the intervention. Spikes in voucher use coincided with school holidays (e.g. February half term, August summer holidays). Figure 6 presents a breakdown of voucher use by school. On the whole schools A, B and D had similar usage however, school C's was lower.



Figure 4 - Frequency of voucher use



Figure 5 - Voucher use by month



Figure 6 - Voucher use by school

Trampolining accounted for almost half of the voucher usage (49.1%), followed by laser tag (11.5%) and the waterpark (slides and surfing, 7.3%). A more detailed breakdown of the activities accessed stratified by gender can be seen as Table 5. ACTIVE helped set up three lunchtime clubs in two different schools at the request of teenagers: an unstructured football session, dance, and parkour. Notably, all choices were unstructured and informal activities

Activity	Total	Girls	Boys
Aqua Aerobics	3	0	3
Aqua Zumba	2	2	0
Badminton	13	5	8
Boxing Equipment	13	0	13
Cycling Equipment	361	76	285
Miscellaneous Equipment	37	36	1
Equipment for School	19	0	19
Equipment from Nash Sport	34	7	27
Fitness Equipment	368	187	154
Foot Golf	69	19	50
Football	407	7	400
Football Equipment	122	10	112
Gym Membership	357	182	175
Gym Pay & Play	211	134	77
Gymnastics	4	3	1
Court Hire	4	0	4
Kickboxing	3	0	3
Laser Tag	862	514	348
Martial Arts	6	6	0
Martial Arts Equipment	55	28	27
Paintballing	4	4	0
Parkour	48	0	48
Play Area	3	2	1
Rock Climbing	10	10	0

Table 5 - Frequency of voucher use by gender

Skateboard Equipment	94	62	32
Skateboarding	23	0	23
Swimming	48	20	28
Swimming Equipment	77	71	6
Tennis	8	0	8
Tennis Equipment	13	0	13
Trampolining	3692	1914	1778
Water Park	547	288	253
Zumba	3	3	0

Figures 7 and 8 show voucher use by fitness (unfit/fit) at baseline, gender and school deprivation (more deprived/less deprived). Fit/unfit boys tended to use slightly more vouchers (median = 14; for both groups) compared to fit girls (median = 12) and unfit girls (median = 11) (Figure 7). Unfit, less deprived pupils used more vouchers (median = 18) (Figure 8). This was followed by fit, more deprived pupils (median = 13). Unfit, more deprived and unfit, less deprived pupils had similar usage (median = 11).



Figure 7 - Vouchers use by fitness and gender



Figure 8 - Vouchers use by fitness and school deprivation

Poisson regression was used to analyse associations with voucher use and baseline measures due to the voucher use variable being count data. It demonstrated that voucher use was associated with being less deprived, being fitter, having lower blood pressure, being more motivated, having a higher sedentary time and lower MVPA at baseline (Table 6). Interestingly, gender was not significant. Common themes for not using the vouchers included the lack of local provision and motivation to exercise (Table 7).

Poisson Regression (Voucher Use)				
Covariate	Coef.	p-value	95% Confidence Interval	
School Deprivation	.001	0.000	.000 to 0.002	
Gender	.796	0.143	269 to 1.861	
Fitness (Distance Ran)	.001	0.042	.000 to .002	
Blood Pressure	045	0.011	080 to010	
Motivation	.193	0.000	.108 to .278	
Sedentary Time	.005	0.084	000 to .011	
MVPA	057	0.000	080 to033	
*Bold denotes significance				

Table 6 – Regression outcomes for voucher use

Table 7 – Reasons for lack of voucher use

Theme	Quote	
There was nothing to do	"I can't really think of many places you could use	
in the area	them, we haven't got that many places in the area"	
	(Girl)	
It required travel to get	"Sometimes it's hard to get to, you know like the	
to activity places	paintballing place, people find it hard to get to places	
	<i>like that, like buses and stuff</i> " (Girl)	
Participants were too	"School work and that you don't get time to do	
busy	anything" (Boy) and "it just very busy now, especially	
	with the GCSE period" (Girl)	
Participants were not	"Like, they don't see the point" (Boy) and "because of	
interested in being	Xboxes that people are using, they're too busy	
active	focussed on social media". (Girl)	

5.3 Primary aims of ACTIVE

Comparison between outcomes for the intervention and control group are reported in Table 8. The results in this table are descriptive, presenting the mean score, standard deviation and differences between baseline and 12 months including confidence intervals of the differences. Where percentages are present indicates the number of participants measuring as fit, with high blood pressure or as autonomously motivated. This demonstrates differences at baseline and twelve months for primary and secondary outcome measures by mean. This was used to test the hypothesis that a multi-component intervention would positively influence primary and secondary outcomes for teenagers. This is different to regression modelling as the regression models highlight the size of effect.

The 6-month data the same observed trends for fitness, cardiovascular health and motivation but for clarity, this thesis presents comparisons between baseline and 12 months. Data for outcomes of cardiovascular fitness, accelerometery and cardiovascular health was imputed using the MICE command in Stata version 12. This included 102 participants at baseline and 170 at follow-up using measures of

fitness, activity and blood pressure at other timepoints (baseline/follow-up), gender, and deprivation. This generated a complete data set, which was used for analysis.

Cardiovascular fitness

The control group initially ran further and were fitter than the intervention (Table 8), however this was not statistically significant. Across both the intervention and control, there was a trend to fitness to decrease in teenagers. The number of teenagers categorised as fit in the control group declined by 5.4% but there was only a reduction of 0.5% in the intervention group at 12 months. This decline was greatest for girls in the control group (-7.5% compared to an increase of 2.9% in the intervention).

Girls in the intervention showed a trend to become fitter (3% more children were fit). There was a significant difference between the girls at baseline (control schools were more fit) but this was reduced at 12 months due to the intervention girls getting fitter. As well as this, the biggest increase in fitness was seen in the non-deprived participants in the intervention group (8.6%). In terms of distance run, Table 8 shows similar trends. The most notable observation being that there was a significant drop in the metres run for non-deprived pupils in the control group (-68.1 metres).

Linear mixed effects multilevel regression (Table 9) shows that, overall, the intervention (group covariate) ran fewer metres compared to the control group. The interaction between group and time (being in the intervention at 12 months), showed a positive coefficient direction in favour of the intervention but this is not statistically significant. Logistic regression showed significantly higher odds of being fit at 12 months in the intervention group compared to the control (odds ratio 1.21 (95% CI: 1.07 to 1.38) p=0.002) (Table 9).

Cooper Run	Control (n=384)	Intervention $(n=524)$	Difference
(% Fit)			
Baseline	35.9% (n=138)	33.5% (n=176)	2.4% (95% CI: -3.9% to 8.6%)
(Total)			
12 Months	30.4% (n=117)	33.0% (n=173)	-2.6% (95% CI: -8.6% to 3.6%)
(Total)			
Difference	5.4% (95% CI:6% to 1.6%)	0.5% (95% CI: -4.5% to 5.7%)	4.9% (95% CI: 2.7% to 7.6%)
(Total)			
	Control Boys (n=212)	Intervention Boys (n=254)	Difference
Baseline	22.1% (n=47)	24.4% (n=62)	-2.3% (95% CI: -9.9% to 5.5%)
(Boys)			
12 Months	18.3% (n=39)	20.0% (n=51)	-1.7% (95% CI: -8.9% to 5.5%)
(Boys)			
Difference	3.8% (95% CI: -3.5% to 11.1%)	4.4% (95% CI: -2.1% to 10.8%)	6% (95% CI:2% to 4.6%)
(Boys)			
	Control Girls (n=172)	Intervention Girls (n=270)	Difference
Baseline	52.9% (n=91)	42.2% (n=114)	10.7% (95% CI: 11.5% to
(Girls)			20.2%)
12 Months	45.3% (n=78)	45.1% (n=122)	.2% (95% CI: -9.4% to 9.7%)
(Girls)			
Difference	7.5% (95% CI: -2.8% to 17.9%)	-2.9% (95% CI: -10.8% to 4.8%)	10.4% (95% CI: .4% to 9.7%)
(Girls)			
	Control Deprived Pupils (n=146)	Intervention Deprived Pupils (n=431)	Difference
Baseline	36.3% (n=53)	35.0% (n=151)	1.3% (95% CI: -7.7% to 10.2%)

Table 8 - Intervention compared to control in terms of outcomes

(Deprived)			
12 Months	30.8% (n=45)	32.4% (n=140)	-1.6% (95% CI: -10.4% to 7.1%)
(Deprived)			
Difference	5.5% (95% CI: -4.4% to 15.4%)	2.6% (95% CI: -3.1% 8.2%)	2.9% (95% CI:4% to 7.9%)
(Deprived)			
	Control Not Deprived Pupils ($n=238$)	Intervention Not Deprived Pupils $(n=93)$	Difference
Baseline	35.7% (n=85)	26.8% (n=25)	8.9% (95% CI: -2.4% to 20.1%)
(Not Deprived)			
12 Months	30.2% (n=72)	35.4% (n=33)	-5.2% (95% CI: -16.4% to 5.9%)
(Not Deprived)			
Difference	5.5% (95% CI: -2.4% to 13.3%)	-8.6% (95% CI: -20.6% to 3.4%)	14.1% (95% CI: 4.1% to
(Not Deprived)			19.2%)
Cooper Run	Control (n=384)	Intervention $(n=524)$	Difference
(Distance, m)			
Baseline	1811.8 (±365.5)	1781.9(±373.5)	29.9 (95% CI: -18.9 to 78.6)
(Total)			
12 Months	1756.0(±384.4)	1762.3(±421.1)	-6.3 (95% CI: -59.8 to 47.2)
(Total)			
Difference	55.7 (95% CI: 11.1 to 100.3)	19.6 (95% CI: -16.7 to 55.9)	36.1 (95% CI: -93.1 to 20.9)
(Total)			
	Control Boys (n=212)	Intervention Boys (n=254)	Difference
Baseline	1989.9 (±346.0)	2010.9 (±335.7)	-21 (95% CI: -83.1 to 41.2)
(Boys)			
12 Months	1897.1 (±390.7)	1953.2 (±400.3)	-56.1 (95% CI: -128.4 to 16.3)
(Boys)			

Difference	92.8 (95% CI: 26.4 to 159.1)	57.7 (95% CI: .2 to 115.2)	35.1 (95% CI: -122.2 to 52.0)
(Boys)			
	Control Girls (n=172)	Intervention Girls (n=270)	Difference
Baseline	1592.2 (±252.1)	1566.5 (±263.1)	25.7 (95% CI: -23.9 to 75.3)
(Girls)			
12 Months	1582.1 (±295.8)	1582.7 (±356.8)	6 (95% CI: -64.7 to 63.5)
(Girls)			
Difference	10.1 (95% CI: -46.6 to 66.9)	-16.1 (95% CI: -61.4 to 29.0)	26.2 (95% CI: -98.5 to 46.1)
(Girls)			
	<i>Control Deprived Pupils (n=146)</i>	Intervention Deprived Pupils $(n=431)$	Difference
Baseline	1806.2 (±295.4)	1783.1 (±371.6)	23.1 (95% CI: -43.4 to 89.6)
(Deprived)			
12 Months	1770.5 (±359.3)	1763.5 (±412.5)	7 (95% CI: -68.2 to 82.1)
(Deprived)			
Difference	35.7 (95% CI: -27.9 to 99.4)	19.6 (95% CI: -19.2 to 58.4)	16.1 (95% CI: -92.2 to 60.0)
(Deprived)			
	Control Not Deprived Pupils $(n=238)$	Intervention Not Deprived Pupils $(n=93)$	Difference
Baseline	1815.2 (± 403.0)	1776.3 (±384.1)	38.9 (95% CI: -56.7 to 134.6)
(Not Deprived)			
12 Months	1747.1 (±363.2)	1756.5 (±461.1)	-9.4 (95% CI: -109.8 to 91.1)
(Not Deprived)			
Difference	68.1 (95% CI: 7.3 to 128.7)	19.8 (95% CI: -79.9 to 119.5)	48.3 (95% CI: -163.2 to 66.6)
(Not Deprived)			
MVPA	Control (n=384)	Intervention (n=524)	Difference
(Minutes)			

Baseline	77.06 (±15.75)	73.18 (±15.75)	3.88 (95% CI: 1.80 to 5.95)
(Total)			
12 Months	58.06 (±14.20)	57.80 (±14.20)	.26 (95% CI: -1.56 to 2.07)
(Total)			
Difference	19.00 (95% CI: 17.20 to 20.80)	15.38 (95% CI: 13.73 to 17.02)	3.62 (95% CI: 1.16 to 6.07)
(Total)			
	Control Boys (n=212)	Intervention Boys (n=254)	Difference
Baseline	74.43 (±15.05)	69.67 (±13.44)	4.76 (95% CI: 2.16 to 7.36)
(Boys)			
12 Months	52.92 (±12.82)	52.69 (±11.92)	.23 (95% CI: -2.48 to 2.02)
(Boys)			
Difference	21.51 (95% CI: 19.13 to 23.88)	16.98 (95% CI: 14.89 to 19.06)	4.53 (95% CI: 1.38 to 7.67)
(Boys)			
	Control Girls (n=172)	Intervention Girls (n=270)	Difference
Baseline	80.31 (±16.04)	76.47 (±17.03)	3.84 (95% CI: .63 to 7.02)
(Girls)			
12 Months	64.41 (±13.25)	62.60 (±13.2)	1.81 (95% CI:72 to 4.32)
(Girls)			
Difference	15.90 (95% CI: 13.18 to 18.60)	13.87 (95% CI: 11.36 to 16.38)	2.03 (95% CI: -1.78 to 5.84)
(Girls)			
	Control Deprived Pupils (n=146)	Intervention Deprived Pupils (n=431)	Difference
Baseline	77.05 (±17.73)	73.79 (±15.58)	3.26 (95% CI: .22 to 6.29)
(Deprived)			
12 Months	58.91 (±13.64)	57.89 (±13.64)	1.02 (95% CI: -1.54 to 3.57)
(Deprived)			

Difference	18.14 (95% CI: 15.09 to 21.17)	15.89 (95% CI: 14.09 to 17.6)	2.25 (95% CI: -1.30 to 5.80)
(Deprived)			
	<i>Control Not Deprived Pupils (n=238)</i>	<i>Intervention Not Deprived Pupils (n=93)</i>	Difference
Baseline	77.06 (±14.43)	70.35 (±16.34)	6.71 (95% CI: 3.10 to 10.31)
(Not Deprived)			
12 Months	57.53 (±14.54)	57.35 (±13.05)	.18 (95% CI: -3.22 to 3.58)
(Not Deprived)			
Difference	19.53 (95% CI: 17.29 to 21.78)	13.00 (95% CI: 8.96 to 17.05)	6.53 (95% CI: 2.15 to 10.90)
(Not Deprived)			
Sedentary Time	Control (n=384)	<i>Intervention (n=524)</i>	Difference
(Minutes)			
Baseline	610.40 (±53.52)	606.99 (±67.47)	3.41 (95% CI: -4.75 to 11.57)
(Total)			
12 Months	563.14 (±62.02)	561.63 (±64.21)	1.51 (95% CI: -6.83 to 9.84)
(Total)			
Difference	47.26 (95% CI: 39.07 to 55.45)	45.36 (95% CI: 37.63 to 53.08)	1.9 (95% CI: -9.51 to 13.31)
(Total)			
	Control Boys (n=212)	Intervention Boys $(n=254)$	Difference
Baseline	618.66 (±52.95)	616.60 (±68.14)	2.06 (95% CI: -9.19 to 13.32)
(Boys)			
12 Months	551.30 (±63.16)	549.76 (±61.44)	1.54 (95% CI: -9.81 to 12.90)
(Boys)			
Difference	67.36 (95% CI: 56.43 to 78.27)	66.84 (95% CI: 55.89 to 77.77)	.53 (95% CI: -15.03 to 16.09)
(Boys)			
	Control Girls (n=172)	Intervention Girls (n=270)	Difference

Baseline	600.17 (±52.60)	597.96 (±65.69)	2.21 (95% CI: -9.47 to 13.89)
(Girls)			
12 Months	577.79 (±57.46)	572.80 (±64.86)	4.99 (95% CI: -6.91 to 16.89)
(Girls)			
Difference	22.38 (95% CI: 10.95 to 33.80)	25.16 (95% CI: 14.75 to 35.56)	-2.77 (95% CI: 13.10 to 18.64)
(Girls)			
	<i>Control Deprived Pupils (n=146)</i>	Intervention Deprived Pupils $(n=431)$	Difference
Baseline	605.31 (±60.13)	611.70 (±62.42)	-6.38 (95% CI: -17.99 to 5.21)
(Deprived)			
12 Months	568.56 (±62.26)	561.55 (±64.44)	7.01 (95% CI: -4.97 to 19.00)
(Deprived)			
Difference	36.75 (95% CI: 22.78 to 50.71)	50.15 (95% CI: 42.00 to 58.30)	-13.40 (95% CI: -2.76 to 29.56)
(Deprived)			
(Deprived)	Control Not Deprived Pupils (n=238)	Intervention Not Deprived Pupils (n=93)	Difference
(Deprived) Baseline	<i>Control Not Deprived Pupils (n=238)</i> 613.54 (±48.87)	Intervention Not Deprived Pupils (n=93) 585.18 (±84.16)	Difference 28.36 (95% CI: 13.73 to 43.00)
(Deprived) Baseline (Not Deprived)	Control Not Deprived Pupils (n=238) 613.54 (±48.87)	Intervention Not Deprived Pupils (n=93) 585.18 (±84.16)	Difference 28.36 (95% CI: 13.73 to 43.00)
(Deprived) Baseline (Not Deprived) 12 Months	Control Not Deprived Pupils (n=238) 613.54 (±48.87) 559.78 (±61.77)	Intervention Not Deprived Pupils (n=93) 585.18 (±84.16) 562.02 (±63.49)	Difference 28.36 (95% CI: 13.73 to 43.00) -2.24 (95% CI: 17.21 to 12.74)
(Deprived) Baseline (Not Deprived) 12 Months (Not Deprived)	Control Not Deprived Pupils (n=238) 613.54 (±48.87) 559.78 (±61.77)	Intervention Not Deprived Pupils (n=93) 585.18 (±84.16) 562.02 (±63.49)	Difference 28.36 (95% CI: 13.73 to 43.00) -2.24 (95% CI: 17.21 to 12.74)
(Deprived) Baseline (Not Deprived) 12 Months (Not Deprived) Difference	Control Not Deprived Pupils (n=238) 613.54 (±48.87) 559.78 (±61.77) 53.76 (95% CI: 43.71 to 63.80)	Intervention Not Deprived Pupils (n=93) 585.18 (±84.16) 562.02 (±63.49) 23.16 (95% CI: 1.68 to 44.62)	Difference 28.36 (95% CI: 13.73 to 43.00) -2.24 (95% CI: 17.21 to 12.74) 30.60 (95% CI: 9.77 to 51.42)
(Deprived) Baseline (Not Deprived) 12 Months (Not Deprived) Difference (Not Deprived)	Control Not Deprived Pupils (n=238) 613.54 (±48.87) 559.78 (±61.77) 53.76 (95% CI: 43.71 to 63.80)	Intervention Not Deprived Pupils (n=93) 585.18 (±84.16) 562.02 (±63.49) 23.16 (95% CI: 1.68 to 44.62)	Difference 28.36 (95% CI: 13.73 to 43.00) -2.24 (95% CI: 17.21 to 12.74) 30.60 (95% CI: 9.77 to 51.42)
(Deprived) Baseline (Not Deprived) 12 Months (Not Deprived) Difference (Not Deprived) Blood Pressure	Control Not Deprived Pupils (n=238) 613.54 (±48.87) 559.78 (±61.77) 53.76 (95% CI: 43.71 to 63.80) Control (n=384)	Intervention Not Deprived Pupils (n=93) 585.18 (±84.16) 562.02 (±63.49) 23.16 (95% CI: 1.68 to 44.62) Intervention (n=524)	Difference 28.36 (95% CI: 13.73 to 43.00) -2.24 (95% CI: 17.21 to 12.74) 30.60 (95% CI: 9.77 to 51.42) Difference
(Deprived) Baseline (Not Deprived) 12 Months (Not Deprived) Difference (Not Deprived) Blood Pressure (% High)	Control Not Deprived Pupils (n=238) 613.54 (±48.87) 559.78 (±61.77) 53.76 (95% CI: 43.71 to 63.80) Control (n=384)	Intervention Not Deprived Pupils (n=93) 585.18 (±84.16) 562.02 (±63.49) 23.16 (95% CI: 1.68 to 44.62) Intervention (n=524)	Difference 28.36 (95% CI: 13.73 to 43.00) -2.24 (95% CI: 17.21 to 12.74) 30.60 (95% CI: 9.77 to 51.42) Difference
(Deprived) Baseline (Not Deprived) 12 Months (Not Deprived) Difference (Not Deprived) Blood Pressure (% High) Baseline	Control Not Deprived Pupils (n=238) 613.54 (±48.87) 559.78 (±61.77) 53.76 (95% CI: 43.71 to 63.80) Control (n=384) 1.6% (n=6)	Intervention Not Deprived Pupils (n=93) 585.18 (±84.16) 562.02 (±63.49) 23.16 (95% CI: 1.68 to 44.62) Intervention (n=524) 5.3% (n=28)	Difference 28.36 (95% CI: 13.73 to 43.00) -2.24 (95% CI: 17.21 to 12.74) 30.60 (95% CI: 9.77 to 51.42) Difference -3.7% (95% CI: -5.5% to .2%)
(Deprived) Baseline (Not Deprived) 12 Months (Not Deprived) Difference (Not Deprived) Blood Pressure (% High) Baseline (Total)	Control Not Deprived Pupils (n=238) 613.54 (±48.87) 559.78 (±61.77) 53.76 (95% CI: 43.71 to 63.80) Control (n=384) 1.6% (n=6)	Intervention Not Deprived Pupils (n=93) 585.18 (±84.16) 562.02 (±63.49) 23.16 (95% CI: 1.68 to 44.62) Intervention (n=524) 5.3% (n=28)	Difference 28.36 (95% CI: 13.73 to 43.00) -2.24 (95% CI: 17.21 to 12.74) 30.60 (95% CI: 9.77 to 51.42) Difference -3.7% (95% CI: -5.5% to .2%)

(Total)			
Difference	-1.4% (95% CI: -3.7% to .6%)	2.6% (95% CI: -3.0% 5.0%)	-4% (95% CI:9% to 3.0%)
(Total)			
	Control Boys (n=212)	Intervention Boys (n=254)	Difference
Baseline	2.4% (n=5)	6.7% (n=17)	-4.3% (95% CI: .4% to 8.3%)
(Boys)			
12 Months	4.2% (n=9)	3.5% (n=9)	.7% (95% CI: -2.9% to 4.3%)
(Boys)			
Difference	-1.8% (95% CI: -1.7% to 5.7%)	3.2% (95% CI:7% to 7.2%)	(95% CI: -1.9% to 4.4%)
(Boys)			
	Control Girls (n=172)	Intervention Girls (n=270)	Difference
Baseline	0.6% (n=1)	4.1% (n=11)	-3.5% (95% CI: .3% to 6.6%)
(Girls)			
12 Months	1.7% (n=3)	1.9% (n=5)	.2% (95% CI: -3.3% to 2.7%)
(Girls)			
Difference	-1.1% (95% CI: -1.7% to 4.4%)	2.2% (95% CI:7% to 5.4%)	-3.3% (95% CI: -2.1% to 3.7%)
(Girls)			
	Control Deprived Pupils ($n=146$)	Intervention Deprived Pupils $(n=431)$	Difference
Baseline	2.0% (n=3)	4.6% (n=20)	-2.6% (95% CI: -1.5% to 5.3%)
(Deprived)			
12 Months	3.4% (n=5)	2.3% (n=10)	1.1% (95% CI: -1.6% to 5.5%)
(Deprived)			
Difference	-1.4% (95% CI: -2.9% to 5.9%)	2.3% (95% CI:1% to 4.9%)	-3.7% (95% CI: -2.6% to 3.0%)
(Deprived)			
	Control Not Deprived Pupils (n=238)	Intervention Not Deprived Pupils $(n=93)$	Difference

Baseline	1.3% (n=3)	8.6% (n=8)	7.3% (95% CI: 2.5% to
(Not Deprived)			14.8%)
12 Months	2.9% (n=7)	4.3% (n=4)	-1.4% (95% CI: -2.6% to 7.7%)
(Not Deprived)			
Difference	-1.6% (95% CI: -1.1% to 4.8%)	4.3% (95% CI: -3.2% to 12.2%)	-5.9% (95% CI: -1.0% to 8.9%)
(Not Deprived)			
Augmentation	Control $(n=384)$	Intervention $(n=524)$	Difference
Pressure (mmHg)			
Baseline	4.9 (±2.5)	5.0 (±2.6)	1 (95% CI:5 to .1)
(Total)			
12 Months	4.1 (±2.2)	4.0 (±2.4)	.1 (95% CI:2 to .3)
(Total)			
Difference	.8 (95% CI: .4 to 1.1)	1 (95% CI: .7 to 1.3)	.2 (95% CI:1 to .7)
(Total)			
	Control Boys $(n=212)$	Intervention Boys $(n=254)$	Difference
Baseline	4.6 (±2.7)	4.6 (±2.6)	.0 (95% CI:4 to .5)
(Boys)			
12 Months	4.1 (±2.2)	4.2 (±2.5)	.1 (95% CI:4 to .4)
(Boys)			
Difference	.5 (95% CI:0 to .9)	.4 (95% CI:0 to .8)	.1 (95% CI:7 to .5)
(Boys)			
	Control Girls (n=172)	Intervention Girls $(n=270)$	Difference
Baseline	5.2 (±2.3)	5.5 (±2.4)	3 (95% CI:7 to .1)
(Girls)			
12 Months	4.0 (±2.2)	3.9 (±2.2)	.1 (95% CI:3 to .5)

(Girls)			
Difference	1.2 (95% CI: .7 to 1.7)	1.6 (95% CI: 1.2 to 2.0)	.1 (95% CI:1 to .9)
(Girls)			
	Control Deprived Pupils (n=146)	Intervention Deprived Pupils (n=431)	Difference
Baseline	4.5 (±3.2)	5.2 (±2.4)	7 (95% CI: -1.2 to1)
(Deprived)			
12 Months	4.0 (±2.0)	4.1 (±2.3)	-1 (95% CI:5 to .3)
(Deprived)			
Difference	.5 (95% CI:1 to 1.1)	1.3 (95% CI: .8 to 1.4)	.8 (95% CI: .1 to 1.4)
(Deprived)			
	<i>Control Not Deprived Pupils (n=238)</i>	Intervention Not Deprived Pupils $(n=93)$	Difference
Baseline	5.1 (±2.0)	4.2 (±2.9)	.9 (95% CI: .3 to 1.4)
(Not Deprived)			
12 Months	4.1 (±2.3)	3.6 (±2.6)	.5 (95% CI:0 to 1.0)
(Not Deprived)			
Difference	1.0 (95% CI: .5 to 1.3)	.6 (95% CI:2 to 1.3)	.4 (95% CI: -1.2 to .4)
(Not Deprived)			
Augmentation	Control (n=384)	<i>Intervention (n=524)</i>	Difference
Index (%)			
Baseline	9.5 (±4.0)	10.0 (±4.6)	5 (95% CI: -1.1 to .0)
(Total)			
12 Months	7.4 (±3.2)	7.6 (±4.3)	2 (95% CI:6 to .3)
(Total)			
Difference	2.1 (95% CI: 1.5 to 2.5)	2.4 (95% CI: 1.8 to 2.9)	3 (95% CI:4 to 1.0)
(Total)			

	Control Boys (n=212)	Intervention Boys (n=254)	Difference
Baseline	8.8 (±3.9)	9.1 (±4.8)	3 (95% CI: -1.1 to .5)
(Boys)			
12 Months	7.9 (±3.1)	8.1 (±4.5)	2 (95% CI:9 to .5)
(Boys)			
Difference	.9 (95% CI: .1 to 1.5)	1.0 (95% CI: .2 to 1.7)	1 (95% CI:9 to 1.1)
(Boys)			
	Control Girls (n=172)	Intervention Girls (n=270)	Difference
Baseline	10.3 (±3.9)	10.9 (±4.1)	6 (95% CI: -1.3 to .2)
(Girls)			
12 Months	6.9 (±3.2)	7.2 (±4.0)	3 (95% CI: -1.0 to .4)
(Girls)			
Difference	3.4 (95% CI: 2.6 to 4.2)	3.7 (95% CI: 3.0 to 4.4)	3 (95% CI:7 to 1.3)
(Girls)			
	Control Deprived Pupils (n=146)	Intervention Deprived Pupils (n=431)	Difference
Baseline	8.8 (±4.5)	10.4 (±4.3)	-1.6 (95% CI: -2.4 to8)
(Deprived)			
12 Months	7.6 (±3.0)	7.8 (±3.9)	2 (95% CI:8 to .5)
(Deprived)			
Difference	1.2 (95% CI: .2 to 2.1)	2.6 (95% CI: 2.0 to 3.1)	-1.4 (95% CI: -2.5 to4)
(Deprived)			
	<i>Control Not Deprived Pupils (n=238)</i>	<i>Intervention Not Deprived Pupils (n=93)</i>	Difference
Baseline	9.9 (±3.6)	8.3 (±5.2)	1.6 (95% CI: .6 to 2.6)
(Not Deprived)			
12 Months	7.4 (±3.3)	7.0 (±5.5)	.4 (95% CI:5 to 1.3)

(Not Deprived)				
Difference	2.5 (95% CI: 1.9 to 3.2)	1.3 (95% CI:2 to 2.8)	1.2 (95% CI:1 to 2.5)	
(Not Deprived)				
Motivation	Control (n=384)	Intervention $(n=524)$	Difference	
(% Autonomous)				
Baseline	98.1% (n=378)	97.1% (n=509)	1% (95% CI:9% to 3%)	
(Total)				
12 Months	97.9% (n=377)	97.9% (n=513)	0% (95% CI: -1.8% to 1.9%)	
(Total)				
Difference	.2% (95% CI: -1.5% to 2.1%)	8% (95% CI: -2.4% to .9%)	.9% (95% CI:7% to 1.7%)	
(Total)				
	Control Boys (n=212)	Intervention Boys $(n=254)$	Difference	
Baseline	98.1% (n=209)	97.6% (n=248)	.5% (95% CI: -2.1% to 3.1%)	
(Boys)				
12 Months	98.5% (n=210)	97.6% (n=248)	.9% (95% CI: -1.5% to 3.4%)	
(Boys)				
Difference	4% (95% CI: -2.9% to 1.9%)	0% (95% CI: -2.1% to 2.1%)	4% (95% CI: -1.0% 2.6%)	
(Boys)				
	Control Girls (n=172)	Intervention Girls $(n=270)$	Difference	
Baseline	98.2% (n=169)	96.6% (n=261)	.6% (95% CI: -1.5% to 4.7%)	
(Girls)				
12 Months	97.0% (n=167)	98.1% (n=265)	-1.1% (95% CI: -3.9% to 1.8%)	
(Girls)				
Difference	1.2% (95% CI: -1.6% to 3.9%)	-1.5% (95% CI: -4.0% to 1.0%)	2.7% (95% CI: -3.2% to 3.0%)	
(Girls)				

	Control Deprived Pupils (n=146)	Intervention Deprived Pupils (n=431)	Difference
Baseline	97.2% (n=143)	98.1% (n=423)	-0.9% (95% CI: -3.5% to 1.8%)
(Deprived)			
12 Months	99.3% (n=146)	98.1% (n=423)	1.2% (95% CI: -1.1% to 3.5%)
(Deprived)			
Difference	-2.1% (95% CI: -5.0% to .9%)	0% (95% CI: -1.5% to 1.5%)	2.1% (95% CI: .4% to 5.8%)
(Deprived)			
	<i>Control Not Deprived Pupils (n=238)</i>	Intervention Not Deprived Pupils $(n=93)$	Difference
Baseline	98.7% (n=235)	92.4% (n=86)	6.3% (95% CI: 2.1% to
(Not Deprived)			10.3%)
12 Months	97.0% (n=231)	96.7% (n=90)	3% (95% CI: -3.8% to 4.4%)
(Not Deprived)			
Difference	1.7% (95% CI:6% to 4.0%)	-4.3% (95% CI: -10.3% to 17.0%)	6% (95% CI: -1.0% to 8.9%)
(Not Deprived)			
*Bold denotes significance			

Mixed Effects Multi-Level Regression (Dis	tance Ran)			
Covariate	Coef.	95% CI		
Group (Intervention) -32.3 -89.0 to 24.4				
Time (12 Month Follow Up) -55.3 -98.3 to -12.1				
Interaction	35.6	-21.2 to 92.4		
Intervention with time (Slope difference of				
intervention v control at 12 months)				
Logistic Regression $(1 = Fit/0 = Not Fit)$				
Covariate	Estimate	95% CI		
Group (Intervention) 1.21 1.07 to 1.38				
*Bold denotes significance	1	1		

Table 9 – Regression outcomes for fitness

In terms of how voucher use impacted fitness, linear regression controlling for fitness at baseline, gender and deprivation shows that the number of vouchers used did not have a statistically significant impact on total distance ran at 12 months. However, it did have a significant relationship with whether a teenager was categorised as fit (odds ratio 1.01 (95% CI: 1.007 to 1.025) p=0.000) (Table 10).

Table 10 – Regression outcomes for fitness and voucher use

Linear Regression (Distance Ran)			
Covariate	Coef.	p-value	95% CI
Voucher Use	1.754	0.243	-1.19 to 4.70
Logistic Regression ($1 = Fit/0 = Not Fit$)			
Covariate	Coef.	p-value	95% CI
Voucher Use	1.016	0.000	1.007 to 1.025

*Bold denotes significance

Interestingly, there was no significant relationship between fitness (distance ran or fit/not fit) and the number of minutes spent sedentary or doing MVPA at 12 months.

Physical activity (MVPA)

Average daily wear time across participants was 886.01 minutes at baseline and 799.69 minutes at 12 months suggesting some drop off in daily wear compliance across the intervention. At baseline 82% of participants returned valid data to be included in analysis and 76% at 12 months, again suggesting some drop off in wear compliance across the study duration.

The control group started with higher amounts of MVPA which was a significant difference. Following a similar trend to that of cardiovascular fitness, there was evidence that the amount of time spent being active decreases as teenagers age. This was significant in both the control and intervention groups, between genders and deprivation. For example, control schools MVPA dropped by 19 minutes while intervention schools did 15 minutes less from baseline to 12 months (-3.62 minutes (95% CI: 11.6 to 6.07)) (Table 8).

In a regression model the intervention did not have a significant relationship with the amount of time spent doing MVPA (Table 11). However, when controlling for MVPA time at baseline, gender and deprivation there was a significant relationship between the voucher usage and MVPA at 12 months. Suggesting an increased use of vouchers could improve MVPA (Table 11). Interestingly, Table 6 shows the opposite where MVPA decreases with increased voucher use. This is because Table 6 presents baseline MVPA where Table 11 presents 12-month MVPA measures. Highlighting that at the start of the intervention, those with lower levels of MVPA were using more vouchers and by the end those with higher MVPA were using more vouchers.

Linear Regression (MVPA)				
Coef.	p-value	95% CI		
259	0.780	-2.075 to 1.556		
Linear Regression (MVPA)				
Coef.	p-value	95% CI		
.140	0.007	.038 to 2.42		
	VPA) Coef. 259 VPA) Coef. .140	VPA) Coef. p-value 259 0.780 VPA) Coef. p-value .140 0.007		

Table 11 – Regression outcomes for MVPA

Sedentary time also dropped in both arms (Table 8). The most notable decline being observed in deprived pupils in the intervention whose sedentary time reduced by 50.15 minutes, compared to 36.75 in the control. However, the opposite was observed in non-deprived pupils. There was no significant relationship between time spent sedentary and the intervention or voucher usage.

5.4 Secondary aims of ACTIVE

Exercise motivation (BREQ-2)

Table 8 demonstrates that the BREQ-2 questionnaire showed that participants were autonomously motivated. Between 92%-98% of teenagers in each group autonomously motivated. In line with Self Determination Theory (SDT) (84) this means that teenage participation in activity is attributed to enjoyment and personal values as opposed to being made to feel guilty and pressured to be active (87).

Cardiovascular health (blood pressure and pulse wave analysis)

The proportion of pupils categorised as having high blood pressure (systolic blood pressure>130mmHg) in the intervention group fell (baseline 5.3% [28/524] and 12 months 2.7% [14/524]) (Table 8). A rise in the proportion of those with high blood pressure was seen in the control group (baseline 1.6% [6/385] 12 months 3.1% [12/385]) but this was not significant. Thus, providing evidence that the intervention helped improve blood pressure, particularly for those with high blood pressure measures at baseline.

AP and AIx improved in both arms (Table 8). Deprived children in the intervention saw a significant decrease in AP compared to the control. This compliments the finding of a reduction in those with high blood pressure in the intervention.

Impact of the intervention

ACTIVE's impact on teenage activity was said to be positive by the participants and local council focus group conversations flowed around two themes: i) the breaking down of cost barriers and, ii) changes in perception of activity. Teenagers reported they no longer had to ask their parents for money, which had often been a barrier. One boy said he was able to *"go places and do different things"* (Boy) because of knowing more about what was available. The local council in their focus group echoed this and one individual felt *"…they [the vouchers] are making people more aware of what is in the local area so that they can be active…"*.

Teenagers reported changes in their local area thanks to the vouchers. A leisure centre doubled the value of the vouchers to £10; "...*they've doubled up, so like one is now worth £10 because it costs more than £5 for some of the sessions*" (Girl). As well as this, the local trampoline park added free food to the voucher which made activity feel more social and welcoming, one girl stated "...*because then like you go there, you have food as well, it's like more of a thing*" (Girl).

Some participants noted that the study had changed their view of physical activity as something fun to do with friends that did not feel like sport or exercise. For example, one girl noted, "you don't realise its exercise..." (Girl). For girls, this change of definition seemed to be very helpful in improving access to activity as "you don't have to wear sports clothes, and it doesn't matter, but you can make a day of it, so like you can go to town, and then maybe go to Laser Zone." (Girl). Again, this highlights the changing perception of activity to a social-fun event. Changes in the perception was also present in the local council focus group. They spoke about using the data collected from ACTIVE to change their delivery and approach to activity provision. One individual said they would "use the results to shape and inform our planning for our areas" as well as tackling the issues associated with teenage inactivity. They noted that the data could underpin "how we can address them [barriers identified in ACTIVE] within our [school and community] programmes".

However, there were some aspects of the study that teenagers said were less positive. There was a lack of clarity about who the peer mentors actually were and one boy stated "...like I haven't felt the need to like go to one" (Boy). The participants suggested that the mentors should be chosen by school teachers; "get a gym teacher to look at who does most sports in the school and like who enjoys it most" (Boy). This was due to "I feel like some of the people that have been chosen don't really want to be involved..." (Girl) and a different selection process may have protected against this.

The teenagers thought that presence of the support worker was beneficial as they created awareness of what was new or *"if anything had changed, which was really informative and nice"* (boy, focus group 1). However, some pupils noted that the timings of the support worker were not ideal; in particular, they said morning assemblies are a time when they do not pay attention. As well as this, the local council noted that one school selected was a welsh-medium school where pupils were likely to have travelled to attend and therefore, the participants would not have benefitted in any change to their community provision around the school.

5.5 What works best when implementing a physical activity intervention for teenagers? Reflections from the ACTIVE Project

At the 12-month time point of ACTIVE, semi-structured focus groups were carried out in the four intervention schools to assess the strengths and weaknesses of ACTIVE. Namely, to explore any recommendations that teenagers had to the interventions delivery and the impact it had on the physical activity of young people. Members of the local council's AYP team also participated in an additional focus group to get an insight from stakeholders. These qualitative findings have been published in BMJ Open (180) (Appendix 11).

Three themes emerged from the discussions; i) Ability to choose own activities ii) Using external influences (e.g., peer mentors and a support worker) and iii) The intervention's settings. The following findings have been taken from ACTIVE's "What works best when implementing a physical activity intervention for teenagers? Reflections from the ACTIVE Project: a qualitative study" publication (180).

Ability to choose own activities

Teenagers discussed the ability to choose their own activities with the vouchers as a notable strength of ACTIVE. Both boys and girls used the trampoline parks frequently, one boy explained "... *I think the most popular would be [trampoline park] and that's quite a multi-sex sport then, isn't it?*" (boy, focus group 7). The choice allowed boys and girls to participate in the same activities which one boy (focus group 3) believed had made girls more active. Girls acknowledged there were "*loads of things*" (girl, focus group 4) they could do with the vouchers that were more chilled than typical activity provision on offer. Boys also agreed that activity had become fun. There were a lot of places young people did not realise would count as activity which they saw as a strength of the project as it had changed perceptions of activity for the teenagers.

As well as this, there was no longer a concern about money. One boy noted that young people would find paying for activities as a barrier but "*now you've got the vouchers to pay for it*" (boy, focus group 5). There was an agreement amongst teenagers that the vouchers had helped improve socialisation for this reason. The vouchers gave them the choice of doing "*something in the nights*" (girl, focus group 8), on "*Saturday afternoons and Sunday afternoons*" (boy, focus group 3) or when you're "*on holiday*" (girl, focus group 6). One girl (focus group 8) stated that by being able to use the vouchers in a social capacity had made her more confident to be active.

The local council agreed that giving teenagers a choice was a strength of ACTIVE. They liked that teenagers could decide where and how and considered the vouchers as more of a leisure pass where teenagers could go and enjoy activities with their friends. They also believed that the choice aspect improved the sustainability of ACTIVE's impact on physical activity as some teenagers found an activity they really enjoyed or bought equipment that could have a long-term effect.

Using external influences (e.g., peer mentors and a support worker)

Using external influences to promote physical activity was a contested issue on ACTIVE. When asked about the peer mentoring scheme, most teenagers were

unaware of it. The peer mentors themselves said they did not have anything to do, that they needed more "*recognition of who they were*" (girl, focus group 8) or that the scheme would have benefit from "a meeting, once a month, or something" (boy, focus group 7). Some pupils also said they did not feel the need to go to them. There were issues raised with the selection of peer mentors. They suggested that a teacher should select the peer mentors "*to look at who does most sports in the school*" as a good role model (boy, focus group 3). One member of the local council suggested that pupils should put themselves forward and then there be a vote, but another felt that "*perhaps the people that put themselves forward might not be the people that you actually want*." (council focus group).

The teenagers thought that presence of the support worker was beneficial as they created awareness of what was new or *"if anything had changed, which was really informative and nice"* (boy, focus group 1). However, some pupils noted that the timings of the support worker were not ideal; in particular, they said morning assemblies are a time when they do not pay attention. The council focus group noted that the support worker was a difficult role as it had a variety of responsibilities from voucher distribution to activity promotion and drop-in sessions in schools. They perceived the support worker role to be a hard position and that the personality of the individual was the most important factor when considering who should fill it.

The intervention's settings

Most teenagers stated that there was very little within walking distance and that more activities should be put in the local community. However, the local council felt teenagers did not know all that was available and felt there could be a greater awareness created of community provision. One council member suggested that ACTIVE could have promoted the providers better in the schools. The project could have showed a video for example as this might capture the kids or activity providers should promote more of *"showing what they [the teenagers] would get if they went to see these providers"* (council focus group). They believed the promotion was a weak aspect of ACTIVE.
There was a lot of discussion centred on physical activity lessons in school. Teenagers wanted more opportunities to be active through "sports clubs at (lunch) dinner break and break" (boy, focus group 5) in school, for timings of activities to be lengthened, school PE kit to be more lenient and more choice offered. The local council discussed teacher's involvement in ACTIVE, as they believed they had a pivotal role in the project's success. Some teachers were really proactive and "really pushed the project" (council focus group) therefore, the intervention ran well. However, in other schools "there wasn't that many links between the PE department" (council focus group) which hindered delivery.

5.6 Discussion of experimental results

Voucher use

Throughout ACTIVE, the voice of young people was listened to, aiming to share suggestions made by teenagers to improve activity provision, uptake and sustainability for both themselves and their peers. Conversations confirm that cost, accessibility and lack of local facilities are perceived as barriers to being active (16,65,68,81,119,179,181). When addressing these barriers explicitly, previous studies have found short-term improvement to activity levels (72), particularly in the school setting (17,65,73). The repetition of these barriers in ACTIVE suggests that despite a plethora of interventions and policy, the issue of accessibility has not been addressed long-term.

ACTIVE argues that this is perhaps because of a lack of involving teenagers in the decision-making processes of activity provision. This study highlights that they have six key recommendations to make:

- 1. Lower/remove the cost of activities without sacrificing the quality
- 2. Make physical activity opportunities more locally accessible
- 3. Improve the standards of existing facilities
- 4. Make activities more specific to teenagers
- 5. Give teenagers a choice of activities/increase variety of activity

6. Provide activities that teenage girls enjoy (e.g. fun, sociable and not competitive sport) (67)

These recommendations provided a pivotal start point for ACTIVE helping to recruit initial activity providers and understand the wants and needs of young people. The recommendations were reflected in the voucher usage with unstructured, fun and social activities favoured. Vouchers were predominantly used by teenagers who were less deprived, fitter, more motivated, more sedentary and less active at baseline. The intervention was successful in targeting those who were less active and there was some evidence to suggest that the more vouchers used improved MVPA; which is a positive of ACTIVE. Teenagers who were less active were becoming more active and evidence suggested that spending more vouchers was associated with higher activity. Thus, it could be said that ACTIVE overcame the accessibility barrier of cost. However, it appears that those who were already more motivated, and fitter chose to use the vouchers. This could be due to having an increased level of confidence and feeling more capable to access the activities on offer.

Cardiovascular fitness and physical activity

ACTIVE demonstrates improvements in the primary aims of fitness and physical activity relating to voucher use, girls and non-deprived teenagers. It also highlights some other important findings regarding teenage activity. Approximately 65% of children are unfit and this may increase by 5% per year arbitrating from changes in the control arm of ACTIVE (69). This is in line with previous findings (38,182). MVPA also follows a similar trend with number of minutes decreasing through the school year. Without successful intervention, this trend could continue.

It is evident through examining voucher use that unstructured, fun and social activities were favoured. These activities were often low skill with low barriers to entry where young people could make up their own rules. This supports previous findings that some teenagers see structured activity and sport as a barrier to being active (65) and that more of these types of activities should be made available (16,65,67). The casual nature of such activities allowed for more time to socialise, meaning teenagers could

be active with their friends which could be influential in promoting confidence and providing peer support to be more active (16). This also goes someway to changing perceptions of activity. Moving away from traditional notions of sport being a competitive, structured, adult-led time. The local council agreed that provision of sport was not appealing to young people and there needs to be more unstructured, informal opportunities (67).

Previous interventions have opted for structured activity as a tool to promote activity levels (17,73) and this may contribute to the lack of long-term success of such interventions (180). The implications of this suggest that we need to reframe what we mean when we promote physical activity. Interestingly, there was no evidence to suggest that improvements in MVPA aligned with improvements in fitness. Thus, it cannot be assumed that improving activity and improving fitness are intrinsically linked. Moreover, accessibility modelling via GIS showed sedentary time increased as MVPA increased. This argues that being more sedentary cannot be a single determinant of poor activity, health and fitness (11). Activities that are likely to influence MVPA, such as structured, competitive sports may have high sedentary time outside this formal training period due to increased rest/recovery time between sessions. This finding suggests that we should promote different intensities of activity (e.g. light, moderate and vigorous). All of which have shown benefits to cardiovascular health and fitness, despite variances in intensity (11).

Motivation

ACTIVE's secondary aim of improving motivation found interesting insight into teenager's attitudes to activity. With a high percentage of young people being autonomously motivated according to BREQ-2, it would suggest that they know they need to be active but do not respond to external pressures to make them more active (69). For example, this would mean trying to use guilt as a tool would not be effective. Rather, participation in activity is linked to enjoyment and personal values (87).

In line with SDT (84), teenagers value activity for fun and would be inclined to be active if the enjoyment of taking part is a priority. Evidence of this is seen in the

voucher usage. They do not need pressure from external sources such as teachers or parents rather, as ACTIVE suggests, they need the freedom to make their own choices. Giving this freedom has positive implications for teenage health and should be valued. Fun and enjoyment should be a priority in activity promotion.

Cardiovascular health

ACTIVE saw a reduction in the number of participants categorised as having high blood pressure over the duration of the intervention. As well as this, more deprived pupils saw a reduction in their AP. Therefore, providing evidence that empowering teenagers to do a range of activities at a range of intensities can improve their heart health (65,67,69,183). This helps provide protection against poor health in later life, instilling healthy behaviours that they enjoy. Given that seven million people fight cardiovascular disease daily (184) this is noteworthy. Improving the accessibility of activities young people enjoy (as seen with the voucher usage) could help underpin lifelong participation.

What works when implementing a physical activity intervention for young people?

The implications of the voucher scheme were ACTIVE's biggest success. While overcoming accessibility barriers, the activities also often required no intervention from adults. For example, hiring football pitches. This lack of intervention from adults is important as it empowers young people. They felt the vouchers allowed them to pay for activities themselves, overcoming cost barriers and giving them ownership. This is a significant strength of the project as it addressed the accessibility barrier (65,67,68). Not only this, being able to access provision on their own terms helped changed perceptions of activity for young people. From something teenagers felt they were pressured to do by adults that was high-intensity and difficult to a social-fun event (69).

There were wider community benefits seen alongside the delivery of ACTIVE. Teenagers observed that there had been changes made to local activity. For example, some providers changed the cost of their provision allowing discounted entry or 'two for one' deals as a way to promote teenagers bringing their friends. As well as this, the local council used the feedback and initial findings from ACTIVE to underpin their future planning (69,180). This provides evidence of the sustainability of ACTIVE as it helped influence the delivery of community and school-based activity for teenagers from the local council's perspective (69).

Some barriers still existed that the intervention did not overcome (69). Teenagers only used 25.1% of the vouchers. Some stated they could not use their vouchers in their local area as there was often little available for them to do. More research is needed to develop ways of overcoming this issue whether addressing public transport shortages or bringing more activities to young people's local communities (69). Teenagers stated they would like more opportunities to be active with their friends (1) but their needs are largely overlooked. They say they find themselves at the bottom of the hierarchy in claims on use of public space and feel there are deliberate attempts to keep them away from the spaces they'd like to be active. For example, in leisure centres many of the activities had either a maximum age limit of aged 10 (e.g. for children) or a minimum age limit of 16 (e.g. for adults) and there was little specifically available and advertised for those aged 11 to 16.

Some elements of ACTIVE were less successful compared to the voucher scheme. The peer support element was not received positively by teenagers and deemed unsuccessful despite the evidence of this approach working in other health behaviour intervention studies (128,146). Most of the young people in ACTIVE appeared to have little to no awareness of the peer mentors, who they were or what the scheme aimed to do. When they were aware, they believed there were issues with their selection (180). The teenagers noted that those selected to be peer mentors (10 in each intervention school) were, generally speaking, individuals who others found unapproachable, often intimidating. They noted that often 'influential' can be mistaken for asking who the 'most popular' is. It was important for teenagers that the mentors act as role models for being active but suggested more rigorous selection methods be used, e.g., having a teacher involved or someone who knows the young people.

With this in mind, it is essential that the correct characteristics be sought after when selecting mentors and that a suitable selection process be put in place. ACTIVE used

a very similar process as the smoking cessation project, ASSIST (146). However, both have different aims. One sees the promotion of a behaviour and one looks at deterring. This could explain the difference in success. There is not a one size fits all approach to peer mentoring. However, given that teenagers were autonomously motivated and wanted to be active with their friends in an unstructured environment (69), it is possible that the peer mentor approach of a mentor was too structured, and an 'expert' peer is not motivating for teenagers (180). They stated that they would not really ask a peer for advice in relation to physical activity or exercise.

The support worker was seen as beneficial to ACTIVE's delivery and as an important link between pupils, schools and collaborative partners. However, more could be done to strengthen the impact this role had in terms of the timings of school visits and drop-in sessions (180). Teenagers explained that school assembly time is not a good time to deliver messages as they are often bombarded with other key messages for their school day. In future, it would be useful to consult with schools and involve teenagers in discussions as to how external support could most benefit them (180). The local council suggested that the support worker's role could improve awareness of existing provision. This does highlight a tension in the support workers role when working with stakeholders. ACTIVE's aim was to empower teenagers to be able to access activities they wanted yet the local council felt they should promote activities that are available but were perhaps ignored by the teenagers.

CHAPTER 6

OBSERVATIONAL RESULTS – OUTCOMES FROM LINKED DATA AND GIS

This chapter explores the observational results of baseline data collection as a single cohort rather than split participants as the control or intervention arm. This formulates much of the secondary aims of this thesis and paints a picture of the health and key influencers of the health of teenagers. In particular it looks at cardiovascular health and the influence of the built environment on teenage health and behaviour. As previously mentioned, 224 (n=129 boys) consented to take part in the observational analysis across the 7 schools (25.7%) were included in this crosssectional analysis with data linkage. All 234 were successfully linked to routine data which were matched via their ALF. Appendix 7 shows how the variables were cleaned based on completion of data.

6.1 Predictors of cardiovascular health in teenagers: a cross-sectional study linked with routine data.

Findings from this observational aspect of the ACTIVE RCT have been previously published in Open Heart (165) (Appendix 12). Table 12 shows the demographics of participants who participated in the exploration of predictors of cardiovascular health in teenagers. Boys had higher measures across most variables including deprivation levels, hospital and GP visits and sedentary time. However, these differences were marginal except for differences in cardiovascular fitness which showed boys are fitter than girls at this age. Figure 9 shows relationships via SEM.

Variable Arterial Stiffness (%) Blood Pressure (mmHg)	Male (n = 129)	Female $(n = 105)$	
variable	(SD)	(SD)	
Arterial Stiffness (%)	9.54 (5.58)	10.17 (4.67)	
Blood Pressure (mmHg)	114.47 (13.86)	110.42 (11.62)	
Cardiovascular Fitness (metres ran)	2004.98 (412.92)	1604.98 (266.19)	
School Deprivation	674.60 (677.01)	642.76 (688.17)	

Deprivation at Birth	744.27 (559.9)	573.93 (468.94)
Deprivation at 1	665.25 (557.14)	595.45 (470.16)
Deprivation at 13	734.07 (534.4)	663.6 (482.38)
Birth Weight (g)	3368.23 (576.38)	3257.35 (597.67)
Gestational Age (weeks)	38.99 (1.82)	38.81 (2.48)
Birth Number	1.02 (.15)	1.01 (.13)
Maternal Age (years)	26.9 (5.78)	26.57 (5.88)
Breastfed (%)	48.44 (n = 62)	40.20 (n = 41)
C Section (%)	19.38 (n = 25)	23.81 (n = 25)
Hospital Admission (total number)	1.63 (2.01)	1.33 (2.85)
GP Visits (total number)	74.17 (43.24)	63.67 (34.00)
Sedentary Time (Week) (minutes)	627.21 (82.53)	601.96 (79.08)
Sedentary Time (Weekend) (minutes)	621.55 (115.31)	563.62 (120.11)
MVPA (Week) (minutes)	81.39 (22.10)	78.47 (24.25)
MVPA (Weekend) (minutes)	56.57 (20.67)	61.86 (26.06)

Augmentation Index (AIx)

Analysis showed higher AIx measures was associated with a lower school WIMD score (indicating higher levels of deprivation) (-.003 [95% CI: -.005 to -.0007]; Table 13). Lower hospital admissions (-.363 [95% CI: -.627 to -.099]) but higher number of GP visits (.030 [95% CI: .008 to .052]) also had significant relationships with higher AIx. School deprivation was also significant in the SEM (Figure 9).

Variable	Coef.	Р	95% CI
School Deprivation	003	0.010	005 to0007
Deprivation at Birth	.0008	0.506	001 to .003
Deprivation at 1	.001	0.488	002 to .005
Deprivation at 13	0002	0.886	003 to .002
Gender	1.26	0.383	-1.57 to 4.10

Birth Weight	002	0.088	005 to .0003
Gestational Age	.314	0.403	423 to 1.05
Birth Number	-8.10	0.019	-14.85 to -1.34
Maternal Age	072	0.536	300 to .156
Breastfed	1.22	0.513	181 to .050
C-Section	.472	0.780	-2.83 to 3.78
Hospital Admissions	363	0.007	627 to099
GP Visits	.030	0.006	.008 to .052
Sedentary Time Week	011	0.054	046 to .024
Sedentary Time Weekend	.011	0.196	005 to .028
MVPA Time Week	054	0.065	113 to .003
MVPA Time Weekend	003	0.907	066 to .059
Blood Pressure	065	0.268	181 to .050
Fitness	001	0.581	005 to .002



Figure 9 - Path analysis of predictors of cardiovascular health in teenagers

Blood pressure

Lower blood pressure was observed in teenagers who were first born (-29.96 mmHg [95% CI: -46.04 to -13.88]; Table 14) and were breast fed as infants (-6.09 mmHg [95% CI: -11.96 to -.22]. Being born as a result of caesarean meant blood pressure was higher as a teenager (5.15 mmHg [95% CI: 1.13 to 9.16]). As well as this, being more sedentary in the week was associated with higher blood pressure (.068 mmHg [95% CI: .28 to .11]). SEM included gender as a predictor of having higher blood pressure too (Figure 9).

Variable	Coef.	Р	95% CI
School Deprivation	001	0.530	008 to .004
Deprivation at Birth	.003	0.000	.001 to .007
Deprivation at 1	007	0.276	019 to .005
Deprivation at 13	.004	0.348	005 to .014
Gender	5.32	0.111	-1.22 to 11.87
Birth Weight	0008	0.802	007 to .005
Gestational Age	.333	0.795	-2.18 to 2.84
Birth Number	-29.96	0.000	-46.04 to -13.88
Maternal Age	.205	0.630	631 to 1.042
Breastfed	-6.09	0.042	-11.96 to22
C-Section	5.15	0.012	1.13 to 9.16
Hospital Admissions	.096	0.769	544 to .736
GP Visits	011	0.677	064 to .041
Sedentary Time Week	.069	0.010	0.28 to 0.11
Sedentary Time Weekend	032	0.037	06 to001
MVPA Time Week	07	0.972	22 to085

Table 14 – Regression outcomes for blood pressure

MVPA Time Weekend	01	0.839	189 to154
AIx	44	0.310	-1.29 to .40
Fitness	007	0.079	015 to .0008
*Bold denotes significance	:		

Cardiovascular fitness

Teenagers who were more deprived at birth ran further in the fitness testing (.163 [95% CI: .045 to .281]; Table 15). Boys were more likely to run further than girls (389.50 metres [95% CI: 233.69 to 545.30]; Table 15). Interestingly, teenagers were less fit if they were not first born (-1216.63 [95% CI: -1500.44 to -932.81]) but were fitter if their mothers were older (16.33 [95% CI: .45 to 32.2]). SEM showed that school deprivation also had a relationship with fitness that was not present in the multilevel regression.

Variable	Coef.	Р	95% CI
School Deprivation	.020	0.673	070 to .116
Deprivation at Birth	.163	0.007	.045 to .281
Deprivation at 1	002	0.983	233 to .228
Deprivation at 13	112	0.371	358 to .133
Gender	389.50	0.000	233.693 to 545.307
Birth Weight	001	0.987	202 to .198
Gestational Age	-9.30	0.729	-61.98 to 43.37
Birth Number	-1216.631	0.000	-1500.44 to -932.81
Maternal Age	16.33	0.044	.454 to 32.21
Breastfed	195.72	0.063	-10.69 to 402.13
C-Section	93.22	0.372	-111.61 to 298.06
Hospital Admissions	-3.74	0.800	-32.77 to 25.27

Table 15 – Regression outcomes for cardiovascular fitness

GP Visits	1.23	0.341	-1.30 to 3.76
Sedentary Time Week	-1.24	0.374	-4.42 to 1.92
Sedentary Time Weekend	1.48	0.099	375 to 3.35
MVPA Time Week	-2.85	0.052	-5.73 to .026
MVPA Time Weekend	-2.08	0.448	-8.38 to 4.20
AIx	-5.42	0.606	-26.05 to 15.20
Blood Pressure	-5.16	0.013	-9.23 to -1.08
*Bold denotes significance			

6.2 The impact of a teenager's environment on physical activity levels and fitness

Demographic data is seen as Table 16. Boys were more active and fitter than girls. Distances to active travel, public transport, main roads, natural recourses and activity providers were similar for the participant's homes and schools on average showing that these built environments have similar provisions.

Characteristic	Total		
Gender	n=224		
Boy	n=129 (58%)		
Girl	n=95 (42%)		
	Mean (SD)	Min	Max
MVPA (Minutes)	69.3 (18.4)	26.1	140.5
Boy	70.1 (18.7)	26.1	140.5
Girl	67.9 (18.1)	33.1	126.7
Amount Meeting 60 Mins	n=170 (69%)		
MVPA			
Boy	n=109 (64%)		
Girl	n=60 (36%)		

Table 16 – Participant demographics for built environment

Fitness (Metres Ran)	1840.3 (393.8)	476	2883
Boy	1967.5 (407.2)	476	2883
Girl	1636.7 (267.1)	984	2430
Motivation (Total)	10.0 (4.7)	-7.9	18
Boy	9.9 (4.4)	-6.7	18
Girl	10.1 (5.2)	-7.9	18
Home Deprivation (WIMD)	664.9 (559.6)	3	1878
Boy	680.7 (573.9)	3	1878
Girl	639.5 (538.0)	3	1799
Home Distance to Active Travel (Metres)	1438.2 (999.9)	85.1	5217.6
Boy	1425.8 (967.7)	141.5	4933.6
Girl	1458.1 (1054.3)	85.1	5217.6
Home Distance to Public Transport (Metres)	143.2 (562.8)	16.4	8879.9
Boy	110.9 (79.3)	16.4	487.9
Girl	195.0 (902.5)	17.9	8879.9
Home Distance to Main Road (Metres)	644.5 (454.6)	11.2	3617.3
Boy	662.2 (489.6)	35.5	3617.3
Girl	616.1 (393.0)	11.2	1969.4
Home Distance to Natural Resource (Metres)	1336.6 (752.1)	48.1	4271.4
Boy	1392.2 (797.2)	110.5	4271.4
Girl	1247.7 (668.2)	48.1	3123.3
Home Distance to Activity Provider (Metres)	1108.2 (1324.5)	0	14702.
Boy	1137.0 (1159.6)	0	13301.
Girl	1062.1 (1558.1)	0	14702.
Home Distance to School (Metres)	2321.8 (2349.5)	95.1	20899.2

Boy	2563.0 (2623.4)	95.1	20899.2
Girl	1936.1 (1773.9)	228.5	13587.2
School Deprivation (WIMD)	673.3 (674.6)	56	1660
Boy	681.4 (679.7)	56	1660
Girl	660.2 (669.6)	56	1660
School Distance to Active Travel (Metres)	1361.9 (662.1)	596.9	2729.6
Boy	1420.4 (641.4)	596.9	2729.6
Girl	1268.3 (686.9)	596.9	2729.6
School Distance to Public Transport (Metres)	105.2 (66.1)	42.7	276.4
Boy	102.8 (57.7)	42.7	276.4
Girl	108.9 (77.8)	42.7	276.4
School Distance to Main Road	800.8 (382.3)	273.5	1654.1
Boy	885.0 (396.5)	273.5	1654.1
Girl	666.1 (316.5)	273.5	1654.1
School Distance to Natural Resource	1712.9 (569.4)	398.8	2315.1
Boy	1723.4 (591.9)	398.8	2315.1
Girl	1696.1 (533.9)	<i>39</i> 8.8	2315.1
School Distance to Activity Provider	901.4 (891.4)	0	2494.2
Boy	889.9 (905.2)	0	2494.2
Girl	919.7 (873.3)	0	2494.2

Moderate to vigorous physical activity

Table 17 shows that teenagers had higher MVPA levels if their homes were closer to public transport. Conversely, they were also more active if their schools were further away from public transport and natural resources. Interestingly, teenagers who had higher levels of activity also had higher levels of sedentary time, which shows a

contrasting relationship between MVPA and sedentary behaviour. In this study, over 60% of teenagers met government's recommendations of 60 minutes of MVPA per day on average across the week.

Variable	Coef.	95% CI	Р
Boy	1.157	-5.570 to 7.884	0.735
Home Deprivation	0020	006 to .002	0.384
Home Distance to Active Travel Route	0008	003 to .001	0.525
Home Distance to Public Transport	004	009 to003	0.036
Home Distance to Main Road	.002	003 to .007	0.449
Home Distance to Natural Resource	002	006 to .001	0.165
Home Distance to Activity Provider	0003	002 to .001	0.685
Home Distance to School	.0001	000 to .001	0.785
School Deprivation	.022	005 to .050	0.119
School Distance to Active Travel Route	014	036 to .007	0.186
School Distance to Public Transport	.189	.047 to .331	0.009
School Distance to Main Road	.004	010 to .019	0.555
School Distance to Natural Resource	.014	.0003 to .029	0.044
School Distance to Activity Provider	010	024 to .002	0.120
Fitness (Distance Ran in Cooper Run)	.0004	008 to .009	0.927
Sedentary Time	.050	.024 to .076	0.000
Motivation	133	619 to .353	0.590

Table 17 – Regression outcomes for MVPA and built environment

Fitness

Table 18 shows boys had higher levels of fitness. Teenagers were fitter if schools were closer to natural resources which is in contrast to findings regarding activity levels. Teenagers were fitter if they had higher motivation.

Variable	Coef.	95% CI	Р
Boy	474.997	403.550 to 546.444	0.000
Home Deprivation	.046	017 to .111	0.157
Home Distance to Active Travel Route	002	037 to .032	0.868
Home Distance to Public Transport	.003	058 to .066	0.902
Home Distance to Main Road	022	098 to .053	0.565
Home Distance to Natural Resource	008	060 to .043	0.761
Home Distance to Activity Provider	0007	024 to .022	0.950
Home Distance to School	008	024 to .008	0.326
School Deprivation	272	670 to .124	0.177
School Distance to Active Travel Route	.110	194 to .416	0.475
School Distance to Public Transport	-1.481	-3.494 to .532	0.149
School Distance to Main Road	.160	044 to .366	0.124
School Distance to Natural Resource	217	419 to016	0.034
School Distance to Activity Provider	.149	038 to .337	0.119
MVPA	.085	-1.748 to 1.919	0.927
Sedentary Time	361	764 to .010	0.057
Motivation	7.196	.414 to 13.977	0.038

Table 18 – Regression outcomes for fitness and built environment

Path analysis

Combining all variables using a path analysis model (Figure 10) showed that there was no relationship between levels of MVPA and fitness. The school environment appears integral to fitness. An increasing distance from schools to natural resource and public transport shows a negative effect on fitness, whereas being further away from active travel and the nearest activity provision shows higher fitness levels. Being more active was influenced by distance to public transport. Teenagers who had higher levels of MVPA also showed higher sedentary time, but sedentary time did not affect fitness.



Figure 10 - Path analysis of built environment

6.3 Discussion of observational results

ACTIVE found interesting relationships between school deprivation and heart health in teenagers. AIx (as a proxy of arterial stiffness) was greater in pupils attending more deprived schools. This suggests they already had stiffer arteries by their early teens. Other influences could explain this such as poor nutrition and potential tobacco exposure but this would require further investigation in a future study (165).

However, teenagers in more deprived schools appeared fitter. Previous research has noted that schools in deprived areas typically offer less PE time (110) and provide fewer opportunities for sports and physical activities in and after school (110,185). Yet this finding suggests that despite this it may be that young people from more deprived areas engage in more accessible activities such as active travel, due to the cost of running a car or the cost of using public transport (68). This could account for higher

fitness levels, particularly as despite being an exposure, MVPA was not significant in influencing fitness.

There are other factors which could predict fitness which should also be considered in this context. Energy intake, body composition and heredity can also contribute to higher/lower fitness levels (68). However, given the previous research regarding deprivation, this group are more likely to present the risk factors for poor fitness (e.g. obesity) (186). Therefore, it is interesting that more deprived schools are appearing fitter in this study suggesting that this group have overcome predisposed barriers/predictors. This could be because of the environments they are surrounded by, perhaps allowing easier access to aspects such as active travel.

Interestingly, ACTIVE also found breastfeeding was associated with lower blood pressure. This is consistent with findings in previous literature (187). Although, this relationship has been described as modest. Longer duration breastfeeding has been shown to have a beneficial effect on fitness also (188). ACTIVE did not have access to data on the duration of breastfeeding in this cohort and was unable to explore this further. However, this warrants future study. Nonetheless, these findings add to the evidence base supporting a beneficial impact of breastfeeding which may translate into longer-term cardiovascular benefits.

Being a first-born child was also better for blood pressure outcomes as a teenager as well as better performance in the fitness testing. There is some evidence that first born children/single child families have greater access to resources and attention (189). However, it is an interesting finding as it would be thought that having other siblings at birth would increase opportunities for play and social interaction which are important to physical activity (96). This is worthy of further investigation and coupled with the finding that older mothers have fitter children provides evidence that support for larger, younger families is needed to facilitate equality of activity opportunities and resources (165). This would be particularly beneficial to those in more deprived communities.

Boys were found to be significantly fitter than girls (based on metres ran). This is unsurprising as most literature suggests boys are more active and therefore, potentially fitter (37,43,44,161). Boys generally have a higher amount of lean body mass at this age, which could contribute to better fitness levels (190). Interventions and programmes that target girls activity and fitness have been implemented (17,42,183), but this observational data at baseline provides evidence there are still differences between boys and girls and more needs to be done.

Mapping showed the environments that teenagers live and go to school in have roles to play in fitness and activity levels. More so the school environment. However, the impacts are complex. Fitness was associated with going to school near natural resources (e.g., green space). This adds to the existing literature relating to accessibility of resources. Adding to the literature regarding associations between these resource and activity (53–55).

This highlights the cardiovascular benefits of being nearer green space. This means that some teenager's schools/homes more naturally compliment fitness levels (191). For example, less urban, greener spaces are ones where teenagers could walk, run or cycle safely away from roads or play with their friends after-school. Again, this is in line with previous work (101) as increased roads would suggest better connectivity and accessibility yet, walkability of spaces is necessary to improve activity not simply the means to get to spaces. Previous research suggests that more built up, populated, busy spaces impacts activity (66). There are often safety concerns over traffic. This is often a reason why young people are inactive in their communities (192).

Walkability can facilitate activity by means of walking as an activity itself, equating to better fitness levels. Moreover, increased exposure and access to green spaces could facilitate forms of more structured sport (e.g. football/rugby) or encompass less conventional activities such as den building (30). In findings opposite to fitness, activity levels improve when public transport and natural resource is further away from schools. The increased walking distance to access these provisions may increase recorded activity; suggesting walking can contribute to MVPA time as previously mentioned. While supportive environments and local activity, so

teenager's would not need to travel, should be valued to improve fitness (58,59), activity levels can be sustained despite distance.

Previous analysis has shown that being within walking distance of provision is beneficial for teenage fitness (54,56,100) and therefore, the importance of considering the needs of teenagers when planning environments should not be overlooked. Although ACTIVE did not look into the optimal distance to improve activity fitness, the findings from the study as a whole suggests that emphasis be placed on bringing activities that young people enjoy to their local areas. It would seem that teenagers value enjoyment from activity and therefore are willing to travel further to do things they like (87) rather than the convenience of accessing whatever activity is on your doorstep. It could also be the case that there is simply nothing for them to do in their local communities. This is in line with previous research (193), which has acknowledged how important public transport infrastructure is, particularly when overcoming accessibility barriers (16,65–67). This would suggest that ACTIVE's focus on improving access via cost may have been too narrow and could explain the low usage of vouchers amongst teenagers.

The prominence of the school setting in all outcomes highlights that to improve MVPA and fitness, interventions should centre on the school as a hub for teenagers. Where most environment-based studies and interventions focus on the home (54,55,66,194–196), these findings suggest that focus is due to environments around the school. Generally school grounds are under-utilised for child-led play and activity when the teaching day ends (197). Whilst the importance of community access to schools, particularly in more deprived communities is recognised (198), the focus for teenagers is often on adult led and structured activities. ACTIVE has shown that this is not what young people want or need.

Generally speaking over half of the teenagers involved in the observational arm of ACTIVE met the recommendation of 60 minutes of MVPA across the week which is high compared to previous data (43). This could be due to the smaller sample size of the observational data and consent rates to participate being higher in those more interested in being active. Interestingly, this modelling showed sedentary time increased as MVPA increased. This argues that being more sedentary cannot be a

single determinant of poor activity, health and fitness (11). Activities that are likely to influence MVPA, such as structured, competitive sports may have high sedentary time outside this formal training period due to increased rest/recovery time between sessions. This finding suggests that we should promote different types of activity (e.g., light, moderate and vigorous), all of which have shown benefits to cardiovascular health and fitness, despite variances in intensity (11).

CHAPTER 7

DISCUSSION

The teenage years mark the transition from childhood to adulthood (2). It is during this time that young people begin to make decisions more independently, becoming advocates for their own health and lifestyle choices. Currently, many young people do not meet the recommended 60 minutes of MVPA in Wales, with 11% of girls and 20% of boys active enough (38,39). This lack of activity is leading to detrimental impacts on short and long-term physical and mental health (14–17). Accessibility (in terms of cost, lack of local facilities and motivation) has been reported as the main barrier to being active for teenagers (16,65–68), especially for those from more deprived backgrounds (70).

The ACTIVE RCT aimed to overcome these barriers by co-producing a multicomponent intervention with teenagers to empower them to access the activity provision that they want. This study identified methods that may help alter the trend of declining activity, fitness and poor heart health in teenagers.

7.1 Summary of key findings

The findings from the ACTIVE RCT presented in this thesis provides evidence that removing accessibility barriers and improving opportunities to participate in a variety of activity intensities that are unstructured, fun, social and low skill activity can improve the fitness, physical activity, cardiovascular health and perceptions of being active in teenagers. In the experimental arm ACTIVE saw improvements in cardiovascular fitness for teenagers, particularly for girls. The intervention improved the likelihood of being categorised as fit by the end of the study compared with baseline measures. Even though the control arm were fitter generally, girls and nondeprived teenagers in the intervention became fitter, running further in the fitness testing. Using the vouchers improved the likelihood of being categorised as fit. Voucher use was also positively associated with MVPA. This suggests an increased use of vouchers, or ability to overcome accessibility barriers, could improve activity levels. With evidence showing that activity continues to decline throughout adolescence (14) and girls less likely to be active (17,41–44), this is a key finding.

ACTIVE saw a reduction in pupils registering as having high blood pressure (69). Therefore, providing evidence that empowering teenagers to be active can improve their heart health (65,67,69,183). This helps provide protection against poor health in later life, instilling healthy behaviours that they enjoy and feel empowered to do. Being active is good for heart health in terms of improved cardiovascular fitness as well as body composition and the reduced risk of being overweight/obese (14,15). The UK has the tenth-highest rates of obesity globally, with 26% of the population reported as obese (22) and 14% of children reported as overweight (23). Therefore, promoting and instilling active lifestyles is a public health priority. ACTIVE goes someway to underpinning how this may be implemented.

ACTIVE also found that teenagers are autonomously motivated (84). In line with SDT, this purposes that any intervention that relies on external pressure, guilt or a top-down approach is likely to be unsuccessful in this age group (69,84). Instead there should be a focus on enjoyment and listening to what teenagers would like to improve their activity (16,67). The autonomous nature of motivation has been observed in previous studies (114,115) and has been used to underpin intervention delivery (126). In one study, autonomy has been noted to be more present in girls than boys (114) however these gender differences were not observed in ACTIVE. Moreover, observational findings present the current landscape of heart health and activity in this group showing how components of young people's environments (e.g., family factors and built environment) relate to their health and fitness prior to intervention. Within this, ACTIVE highlights aspects which can be utilised better (for example, access to resources for young families and the school setting).

ACTIVE was novel as it gave young people the choice to take part in activities that they chose to do and offered them the opportunity to establish new provision in their area. Previous interventions targeting fitness and heart health have been prescriptive, with teenagers given specific activities to participate in or coaching/teaching sessions (17,73,85). These interventions have had mixed success (180), often only seeing short-term success (73,76). The findings from ACTIVE suggest a need to move away from the traditional, top-down approach and focus on allowing teenagers to have a say in what they need and want to access (69). Listening to, empowering teenagers and encouraging them to make their own choices allowed ACTIVE to be successful in understanding how to improve engagement in activity (69).

7.2 Implications of ACTIVE for promoting fitness and physical activity

ACTIVE demonstrates improvements in fitness and physical activity in teenagers. This was a result of taking part in a variety of activities throughout the intervention, at varying intensities. A common theme throughout the activities is that they were unstructured. This type of unstructured activity seen in ACTIVE is not dissimilar to the definition of 'play' (26), highlighting that older children want to play too. Welsh Government supports play as it reduces inequalities due to its accessibility, it is low cost and can be done locally in any space which is beneficial for more deprived individuals. ACTIVE highlights the need for play in older children to be taken more seriously by policy-makers due to its accessible characteristics and alignment with the wants and needs of young people.

There is prevalent focus on 'sport' in society and in the curriculum due to its association with positive youth development in building character, developing resilience, determination and self-belief and instilling values of friendship and fair play (5,6). However, this has been turning young people off activity. Physical activity levels continue to decline throughout adolescence (14) and girls are most at risk of being less active (17,41–44). Thus, improving the accessibility of sport is not enough. Teenagers want accessibility to be improved to play and this type of physical activity needs to be better recognised for the benefits to fitness and heart health. This had a positive impact on activity, fitness levels, heart-health and perspectives of PA.

With structure and competition being cited as a barrier to being active (65), ACTIVE provides evidence that there are physical benefits in promoting more unstructured provision, namely improvements in fitness and activity levels. Currently, there is a focus on unstructured activity and play only in the early years and childhood. As children age, opportunities to play are overlooked in favour of structured sports, particularly during school and as part of the PE curriculum. ACTIVE provides further evidence that some teenagers see structured activity and sport as a barrier to being active (65). This is not to say that sport does not have its place but its barriers to entry, requirement of rules, regulations and skills are often a deterrent for young people (65).

Previous research has also opted to uphold these traditional forms of activity, with interventions often prescribing specific activities or teaching strategies over a particular duration (17,73,85). Findings from ACTIVE suggest this may be limiting their success in improving fitness and activity. Firstly, due to the prescription of activities. By prescribing activities or sports, interventions are not acknowledging how teenagers are motivated.

Motivation to be active has been cited as a barrier by previous studies (65,68). This is often interpreted as a teenager's lack of motivation or shared the rhetoric that young people are 'lazy'. This is facilitated by the increasing trend for teenagers to be more sedentary and the ease of access to electronic forms of entertainment (the internet, television, mobile phones and video games) (40). However, it could be that previous interventions and programmes have failed to acknowledge how teenagers are motivated. Instead of considering this, they offer specific types of activity which may pressure or guilt young people into being more active.

This is a 'top-down' approach to activity promotion which does not acknowledge the autonomy of young people. As demonstrated by ACTIVE, teenagers are autonomously motivated, and this needs consideration. Without considering motivation, the narrative that teenagers would rather be sedentary than active prevails due to the disconnect between what is provided and what teenagers need and want to do (16,65,67). ACTIVE has provided evidence that there are activities young people want to do, but opportunities are limited. Moving forward there needs to be

greater emphasis placed on the role of motivation and how motivation underpins activity choices and behaviour.

Secondly, improvements in fitness and MVPA in interventions may be limited by using the primary aim of improving MVPA (121,126,127,129,134). Holding MVPA as the gold standard of activity may be limiting how activity is promoted to teenagers. As mentioned, there are cardiovascular benefits associated with all levels of activity (199). Active travel in particular has been associated with healthier body compositions and cardiovascular fitness (200). The importance of promoting different intensities of activity in young people cannot be overstated (11,20,179), particularly in deprived settings as highlighted by ACTIVE.

ACTIVE did not show evidence that improvements in MVPA correlated with improvements in fitness either. Moreover, being more active in this study was associated with extended periods of sedentary behaviour. As previous research has also noted being more sedentary cannot be a single determinant of poor activity, health and fitness (11). Therefore, health behaviour promotion should look to endorse different intensities of activity (e.g. light, moderate and vigorous). All of which have shown benefits to cardiovascular health and fitness (11). Rather than using MVPA as a sole measure of success.

To promote a broader definition of physical activity to include unstructured activity, it is necessary to work across the community and the school setting. For short and long term cardiovascular benefits in particular, supportive environments and local activity, so teenager's would not need to travel (58,59), should be of importance to establish, particularly for teenagers from more deprived backgrounds. The school setting is where teenagers spend most of their time. Where most environment-based studies and interventions focus on the home (54,55,66,194–196), ACTIVE's findings suggest that focus is also due on environments around the school.

7.3 What works best when promoting activity in teenagers? Give them a voice.

ACTIVE's use of a voucher scheme to empower teenagers to overcome accessibility barriers appeared to be the biggest success in terms of promoting activity. Rather than prescribe specific activities, ACTIVE allowed teenagers to design and access activities that they wanted to. The activities often required no intervention from adults. For example, hiring football pitches. This lack of intervention from adults is important as it empowers young people. They felt the vouchers allowed them to pay for activities themselves, overcoming cost barriers and giving them ownership. This is a significant strength of the project as it addressed the accessibility barrier (65,67,68). Not only this, being able to access provision on their own terms helped changed perceptions of activity for young people. From something teenagers felt they were pressured to do by adults that was high-intensity and difficult to a social and fun event (69).

This is a novel approach to activity promotion and it has received some attention in the literature. Previous research has noted the importance of listening to the wants and needs of young people in the physical activity sphere (80,81,116,118,119). It is interesting that these studies, although undertaken in different locations and samples, offer similar recommendations for activity promotion in young people namely providing more opportunities, more choice, more fun and provide incentives. These underpinned ACTIVE and was the foundation of its success. The repetition of these recommendations and the accessibility barriers in this thesis suggest that despite a number of physical activity interventions, teenagers are still not being active enough.

It was clear from this study that current activity provision is not meeting the wants and needs of young people. This is resulting in teenagers feeling frustrated, not encouraged and disengaged with local physical activity provision. These recommendations highlight reasons why teenagers are bored and disengaged with their local provision (80). Teenagers believe there is a focus on very young children and then again in adulthood. Teenage years are often neglected but bridge the gap between childhood and adulthood.

Many of their solutions and insights are applicable to all ages (1, 4, 5). For example, many of the barriers faced by teenagers are identical to those faced by young families (5). Fears standards of facilities and safety of these facilities are identical to

those of older adults (1). Therefore, listening to teenagers could benefit communities. This thesis presents six key recommendations from teenagers:

- 7. Lower/remove the cost of activities without sacrificing the quality
- 8. Make physical activity opportunities more locally accessible
- 9. Improve the standards of existing facilities
- 10. Make activities more specific to teenagers
- 11. Give teenagers a choice of activities/increase variety of activity
- 12. Provide activities that teenage girls enjoy (e.g. fun, sociable and not competitive sport) (67)

Thus, involving teenagers in the design and implementation of physical activity initiatives in this way is imperative not only to empowering teenagers to positively impact their activity and health but also to generate better community cohesion. Acknowledging and gaining a better understanding of teenagers' own recommendations and needs would increase the legitimacy and feasibility of activity interventions as agreed with by previous literature involving the public in designing public health initiatives (77,78,201).

Throughout discussions with young people and voucher usage findings, the increased opportunity to participate in unstructured activity was a key recommendation echoed by both boys and girls (70). Young people did not mention formal coaching, competitions or leagues rather there was an agreement that activity should allow teenagers the opportunity to enjoy and choose what they would like to do with their friends (67). Inclusivity was essential.

During the focus group discussions there were a few subtle gender differences to emerge. For example, girls placed more emphasis on the enjoyment aspect of activity and the need to be active with friends. Girls also seemed to be more disengaged with school PE than boys, something that has been acknowledged by previous initiatives (119,183). ACTIVE's findings agree that reviewing physical activity provision for girls in secondary schools may go some way towards addressing girls' physical activity levels (67). While certain aspects of physical activity interventions could be tailored to suit girls or boys (e.g. greater emphasis on enjoyment and socialisation for girls), the overall core components of an intervention do not need to differ by gender (67). Acknowledging and focusing on the six recommendations made by teenagers at the start of ACTIVE is likely to enhance participation for both boys and girls in this age group.

Article 31 of the United Nations Convention of the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) (29) calls for young people to be able to participate fully and equally in recreation and leisure activity. It also calls for them to have a right to be heard and taken seriously on all matters affecting them (Article 12) and to gather and use public space (Article 15). However, the evidence from ACTIVE suggests these rights for teenagers are being overlooked. The voucher use suggests what is currently on offer is not what teenagers want to do. We should be involving young people in decisions that affect them. There is a gap between what is promoted to young people and what they want from activity provision.

Despite teenagers only using 25.1% of the vouchers available, the takeaway message from ACTIVE is that empowering teenagers, listening to them and encouraging them to make choices allowed ACTIVE to be successful in understanding how to improve engagement in activity and also improve fitness and blood pressure. Wales is in a unique position to implement the changes teenagers have requested. Wales has world-leading legislation; developments in the new curriculum and legislation such as the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act (47), the Active Travel Act (48) and Play legislation (27) requires public bodies to make these provisions accessible for all. Sport Wales' most recent strategy sets out to be person-centred and to give every young person a great start and ensure there are opportunities for all (49). These are promising steps in the right direction in line with ACTIVE's findings but trends in physical activity suggest that this legislation may not be transferring into practice.

7.4 What about external support for young people?

Previous research has implemented external support for young people in the form of mentorship programmes with some success in improving activity (121,122,127,129).

ACTIVE drew upon the methods used in ASSIST (128), a smoking cessation project. As previously mentioned, the peer mentoring scheme in ACTIVE was not positively received. In particular, the teenagers noted that in the selection process, asking about how influential an individual was not a measure of mentoring. Often 'influential' can be mistaken for asking who the 'most popular' is. It was important for teenagers that the mentors act as role models for being active but suggested more rigorous selection methods be used, e.g., having a teacher involved or someone who knows the young people.

ACTIVE used a very similar process as ASSIST (146). However, both have different aims. One sees the promotion of a behaviour and one looks at deterring. This could explain the difference in success. There is not a one size fits all approach to peer mentoring. Given that teenagers were autonomously motivated and wanted to be active with their friends in an unstructured environment (69) it is possible that the peer mentor approach of a mentor was too structured, and an 'expert' peer is not motivating for teenagers (180). They stated that they would not really ask a peer for advice in relation to physical activity or exercise. Despite evidence of peer mentoring working in other health interventions in this age group (128,146), differences in the reasons for using peer mentors meant they had little impact in ACTIVE. This is something for future interventions to consider.

Similarly, while the support worker was considered 'helpful', thought needs to be given to the timings of school visits and how messages are delivered. There is not a 'one size fits all' model when working with schools. What works for one, may not work for another. Thus, for external support for physical activity to work well, a period of consultation with schools, the local council and pupils would be beneficial. However, ACTIVE also demonstrated some tension in the support workers role when working with stakeholders. ACTIVE's aim was to empower teenagers to be able to access activities they wanted yet the local council felt they should promote activities that are available but were perhaps ignored by the teenagers. The council felt they had ample activities; teenagers just did not access them. However, evidence from ACTIVE shows that these activities were not necessarily developed alongside young people to complement their wants and needs.

Moreover, previous research notes that external influences in the form of those in a position of leadership (e.g., intervention leads and head teachers) play an important role in the success of an intervention. In the case of ACTIVE, leaders needed to value activity for activity's sake and be willing to allocate time to increase opportunities for teenagers to be active (202). In particular, school buy-in and promoting the importance of teenage activity levels and health underpins this (180). School is where teenagers spend a significant amount of time and any successful activity intervention needs engagement and buy-in from the school (17,18). Generally speaking, teenagers believed that not enough time and value is placed on physical activity in school. Yet, there is emphasis placed on sport and being critiqued on their participation. Teenagers wanted more opportunities to be active during school time that was less structured and wanted a choice in what they would like to do (67). Future physical activity promoting interventions and policy should take note of this. However, this also pivots on the PE lead in the school. The local council observed that the person taking responsibility for ACTIVE was also vital in the delivery and that buy-in from them would ensure success. This is important as the wrong lead could hinder an intervention's success (180).

Observational findings from ACTIVE have reiterated how important the school setting is. Heart health has been attributed to the school setting and mapping shows the pivotal role the school environment plays in fitness and activity (165). Fortunately, ACTIVE had good engagement with the schools it worked with. In particular two schools supported the establishment of new lunchtime clubs within the school day to facilitate activity opportunities.

7.5 Wider community benefits and learning from ACTIVE

There were wider community benefits seen alongside the delivery of ACTIVE. Teenagers observed that there had been changes made to local activity. For example, some providers changed the cost of their provision allowing discounted entry or 'two for one' deals as a way to promote teenagers bringing their friends. As well as this, the local council used the feedback and initial findings from ACTIVE to underpin their future planning (69,180). This provides evidence of the sustainability of ACTIVE as it helped influence the delivery of community and school-based activity for teenagers from the local council's perspective (69). This allowed for more supportive environments to be created for young people.

Supportive environments and local activity, so teenager's would not need to travel (58,59) should be of importance to establish. Particularly for teenagers from more deprived backgrounds. Being within walking distance of provision is beneficial for teenage fitness (54,56); with this in mind, schools and communities should focus on promoting and maintaining active travel and active travel infrastructure. The importance of considering the needs of teenagers when planning environments should not be overlooked. ACTIVE highlights that these needs centre around increased provision and opportunity for fun, unstructured and social activity that can benefit fitness, heart health, motivation and perceptions of activity.

The learning from ACTIVE can also be applied to the design and development of the built environment. ACTIVE highlights the importance of the school setting in improving MVPA and particularly, fitness for teenagers. Being able to travel independently and access to green space closer to schools could make a significant difference to teenage health. Environments that improve PA and fitness for teenagers should focus on making activities more locally accessible. This is particularly relevant in more deprived communities where the cost of transport is an expense some families do not have (68). Creating environments that are conducive to activity is not a new concept but has been gathering momentum more recently (58). ACTIVE highlights that there is a need to consider how a local environment influences the opportunity to be active and plan around this. Whether this is in terms of the walkability of an area, access to green space or the use of facilities, such as schools, in novel ways. Planning the development of communities is a long-term process that requires work from many stakeholders.

The school environment also plays a vital role in physical activity. It should not be taken for granted that school PE provision is enough. Department for Education guidelines recommend schools provide a minimum of 2 hours per week (32) but, with increasing pressure for schools to perform in exams, time dedicated to PE is reduces as pupils progress through secondary school (31). This time needs to be

protected. Young people want to be active but there needs to be a change in culture and approach in schools, for example, moving away from rigid, skill-based assessments of sporting ability to more holistic activities which are more inclusive. To date, the PE curriculum remains prescriptive especially in early key stages (e.g. athletics, football, netball), ending in Key Stage 4 where individuals are given the opportunity to plan and participate in a regular and balanced programme of PE (33). More consideration should be given to pupil's wellbeing when planning the school day and when making decisions on how the school environment might be utilised to support teenagers to make better use of it, including being able to access school facilities after the school day ends. It is not simply a case of making teenagers more aware of what they can access in their communities, they need to be able to access it easily and it needs to be activities they want to do.

ACTIVE clearly demonstrates that provision, however that looks in a school or community, should include different types of activity (e.g., light, moderate and vigorous) rather than addressing sedentary behaviour. ACTIVE shows young people want the choice to access more unstructured activity and if schools want to reduce sedentary behaviour they need to engage with teenage voices and understand the needs of young people. There is conflict between improving MVPA and increasing sedentary time. Time spent sedentary cannot be a single determinant of poor activity, health and fitness (11). To address this consultation with those being targeted is essential.

The health implications of ACTIVE have wider benefits. A more active lifestyle, being fitter and having lower blood pressure as a teenager means poorer health in the future is less likely (14,15). This study also provides evidence of early life indicators which may make teenagers more vulnerable to poorer cardiovascular health and CVD risk (165). Schools in deprived areas could be targeted with interventions that improve heart health. For example, improving access to and uptake of a variety of activities that promote all types of physical activity, rather than simply aiming to reduce sedentary behaviour, for example active travel or low cost, easy to access physical activities outside the school environment. Promotion of breastfeeding and play/socialisation support for younger, larger families may have also a beneficial effect. Recognition of the important early indicators and determinants of cardiovascular health would warrant

further development of the evidence base to encourage policymakers to implement preventative measures in young people.

The protective value of physical activity cannot be ignored. Benefits include improvements in body composition and the reduced risk of being overweight/obese, the reduced risk of non-communicable disease (NCD), improved cardiorespiratory and muscular fitness and, improved bone health (14,15). Moreover, being active has a positive impact on mental health, increasing wellbeing, self-esteem and socialisation opportunities (16).

During the COVID 19 (SARS-CoV-2) pandemic, physical activity was cited as vital in decreasing the negative physical and psychological impact of sedentary behaviours (203). During periods of restriction in movement to stop the spread of infection, physical activity was written in to guidance as an essential use of time in the UK (204). The value of physical activity during a global pandemic has been recognised, from its protective role in improving general health to its role in providing a channel for wellbeing (203,205–207). If it is relevant during a time of crisis, it is relevant always. It cannot be an afterthought in schools, it cannot be considered second best to other subjects. It needs to be central in the designing of communities. As shown by ACTIVE the best place to start is to ask what people want and need in terms of activity provision.

7.6 Lessons learned and future implications

ACTIVE's delivery had both strengths and weaknesses that could be used to underpin future physical activity promotion. Teenagers reported to be able to do activities they wanted with their friends and changed their perceptions of physical activity. Thus, providing young with a choice coupled with financial support in deprived areas was a strength of the ACTIVE. This is not to say that a voucher scheme is a replicable intervention but that improving the ease of access and increasing the choice teenagers have is pivotal for activity. Teenagers would like this choice translated into the school setting and into community provision. Acknowledging how teenagers are motivated is key. They know they need to be active and would like to be but do not respond to being made to feel guilty or pressured. Therefore, care needs to be taken when employing mentors or support staff to promote activity. These individuals need to be selected for specific characteristics (e.g., they need to be approachable). Again, these processes would be strengthened if there were more collaboration between teenagers, activity provision and policymakers to ensure their wants and needs are met.

Further work is needed on how the intervention's strengths and weaknesses can underpin a larger scale project that can reach a bigger number of teenagers across Wales. The numbers of vouchers used in ACTIVE suggest there are barriers that the project did not overcome as only 25.1% of vouchers were used, and perhaps more needs to be done from the bottom-up to ensure teenagers have sufficient opportunities and access locally. Future projects should advocate for and empower teenagers to make them feel like an important part of the community. Listening to their feedback, exploring young people's neighbourhoods, schools and activity provision through their eyes and involving them in the creation and planning of activities in their local communities rather than believing adults are best placed to decide what teens want.

7.7 Limitations

Bias may have been introduced into the study as ACTIVE was only able to measure outcomes and ask opinions of teenagers who consented (ACTIVE had an 88% consent rate), although all children received vouchers and imputation used. Those responding/consenting may have been more motivated and interested in being active resulting in in-group bias. It is possible that the teenagers who did not consent were less interested or less motivated to be active (69). Therefore, the sample would have been reflective of more active teenagers perhaps not capturing the views of those less engaged with sport, physical activity and their general health. Only the local council were asked to participate in a focus group from the perspective of a collaborator and activity provider. The viewpoints of other stakeholders may have differed based on the voucher usage with their service and funding (for example, if they were a charity

or privately funded). Furthermore, the focus groups were conducted with a small age-range of teenagers (aged 13 - 14 years old). This means the recommendations made by teenagers aged 15 years old and upwards have not been included and may differ. One focus group was conducted with both boys and girls together, which may also have affected the recommendations made from this particular focus group.

When implementing the intervention, importance was placed on gathering the opinions of all teenagers including those more engaged and less engaged with activity and the intervention itself, as well as peer mentors. It is possible that despite support worker engagement and the communication in place, the views of those less active or disengaged with the intervention were missed. Other sample characteristics which could have been collected to improve inclusivity include PE lesson attendance and participation which would have helped the intervention establish activity levels and engagement with physical activity further.

An important limitation in this study was that ACTIVE selected deprived schools if they were located in a deprived area. However, for one school at least, the area was not representative of the children and this was not good method of identifying deprivation status of teenagers. This is reflected in the voucher use, where school C used fewer vouchers. Future work could select schools based on free school meal percentage rather than deprivation of the geographical area in which the school is located.

In terms of analysis, the norm value used to categorise participants as either fit/unfit were based on cut-points derived in 1968. It is possible that these cut-points may not be as relevant, particularly as a decline in fitness has been observed over time since the original development of the cut-points. As well as this, wear time criteria for accelerometers was based on criteria for waist-worn protocols when this study was using wrist-worn.

Observational analysis reports the findings of a small group of teenagers in south Wales, which may not be generalisable to the whole population. Future work should include a larger sample size. The path analysis shows that even though relationships were present, these relationships only explained a small proportion of variation in AIx
and blood pressure in particular and warrant further evaluation in larger prospective studies ideally with careful documentation of important covariates including anthropometric and serological measurements to add greater depth to analysis (165).

GIS accessibility measures were developed using Euclidean distances which provides an indicative measure of access. In addition, access to public transport is based on bus stop locations as opposed to more sophisticated origin-destination measures. Further work could include more sophisticated network measures of access which take into account urban morphology and whether a destination (e.g., leisure centre) is served by a public transport route from an origin (e.g. home or school). As well as this, GIS analysis can calculate the geographic availability of activity provision and resource however, it cannot ascertain the suitability of the resource without more detailed data on services provided (and restrictions) at each location. For teenagers this is an important limitation, as age restrictions could impact whether they can access a provision.

7.8 ACTIVE's take home messages

Being given a choice of activities that are unstructured, fun and social was a defining factor of ACTIVE and can be attributed to its success. Teenagers were empowered to choose activities that appealed to them and fulfilled what they want and need from provision. In turn, they saw improvement in fitness and blood pressure. Findings also suggest that an increased use of vouchers, or ability to overcome accessibility barriers, could improve activity levels too. With this in mind, it is evident we need to listen to young people and improve ways of working to align current practice with UNCRC's article 12, 15 and 31 (29). This cannot be done in isolation but needs to involve working across both local communities and school settings.

Future work in this field should focus on working with teenagers and not for teenagers in a top-down fashion. This could have countless implications on the heart health, physical activity, fitness, motivation and presence in local communities for this age group. Working with teenagers and co-producing interventions and provision can help to build community cohesion and combat the health inequalities observed in young people; making them feel valued. Being told what they cannot do by adults and only having access to prescriptive activity has led to a lack of inclusion on matters that are important to teenagers. The findings of ACTIVE highlight the need for empowerment and advocacy for teenagers. Generating greater awareness of the barriers teenagers face, the recommendations they make, and protective factors for their health in the future.

CHAPTER 8

CONCLUSION

The teenage years involve many physical, emotional and cognitive changes alongside the increased ownership of one's own health behaviours including being physically active. Guidelines recommend that young people should take part in an average of 60 minutes of physical activity per day per week (9,10) and this should be in the form of MVPA but with the belief that some physical activity is better than none (9).

The ACTIVE RCT explored in this thesis was co-produced alongside teenagers to empower them to overcome the barriers that prevent them from being active. The study had two primary aims; i) to improve cardiovascular fitness and, ii) to improve physical activity (MVPA) in teenagers. As well as a number of secondary aims, i) exploring how motivation is impacted by the intervention, ii) providing predictors of cardiovascular health in teenagers and, iii) examining the impact of a teenager's build environment on physical activity and fitness.

8.1 ACTIVE's primary aims (the experimental arm)

Voucher use suggested that unstructured, fun, social and low skill activities were favoured by teenagers. They were mostly used by teenagers who were less deprived, fitter, more motivated, more sedentary and less active at baseline. However, only a small number of vouchers were used with travel, time and motivation to be active cited as barriers for their use.

Overall, the ACTIVE RCT had a positive impact on the primary aim of cardiovascular fitness. Logistic regression showed significantly higher odds of being fit at 12 months in the intervention group compared to the control and girls in the intervention showed a trend to become fitter. Despite this, ACTIVE did not have a significant impact on the amount of time spent doing MVPA. However, there was a significant relationship between the voucher usage and MVPA at 12 months suggesting an increased use of vouchers could improve MVPA. There were also improvements seen in blood pressure in the intervention group.

Interestingly ACTIVE found all participants were autonomously motivated. Underpinned by SDT, this finding shows teenagers attribute activity to enjoyment as opposed to being pressured to be active which would help explain the physical activity choices made by young people. It was also help explain why more prescriptive interventions see mixed success. Therefore, SDT as a theoretical framework should be utilised more in physical activity research and policy. Understanding what motivates a group of individuals prior to implementation could help improve the success and longevity of work within the field of physical activity.

The use of baseline focus groups to inform the delivery of the ACTIVE intervention helped align the study with its ethos of co-production and empowering teenagers to have a say in their physical activity choices. Thus, taking a proactive, not reactive, approach to promoting activity. This was a strength of the study and teenager's recognized that having a choice was an effective element of the RCT. However, there was some discussion about the effectiveness of the use of peer mentors, support worker engagement and the location of activities. Furthermore, conversations with young people discussed physical activity lessons in school and how there were few opportunities to be active and the buy-in from PE teachers. Highlighting that there is still some work to be done in the school setting and within curriculum delivery.

8.2 ACTIVE's secondary aims (the observational arm)

The findings from the observational arm of ACTIVE provide some key predictors of teenage health which can be used to be proactive in promoting healthy behaviours in young people and identifies some protective factors which can be promoted to families and first-time parents. For example, lower blood pressure was observed in teenagers who were first born and those who were breastfed. Potentially as a result of increased access to resources and proxies of other health behaviours. Higher AIx measures, as a measure of arterial stiffness, was associated with higher levels of deprivation, lower hospital admissions but more general practitioner (GP) visits. Thus, highlighting that those more deprived are at risk of poorer heart health.

In terms of the built environment, young people did more MVPA if their homes were closer to public transport but were also more active if their schools were further away from public transport and natural resources. The school environment is a pivotal space of teenage activity and health and therefore future planning could incorporate these places as a hub for health and wellbeing in the community (e.g., remaining open after the school day ends for increased accessibility). Interestingly teenagers who had higher levels of activity also had higher levels of sedentary time, which shows a contrasting relationship between MVPA and sedentary behaviour. Thus, this highlights that we cannot assume that more physically active young people are less sedentary.

The environments which young people occupy are important facilitators of physical activity and health behaviours generally. Thinking about and encompassing the environment in a settings approach (60) helps interventions to create healthy environments and develop policies to allow an environment to perform better (60). For teenagers, ACTIVE highlights that there are two environments to consider in the school and the community setting. A more holistic approach to physical activity, underpinned by Bronfenbrenner's socioecological model (62), can bring into context how an individual's characteristics, parents, friends, colleagues, schools, homes, communities, local governments, resources, mass media and culture can all facilitate physical activity.

8.3 Concluding remarks

Providing more local opportunities for teenagers to take part in activities that fit the umbrella of 'fun, unstructured and social' promotes participation and changes attitudes towards activity. The findings of ACTIVE highlight the need to empower more young people to make a difference and give young people opportunities to shape their future. Generating greater awareness of the barrier's teenagers face, the recommendations they make, and protective factors for their health in the future could go some way to making young people more active, healthier and happier.

To conclude, the key message from ACTIVE is that young people want to have their say in activity provision so that they can increase their opportunities to participate in unstructured, fun and social activity in their local communities. Similar to the principles of play, these activities can be 'freely chosen' and 'intrinsically motivated'. These are key values for teenagers when being active.

CHAPTER 9

THE FUTURE FOR ACTIVE

The value of an active lifestyle and activity enabling environments on health cannot be underestimated. ACTIVE demonstrates that the best advocates for changing environments to be healthier for young people, are young people themselves. Their six key recommendations presented in this thesis provide a pathway to improving activity for their generation. To date there are few effective, sustainable interventions to address inactivity. Major limitations have been underpinned by accessibility including cost, location and the lack of choice in unstructured, fun and social activities.

ACTIVE's work with teenagers highlights that there is a difference between current activity provision and what young people want and recommend (16,65) and they have strong opinions that communities need to change. The future of ACTIVE aims to build on a previous success using the voucher scheme to improve teenager's access to local activities. While ACTIVE improved fitness and cardiovascular health, teenagers expressed that the accessibility barrier still remained; namely there was little in their local area that they wanted to do, transport to other areas was expensive and teenagers were not welcome in community spaces.

Future direction sets out to build upon the success and address the barriers faced by young people, namely that the built environment is designed around cars, those with wealth and the activity interests of adults or what adults think teenagers want. Future work will build upon the momentum and impact of ACTIVE using novel methods such as accessibility modelling, advocacy and empowerment. This will include producing maps with teenagers of their communities as seen and experienced by young people, with a special focus on deprived areas. Then working with young people to inform how we meet the wants and needs of teenage activity. This bottom-up style of intervention, working with teenagers to map their local communities, advocacy and empowerment can improve physical activity levels for all in the

community, perceptions of activity, wellbeing and subsequently, cardiovascular health.

The data collected from future work offers a unique opportunity to link with routinely collected data via the SAIL Databank helping to provide a longitudinal insight of the health of young people, those in deprived communities and women, in Wales. For example, it can help compare health outcomes for rural vs urban communities, for those with access to more green space, active travel infrastructure and for those in areas of higher pollution. This will create a powerful tool for examining and profiling the health of communities (teenagers, deprived, female) which often ignored in a more commercially driven society.

Conversations with teenagers since the end of the ACTIVE intervention further highlight the need for the advocacy and empowerment that a future project proposes. Generating greater awareness of the barriers teenagers face could go some way to making them more active, healthier and happier. ACTIVE has listened to their feedback and are proposing to look at young people's neighbourhoods, schools and activity provision through their eyes and involve them in the creation and planning of activities in their local communities rather than believing adults are best placed to decide what teens want. The voices of young people should be heard on all matters that affect them. This is happening on a global stage with climate change. While momentum is gathering in this space, there still remains gaps for their voices in health matters. Physical activity could be the area of health where the British Heart Foundation could lead conversations with teenagers to help better provision.

Physical activity protects against ill health in later life. It reduces the risk of chronic health conditions such as heart disease and reduces the risk of stroke and heart attacks. This has become even more apparent during the COVID-19 pandemic. For long-term health benefits we need to start young and engage young people in the solutions. Public Health Wales have voiced their thoughts on this in their 2017

evidence summary, by saying we should be "actively involving young people in designing, planning and delivering physical activity opportunities" (46).

8.1 ACTIVE 2.0

A new trial design has been proposed. Using a mixed method randomised control trial design, areas (local authorities) in Wales will be randomised into either the intervention or control arm. Control authorities will be encouraged to continue normal practice. Intervention authorities will have access to an empowerment and advocacy-based intervention. This will include:

- Advocacy: The advocacy arm of the project would be ongoing throughout the 3 years of funding. Article 12 underpins this work giving teenager's a right to be heard and taken seriously on all matters affecting them. A large element of this will be mapping how teenagers use their local areas and sharing this with the local councils, members of parliament, local councillors, organisations (Sport Wales, Play Wales), schools, education boards and other relevant stakeholders. This component will also consist of collecting and disseminating the narratives of teenager's experiences of being active in their communities through media such as YouTube, Instagram, TikTok and podcasting. We will deliberately bring teenager groups together with charities and advocacy groups (e.g., for activity travel -Sustains, bike ability) to try to maximise single one voice messages from teenagers.
- *Empowerment:* Teenagers will be encouraged to work together to form ideas of how they can change their areas via workshops ran by the research team and relevant stakeholders, which include lawyers, local business and architecture/planning. Thereby empowering teenagers to understand the law and systems in order to be able to create change from within. Training in accessing grants (such as the Youth Bank) It is anticipated this will help to create long term sustained ability to create change beyond the life of the projects, due to skills development and knowledge in young people.

Teenage assessment of the area will be linked with hospital admissions from that area for CVD, strokes, and to GP records of mental health and other risk facts for heart disease (cholesterol, blood pressure)), to examine how differences in built area impacts on the health of all. This will be done using the SAIL database which has all hospital admissions in Wales. This will help to give objective evidence of how changes in area may contribute to changes in cardiovascular health for all. ACTIVE wants to produce a way of communicating what young people especially those in deprived communities and especially girls, want and need that can be replicated throughout the UK to create local change.

The school curriculum is undergoing an important transition. With well-being so high on the new curriculum's agenda and complimented by the pioneering Wellbeing of Future Generations Act in Wales (47), results from a new trial will provide evidence of specific working that can be promoted or adapted to help create more active, happier teenagers who can be protected against the risk of poor health in later life. Moreover, this research can link findings with routine data on health to provide an extensive e-cohort that can be used for longitudinal analysis. This will be a valuable insight that can be used by Welsh Government, Public Health Wales and Sport Wales' future work as well as across the UK.

ACTIVE will continue to advocate for young people's voices to be heard.

REFERENCES

- Blakemore S, Robbins TW. Decision-making in the adolescent brain. Nat Neurosci. 2012;(August):1184–91.
- Blakemore S, Burnett S, Dahl RE. The role of puberty in the developing adolescent brain. Hum Brain Mapp. 2010;933:926–33.
- 3. Steinberg L. Adolescence. 9th Editio. New York: McGraw-Hill; 2010.
- Albert D, Chein J, Steinberg L. Peer Influences on Adolescent Decision Making. Curr Dir Psychol Sci [Internet]. 2013;22(2):114–20. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=4276317&tool=p mcentrez&rendertype=abstract
- Coakley J. Youth Sports: What counts as "positive development"? J Sport Soc issues. 2011;35(3):306–24.
- Department for Education, Department for Digital Culture Media and Sport, Department of Health and Social Care. School Sport and Activity Action Plan. London; 2019.
- World Health Organization (WHO). Global action plan on physical activity 2018–2030: more active people for a healthier world. Geneva: World Health Organization. 2018.
- World Health Organisation (WHO). Global recommendations on physical activity for health. 2010;
- 9. World Health Organization. WHO Guidelines on physical activity and sedentary behaviour [Internet]. World Health Organization. 2020. 104 p. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/325147/WHO-NMH-PND-2019.4eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y%0Ahttp://www.who.int/iris/handle/10665/325147
- Bull FC, Al-Ansari SS, Biddle S, Borodulin K, Buman MP, Cardon G, et al.
 World Health Organization 2020 guidelines on physical activity and sedentary

behaviour. Br J Sports Med. 2020;54(24):1451-62.

- 11. Ploeg HP Van Der, Hillsdon M. Is sedentary behaviour just physical inactivity by another name ? 2017;1–8.
- World Health Organization (WHO). What is moderate-to-vigorous physical activity? [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2020 Jan 16]. Available from: https://www.who.int/dietphysicalactivity/physical_activity_intensity/en/
- Department of Health and Social Care, Welsh Government, Department of Health: An Roinn Slainte, Scottish Government. UK Chief Medical Officers' Physical Activity Guidelines. GOV.uk. 2019;(September).
- Dumith SC, Gigante DP, Domingues MR, Iii HWK. Physical activity change during adolescence : a systematic review and a pooled analysis. 2011;(January):685–98.
- Department of Health. Physical activity guidelines for children and young people (5-18 years). 2011;11:406–14.
- Brophy S, Crowley A, Mistry R, Hill R, Choudhury S, Thomas NE, et al. Recommendations to improve physical activity among teenagers--a qualitative study with ethnic minority and European teenagers. BMC Public Health. 2011;11:412–25.
- 17. Jago R, Edwards MJ, Sebire SJ, Cooper AR, Powell JE, Bird EL, et al. Bristol girls dance project (BGDP): protocol for a cluster randomised controlled trial of an after-school dance programme to increase physical activity among 11-12 year old girls. BMC Public Health. 2013;13:1003.
- van Sluijs EMF, Kriemler S. Reflections on physical activity intervention research in young people - dos, don'ts, and critical thoughts. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2016;13(1):25–31.
- 19. Rangul V, Bauman A, Holmen TL, Midthjell K. Is physical activity maintenance from adolescence to young adulthood associated with reduced CVD risk factors, improved mental health and satisfaction with life: The HUNT Study, Norway. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2012;9:1–11.
- 20. McMurray RG. Insights into physical activity and cardiovascular disease risk

in young children: IDEFICS study. BMC Med [Internet]. 2013;11(1):1–4. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3728112&tool=p mcentrez&rendertype=abstract

- Oliveira–Santos J, Santos R, Moreira C, Abreu S, Lopes L, Agostinis– Sobrinho C, et al. Associations between anthropometric indicators in early life and low-grade inflammation, insulin resistance and lipid profile in adolescence. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis [Internet]. 2019;29(8):783–92. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.numecd.2019.05.052
- Baker C. Obesity statistics (Briefing paper, Number 3336). House Commons Libr [Internet]. 2019;1(3336):1–18. Available from: https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/sn03336/
- OECD Health Statistics. Obesity update. Diabetologe [Internet].
 2017;13(5):331–41. Available from: www.oecd.org/health/obesity-update.htm
- 24. Health Social Care and Sport Committee. Physical Activity of Children and Young People. Natl Assem Wales. 2019;
- Wainwright N, Goodway J, Whitehead M, Williams A, Kirk D. Laying the foundations for physical literacy in Wales: the contribution of the Foundation Phase to the development of physical literacy. Phys Educ Sport Pedagog. 2018;23(4):431–44.
- 26. Welsh Government. Creating a play friendly Wales. Cardiff; 2012.
- 27. Welsh Government. Wales: A play friendly country. Cardiff; 2014.
- 28. Holt N. Positive Youth Development. Second Edi. London: Routledge; 2016.
- 29. Unicef. The United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC). Unicef [Internet]. 2019; Available from: https://downloads.unicef.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2016/08/unicef-convention-rights-childuncrc.pdf?_ga=2.110906055.398902239.1593171870-785006455.1593171870
- Barcley M. Older children play too. Play Wales [Internet]. 2019;1(1).
 Available from:

https://issuu.com/playwales/docs/older_children_play_too?e=5305098/676099 35

- Foster, David. Physical education, physical activity and sport in schools. House Commons Libr. 2019;(6836).
- 32. Department for Education. Evidence on physical education and sport in schools [Internet]. London; 2013. Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/ 226505/Evidence_on_physical_education_and_sport_in_schools.pdf
- 33. Department for Education, Department for Digital Culture Media and Sport, Department of Health and Social Care. School sport and activity action plan [Internet]. London; 2019. Available from: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/at tachment_data/file/848082/School_sport_and_activity_action_plan.pdf
- Sport Wales. Physical Education and Sport Education Evidence Paper.
 2015;1–25. Available from: http://sport.wales/media/1923315/education evidence paper 2015.pdf
- 35. Welsh Government. Our national mission: A transformational curriculum [Internet]. Cardiff; 2019. Available from: https://ico.org.uk/%0Ahttps://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2019-01/consultation-document-transformational-curriculum.pdf
- 36. Welsh Government. Draft statutory guidance for area of learning and experience: Health and wellbeing. Cardiff; 2019.
- 37. Cooper AR, Goodman A, Page AS, Sherar LB, Esliger DW, van Sluijs EM, et al. Objectively measured physical activity and sedentary time in youth: the International children's accelerometry database (ICAD). Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act [Internet]. 2015;12(1):113. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12966-015-0274-5
- Welsh Government. Health behaviour in school-aged children Wales: Key findings. 2015.
- 39. Stratton G, Edwards L, Tyler R. Active Healthy Kids (AHK) Wales Report

[Internet]. Vol. Paper 4, Health, Social Care and Sport Committee. Swansea;2018. Available from: http://senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s76266/ActiveHealthy Kids Wales 2018 Report.pdf

- Pate RR, Mitchell JA, Byun W, Dowda M. Sedentary behaviour in youth. Br J Sports Med. 2011;45:906–13.
- 41. Telford RM, Telford RD, Olive LS, Cochrane T. Why Are Girls Less Physically Active than Boys ? Findings from the LOOK Longitudinal Study. 2016;1–11.
- 42. Okely AD, Lubans DR, Morgan PJ, Cotton W, Peralta L, Miller J, et al. Promoting physical activity among adolescent girls: The Girls in Sport group randomized trial. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2017;14(1):1–13.
- Hallal PC, Andersen LB, Bull FC, Guthold R, Haskell W, Ekelund U, et al. Global physical activity levels: Surveillance progress, pitfalls, and prospects. Lancet [Internet]. 2012;380(9838):247–57. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60646-1
- 44. Owen MB, Curry WB, Kerner C, Newson L, Fairclough SJ. The effectiveness of school-based physical activity interventions for adolescent girls: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Prev Med (Baltim) [Internet]. 2017;105(September):237–49. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2017.09.018
- Stratton G, Edwards L, Tyler R. Active Healthy Kids Wales 2018 Report. 2018;(5).
- 46. Public Health Wales, Sport Wales. Getting Wales Moving. 2017; Available from: http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/888/Getting Wales Moving V1.pdf
- 47. Government W. Wellbeing of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015. 2015;
- 48. National Assembly for Wales. Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013.
 2013;2013(January). Available from: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2013/7/pdfs/anaw_20130007_en.pdf
- 49. Sport Wales. A vision for sport in Wales. Cardiff; 2019.

- 50. Sport Wales. School Sport Survey. Cardiff; 2018.
- 51. Ltd UR and CS. Sport Wales' Young People Programmes Review. 2019.
- Hopkins P. Young people's spaces. In: Children and young people's spaces. The Open University; 2011.
- Jago R, Baranowski T, Harris M. Relationships Between GIS Environmental Features and Adolescent Male Physical Activity: GIS Coding Differences. J Phys Act Heal. 2016;3(2):230–42.
- 54. Mitchell CA, Clark AF, Gilliland JA. Built environment influences of children's physical activity: Examining differences by neighbourhood size and sex. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2016;13(1).
- 55. Davison K, Lawson C. Do attributes in the physical environment influence children's physical activity? A review of literature. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2006;3(19):1–17.
- 56. Browning M, Lee K. Within what distance does "greenness" best predict physical health? A systematic review of articles with gis buffer analyses across the lifespan. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2017;14(7):1–21.
- 57. Loebach J, Gilliland J. Neighbourhood play on the endangered list: examining patterns in children's local activity and mobility using GPS monitoring and qualitative GIS. Child Geogr. 2016;14(5):573–89.
- 58. Wridt P. A qualitative gis approach to mapping urban neighborhoods with children to promote physical activity and child-friendly community planning. Environ Plan B Plan Des. 2010;37(1):129–47.
- Giles-Corti B. People or places: What should be the target? J Sci Med Sport. 2006;9(5):357–66.
- Naidoo J, Wills J. Foundations for Health Promotion. 4th Editio. London: Elsevier; 2016.
- 61. World Health Organisation. Types of Healthy Settings [Internet]. Who. 2010
 [cited 2020 Jan 21]. Available from: https://www.who.int/healthy_settings/types/cities/en/

- 62. Bronfenbrenner U. Ecological models of human development. Readings Dev Child. 1994;2:37–43.
- 63. Mehtälä MAK, Sääkslahti AK, Inkinen ME, Poskiparta MEH. A socioecological approach to physical activity interventions in childcare: A systematic review. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2014;11(1).
- 64. Tehrani H, Majlessi F, Shojaeizadeh D, Sadeghi R, Kabootarkhani MH. Applying socioecological model to improve women's physical activity: A randomized control trial. Iran Red Crescent Med J. 2016;18(2).
- 65. Christian D, Todd C, Hill R, Rance J, Mackintosh K, Stratton G, et al. Active children through incentive vouchers – evaluation (ACTIVE): a mixed-method feasibility study. BMC Public Health. 2016;16(1):890–903.
- 66. McCrorie PRW, Fenton C, Ellaway A. Combining GPS, GIS, and accelerometry to explore the physical activity and environment relationship in children and young people: A review. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2014;11(1):1–14.
- James M, Todd C, Scott S, Stratton G, Mccoubrey S, Christian D, et al. Teenage recommendations to improve physical activity for their age group : a qualitative study. BMC Public Health. 2018;18(372):1–9.
- Charlton R, Gravenor MB, Rees A, Knox G, Hill R, Rahman MA, et al. Factors associated with low fitness in adolescents: A mixed methods study. BMC Public Health. 2014;14(1):764–77.
- James ML, Christian D, Scott SC, Todd CE, Stratton G, Demmler J, et al. Active Children Through Individual Vouchers Evaluation: A Mixed-Method RCT. Am J Prev Med [Internet]. 2020;58(2):232–43. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2019.10.005
- Brockman R, Jago R, Fox KR, Thompson JL, Cartwright K, Page AS. "Get off the sofa and go and play": family and socioeconomic influences on the physical activity of 10-11 year old children. BMC Public Health. 2009;9(253):253–60.
- 71. Kirby J, Levin KA, Inchley J. Socio-Environmental influences on physical

activity among young people: A qualitative study. Health Educ Res. 2013;28(6):954–69.

- 72. Shin DW, Yun JM, Shin J-H, Kwon H, Min HY, Joh H-K, et al. Enhancing physical activity and reducing obesity through smartcare and financial incentives: A pilot randomized trial. Obesity [Internet]. 2017;25(2):302–10. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/oby.21731
- Lawlor DA, Jago R, Noble SM, Chittleborough CR, Campbell R, Mytton J, et al. The Active for Life Year 5 (AFLY5) school based cluster randomised controlled trial: Study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. Trials. 2011;12:181–204.
- 74. Kipping RR, Howe LD, Jago R, Campbell R, Wells S, Mytton J, et al. Effect of an intervention aimed at increasing physical activity, reducing sedentary behaviour, and increasing fruit and vegetable consumption in children : Active for Life Year 5 (AFLY5) school based cluster randomised controlled trial. BMJ. 2014;348:1–13.
- 75. Borde R, Smith JJ, Sutherland R, Nathan N, Lubans DR. Methodological considerations and impact of school-based interventions on objectively measured physical activity in adolescents: A systematic review and metaanalysis. Obs Res. 2017;(10):476–90.
- Finkelstein EA, Tan Y-T, Malhotra R, Lee C-F, Goh S-S, Saw S-M. A cluster randomized controlled trial of an incentive-based outdoor physical activity program. J Pediatr. 2013;163(1):167–72.
- Percy-Smith B. "You think you know? ... You have no idea": Youth participation in health policy development. Health Educ Res. 2007;22(6):879–94.
- 78. Degeling C, Carter SM, Rychetnik L. Which public and why deliberate? A scoping review of public deliberation in public health and health policy research. Soc Sci Med [Internet]. 2015;131:114–21. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0277953615001458
- 79. Hubbard G, Kidd L, Donaghy E, McDonald C, Kearney N. A review of

literature about involving people affected by cancer in research, policy and planning and practice. Patient Educ Couns. 2007;65(1):21–33.

- 80. Corder K, Atkin AJ, Ekelund U, van Sluijs EMF. What do adolescents want in order to become more active? BMC Public Health [Internet]. 2013;13(1):1–10. Available from:
 http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3750243&tool=p mcentrez&rendertype=abstract
- 81. Carlin A, Murphy MH, Gallagher AM. Current influences and approaches to promote future physical activity in 11-13 year olds: A focus group study Energy balance-related behaviors. BMC Public Health [Internet].
 2015;15(1):1–12. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12889-015-2601-9
- Kehm R, Davey CS, Nanney MS. The Role of Family and Community Involvement in the Development and Implementation of School Nutrition. J Sch Health. 2015;85(2):90–9.
- Jacquez F, Vaughn LM, Wagner E. Youth as Partners, Participants or Passive Recipients : A Review of Children and Adolescents in Community-Based Participatory Research (CBPR). 2013;176–89.
- Ryan R, Deci E. Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. Am Psychol. 2000;55(1):68–78.
- 85. Owen KB, Smith J, Lubans DR, Ng JYY, Lonsdale C. Self-determined motivation and physical activity in children and adolescents: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Prev Med (Baltim) [Internet]. 2014;67:270–9. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2014.07.033
- 86. Verloigne M, De Bourdeaudhuij I, Tanghe A, D'Hondt E, Theuwis L, Vansteenkiste M, et al. Self-determined motivation towards physical activity in adolescents treated for obesity: An observational study. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act [Internet]. 2011;8:no pagination-no pagination. Available from: http://www.ijbnpa.org/content/8/1/97%5Cnhttp://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cg i?T=JS&PAGE=reference&D=emed10&NEWS=N&AN=2011557602%5Cnh

ttps://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-80052854895&partnerID=40&md5=c6f83aeff2c57cd6e4f96bfbfba2c168

- 87. Owen KB, Astell-Burt T, Lonsdale C. The relationship between selfdetermined motivation and physical activity in adolescent boys. J Adolesc Heal [Internet]. 2013;53(3):420–2. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2013.05.007
- Bronfenbrenner U. Ecological models of human development. Readings Dev Child. 1994;2:37–43.
- Gorard S. Who is eligible for free school meals? Characterising free school meals as a measure of disadvantage in England. Br Educ Res J. 2012;38(6):1003–17.
- 90. Welsh Government. Area analysis of child deprivation. Stat Wales. 2014;1–
 44.
- Glasgow RE, Vogt TM, Boles SM. Evaluating the public health impact of health promotion interventions: the RE-AIM framework. Am J Public Heal. 1999;89(9):1322–7.
- 92. James M, Christian D, Scott S, Todd C, Stratton G, McCoubrey S, et al. Active children through individual vouchers – evaluation (ACTIVE): protocol for a mixed method randomised control trial to increase physical activity levels in teenagers. BMC Public Health. 2018;18(7):1–8.
- 93. Harland J, White M, Drinkwater C, Chinn D, Farr L, Howel D. The Newcastle exercise project: A randomised controlled trial of methods to promote physical activity in primary care. Gen Pract. 1999;319(7213):828–32.
- 94. Cuffe HE, Harbaugh WT, Lindo JM, Musto G, Waddell GR. Evidence on the efficacy of school-based incentives for healthy living. Natl Bur Econ Res [Internet]. 2011; Available from: http://www.nber.org/papers/w17478%0ANATIONAL
- 95. Patel MS, Volpp KG, Rosin R, Bellamy SL, Small DS, Fletcher MA, et al. A randomised trial of social comparison feedback and financial incentives to increase physical activity. Am J Heal Promot. 2016;30(6):416–24.

- 96. De la Haye K, Robins G, Mohr P, Wilson C. How physical activity shapes, and is shaped by, adolescent friendships. Soc Sci Med [Internet].
 2011;73(5):719–28. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.06.023
- 97. Denton SJ, Trenell MI, Plötz T, Savory LA, Bailey DP, Kerr CJ. Cardiorespiratory fitness is associated with hard and light intensity physical activity but not time spent sedentary in 10-14 year old schoolchildren: The HAPPY study. PLoS One. 2013;8(4):1–7.
- Rowlands A V., Thomas PWM, Eston RG, Topping R. Validation of the RT3 triaxial accelerometer for the assessment of physical activity. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2004;36(3):518–24.
- 99. Daniel Harris, BA, Lynn McNicoll, MD, Gary Epstein-Lubow, MD, and Kali S. Thomas P. Participation in vigorous sports, not moderate sports, is positively associated with cardiorespiratory fitness among adolescent girls. Physiol Behav. 2017;176(1):139–48.
- Das C, Lucia MS HK and TJ. Multilevel Correlates of Physical Activity for Early, Mid, and Late Adolescent Girls. Physiol Behav. 2017;176(3):139–48.
- 101. Boone-Heinonen J, Popkin BM, Song Y, Gordon-Larsen P. What neighborhood area captures built environment features related to adolescent physical activity? Heal Place [Internet]. 2010;16(6):1280–6. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2010.06.015
- Rodríguez DA, Cho GH, Evenson KR, Conway TL, Cohen D, Ghosh-Dastidar B, et al. Out and about: Association of the built environment with physical activity behaviors of adolescent females. Heal Place. 2012;18(1):55–62.
- 103. Villa-González E, Ruiz JR, Chillón P. Associations between active commuting to school and health-related physical fitness in spanish schoolaged children: A cross-sectional study. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2015;12(9):10362–73.
- 104. Wheeler BW, Cooper AR, Page AS, Jago R. Greenspace and children's physical activity: A GPS/GIS analysis of the PEACH project. Prev Med

(Baltim) [Internet]. 2010;51(2):148–52. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2010.06.001

- 105. Jonsson L, Larsson C, Berg C, Korp P, Lindgren EC. What undermines healthy habits with regard to physical activity and food? Voices of adolescents in a disadvantaged community. Int J Qual Stud Health Well-being [Internet]. 2017;12(1). Available from: https://doi.org/10.1080/17482631.2017.1333901
- 106. Ashton LM, Hutchesson MJ, Rollo ME, Morgan PJ, Thompson DI, Collins CE. Young adult males' motivators and perceived barriers towards eating healthily and being active: A qualitative study. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act [Internet]. 2015;12(1):1–10. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12966-015-0257-6
- 107. Wetton AR, Radley R, Jones AR, Pearce MS. What are the barriers which discourage 15-16 year-old girls from participating in team sports and how can we overcome them? Biomed Res Int. 2013;2013:1–8.
- 108. Withall J, Jago R, Fox KR. Why some do but most don't. Barriers and enablers to engaging low-income groups in physical activity programmes: A mixed methods study. BMC Public Health. 2011;11.
- Dias DF, Loch MR, Ronque ERV. Perceived barriers to leisure-time physical activity and associated factors in adolescents. Cienc e Saude Coletiva. 2015;20(11):3339–50.
- Morgan K, Hallingberg B, Littlecott H, Murphy S, Fletcher A, Roberts C, et al. Predictors of physical activity and sedentary behaviours among 11-16 year olds: Multilevel analysis of the 2013 Health Behaviour in School-aged Children (HBSC) study in Wales. BMC Public Health [Internet].
 2016;16(1):1–10. Available from: http://bmcpublichealth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12889-016-3213-8
- 111. Baceviciene M, Jankauskiene R, Emeljanovas A. Self-perception of physical activity and fitness is related to lower psychosomatic health symptoms in adolescents with unhealthy lifestyles. BMC Public Health. 2019;19(1):1–11.

- Brockman R, Jago R, Fox KR. Children's active play: Self-reported motivators, barriers and facilitators. BMC Public Health. 2011;11(461):1–7.
- 113. Jodkowska, M., Mazur, J., Oblacińska A. Perceived barriers to physical activity among polish adolescents. Department of Child and Adolescent Health Institute of Mother and Child in Warsaw. Natl Inst Public Heal – Natl Inst Hyg. 2015;69(April):73–8.
- 114. Gillison FB, Standage M, Skevington SM. Motivation and body-related factors as discriminators of change in adolescents' exercise behavior profiles. J Adolesc Heal [Internet]. 2011;48(1):44–51. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2010.05.006
- 115. Duncan MJ, Eyre ELJ, Bryant E, Seghers J, Galbraith N, Nevill AM. Autonomous motivation mediates the relation between goals for physical activity and physical activity behavior in adolescents. J Health Psychol. 2017;22(5):595–604.
- 116. van den Berg V, Vos EE, de Groot RHM, Singh AS, Chinapaw MJM. Untapped resources: 10-to 13-year-old primary schoolchildren's views on additional physical activity in the school setting: A focus group study. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2018;15(12):1–21.
- 117. Corder K, Schiff A, Kesten JM, Van Sluijs EMF. Development of a universal approach to increase physical activity among adolescents: The GoActive intervention. BMJ Open. 2015;5(8):1–12.
- 118. Kinsman J, Norris SA, Kahn K, Twine R, Riggle K, Edin K, et al. A model for promoting physical activity among rural South African adolescent girls. Glob Health Action. 2015;8:1–15.
- Mitchell F, Gray S, Inchley J. 'This choice thing really works ... ' Changes in experiences and engagement of adolescent girls in physical education classes, during a school-based physical activity programme. Phys Educ Sport Pedagog [Internet]. 2015;20(6):593–611. Available from: http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17408989.2013.837433
- 120. Whooten RC, Perkins ME, Gerber MW, Taveras EM. Effects of before-school

physical activity on obesity prevention and wellness. Am J Prev Med [Internet]. 2018;54(4):510–8. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2018.01.017

- 121. Jenkinson KA, Naughton G, Benson AC. The GLAMA (Girls! Lead! Achieve! Mentor! Activate!) physical activity and peer leadership intervention pilot project: A process evaluation using the RE-AIM framework. BMC Public Health [Internet]. 2012;12(1):55. Available from: http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2458/12/55
- 122. Ho FKW, Louie LHT, Hing-Sang Wong W, Chan KL, Tiwari A, Chow CB, et al. A sports-based youth development program, teen mental health, and physical fitness: An RCT. Pediatrics. 2017;140(4).
- 123. Andrade S, Lachat C, Ochoa-Aviles A, Verstraeten R, Huybregts L, Roberfroid D, et al. A school-based intervention improves physical fitness in Ecuadorian adolescents: A cluster-randomized controlled trial. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2014;11(1).
- 124. Jurak G, Cooper A, Leskošek B, Kovač M. Long-term effects of 4-year longitudinal school-based physical activity intervention on the physical fitness of children and youth during 7-year follow-up assessment. Cent Eur J Public Health [Internet]. 2013;21(4):190–5. Available from: https://doi.org/10.21101/cejph.a3823
- 125. Carlin A, Murphy MH, Nevill A, Gallagher AM. Effects of a peer-led Walking In ScHools intervention (the WISH study) on physical activity levels of adolescent girls: A cluster randomised pilot study. Trials. 2018;19(1):1–12.
- 126. Jago R, Edwards MJ, Sebire SJ, Bird EL, Tomkinson K, Kesten JM, et al. Bristol Girls Dance Project: a cluster randomised controlled trial of an afterschool dance programme to increase physical activity among 11- to 12-yearold girls. Public Heal Res. 2016;4(6):1–176.
- 127. Sebire SJ, Jago R, Banfield K, Edwards MJ, Campbell R, Kipping R, et al. Results of a feasibility cluster randomised controlled trial of a peer-led schoolbased intervention to increase the physical activity of adolescent girls (PLAN-A). Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2018;15(50):1–13.

- 128. Hollingworth W, Cohen D, Hawkins J, Hughes RA, Moore LAR, Holliday JC, et al. Reducing smoking in adolescents: Cost-effectiveness results from the cluster randomized assist (a stop smoking in schools trial). Nicotine Tob Res. 2012;14(2):161–8.
- 129. Corder K, Brown HE, Schiff A, Van Sluijs EMF. Feasibility study and pilot cluster-randomised controlled trial of the GoActive intervention aiming to promote physical activity among adolescents: outcomes and lessons learnt. BMJ Open [Internet]. 2016;6:1–14. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-012335
- Evenson KR, Catellier DJ, Gill K, Ondrak KS, McMurray RG. Calibration of two objective measures of physical activity for children. J Sports Sci. 2008;26(14):1557–65.
- 131. Audrey S, Cordall K, Moore L, Cohen D, Campbell R. The development and implementation of a peer-led intervention to prevent smoking among secondary school students using their established social networks. Health Educ J. 2004;63(3):266–84.
- 132. Adam C. No TitEurofit: handbook for the Eurofit tests of physical fitness [Internet]. Rome: Italian National Olympic Committee Central Direction for Sport's Technical Activities Documentation and Information Division; 1988. Available from: https://www.worldcat.org/title/eurofit-handbook-for-theeurofit-tests-of-physical-fitness/oclc/220873788
- 133. Jong ST, Croxson CHD, Guell C, Lawlor ER, Foubister C, Brown HE, et al. Adolescents' perspectives on a school-based physical activity intervention: A mixed method study. J Sport Heal Sci. 2020;9(1):28–40.
- 134. Pearce K, Dollman J. Healthy for life pilot study: A multicomponent school and home based physical activity intervention for disadvantaged children. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2019;16(16):1–19.
- 135. Borawski EA, Jones SD, Yoder LD, Taylor T, Clint BA, Goodwin MA, et al. We run this city: Impact of a community-school fitness program on obesity, health, and fitness. Prev Chronic Dis. 2018;15(5):1–12.

- 136. Short KR, Chadwick JQ, Cannady TK, Branam DE, Wharton DF, Tullier MA, et al. Using financial incentives to promote physical activity in American Indian adolescents: A randomized controlled trial. PLoS One. 2018;13(6):1–20.
- 137. Patel MS, Volpp KG, Rosin R, Bellamy SL, Small DS, Fletcher MA, et al. A Randomized Trial of Social Comparison Feedback and Financial Incentives to Increase Physical Activity. Am J Heal Promot. 2016;30(6):416–24.
- Fennell C, Gerhart H, Seo Y, Hauge K, Glickman EL. Combined incentives versus no-incentive exercise programs on objectively measured physical activity and health-related variables. Physiol Behav [Internet]. 2016;163:245– 50. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2016.05.030
- Moller AC, Buscemi J, McFadden HG, Hedeker D, Spring B. Financial motivation undermines potential enjoyment in an intensive diet and activity intervention. J Behav Med. 2013;37(5):819–27.
- 140. O'Cathain A, Hoddinott P, Lewin S, Thomas KJ, Young B, Adamson J, et al. Maximising the impact of qualitative research in feasibility studies for randomised controlled trials: Guidance for researchers. Pilot Feasibility Stud. 2015;1(1):1–13.
- 141. Jones I. Research Methods for Sports Studies. 3rd Editio. London: Routledge; 2015. 344 p.
- 142. Statistics for Wales. Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation. 2011;1–5.Available from: www.wales.gov.uk/statistics
- Daniel J. Sampling: the foundation of good research. In: Guest G, Namey E, editors. Public Health Research Methods. London: Sage; 2015. p. 511–52.
- 144. Sebire SJ, Banfield K, Jago R, Edwards MJ, Campbell R, Kipping R, et al. A process evaluation of the PLAN-A intervention (Peer-Led physical Activity iNtervention for Adolescent girls). BMC Public Health. 2019;19(1):1–13.
- 145. Riddoch CJ, Mattocks CG, Deere K, Saunders J, Kirkby J, Tilling K, et al. Objective measurement of levels and patterns of physical activity. Arch Dis Child [Internet]. 2007;92(11):963–9. Available from:

http://adc.bmj.com/cgi/content/abstract/adc.2006.112136v1 http://adc.bmj.com/cgi/reprint/92/11/963.pdf%5Cnhttp://www.pubmedcentral. nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2083612&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype=abstra ct%5Cnhttp://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17855437

- 146. Starkey F, Audrey S, Holliday J, Moore L, Campbell R. Identifying influential young people to undertake effective peer-led health promotion: The example of A Stop Smoking in Schools Trial (ASSIST). Health Educ Res. 2009;24(6):977–88.
- 147. Vaterlaus JM, Barnett K, Roche C, Young JA. "snapchat is more personal": An exploratory study on Snapchat behaviors and young adult interpersonal relationships. Comput Human Behav [Internet]. 2016;62:594–601. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2016.04.029
- 148. Piwek L, Joinson A. "What do they snapchat about?" Patterns of use in timelimited instant messaging service. Comput Human Behav [Internet].
 2016;54:358–67. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2015.08.026
- 149. Bandyopadhyay A. Validity of Cooper's 12-minute run test for estimation of maximum oxygen uptake in male university students. Biol Sport. 2015;32(1):59–63.
- 150. Calders P, Deforche B, Verschelde S, Bouckaert J, Chevalier F, Bassle E, et al. Predictors of 6-minute walk test and 12-minute walk/run test in obese children and adolescents. Eur J Pediatr. 2008;167(5):563–8.
- 151. Mayorga-Vega D, Bocanegra-Parrilla R, Ornelas M, Viciana J. Criterionrelated validity of the distance- and time-based walk/run field tests for estimating cardiorespiratory fitness: A systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2016;11(3):1–24.
- 152. Cooper KH. A means of assessing maximal oxygen intake. JAMA. 1968;203(3):201–4.
- Crouter SE, Flynn JI, Basset DR. Estimating physical activity in youth using a wrist accelerometer. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2015;47(5):944–51.
- 154. Sutherland R, Campbell E, Lubans DR, Morgan PJ, Okely AD, Nathan N, et

al. A cluster randomised trial of a school-based intervention to prevent decline in adolescent physical activity levels: Study protocol for the "Physical Activity 4 Everyone" trial. BMC Public Health. 2013;13:57–67.

- 155. Fairclough SJ, Noonan R, Rowlands A V., Van Hees V, Knowles Z, Boddy LM. Wear compliance and activity in children wearing wrist- and hipmounted accelerometers. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2016;48(2):245–53.
- 156. Rich C, Geraci M, Griffiths L, Sera F, Dezateux C, Cortina-Borja M. Quality Control Methods in Accelerometer Data Processing: Defining Minimum Wear Time. PLoS One. 2013;8(6):1–8.
- 157. Chandler JL, Brazendale K, Beets MW, Mealing BA. Classification of physical activity intensities using a wrist-worn accelerometer in 8-12-year-old children. Pediatr Obes. 2015;11(2):120–7.
- 158. Verloigne M, De Bourdeaudhuij I, Tanghe A, D'Hondt E, Theuwis L, Vansteenkiste M, et al. Self-determined motivation towards physical activity in adolescents treated for obesity: An observational study. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act [Internet]. 2011;8(1):97. Available from: http://www.ijbnpa.org/content/8/1/97
- 159. Murcia JAM, Gimeno EC, Camacho AM. Measuring self-determination motivation in a physical fitness ... J Sports Med Phys Fitness. 2007;3(47):366– 74.
- Scarapicchia TMF, Sabiston CM, O'Loughlin E, Brunet J, Chaiton M,
 O'Loughlin JL. Physical activity motivation mediates the association between depression symptoms and moderate-to-vigorous physical activity. Prev Med (Baltim) [Internet]. 2014;66:45–8. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2014.05.017
- Gillison F, Sebire S, Standage M. What motivates girls to take up exercise during adolescence? Learning from those who succeed. Br J Health Psychol. 2012;17(3):536–50.
- 162. Pickering TG, Hall JE, Appel LJ, Falkner BE, Graves JW, Hill MN, et al. Recommendations for blood pressure measurement in humans: An AHA

scientific statement from the Council on high blood pressure research professional and public education subcommittee. J Cinical Hypertens. 2005;7(2):102–9.

- 163. Laurent S, Cockcroft J, Van Bortel L, Boutouyrie P, Giannattasio C, Hayoz D, et al. Expert consensus document on arterial stiffness: Methodological issues and clinical applications. Eur Heart J. 2006;27(21):2588–605.
- 164. The Administrative Data Liaison Service. The Secure Anonymised Information Linkage Databank (SAIL) [Internet]. 2017. Available from: http://www.adls.ac.uk/find-administrative-data/linked-administrativedata/linkage-of-administrative-datasets/
- 165. James M, Christian D, Scott S, Todd C, Stratton G, Demmler J, et al. Predictors of cardiovascular health in teenagers (aged 13-14 years): A crosssectional study linked with routine data. Open Hear. 2019;6(2):1–7.
- 166. Chirinos JA, Zambrano JP, Chakko S, Veerani A, Schob A, Willens HJ, et al. Aortic pressure augmentation predicts adverse cardiovascular events in patients with established coronary artery disease. Hypertension. 2005;45(5):980–5.
- Stoner L, Lambrick DM, Westrupp N, Young J, Faulkner J. Validation of sscillometric pulse wave analysis measurements in children. 2014;27(June):865–72.
- 168. Pierce GL, Zhu H, Darracott K, Edet I, Bhagatwala J, Huang Y, et al. Arterial stiffness and pulse-pressure amplification in overweight/obese African-American Adolescents: Relation with higher systolic and pulse pressure. Am J Hypertens. 2013;26(1):20–6.
- 169. Oliveira-Santos J, Santos R, Moreira C, Abreu S, Lopes L, Agostinis-Sobrinho C, et al. Associations between anthropometric indicators in early life and low-grade inflammation, insulin resistance and lipid profile in adolescence. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis [Internet]. 2019;29(8):783–92. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.numecd.2019.05.052
- 170. Welsh Government, Natural Resources Wales. Lle A Geo-Portal for Wales

[Internet]. Lle - A Geo-Portal for Wales. 2019. Available from: http://lle.gov.wales/home

- Torrance H. Triangulation, Respondent Validation, and Democratic Participation in Mixed Methods Research. J Mix Methods Res. 2012;6(2):111–23.
- Brown A (Strategy A. Conducting focus groups with children and young people: Strategies for success. J Res Nurs. 2010;12(5):1–31.
- 173. Lyons RA, Jones KH, John G, Brooks CJ, Verplancke P, Ford D V, et al. BMC Medical Informatics and The SAIL databank : linking multiple health and social care datasets. 2009;8:1–8.
- Thomas JR, Nelson JK, Stephen J. Research methods in physical activity. 7th Editio. United States: Human Kinetics; 2015.
- 175. Eyre ELJ, Duncan MJ, Birch SL, Cox VM. Low socio-economic environmental determinants of children's physical activity in Coventry, UK: A Qualitative study in parents. Prev Med Reports. 2014;1:32–42.
- 176. Saunders B, Sim J, Kingstone T, Baker S, Waterfield J, Bartlam B, et al. Saturation in qualitative research: exploring its conceptualization and operationalization. Qual Quant. 2017;1–15.
- 177. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol. 2006;3(2):77–101.
- Braun V, Clarke V. What can "thematic analysis" offer health and wellbeing researchers? Int J Qual Stud Health Well-being. 2014;9:9–10.
- 179. Sterdt E, Liersch S, Walter U. Correlates of physical activity of children and adolescents: A systematic review of reviews. Health Educ J [Internet].
 2013;73(1):1–18. Available from: http://hej.sagepub.com/cgi/doi/10.1177/0017896912469578
- 180. James M, Christian D, Scott S, Todd C, Stratton G, Demmler J, et al. What works best when implementing a physical activity intervention for teenagers? Reflections from the ACTIVE Project: A qualitative study. BMJ Open. 2019;9(5):1–7.

- Filippidis FT, Laverty AA. Perceptions of opportunities for physical activity in 28 European countries. Prev Med (Baltim). 2016;86:136–40.
- 182. Garcia JM, Sirard JR, Deutsch NL, Weltman A. The influence of friends and psychosocial factors on physical activity and screen time behavior in adolescents: a mixed-methods analysis. J Behav Med. 2016;39(4):610–23.
- 183. Murphy NM, Ni Dhuinn M, Browne PA, ÓRathaille MM. Physical Activity for Bone Health in Inactive Teenage Girls: Is a Supervised, Teacher-Led Program or Self-Led Program Best? J Adolesc Heal. 2006;39(4):508–14.
- 184. British Heart Foundation. CVD statistics: BHF UK factsheet. 2016;
- 185. Wales S. Sport and Active Lifestyles: State of the Nation. 2018.
- 186. Brophy S, Rees A, Knox G, Baker J, Thomas NE. Child fitness and father's BMI are important factors in childhood obesity: A school based crosssectional study. PLoS One. 2012;7(5):1–7.
- Owen CG, Whincup PH, Gilg JA, Cook DG. Effect of breast feeding in infancy on blood pressure in later life: Systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ. 2003;327(November):1–7.
- 188. Sjostrom M, Labayen I, Ruiz J, Ortega F, Loit H, Harro J, et al. Exclusive breastfeeding duration and cardiorespiratory fitness in. Am J Clin Nutr. 2012;95(5):498–505.
- Barclay KJ. Birth order and educational attainment: Evidence from fully adopted sibling groups. Intelligence [Internet]. 2015;48:109–22. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.intell.2014.10.009
- 190. Kirchengast S. Gender Differences in Body Composition from Childhood to Old Age: An Evolutionary Point of View. J Life Sci [Internet]. 2010;2(1):1–10. Available from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/09751270.2010.11885146
- 191. Fjørtoft I, Löfman O, Thorén KH. Schoolyard physical activity in 14-year-old adolescents assessed by mobile GPS and heart rate monitoring analysed by GIS. Scand J Public Health. 2010;38(5_suppl):28–37.

- Jago R, Baranowski T. Non-curricular approaches for increasing physical activity in youth: A review. Prev Med (Baltim). 2004;39(1):157–63.
- 193. Thornton LE. Pearce JR. Kavanagh AM. Using Geographic Information Systems (GIS) to assess the role of the built environment. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2011;8(71):1–9.
- 194. Jago R, Baranowski T, Baranowski JC. Observed, GIS, and self-reported environmental features and adolescent physical activity. Am J Heal Promot. 2006;20(6):422–8.
- 195. Butler EN, Ambs AMH, Reedy J, Bowles HR. Identifying GIS measures of the hysical activity built environment through a review of the literature. J Phys Act Heal. 2016;8(s1):S91–7.
- McNeill L, Emmons K. GIS walking maps to promote physical activity in low-income public housing communities: A qualitative examination. Prev Chronic Dis. 2011;9(9):1–8.
- 197. Mannello M, Connolly M, Dumitrescu S, Ellis C, Haughton C, Sarwar D, et al. Opening the school gates: Facilitating after-school play in school grounds. In: Reed M, Fleet A, editors. Rethinking Play as Pedogogy. London: Routhledge; 2019.
- 198. Dyson A, Kerr K, Bottrill I, Boyd P. Increasing the use of school facilities. Public Policy Inst Wales [Internet]. 2016;1–38. Available from: http://ppiw.org.uk/files/2016/04/Increasing-the-Use-of-School-Facilities-Report.pdf
- 199. Ploeg HP Van Der, Hillsdon M. Is sedentary behaviour just physical inactivity by another name? Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2017;14:1–8.
- 200. Lubans DR, Boreham CA, Kelly P, Foster CE. The relationship between active travel to school and health-related fitness in children and adolescents : a systematic review. 2011;
- 201. Fraser EDG, Dougill AJ, Mabee WE, Reed M, McAlpine P. Bottom up and top down: Analysis of participatory processes for sustainability indicator identification as a pathway to community empowerment and sustainable

environmental management. J Environ Manage. 2006;78(2):114-27.

- 202. Beets MW, Okely A, Weaver RG, Webster C, Lubans D, Brusseau T, et al. The theory of expanded, extended , and enhanced opportunities for youth physical activity promotion. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2016;13:1–15.
- 203. Hammami A, Harrabi B, Mohr M, Krustrup P. Physical activity and coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): Specific recommendations for homebased physical training. Manag Sport Leis [Internet]. 2020;1–6. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1080/23750472.2020.1757494
- 204. HM Government. Our Plan to Rebuild: The UK Government's COVID-19 recovery strategy [Internet]. London; 2020. 1–60 p. Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/our-plan-to-rebuild-the-ukgovernments-covid-19-recovery-strategy/our-plan-to-rebuild-the-ukgovernments-covid-19-recovery-strategy
- 205. Chen P, Mao L, Nassis GP, Harmer P, Ainsworth BE, Li F. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19): The need to maintain regular physical activity while taking precautions. J Sport Heal Sci [Internet]. 2020;9(2):103–4. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jshs.2020.02.001
- 206. Jakobsson J, Malm C, Furberg M, Ekelund U, Svensson M. Physical Activity During the Coronavirus (COVID-19) Pandemic: Prevention of a Decline in Metabolic and Immunological Functions. Front Sport Act Living. 2020;2(April).
- 207. Sallis J, Adlakha D, Oyeyemi A, Salvo D. An international physical activity and public health research agenda to inform coronavirus disease -19 X X policies and practices. J Sport Heal Sci [Internet]. 2020; Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jshs.2020.05.005

Appendix 1 Bronfenbrenner's Socioecological Model



			T		T	r
	Title	Location	Participants	Methods	Results	Conclusion
1. Kinsman et	A model for	South Africa.	51 adolescent girls	Six focus groups	Seven themes were	Themes were
al. (2015)	promoting physical		(aged 13 – 15 and 16	were conducted, and	identified; 1)	synthesized into a
	activity among rural		– 19). Recruited	7 interviews were	poverty, 2) body	model of 'supply'
	South African		from 3 secondary	held with sports	image ideals, 3)	(provision, training,
	adolescent girls.		schools. Schools	teachers and youth	gender, 4) parents	facilities) and
			were selected to	leaders. Data was	and home life, 5)	'demand'
			represent	analysed via	demographic factors,	(empowering
			geographical	thematic analysis.	6) perceived health	messages about
			diversity but fell		effects of physical	body image, more
			within the bottom 2		activity and 7)	parental
			quintiles of		human and	involvement). The
			academic		infrastructural	development of
			performance for		resources. More	physical activity
			schools in the		barriers were	interventions that
			county.		reported than	incorporate this
					facilitators.	supply- and
						demand- side model
						would represent an
						additional tool for
						ongoing efforts
						aimed at tackling

Appendix 2 Literature for review

						the expanding non-
						communicable
						disease.
2. Ashton et	Young adult males'	Australia.	Ten focus groups	Three groups were	Motivators for	This research
al. (2015)	motivators and		(32-63 minutes; 3-9	with healthy	healthy eating	emphasises the
	perceived barriers		participants per	weight participants,	grouped into 4	importance of
	towards eating		group) were	3 with	themes: physical	consulting young
	healthily and being		conducted with 61	overweight/obese	health (e.g. to live	men when
	active: A qualitative		young men.	participants and 4	longer), sport or	developing healthy
	study.			with mixed-BMI	performance (e.g. to	lifestyle programs
				participants.	support their	that aim to promote
				Sessions were	sporting	Physical activity in
				audio recorded,	goals), physical	young men. Future
				transcribed and	appearance (e.g.	research is needed
				then analysed via	sexual attractiveness)	to identify the most
				NVIVO10.	and social influences	effective ways to
					(e.g. societal	address their
					expectations to eat	motivators and
					healthy), while key	barriers in
					motivators for	intervention
					physical activity	research.
					were: physical	
					appearance (e.g.	
					sexual	
					attractiveness), social	
			-		-	
---------------	----------------------	-----------------	-----------------------	-----------------------	------------------------	------------------------
					inclusion (e.g.	
					making friends),	
					physical and mental	
					health (e.g. relieve	
					stress) and	
					improvements for	
					sport or performance	
					(e.g. improve	
					fitness).	
3. Withall et	Why some do but	United Kingdom.	152 physical activity	A mixed method	Participants reported	This study suggests
al. (2011)	most don't. Barriers		session participants	research approach	cost, childcare, lack	that some factors
	and enablers to		in a highly deprived	was adopted to	of time and low	such as cost, the fear
	engaging low-		suburban	guide data collection	awareness as barriers	of 'walking in
	income groups in		neighbourhood.	and analysis. A	to joining activity	alone',
	physical activity			survey,	classes. The need for	accessibility of
	programmes: a			incorporating	support, confidence	facilities, and
	mixed methods			the Motivation for	and competence in	appropriate
	study.			Physical Activity	order to take up	communication
				Measure - Revised	activity was widely	strategies may be of
				(MPAM-R) was	expressed,	particular
				used.	particularly among	importance to
				Semi-structured	women. Once people	increasing
				interviews were also	are active, high	recruitment of low
				conducted with 33	levels	income groups.
				local residents who	of social interaction,	Interventions

		did not participate in	interest and	targeting this group
		activity sessions and	enjoyment are	should consider low
		with 14 activity	associated with	cost sessions and
		session leaders. All	improved levels of	childcare; activities
		interviews were	retention, with	popular with the
		audio-taped,	different types of	target group and
		transcribed verbatim	physical activity	associated with
		and analyzed using	scoring differently	good
		an inductive	on	recruitment and
		thematic approach.	these factors.	retention; sessions
				held at accessible
				times; a focus on
				fun and socialising;
				well- researched
				and designed
				communications
				strategies; targeting
				of friendship
				groups; clearly
				branded beginners'
				sessions, and the
				potential of social
				marketing as
				strategies. The
				evidence presented

						here suggests that
						the current UK
						government
						approach designed
						to 'enable and
						guide people's
						choices' may not
						be sufficient if low-
						income groups are
						to be effectively
						supported in
						changing their
						health behaviours.
4. Jonsson et	What undermines	Sweden.	Adolescents (n =	Embracing an	The analysis	The adolescents'
al. (2011)	healthy habits		53, 12–13 y/o)	interpretive	resulted in two	stories illuminated
	with regard to		were recruited	approach, 10	major themes:	that it is difficult for
	physical activity		from one school	focus- group	(1) the availability	them, within their
	and food? Voices		situated in a	interviews were	of temptations is	environment, to
	of adolescents in a		multicultural	conducted to	large, and support	establish healthy
	disadvantaged		community	produce data for	from the	habits with regard to
	community.		characterized by	the	surroundings is	P.A. and food. To
			low	study. The focus-	limited; and (2)	facilitate the
			S.E.S.	group interviews	norms and demands	adolescents' healthy
				were audio	set the agenda. The	habits, we suggest
				recorded,	adolescents' voices	that support from

				transcribed	illuminate a	family, friends, the
				verbatim, and	profound awareness	school, and society
				analysed using	and the magnitude	at large is essential.
				qualitative content	of tempting screen-	
				analysis.	based activities as	
					undermining their	
					P.A. and healthy	
					food habits.	
					Moreover, several	
					gender boundaries	
					were highlighted as	
					undermining girls'	
					P.A. and healthy	
					food habits.	
5. Wetton et	What Are the	United Kingdom.	30 girls from 2	Completed a	Four barriers	Following the
al. (2013)	Barriers Which		high schools.	questionnaire	became prominent	successful summer
	Discourage 15-16			designed	as to why girls in	Olympics and
	Year-Old Girls			specifically for this	this sample do not	Paralympics in the
	from Participating			study, based on	participate: Internal	UK, and the
	in Team Sports			previous research	Factors, Existing	resulting positive
	and How Can We			findings. This was	Stereotypes, Other	focus on some of
	Overcome Them?			piloted in a group	Hobbies and	the nation's female
				of 5 girls not	Teachers. Methods	athletes, a shift in
				included in the	to overcome these	focus may be
				study. Six girls	barriers were	possible. However,

				were selected for a	identified; changing	this needs to be
				short face-to-face	teachers' attitudes	maintained to allow
				semi- structured	and shifting the	girls more
				interview (with	media's focus away	opportunities, role
				ARW), following a	from male sport.	models and
				pilot session with a		motivation to
				girl not included in		participate in sport.
				the study. These		
				were girls who		
				stated they did not		
				participate in		
				extracurricular		
				team sports in their		
				questionnaires;		
				offering the		
				opportunity to		
				explore why in		
				more		
				detail.		
6. van der	Untapped	Netherlands.	Nine focus groups	The aim of our	The results showed	Children have
Berg et al.	Resources: 10- to		(32 girls and 20	qualitative study	that children were	concrete ideas,
(2013)	13-Year-Old		boys) with children	was to gain	enthusiastic about	acknowledging the
	Primary		attending the final	comprehensive	additional PA in	challenges that
	Schoolchildren's		two grades of	insight into 10–13-	school. Children	accompany
	Views on		primary school in	year-old primary	suggested various	integrating

Additional	the Netherlands.	schoolchildren's	ways to increase	additional PA in
Physical Activity		perspectives on	PA, including more	school. We
in the School		how to increase	time	therefore
Setting: A Focus		activity in the	for PA in the	recommend
Group Study.		school setting.	existing	actively involving
			curriculum, e.g.,	children in efforts
			physical education	to increase school-
			(PE), recess, and	based PA and to
			occasional	make "additional
			activities, such as	PA in school" a
			field trips or sports	shared project of
			days; school	teachers and
			playground	students.
			adaptation;	
			improving the	
			content of PE; and	
			implementing	
			short PA breaks	
			and physically	
			active academic	
			lessons.	
			Children	
			emphasized	
			variation and being	
			given a voice in	

1						
					their PA	
					participation as a	
					prerequisite to keep	
					PA enjoyable and	
					interesting in the	
					long term. Finally,	
					children mentioned	
					the role of the	
					teacher and making	
					efforts to	
					accommodate all	
					children and their	
					different	
					preferences	
					as important.	
7.	Self-perception of	Lithuania.	A total of 3284 11-	Self-administered	Female gender,	It is important to
Baceviciene	physical activity		19-year-old	questionnaires	smoking, alcohol	study cognitive
et al. (2019)	and fitness is		adolescents	addressed lifestyle,	consumption,	factors when
	related to		(average	sports	unhealthy foods,	exploring the
	lower		age $14.9 \pm 2.0;$	participation,	hours of internet	associations
	psychosomatic		48.6% male)	physical activity,	use, and poor	between
	health symptoms in		participated in the	physical fitness	personal fitness	adolescent
	adolescents with		population-based	and perceptions.	perception were	lifestyles and
	unhealthy lifestyles.		cross-sectional		associated with	activity. These
	- •		study.		activity in	results are

		adalagaanta Lawan	increations for
		adolescents. Lower	important for
		physical activity	health promotion
		and self- perceived	and education
		insufficient physical	programmes aimed
		activity, perception	at improving
		of physical fitness	healthy lifestyle
		as being poor, and	and psychosocial
		not participating in	well-
		sports were	being in
		associated with	adolescents.
		greater somatic and	
		psychological	
		complaints	
		controlling for age,	
		gender, and BMI.	
		Participation in	
		sports and physical	
		activity did not	
		change PHC in	
		adolescents	
		involved in	
		unhealthy	
		behaviour.	
		However, a positive	
		perception of one's	

					1 • 1	
					own physical	
					activity and	
					physical fitness	
					decreased PHC in	
					adolescents who	
					reported an	
					unhealthy lifestyle.	
8. Morgan et	Predictors of	United Kingdom.	The final sample	Individual-level data	Taking more	Shorter lunch breaks
al. (2016)	physical		comprised 7,376	provided by the	physical	were associated with
	activity and		young people aged	2013/14 cross-	activity (less than 5	increased sedentary
	sedentary		11-16 years across	sectional survey	days vs. 5 or more	time. Therefore,
	behaviours among		67	'Health Behaviour	days per week),	while further
	11-16 year olds:		schools.	in	engaging in higher	research is needed
	Multilevel analysis			School-aged	levels of MVPA	to better understand
	of			Children	(less	the causal nature of
	the 2013 Health			(HBSC) study in	than 4 hours vs. 4 or	this association,
	Behaviour in			Wales' were linked	more hours per	extending lunch
	School-			to school-level data	week) and reporting	breaks could have a
	aged Children			within the 'HBSC	2 or less hours of	positive impact on
	(HBSC)			School Environment	sedentary time were	sedentary behaviour
	study in Wales.			Questionnaire'.	predicted by several	through the
					individual level	provision of more
					variables. Active	time for physical
					travel to school	activity. The
					positively predicted	findings

			high levels of	also suggest that
			physical	active travel could
			activity, however,	offer a mechanism
			gender stratified	for increasing
			models revealed	physical activity
			active travel as a	levels particularly
			predictor amongst	amongst girls.
			girls only. No	Particularly, the
			school- level factors	design and
			were	evaluation of
			shown to predict	interventions to
			physical activity	promote physical
			levels, however, a	activity during
			lower school socio-	school hours should
			economic status was	employ a
			associated with a	comprehensive
			higher level of	approach, including
			MVPA	a focus on school
			and a lower risk of	policies and
			sedentary behaviour.	behaviours both in
			A shorter lunch	and out of school
			break	hours.
			and greater provision	
			of facilities were	
			associated with	

					increased sedentary	
					activity. Gender	
					stratified models	
					revealed that PE	
					lesson duration and	
					the provision of	
					sports facilities were	
					predictors of boy's	
					sedentary behaviours	
					only.	
9.	Perceived barriers to	Poland.	3346 students aged	For this paper the	Lack of energy, lack	Perceived barriers
Jodkowska	physical activity		10 - 16 years (1759	dataset was created	of time and lack of	to physical activity
et al. (2015)	among Polish		girls) took part in the	from adolescents	support were three	among adolescents
	adolescents.		cross-sectional,	who reported	of the five barriers	have strong negative
			nationally	perceived barriers to	reported by more	impact on
			representative study.	PA, N=2300, (1259	than 40% of	recommended PA
				girls), range 13-16	adolescents,	level. For girls lack
				years. Barriers and	statistically more	of
				physical activity	likely by girls than	skills is the
				MVPA) were	boys and older youth	strongest
				analysed for all	than younger. For	predictor of low PA,
				participants, as well	boys - lack of time,	for boys – lack of
				as by gender, age	lack of skills, lack of	time. Identification
				group and place of	willpower, and lack	more precisely
				residence. Multiple	of	barriers to

				regression analysis	support were the	physical activity
				was used to examine	predictors	among adolescents
				the relationships	contributing to low	will enable to
				between perceived	level of PA. For girls	developed more
				barriers and physical	lack of skills, lack of	effective
				inactivity for all and	energy, lack of	interventions in
				then separately for	support and lack of	high-risk
				boys and girls.	time were positively	populations.
					and statistically	
					significant associated	
					with physical	
					inactivity.	
10. Dias et	Perceived barriers to	South America.	A representative	For data collection,	The relationship	The perception of
al. (2015)	leisure-time physical		sample of 1,409 high	the adolescents	between leisure-time	barriers was
	activity and		school students from	completed a	physical inactivity	associated with a
	associated factors in		public schools in the	questionnaire.	(<300 minutes/week)	higher prevalence of
	adolescents.		city of		and perceived	leisure-time
			Londrina/Paraná		barriers was	physical
			was		analyzed	inactivity in
			selected through		by calculating the	adolescents and
			multistage sampling.		prevalence ratio (PR)	should therefore be
					in Poisson regression	considered in
					models. "Lack of	actions
					friends company"	for promoting
					was the most	physical activity in

		prevalent barrier for	this population.
		both girls (75.8%)	F - F
		and	
		bovs (58.7%). "Feel	
		lazy" for girls (PR:	
		1.21; CI 95%: 1.08	
		to	
		1.36) and "prefer to	
		do other things" for	
		the boys (PR: 1.48;	
		CI 95%: 1.01 to	
		2.15)	
		were the barriers	
		most strongly	
		associated with	
		leisure-time	
		physical inactivity.	
		For both genders,	
		a strong dose-	
		response	
		relationship was	
		observed between	
		the number of	
		perceived barriers	
		and leisure-time	

					physical inactivity.	
11. Charlton	Factors associated	United Kingdom.	1147 children were	Factors associated	Unfit adolescents	Low fitness in the
et al. (2014)	with low fitness in		assessed for fitness,	with fitness were	are more likely to	non-obese child
	adolescentsa		had blood samples,	examined using	be deprived,	can reveal a hidden
	mixed methods		anthropometric	logistic regression,	female, have	group who have
	study.		measures and all	conditional trees and	obesity in the	high risk factors
			data were linked	data mining cluster	family and not	for heart disease
			with routine	analysis. Focus	achieve in	and diabetes but
			electronic data to	groups were	education. There	may not be
			examine educational	conducted with	were 3 main	identified as they
			achievement,	children in a	clusters for risk of	are normal weight.
			deprivation and	deprived school to	future heart	In deprived
			health service usage.	examine barriers and	disease/diabetes	communities low
				facilitators to	(high	fitness is associated
				activity for children	cholesterol/insulin);	with non-
				in a deprived	children at low risk	achievement in
				community.	(not obese, fit,	education but in
					achieving in	non-deprived
					education),	communities low
					children 'visibly at	fitness is
					risk' (overweight,	associated with
					unfit, many	female gender.
					hospital/GP	Interventions need
					visits) and 'invisibly	to target deprived
					at risk' (unfit but not	families and

					overweight, failing	schools in
					in academic	deprived areas
					achievement).	with community
					Qualitative findings	wide campaigns.
					show barriers to	
					physical activity	
					include cost, poor	
					access to activity,	
					lack of core	
					physical literacy	
					skills and limited	
					family	
					support.	
12. Corder et	Development of a	United Kingdom.	N=31 girls.	Relevant	Limitations of the	We have followed
al. (2015)	universal approach			systematic reviews	existing literature	an evidence-based
	to increase physical			and longitudinal	include lack of	iterative approach
	activity among			analyses of change	evidence on whole	to translate existing
	adolescents: The			were examined. An	population	evidence into an
	GoActive			intervention was	approaches, limited	adolescent PA
	intervention.			developed	adolescent	promotion
				iteratively with	involvement in	intervention.
				older adolescents	intervention	Qualitative work
				(17.3	development, and	with adolescents
				± 0.5 years) and	poor participant	and teachers
				teachers, using	engagement.	supported

		the fellowing	Qualitativa work	intervention design
		the following	Quantative work	
		process:	suggested six themes	and addressed lack
		(1) focus groups with	which may	of engagement with
		(A) adolescents	encourage	health promotion
		(n=26) and (B)	adolescents to do	programmes within
		teachers (n=4); (2)	more PA; choice,	this age group.
		individual	novelty,	Future work will
		interviews (n=5)	mentorship,	examine the
		with inactive and	competition,	feasibility and
		shy adolescents	rewards and	effectiveness of
		focusing on	flexibility.	GoActive to
		engagement and	Teachers discussed	increase PA among
		programme	time pressures as a	adolescents while
		acceptability.	barrier to	monitoring
		Qualitative data	encouraging	potential negative
		were analysed	adolescent PA and	effects. The
		thematically.	suggested between-	approach
			class competition as	developed is
			a strategy.	applicable to other
			GoActive aims to	population groups
			increase PA	and health
			through increased	behaviours.
			peer support, self-	
			efficacy, group	
			cohesion, self-	

					esteem and	
					friendship quality,	
					and is implemented	
					in tutor groups	
					using a student-led	
					tiered-	
					leadership system.	
13. Carlin et	Current influences	Ireland.	One hundred	A semi-structured	A number of	This study has
al. (2015)	and approaches to		eighty	discussion guide	themes emerged in	highlighted a
	promote future		participants, mean	was employed to	relation to	number of
	physical activity in		(SD) age 12.1	explore the key	influences on	influences on
	11–13 year olds: a		(0.5)	influences on	current PA	current and future
	focus group study.		years, completed	current PA	including	participation in
			the Physical	participation and to	friendship and	PA, which differed
			Activity	actively seek ideas	peers, family and	based on gender
			Questionnaire for	on how best to	other people, the	and
			Children (PAQ-C)	promote future PA	consequences of	existing PA levels,
			and had height and	in this population.	not	for example,
			weight measured.	In total, nine focus	taking part in PA,	maximising the
			This information	groups (mixed-	changing priorities,	potential of the
			was used to select a	gender) were	and cost and access	school day and
			subsample of	conducted within	to resources. With	including
			participants (n64;	the school setting.	regards to the	technology and
			mean (SD) age 12.3	All focus groups	future provision of	incentives.
			(0.4) years; 39	were audio	PA, participants	These components

	females; 25 males;	recorded,	favoured	can inform targeted
	25%	transcribed	opportunities to try	interventions to
	overweight/obese) to	verbatim and	new activities,	increase PA in low
	take part in focus	analysed	increased provision	active adolescents.
	group discussions.	thematically.	of school-based	
	Participants were		activities which can	
	grouped based on		be undertaken with	
	PAQ-C responses		friends and	
	into 'low-active' and		activities which	
	'highly-active'		incorporated the	
	groups, so that those		use of technology	
	with similar existing		and encouragement	
	levels of PA were in		through rewards	
	the same focus		and incentives.	
	group.		Gender differences	
			were apparent in	
			relation to the types	
			of activities	
			participants	
			preferred taking	
			part in. Differences	
			were also observed	
			between 'low-	
			active' and 'highly-	
			active' groups in	

					relation to barriers	
					to current	
					participation in PA.	
14.	Children's active	United Kingdom.	Eleven focus	Focus groups	Children were	Children express a
Brockman et	play: Self-reported		groups were	examined: (i) factors	motivated to engage	range of
al. (2011)	motivators, barriers		conducted with	which motivate	in active play	motivational and
	and facilitators.		77, 10-11 year old	children to take	because they	environmental
			children from 4	part in active play;	perceived it to be	factors that
			primary schools in	(ii) factors which	enjoyable, to	constrain and
			Bristol, UK.	limit children's	prevent boredom, to	facilitate their
				active play and	have physical and	active play.
				(iii) factors which	mental health	Consideration of
				facilitate	benefits and to	these factors
				children's active	provide freedom	should improve
				play. All focus	from adult control,	effectiveness of
				groups were audio-	rules and structure.	interventions
				taped and	However, children's	designed to
				transcribed	active play was	increase active
				verbatim. Data	constrained by a	play.
				were analysed	number of factors,	
				using a thematic	including rainy	
				approach.	weather and fear of	
					groups of teenagers	
					in their play spaces.	
					Some features of	

					the physical	
					environment	
					facilitated	
					children's active	
					play, including the	
					presence of green	
					spaces and cul-de-	
					sacs in the	
					neighbourhood.	
15. Mitchell	'This choice thing	United Kingdom.	Several visits were	A questionnaire was	Key themes:	Pre-intervention the
et al. (2015)	really works '		made to each school	used to identify five	understandings girls	PE environment did
	Changes in		during the course of	disengaged girls for	disengagement in PE	not fulfil the girl's
	experiences and		the evaluation for a	three phases of	(competence, social	basic psychological
	engagement of		range of purposes	semi-structured	influences, choice)	needs of autonomy,
	adolescent girls in		including: survey	individual	and the PA	competence and
	physical education		administration,	interviews.	intervention (a	relatedness.
	classes, during a		meetings and focus	These were to track	positive perspective,	However, the PA
	school-based		groups with staff	changes in girls'	social influences).	intervention, which
	physical activity		and	engagement and		included
	programme.		some observational	experiences in the		consultation and a
			research. Three	PE		choice of activity,
			phases of semi-	environment.		resulted in increased
			structured individual	Interviews were		participation and
			interviews were	carried out with the		more positive
			carried out with the	selected girls over		perceptions of the

			selected girls over	an		subject, for most of
			an	18-month period,		the selected girls.
			18-month period,	resulting in 15		These factors
			resulting in 15	interviews for this		resulted in a more
			interviews for this	case study school.		supportive PE
			case study school (n-			environment overall
			5 girls).			and so were critical
						for the girls
						transition from
						disengagement to
						engagement.
16.	A school-based	Ecuador.	Schools were	The intervention	The intervention	A school-based
Harrington	Intervention		eligible	included an	increased vertical	intervention with an
et al. (2019)	improves physical		if: (i) they had >90	individual and	jump (mean effect	individual and
	fitness in		students in 8th and	environmental	2.5 cm; 95% CI	environment
	Ecuadorian		9th grade, and (ii)	component tailored	0.8-	component can
	adolescents: a		they were located	to the local context	4.2; P = 0.01).	improve physical
	cluster-		in the urban area	and resources.	Marginally	fitness and can
	randomized		of Cuenca,	Primary outcomes	insignificant,	minimize the decline
	controlled trial.		Ecuador.	were physical fitness	adolescents from	in physical activity
			The eligible	(EUROFIT battery),	the intervention	levels from
			schools were paired	screen time	group needed less	childhood into
			ac- cording to four	(questionnaires) and	time for speed	adolescence in
			criteria: (i) total	physical activity	shuttle run	urban Ecuador.
			number of students	(accelerometers).	(intervention effect	

	af the set a 1	Change in DMI	
	of the school, (11)	Change in BIVII	
	monthly school fee	was a secondary	-0.8 s, 95% CI
	(as proxy for the	outcome. A total of	-1.58-
	socio- economic	1440 grade 8 and 9	0.07; P = 0.05). The
	status of the	adolescents	proportion of
	school),	(intervention: n =	students achieving
	(iii) gender	700, 48.6%) and 20	over 60 minutes of
	(male/female only	schools	moderate-to-
	or mixed gender)	(intervention: n =	vigorous physical
	and	10, 50%)	activity/day
	(iv) time schedule	participated.	decreased over
	of classes	Data of 1083	time with the
	(morning: 7:00 to	adolescents	change in
	13:00 or	(intervention: n =	proportion
	afternoon: 12:00	550, 50.8%) from	significantly less
	to 18:00). In	20	in the intervention
	Ecuador, large	schools were	schools (6 vs. 18
	schools might	analyzed.	percentage points,
	divide the students		Р
	in two groups		< 0.01). The
	because of logistic		intervention effect
	constraints.		on speed shuttle run
			was significant in
			larger schools while
			the effect on vertical

					······ ···· · 1- ·····	
					jump was larger in	
					mixed gender	
					school compared to	
					small and female	
					schools. The	
					proportion of	
					schools that met the	
					recommendations	
					for physical activity	
					increased with 37%	
					in intervention	
					schools with half-	
					day schedule	
					compared to the	
					controls in the pair.	
					No significant	
					effects were found	
					on screen time and	
					BMI. Measurement	
					of physical activity	
					in a subsample was	
					a limitation. No	
					adverse effects were	
					reported.	
17. Ho et al.	A Sports-Based	China.	Six hundred and	Participants were	The	A PYD-based sports

(2017)	Youth Development	sixty-four	randomly assigned	intervention	mentorship
	Program, Teen	students	in a 1:1 ratio to an	improved	intervention
	Mental Health, and	(mean age 12.3	intervention or a	students' mental	improved healthy
	Physical Fitness: An	years [SD 0.76];	control arm after	well-being, self-	adolescents' mental
	RCT.	386 girls	stratification for	efficacy,	well-being,
		[58.1%]) completed	school from	resilience,	psychological
		baseline and post	October 2013 to	physical fitness,	assets, physical
		intervention	June 2014.	lower limb	fitness, and physical
		assessments from 12	Participants were	muscle strength,	activity levels.
		secondary schools.	not blinded to	and	
			allocation because	dynamic balance,	
			of	and physical activity	
			the nature of the	levels. The	
			intervention.	intervention did not	
			Students in the	significantly improve	
			intervention arm	physical well-being,	
			received an after-	BMI z scores, body	
			school, PYD-based	fat proportion, and	
			sports mentorship	social connectedness.	
			for 18 weeks. Each		
			weekly session		
			lasted 90 minutes.		
			Students in the		
			control arm		
			received exclusive		

				access to a health		
				education		
				Web site.		
18. Karr et	Effects of Before	North America.	707 children,	In each school,	Follow-up BMI was	A 3 days/week
al. (2017)	School Physical		from	children whose	obtained from 67%	before school
	Activity on Obesity		kindergarten to	parents registered	of children and self-	physical activity
	Prevention and		eighth grade	them for BOKS	reported surveys	program resulted in
	Wellness.		from 24 schools.	participated in a 1-	from 72% of age-	improved BMI and
				hour, before school	eligible children.	prevented increases
				program.	Children in the 3	in child obesity.
				Nonparticipating	days/week group	Both Build Our
				children served	had improvements	Kids Success groups
				as controls.	in BMI z - score	had improved
				Primary	and this mean	social– emotional
				outcomes	change was	wellness versus
				included	significantly	controls.
				students' BMI	different than the	
				z -score collected	comparison group.	
				by study staff at	Children in the 3	
				baseline and at 12	days/week group	
				weeks, and odds	also had higher	
				of being in a	odds of being in a	
				lower BMI	lower	
				category at	BMI category at	
				follow-up.	follow-up;	

		Students aged ≥ 8	significantly
		years also	different than the
		completed surveys	comparison group
		assessing social-	(p <0.01).
		emotional	Children in the
		wellness.	2 days/week
			program had
			no
			significant changes
			in BMI outcomes.
			Children in the 3
			days/week group
			demonstrated
			improvement in
			their student
			engagement scores
			and had non-
			significant
			improvements in
			reported peer
			relationships,
			affect, and life
			satisfaction versus
			comparison. The 2
			days/week group

					had significant	
					improvements in	
					positive affect and	
					vitality/ energy	
					versus	
					comparison.	
19.	We run this city:	North America.	1,419 sixth- to	Collected data	We saw significant	Even small
Borawski et	Impact of a		eighth grade	from 2009	improvements	amounts of
al. (2018)	community-school		students	through 2012, and	overall in fitness and	regular physical
	fitness program on		participating in	analyzed it in	blood pressure.	activity can affect
	obesity, health, and		WRTC for the first	2016 and 2017.	Controlling for	the health and
	fitness.		time, with	Outcomes of interest	demographics,	fitness of urban
			particular interest	were body mass	program event, and	youths. School-
			in the	index (BMI), waist-	training dosage,	community
			program's effect	to-hip ratio (WHR),	BMI percentile	partnerships offer a
			on overweight	elevated blood	increased among	promising approach
			(85th -94 th body	pressure, and fitness	normal weight parti-	to increasing
			mass index	levels evaluated by	cipants and	physical activity by
			percentile) or	using the	decreased among	supporting schools
			obese (≥95th	Progressive Aerobic	overweight and	and making a
			percentile)	Cardiovascular	obese participants	school- based
			students.	Endurance Run	(P	activity inclusive,
				(PACER) test and	<.001). WHR	fun, and connected
				the sit-to-stand test.	increased among	to the broader
					obese participants,	fitness community.

					whereas reductions	
					in blood pressure	
					among those with	
					elevated blood	
					pressure were	
					associated with	
					higher amounts of	
					training and lower	
					baseline BMI.	
20. Short et	Using financial	North America.	Male and female	Overweight/obese	In Phase 1, the	In conclusion,
al. (2018)	incentives to		American Indians	AI boys and girls,	number of exercise	enhanced financial
	promote physical		were recruited from	11–20 years old,	sessions did not	incentives
	activity in American		the Choctaw	were instructed to	differ between the	increased the
	Indian adolescents:		Nation Health	exercise on 3	group receiving a	duration of
	A randomized		Service Area of	days/week for 48	modest fixed-value	exercise sessions,
	controlled trial.		Southeast	weeks at a tribal	payment per	but had minimal
			Oklahoma. From	wellness center.	exercise session and	effects on exercise
			July 2013 through	The pro- gram was	the group receiving	participation.
			March	divided into three,	enhanced incentives	These results
			2015 the age	16-week-long	to exercise more	indicate that
			criterion for the	phases to test	frequently (26 ± 3)	financial
			exercise	different financial	versus 28 ± 2	incentives hold
			intervention was	incentive	sessions,	promise in
			11,0 to 17.9 years	strategies. Within	respectively, p =	motivating
			old, and the	each phase	0.568). In Phase 2,	previously

BMI criterion was	narticinants were	the provision of an	sedentary
05th perceptile for	randomly	enhanced financial	overweight/obese
95th percentine for	randomity		over weight/obese
age- and sex-	assigned to one of		adorescents to
specific norms	two groups that	increase exercise	exercise longer,
based on growth	received different	duration resulted	but motivating
charts from the	payments for	longer sessions, as	them to sustain an
Centers for Disease	exercise.	the incentivized and	exercise program
Control and		standard payment	remains the major
Prevention,		groups exercised 38	challenge.
respectively.		± 2 versus 29 ± 1	
		minutes per session	
		(p = 0.002),	
		respectively. In	
		Phase 3, the effect	
		of reducing the	
		incentives on	
		maintenance of	
		exercise behaviors	
		was inconclusive	
		due to high	
		participant	
		withdrawal. Aerobic	
		fitness increased	
		10% during Phase 1	
		but was unchanged	

					thereafter. Insulin	
					sensitivity and body	
					composition were	
					unchanged during	
					the study.	
21.	The GLAMA (Girls!	Australia.	All Year 7 girls	Conducted in a	There were three	Factors that have
Jenkinson et	Lead! Achieve!		(12-13 years old)	state secondary	main considerations	the greatest
al. (2018)	Mentor! Activate!)		and Year 10 girls	school in	evident across more	impact on
	physical activity		(15-16 years old) at	Australia, the	than one RE-AIM	intervention
	and peer		a school were	intervention was	dimension that	success are those
	leadership		invited to	designed to	need to be	that come from
	intervention		participate via an	provide students	addressed to assist	within the school
	pilot project: A		assembly at which	with opportunities	with future	setting including:
	process		information was	to develop	GLAMA	the structure of the
	evaluation		provided (Figure	leadership skills,	dissemination.	curriculum,
	using the RE-AIM		2). Year 10 peer	school and social	Firstly, the	pressure to meet
	framework.		leaders were	connectedness in	development of	curriculum and
			provided with	addition to a range	teacher, school and	assessment
			music vouchers in	of physical activity	student	content, lack of
			appreciation of the	experiences. As it	participation. This	support for new
			time commitment	was not the	needs to be through	initiatives,
			required to lead the	specific aim of this	a variety of	multiple programs
			Year 7 students.	pilot, no	professional	already running
			Girls were chosen	behavioural change	development	within the school,
			as our tar- get	data were collected	opportunities for	time allowances

	demographic as	from students. Data	teachers, integration	for teachers,
	they are often	were collected	of the program	appropriate
	underserved in	using a mixed	within timetabled	training for
	terms of	methods approach	classes within the	teachers, and
	encouragement and	including student	school and	support for
	opportunities to	questionnaires,	promoting the	students to
	partake in both	teachers and	program to students	participate. These
	physical activity	researchers	as an opportunity to	barriers need to be
	and leadership	reporting on their	develop a range of	considered when
	development,	own observations	skills to apply to	developing all
	particularly in rural	and feedback from	future learning and	secondary school
	communities.	students.	workplace	interventions.
			environments.	
			Secondly, the	
			successful	
			translation of	
			leadership training	
			to practice is	
			necessary to ensure	
			that leaders are	
			effectively able to	
			motivate, facilitate	
			and activate their	
			teams. Finally, the	
			need for consistent	

					activity	
					implementation	
					requires sequential,	
					competitive	
					elements,	
					purposeful team	
					selection and	
					clearly defined	
					scoring and time	
					periods for team	
					'challenges'.	
22. Sebire et	Results of a	United Kingdom.	46 secondary	A two-arm cluster	Accelerometer	The PLAN-A
al. (2018)	feasibility cluster		schools in the two	randomised	return rates	intervention adopts
	randomised		areas; four hundred	controlled	exceeded 85% at	a novel peer-led
	controlled trial of		twenty-seven girls	feasibility study	each time point and	approach, is
	a peer-led school-		were recruited (95%)	was conducted in	wear time criteria	feasible, and shows
	based		recruitment rate).	six English	was met by 83%,	evidence of
	intervention to		55 girls consented	secondary schools	71% and 62%	promise to
	increase the		to be a peer-	(4	participants at Time	positively affect
	physical		supporter and 53	intervention & 2	0, 1 and 2	girls' physical
	activity of		peer-supporters	control). Year 8	respectively.	activity levels. A
	adolescent girls		were trained (97%	(age 12-13) girls	Questionnaire	definitive trial is
	(PLAN-A).		of those invited).	were eligible and	data were	warranted.
				randomisation was	provided by	
				at school-level.	>91% of	

		The interrentier	nontiningente et en el
		i ne intervention	participants at each
		involved training	time point.
		Year 8 girls (out	Complete-case
		of school for two	adjusted linear
		consecutive days,	regression analysis
		plus one top-up	showed evidence of
		day	a
		5 weeks later),	6.09 minute (95% CI
		who were	= 1.43, 10.76)
		identified by their	between-arms
		peers as	difference in
		influential, to	weekday MVPA at
		provide informal	Time 2 in favour of
		support to their	the intervention
		friends to increase	arm. On average
		their physical	PLAN-A cost
		activity.	£2685 per school to
			deliver (£37 per
			Year 8 girl). There
			were no adverse
			events. A trial
			involving 20
			schools would be
			adequately powered
			to detect a between-

					arms difference in	
					weekday MVPA of	
					at	
					least six minutes.	
23. Jurak et	Long-term effects	Slovenia.	In total, 324	A PA intervention	Over an 11-year	PA intervention in
al. (2013)	of 4-year		children from nine	taking place in the	period, the PA	the first four years
	longitudinal		Slovenian primary	first four years of	intervention group	of Slovenian
	school-based		schools either	some Slovenian	significantly	primary school
	physical activity		received the	primary schools	differed in all motor	offers the possibility
	intervention on		enhanced	entails an	tasks, but not in	of improving
	the physical		curriculum	enhanced physical	anthropometric	physical
	fitness of children		(intervention	education (PE)	measures or body	performance in
	and youth during		(n=160)) or	curriculum,	mass index, after	children; initiatives
	7-year follow- up		standard PE	including two	controlling for year	aiming to increase
	assessment.		(control (n=164)),	extra lessons of	of measurement and	their performance
			and were followed	PE per week, a	sex. Differences	(physical fitness,
			for a four-year	wider selection of	between the control	physical activity)
			intervention period	PE content, and	and intervention	and health outcomes
			and seven years	additional outdoor	groups decreased	are warranted.
			post intervention.	education	with time.	
				delivered		
				by both a specialist		
				PE teacher and a		
				general teacher.		
				The effects of the		

				intervention on		
				abildran's mbysical		
				ciliaren s physical		
				fitness (motor tasks		
				and anthropometry)		
				were evaluated		
				within a quasi-		
				experimental study.		
				Data from the		
				SLOFIT database		
				were used to		
				compare		
				differences in the		
				physical fitness of		
				children each year.		
				Linear Mixed		
				Models were used		
				to test		
				the influence of the		
				PA intervention.		
24. Dollman	Healthy for Life	Australia.	All students aged 8	The study aimed to	The study showed	In conclusion,
et al. (2019)	Pilot Study: A		to 13 years in two	develop and	73% of the children	while the
	Multicomponent		socially	evaluate a	with complete data	multifaceted
	School and Home		disadvantaged	multicomponent	sets at the	approach to
	Based Physical		primary schools in	school and home	intervention school	improve PA was
	Activity		the northern	based physical	(n	ineffective over the

Intervention for	suburbs of	activity (PA)	= 27) did not	time span of the
Disadvantaged	Adelaide,	intervention in	increase device	study, important
Children	Australia were	children in grades	measured moderate	predictors of PA in
	invited to	3-7 (aged 8-13	to vigorous PA	this sample of
	participate. The	years) and	(MVPA) in the	disadvantaged
	two schools were	determine the	after-school period	children were
	demographically	psychological	(3	identified.
	comparable due to	variables that	p.m. to 6 p.m.) or	
	similar location,	influence PA; 10 \times	over the whole day	
	enrollment	1 h school-based	or	
	numbers, physical	training sessions, a	during school break	
	environment and	home-based	time immediately	
	facilities (n=98).	activity program	following the	
		and 4×1 h	intervention or at	
		lifestyle workshops	follow-up, as	
		for parents. PA was	compared to 70%	
		assessed at an	of children with	
		intervention and	complete data sets	
		nearby control	at the control	
		school using	school.	
		accelerometers and	Overall, 59% of	
		self-report at 3-	boys attained more	
		time points:	than double the	
		baseline, post	recommended 120	
		intervention	min of MVPA each	
		and 10-week	day compared to	
--	--	--------------------	-----------------------	
		follow- up. Self-	42% of girls (n =	
		efficacy self-	0.013) At the	
		management	haseline	
		stratagies	children's self	
		strategies,	remented DA in the	
			reported PA in the	
		perceived barriers	intervention school	
		to PA, outcome-	positively correlated	
		expectancy and	with: outcome	
		social support	expectancy,	
		were evaluated.	enjoyment, self-	
			efficacy, self-	
			management, social	
			support at home,	
			and social support at	
			school. Similar	
			relationships were	
			observed after the	
			intervention and at	
			fallow up Focus	
			ionow-up. Focus	
			groups with the	
			children, parents	
			and interviews with	
			teachers identified	
			areas for	

					improvement of the	
					intervention.	
25.	Reducing smoking	United Kingdom	Fifty-nine secondary	The ASSIST	Previous work has	A peer-led
Hollingwort	in		schools in England	programme trained	demonstrated that	intervention reduced
h et al.	adolescents: Cost-		and Wales were	students to act as	the ASSIST	smoking among
(2012)	effectiveness results		randomized to	peer supporters	programme achieved	adolescents at a
	from the cluster		receive the ASSIST	during informal	a 2.1% (95% CI =	modest cost. The
	randomized assist (a		programme or usual	interactions to	0%-	intervention is cost-
	stop smoking in		smoking education.	encourage their	4.2%) reduction in	effective under
	schools trial).		Ten thousand seven	peers not to smoke.	smoking prevalence.	realistic
			hundred and thirty		The ASSIST	assumptions
			students aged 12–13		programme cost of	regarding the extent
			years attended		£32 (95% CI =	to which reductions
			participating		£29.70–£33.80) per	in adolescent
			schools.		student. The	smoking lead to
			Following training,		incremental cost per	lower smoking
			the 835 peer		student not smoking	preva- lence and/or
			supporters who		at 2 years was	earlier smoking
			consented to		£1,500	cessation in
			undertake the		$(95\% \text{ CI} = \pounds 669 -$	adulthood. The an-
			intervention were		£9,947). Students in	nual cost of
			asked to undertake		intervention schools	extending the
			informal conversa-		were less likely to	intervention to Year
			tions about smoking		believe that they	8 students in all
			with other Year 8		would be a smoker at	U.K.

			students over a 10-		age 16 years (odds	schools would be in
			week period and to		ratio [OR] = 0.80;	the region of £38
			record details of		95%	million and could
			these conversations		CI = 0.66 - 0.96).	result in 20,400
			in a diary.			fewer adolescent
						smokers.
26. Carlin et	Effects of a peer-led	Ireland.	A convenience	Participants were	A significant	The intervention
al. (2018)	Walking In ScHools		sample of schools in	randomized by	interaction effect	increased daily
	intervention (the		Northern Ireland	school (cluster) to	was observed for	light intensity PA
	WISH study) on		were invited to take	participate in	changes in light	behaviour in these
	physical activity		part in the study. Of	regular 10–15-min	intensity PA across	adolescent girls
	levels of adolescent		the 17 schools	peer-led brisk	the school day ($p =$	but did not change
	girls: A cluster		initially invited to	walks throughout	0.003), with those	moderate to
	randomised pilot		take part in the	the school week	in the intervention	vigorous physical
	study.		study, six schools	(the WISH study)	increasing their	activity (MVPA).
			agreed to participate;	(n = 101, two	light intensity PA	These findings
			three schools	schools) or to	by 8.27 mins/day	suggest that a
			declined to	continue with their	compared with a	school-based brisk
			participate on the	usual PA ($n = 98$,	decrease of	walking
			basis of time	four schools).	2.14 mins/day in the	intervention may
			constraints and eight	The primary	control group. No	be feasible and can
			schools did not reply	outcome measure	significant	change PA
			to the initial	was school-time	interactions were	behaviour in the
			invitational letter. A	PA post	observed for the	short term, but it is
			total of 199	intervention (week	other PA measures	possible that the

		· / 1°	12) 1	.1	10 1 4 1
		parents/guardians	12), assessed	across the	self-selected
		and participants	objectively using	intervention.	walking speeds
		returned consent and	an Actigraph	Intervention effects	determined by a
		assent forms (33%	accelerometer.	on school-time PA	peer-leader may
		response rate).	Secondary	were not sustained	not be sufficient to
			outcome measures	four months post	reach MVPA in
			included	intervention.	this age group.
			anthropometry,		Further research is
			cardiorespiratory		needed to evaluate
			fitness and		the potential of
			psychosocial		school-based brisk
			measures.		walking to
			Changes in PA		contribute to MVPA
			data between		in adolescent girls.
			baseline (T0) and		
			end of intervention		
			(week 12) (T1)		
			were		
			analysed using a		
			mixed between-		
			within subjects		
			analysis of		
			variance with one		
			between (group)		
			and one within		
1				1	

				(time) subjects		
				factor, with		
				two levels.		
27. Fennell	Combined	North America.	15 Previously	They wore a	A two-way repeated	No differences in
et al. (2016)	incentives		sedentary faculty	program	measures ANOVA	physical activity or
	versus no-incentive		and staff (n=2 males	accelerometer	demonstrated a main	health-related
	exercise programs		and 13 females), age	throughout the	effect of time for	variables were
	on objectively		48.7±1 participated	entire day during the	percent body fat (p b	found
	measured physical		in both of the two	12weeks. During the	0.001) and push-ups	within the
	activity and health-		12-week	first intervention,	(p=0.018). All other	incentivized and
	related variables.		interventions.	there were no	variables revealed no	non-incentivized
				incentives offered to	differences between	conditions.
				participants. The	conditions or from	
				second intervention	pre to post testing.	
				consisted of an	There was no	
				incentivized	difference between	
				program. Positive	conditions with	
				reinforcements	physical activity or	
				included various	attendance.	
				rewards for meeting		
				achievements		
				related to physical		
				activity levels. A		
				program rebate		
				worth \$25 for		

				achieving 450 miles		
				was used as the		
				negative		
				reinforcement "buy-		
				in" incentive.		
28. Jago et	Bristol Girls Dance	United Kingdom.	A total of 508 girls	Nine intervention	Data were subjected	The intervention
al. (2016)	Project: a cluster		were included in the	schools received an	to a per-protocol	was
	randomised		primary analysis,	after-school dance	analysis and no	enjoyed by
	controlled trial of an		which found no	intervention (40 \times	effect	participants.
	after-school dance		difference in	75-minute sessions)	was found. However,	However, there was
	programme to		weekday MVPA	underpinned by self-	at T1, girls who	no difference in the
	increase physical		between trial arms.	determination	attended dance	MVPA levels
	activity among 11-			theory, which	classes had 4.61	(which
	to			attempts to improve	minutes more of	were high at
	12-year-old girls.			intrinsic motivation	MVPA and 14.27	baseline) of girls
				for being active, and	minutes more of	allocated to receive
				delivered by	light-intensity	dance compared
				external	activity	with girls receiving
				dance instructors.	between 15.00 and	the control. High
				Control schools	17.00 on the days on	baseline MVPA
				continued as normal.	which they attended	levels indicate that
					intervention sessions.	the study appealed
					The intervention was	to an already active
					inexpensive at £73	cohort and,
					per participant (£63	therefore, may not

		when excluding	have targeted those
		dance instructor	most in need of an
		travel) but was not	intervention. Dance
		cost-effective owing	is an enjoyable
		to the ineffectiveness	activity for
		of the intervention.	adolescent girls and
		The European	could be further
		Quality	trialled as a means
		of Life-5 Dimensions	by which to increase
		Youth survey data	PA. Research might
		were unresponsive to	consider the impact
		changes in the	of dividing the
		sample. The process	intervention period
		evaluation reported	into smaller blocks.
		that girls in	
		attendance enjoyed	
		the sessions, that	
		exertion levels were	
		low during sessions	
		and that attendance	
		was low and	
		declined. Fidelity to	
		the session-plan	
		manual was low but	
		theoretical fidelity	

					(to	
					self-determination	
					theory) was good.	
					Qualitative	
					information provides	
					information for	
					improving future	
					interventions.	
29. Corder et	What do adolescents	United Kingdom.	Participants (n =	Responded to	Most adolescents	Targeting
al. (2013	want in order to		457)	questionnaire items:	wanted to increase	adolescent
	become more		(Mean \pm SD age:	"What activities	participation in ≥ 1	PA promotion by
	active?		14.3	would you like to try	type of PA (94.4%).	subgroup and
			± 0.3 years; 45.2%	or do more often?"	Gym use (56.7%)	providing choice of
			male).	(yes/no to 6 activity	and	PA type, co-
				types e.g. team	team sports (50.6%)	participants, timing
				sports) and "I would	were most popular.	and PA location
				like to do more PA	Girls were less likely	appears promising.
				" followed by	to choose racquet	Adolescents want to
				options regarding	sports (vs. boys OR;	do more types of PA
				co-	95% CI 0.6;0.4-0.9)	more often;
				participants, timing	but more likely to	interventions could
				and PA location	select dancing	increase
				(agree/disagree to	(40.3;17.8-91.1).	opportunities and
				10 items).	Preference for	support to facilitate
				Anthropometry,	participation was	this.

	1		
		demographics,	positively associated
		accelerometer- and	with existing
		questionnaire-	participation in a
		derived PA were	similar activity (all p
		obtained. Logistic	<
		regression was used	0.02). More
		to examine	adolescents wanted
		differences in views	to increase PA with
		by subgroup (sex,	friends (88.8%) than
		weight status,	family (63.5%). A
		objective PA level,	leisure centre was
		parental education	most popular for
		(SES)).	increased
			participation
			(81.0%),
			followed by home
			(70.0%).
			Participation
			during school time
			was less popular
			among girls (vs.
			boys:
			0.6;0.4-0.9) and
			more
			popular among low

- 1							
						SES participants (vs.	
						high: 1.6;1.1-2.4).	
						Overweight/obese	
						adolescents were less	
						likely to choose	
						participation with	
						friends (vs. normal	
						weight 0.5;0.3-0.9).	
	30. Patel et	A Randomized Trial	North America.	Two hundred eighty-	Twenty-six weeks of	Compared to the	Social comparison
	al. (2016)	of Social		six adults.	weekly feedback on	75th percentile	to
		Comparison		Interventions:	team performance	without incentives	the 50th percentile
		Feedback and			compared to the	during the	with financial
		Financial Incentives			50th percentile (n $\frac{1}{4}$	intervention period,	incentives was most
		to Increase Physical			100) or the 75th	the mean proportion	effective.
		Activity.			percentile (n ¼ 64)	achieving the 7000-	
					and 13 weeks of	step goal was	
					weekly lottery-based	significantly greater	
					financial incentive	for the 50th	
					plus feedback on	percentile with	
					team performance	incentives group	
					compared to the	(0.45 vs 0.27,	
					50th percentile (n $\frac{1}{4}$	difference: 0.18,	
					80) or the 75th	95%	
					percentile (n 1/4 44)	confidence interval	
					followed by 13	[CI]:	

				weeks of only performance feedback. Measures were mean proportion of participant-days achieving the 7000-	0.04 to 0.32; P ¹ /4.012) but not for the 75th percentile with incentives group (0.38 vs 0.27, difference: 0.11,	
				step goal during the	95% GL 20.05 (
				13-week	CI: $(0.05 \text{ to } 0.2)$; P	
				intervention.	$\frac{74}{10}$ or the 50th	
					.19) or the 50th	
					in continue without	
					incentives group	
					(0.30 vs 0.27,	
					difference: 0.03,	
					95%	
					CI: 0.10 to 0.16; P $\frac{1}{4}$	
					.67).	
31.	A Cluster	Singapore.	Children aged 6-12	The intervention	At follow-up,	Incentives for
Finkelstein	Randomized		years were	included incentives	children	increased step
et al. (2013)	Controlled Trial of		randomized to	for meeting step	in the intervention	activity were
	an		control ($n = 138$	targets as measured	group recorded	effective in
	Incentive-Based		from	by pedometers and	significantly more	producing greater
	Outdoor Physical		106 families) or	structured weekend	pedometer steps	steps and showed a
	Activity Program.		intervention arm	outdoor activities.	than controls over	(nonsignificant)

	(n=147 from 106	Outcomes included	the entire week	trend toward
	families)	trends in activity for	(8660 vs 7767; P =	improvements in
	,	the intervention	.010), on weekdays	other health
		group and between-	(8646 vs 7826; P =	outcomes. Thus,
		group differences in	.041), and on	future incentive
		pedometer steps, 6-	weekends (8779 vs	trials should be
		minute walk test,	7684; P = .018).	incorporate greater
		body mass index,	Three	step targets and
		and parent-reported	different trajectory	longer follow-up
		Pediatric Quality of	classes were	periods to provide
		Life Inventory.	identified. The first	evidence of the
			group increased	long-
			activity but was not	term effect of these
			sustained, the second	incentives on
			group met the target	children's health.
			step levels, and the	
			third group	
			significantly	
			surpassed the step	
			goals. The	
			intervention group	
			showed trends	
			toward longer 6-	
			minute walk test	
			times and higher	

					Pediatric Quality of	
					Life Inventory	
					scores,	
					but the differences	
					were not statistically	
					significant.	
32. Gillison	Motivation and	United Kingdom.	A cohort of 310	Discriminant	For boys, the first	Fostering
et al. (2011)	body-related factors		adolescents (51%	function analyses	discriminant function	autonomous (self-
	as discriminators of		male, Mean age	were conducted to	(DF1) revealed that	determined)
	change in		14.08.32 years at	predict group	exercise	motivation seems a
	adolescents exercise		baseline) was	membership from	maintainers	key determinant to
	behaviour profiles.		classified into four	adolescents' profiles	reported higher	maintaining leisure-
			groups on the basis	of motivational and	identified	time exercise for
			of reported change	weight-related	regulation,	both boys and girls.
			in leisure-time	perceptions at	introjected	Additionally,
			exercise over 10-	baseline.	regulation,	reducing
			months: those who		competence,	perceptions of
			maintain, drop out		relatedness, and	pressure to lose
			from exercise, take		body satisfaction	weight and
			up exercise, and		than all other	promoting positive
			those who were		groups (between-	interactions with
			continually inactive.		group R2?.45).	others during
					DF2 was	exercise may be
					more indicative of	particularly useful to
					current exercise	prevent dropout in

					levels than change,	girls.
					indicating higher	
					intrinsic motivation	
					and lower	
					amotivation for	
					both active groups	
					at baseline	
					(between- group R2	
					? .40). In girls, DF1	
					showed that	
					exercise	
					maintainers	
					reported higher	
					intrinsic	
					motivation,	
					identified regula-	
					tion, autonomy,	
					competence,	
					relatedness, and	
					lower external	
					regulation than all	
					other groups.	
33. Duncan	Autonomous	United Kingdom.	Data were	Children were pro-	Body mass index	This study indicates
et al. (2017)	motivation mediates		collected from five	vided with a short	was determined	that intrinsic goals
	the relation between		schools in	introduction to the	from height and	for PA positively

goals for physical	Warwickshire, UK,	study and were then	mass. The indirect	impact PA behavior
activity and physical	one from each	asked to complete	effect of intrinsic	in British
activity behavior in	quintile of	the questionnaires	goal content on	adolescents but only
adolescents.	deprivation based	described below.	physical activity	through autonomous
	on electoral ward	The questionnaires	was statistically	motivation.
	data. Overall, 544	were admin- istered	significant via	Extrinsic goals for
	children (mean age	by a research	autonomous (b =	PA also positively
	\pm standard	assistant in small	162.27; 95%	impacts on PA
	deviation =	groups (n = $4-$	confidence interval	behavior but were
	$14.2 \pm .94$ years)	6) to ensure they	[89.73, 244.70]), but	mediated by
	completed self-	were completed	not controlled	autonomous and
	report measures of	correctly and so	motivation (b =	controlled
	physical activity	that the school	5.30; 95%	motivation. Weight
	goal content,	children could ask	confidence	status did not
	behavioral	any questions or be	interval [-39.05,	influence these
	regulations, and	prompted if	45.16]). The	mediation effects.
	physical activity	required. Once the	indirect effect of	
	behavior.	questionnaires were	extrinsic goal	
		completed, the	content on	
		participants then	physical activity	
		undertook	was	
		assessment of	statistically	
		height, mass, and	significant via	
		waist circumference	autonomous (b =	
		with a research	106.25; 95%	

				assistant.	confidence interval	
					[63.74, 159.13]) but	
					not controlled	
					motivation (b	
					= 17.28; 95%	
					confidence interval	
					[-31.76, 70.21]).	
					Weight status did not	
					alter these findings.	
34. Rangul	Is physical activity	Norway.	Included 1869	Self-reported	Active maintainers	Those who
et al. (2012)	maintenance from		individuals (838	physical activity	had significantly	maintained their
	adolescence to		males)	(PA), mental health	lower HR,	physical activity
	young adulthood		participating in	and perceived	compared to all	from adolescence
	associated with		Young-HUNT	health were	other PA patterns.	to young
	reduced CVD risk		(1995–97), aged	recorded, along	Active maintaining	adulthood
	factors, improved		13–	with measurements	men had	demonstrated a
	mental health and		19 years and	of body mass index	significantly lower	significantly lower
	satisfaction with		followed-up at	(BMI), waist	WC than relapsers	CVD risk and
	life: The HUNT		HUNT3 (2006–	circumference	and inactive	better mental
	Study, Norway.		08),	(WC), total	maintainers. When	health,
			aged 23–31.	cholesterol (TC),	adjusted for age	compared to
				HDL	and gender, WC,	inactive
				cholesterol, glucose,	BMI, HR, diastolic	maintainers.
				triglycerides, resting	blood pressure and	Compared to
				heart rate (HR) and	HDL-C showed	inactivity

		blood pressure.	significant	maintainers and
		They used separate	differences	relapsers, adopting
		linear regressions	comparing active	physical activity
		models	maintaining to	was not
		to investigate	other PA patterns.	significantly
		associations	Comparing inactive	associated with
		between physical	maintainers against	lowered CVD risk.
		activity and each	adopters, only HR	Adopting physical
		CVD risk factor,	was significantly	activity between
		and logistic	lower. Male	adolescence and
		regression analysis	adopters did not	young adulthood
		to examine PA	differ significantly	may not necessarily
		patterns and	in CVD risk	protect against
		subsequent mental	compared to	mental distress.
		health. Physically	inactive maintainers	
		active maintainers	and relapsers.	
		were compared to	Among females	
		inactive	adopting was	
		maintainers.	associated with	
		Adopters (inactive	lower HR and TC	
		as adolescents and	compared to	
		physically active as	inactive	
		young adults) were	maintainers. Active	
		compared to	maintainers showed	
		inactive	better mental health	

maintainers and to than inactive	
those who maintainers. Active	
discontinued maintaining males	
activity (relapsers). had an increased	
likelihood of good	
mental health	
compared to	
adopters. Active	
maintaining	
females reported	
greater satisfaction	
with life compared	
to	
adopters.	
35. Villa- Associations Spain. A total of 494 Participants Active commuting Ou	ur findings
Gonzalezbetweenchildren (229 girls)completed theto school wassug	ggest that active
et Active from five primary Assessing Levels significantly cor	ommuting to
al. (2015) Commuting to schools in Granada of associated with sch	hool
School and Health- and Jaén (Spain), Physical Activity higher levels of wa	as associated
Related Physical aged between eight (ALPHA) fitness speed-agility in wit	ith higher levels
Fitness in Spanishand 11 years,test battery andboys $(p = 0.048)$ of 1	both speed-
School-Aged participated in this answered a self- and muscle agi	gility and lower
Children: A Cross- cross-sectional reported strength of the box	ody muscular
Sectional Study. study. guestionnaire lower body fitr	mess in boys and
regarding the muscular fitness in girl	rls, respectively.

				weekly travel	girls ($p = 0.016$).	Future studies
				mode to school.	However, there	should confirm
					were no significant	whether increasing
					associations	active commuting
					between active	to school increases
					commuting to	speed-agility and
					school and	muscle strength of
					cardiorespiratory	the lower body.
					fitness and upper	
					body muscular	
					fitness.	
36. Harris	Participation in	North America.	Six schools were	The purpose of this	The number of	Vigorous sports
et al.	Vigorous Sports, Not		recruited at each of	study was to	vigorous sports in	participation is
(2017)	Moderate Sports, Is		the 6 field centers.	estimate the	which girls	positively
	Positively Associated		Forty eighth-grade	association	participated was	associated with
	With		girls per school	between moderate	positively	cardiorespiratory
	Cardiorespiratory		were randomly	and vigorous sports	associated with	fitness. Future
	Fitness Among		selected to	participation and	absolute fitness ($\beta =$	longitudinal
	Adolescent Girls.		participate in	cardiorespiratory	10.20, P = .04)	research should
			cardiorespiratory	fitness among	and relative fitness	analyze whether
			fitness tests in	adolescent girls.	(β	promoting
			Spring 2005,	This study	= 0.17, P = .04).	vigorous sports at
			following the	hypothesized that	Associations were	an early age can
			2-year	participation in	reduced, but not	prevent age-related
			intervention	vigorous sports is	eliminated, after	declines in

			period. Girls were	associated with	controlling for MET-	cardiorespiratory
			recruited through	higher	weighted MVPA.	fitness among
			required classes	cardiorespiratory	Participation in	adolescent girls.
			in their respective	fitness levels,	moderate sports	
			schools. Girls who	independent of	was not associated	
			were not able to	race/ethnicity and	with either fitness	
			participate in	body composition.	measure.	
			regular physical			
			education class or			
			were taking			
			contraindicated			
			medications were			
			excluded from the			
			fitness tests. Of the			
			1440 girls who			
			were selected, 1226			
			(85%) provided			
			both assent and			
			parental/guardian			
			consent.			
37. Young	Multilevel	North America.	All field sites of the	Questionnaires	Variables at	MVPA is a
et al.	Correlates of		Trial of Activity for	were used to	individual, social,	complex behavior
(2017)	Physical Activity for		Adolescent Girls	obtain	school, and	with fluid,
	Early, Mid, and Late		contributed	demographic and	neighborhood levels	multilevel
	Adolescent Girls		participants from	psychosocial	were associated	correlates that

	6th $(n = 1576)$ and	information	with MVPA, but	differ among girls
	8th grades ($n =$	(individual- and	differed across	across middle and
	3085).	social-level	grades. Lower	high school.
	,	variables); height,	percent body fat,	
		weight, and triceps	higher social	
		skinfold to assess	support from	
		body composition;	friends, and lower	
		interviews and	school math scores	
		surveys for school-	were associated	
		level data; and	with higher MVPA	
		geographical	at 6th and 8th	
		information	grade. Higher	
		systems and self-	physical activity	
		report for	self- efficacy was	
		neighborhood-	associated with	
		level	higher MVPA at	
		variables. Moderate	11th grade. Only	
		to vigorous	lower physical	
		physical activity	activity barriers	
		minutes (MVPA)	were associated	
		were assessed from	with higher MVPA	
		accelerometers.	at all grades.	
		Mixed models (13		
		individual, 5 social,		
		15 school, 12		

				maightenthand		
				neignbornood		
				variables) were used		
				to determine		
				multilevel		
				associations.		
38. Denton	Cardiorespiratory	United Kingdom	135 schoolchildren	7-day minute-by-	After controlling	Hard physical
et al.	Fitness Is		(81 girls, 12+1	minute habitual	for sex, age,	activity (\$9
(2013)	Associated with		year).	physical activity	ethnicity,	METs) holds
	Hard and Light			monitoring using	socioeconomic	greater potential
	Intensity Physical			triaxial	status and total	for
	Activity but Not			accelerometers and	wear time, light	cardiorespiratory
	Time Spent			undertook a	physical activity	fitness compared
	Sedentary in 10-14			maximal	(1.5–2.9	to physical
	Year Old			cardiorespiratory	METs) was	activity of lower
	Schoolchildren: The			fitness test.	negatively	intensities. There
	HAPPY Study				associated (b=2.24,	was no
					p,.01) and hard	relationship
					physical activity	between sedentary
					(\$9 METs)	behaviour and
					positively	cardiorespiratory
					associated (b=.45,	fitness. These
					p,.001) with	findings suggest
					cardiorespiratory	that, for children,
					fitness. Vigorous	advice should
					and hard physical	focus on higher

		activity were	intensity physical
		associated with	activity and
		cardiorespiratory	not sedentary
		fitness for boys	behaviour as a
		(F=5.64, p,.01)	means to maintain
		whereas light,	or improve
		moderate and hard	cardiorespiratory
		physical activity	fitness. Future
		were associated	research should
		with physical	explore
		fitness for girls	longitudinal
		(F=10.23, p,.001).	relationships
		No	between hard
		association was	physical activity,
		found between	cardiorespiratory
		sedentary time and	fitness and health
		cardiorespiratory	parameters.
		fitness (r=2.13,	
		p05). Conclusions:	
		Sedentary to active	
		transitions revealed	
		little variability	
		between	
		cardiorespiratory	
		fitness tertiles.	

39.	Greenspace and	United Kingdom	Data were	Data were	13% of monitored	Most activity
Wheeler et	children's physical		collected between	collected between	time was spent	occurring outdoors
al. (2010)	activity: A GPS/GIS		2006 and	2006 and	outdoors (2% in	is not in greenspace
	analysis of the		2008 from 1,307	2008 from 1,307	greenspace), during	and non-green
	PEACH project.		children aged 10–11	children aged 10–	which time 30% of	urban environments
			in Bristol, UK.	11 in Bristol, UK.	activity	are therefore very
				Accelerometers	volume and 35% of	important for
				and Global	MVPA was	children's activity.
				Positioning	accumulated. 7% of	However, when
				System receivers	boys' activity	boys are in
				measured activity	volume and 9% of	greenspace,
				and location every	MVPA were in	activity is more
				10 s (epoch) after	greenspace with	likely to be of
				school for four	girls slightly lower	higher intensity.
				days. Data were	(5% and 6%	
				mapped in a	respectively). The	
				Geographic	odds of an epoch	
				Information System	being MVPA in	
				with a greenspace	greenspace relative	
				dataset. Activity	to outdoor non-	
				volume	greenspace was	
				(accelerometer	1.37	
				counts per minute),	(95% CI 1.22–1.53)	
				time in moderate-	for boys and 1.08	
				vigorous physical	(95% CI 0.95–	

	1	1	1	1	1	
				activity (MVPA),	1.22)	
				and the odds of an	for girls.	
				epoch being MVPA		
				(using logistic		
				regression) were		
				compared for		
				greenspace, non-		
				greenspace and		
				indoors.		
40. Moller	Financial motivation	North America	Chicago area	We assessed	Financial incentives	Implications for
et al.	undermines		adults of ages	participants'	were contingent	practice and future
(2012)	potential enjoyment		between 21 and 60	context-specific	upon meeting	research on
	in an intensive diet		years were	financial	behavior goals for 3	incentivized
	and activity		recruited through	motivation to	weeks and became	lifestyle and weight
	intervention.		community	participate in the	contingent upon	interventions are
			advertisements.	Make Better	merely providing	discussed.
			The final sample	Choices trial—a	data during the 4.5-	
			of 204 adults	trial testing four	month maintenance	
			included 48	different strategies	period. Financial	
			males, 46.6%	for improving four	motivation for	
			minorities, 25%	health risk	participation was	
			with no more than	behaviors: low	assessed at baseline	
			a high school	fruit and vegetable	using a 7-itemscale	
			education, and	intake, high	(α	
			mean age 33.3	saturated fat	= .97). Across	

	years (s.d. =	intake, low	conditions, a main
	11.01).	physical activity,	effect of financial
		and high	motivation
		sedentary screen	predicted
		time. The primary	a steeper rate of
		outcome was	weight regained
		overall healthy	during the
		lifestyle change;	maintenance period,
		weight loss was a	t(165) = 2.15, P =
		secondary	.04.
		outcome.	Furthermore,
			financial
			motivation and
			gender interacted
			significantly in
			predicting
			maintenance of
			healthy diet and
			activity changes,
			t(160) = 2.42, P =
			.016, such that
			financial motivation
			had a more
			deleterious
			influence

					among men.	
41. Boone-	What neighborhood	North America	Using Wave I data	Comparisons of	BE-MVPA	Policy
Heinonen	area captures built		(n=20,745; 11–22	associations	associations varied	recommendations
et al.	environment		years of age) from	between	by BE	and corresponding
(2010)	features related to		The	moderate-vigorous	characteristic,	research should
	adolescent physical		National	PA (MVPA) and	urbanicity, and sex.	address potential
	activity?		Longitudinal Study	PA facility counts	PA facilities within	differences in
			of Adolescent	and street	3 km buffers and	relevant
			Health (Add	connectivity	intersection density	neighborhood areas
			Health), a	measures	within 1 km buffers	across environment
			prospective cohort	(intersection	exhibited the most	feature and
			study of	density and	consistent	population
			adolescents	link:node ratio)	associations with	subgroup.
			representative of	within 1, 3, 5, and	MVPA.	
			the U.S. school-	8.05 km of each		
			based population	respondent's		
			in grades 7–12 in	residence		
			1994–95.	(Euclidean		
				neighborhood		
				buffers).		
42.	Out and about:	North America	A sample of 293	The built	The odds of higher	Understanding the
Rodriguez	Association of the		adolescent females	environment	physical activity	places where
et al.	built environment		aged 15 to 18 years	around each GPS	intensity (3-level	physical activity
(2012)	with physical		old in Minneapolis	point and its	outcome: sedentary,	and sedentary
	activity behaviors of		and San Diego.	corresponding	light, MVPA) were	behaviors occur

adolescent females		sedentary, light,	higher in places	appears to be a
		and moderate-to-	with parks, schools,	promising strategy
		vigorous intensity	and high population	to clarify
		physical activity	density, during	relationships and
		was examined	weekdays, and	inform policy
		using random	lower in places with	aimed at increasing
		intercept	more roads and	physical activity
		multinomial	food outlets.	and reducing
		logistic regression		sedentary
		models.		behaviors.

Appendix 3 ACTIVE Protocol Paper

BMC Public Health

STUDY PROTOCOL

Open Access

Active children through individual vouchers – evaluation (ACTIVE): protocol for a mixed method randomised control trial to increase physical activity levels in teenagers

Michaela James^{1*}, Danielle Christian², Samantha Scott¹, Charlotte Todd¹, Gareth Stratton³, Sarah McCoubrey⁴, Julian Halcox⁵, Suzanne Audrey⁶, Elizabeth Ellins⁵ and Sinead Brophy

Abstract

Background: Many teenagers are insufficiently active despite the health benefits of physical activity (PA). There is strong evidence to show that inactivity and low fitness levels increase the risk of non-communicable diseases such as coronary heart disease (CHD), type 2 diabetes and breast and colon cancers (Lee et al. Lancet 380:219–29, 2012). A major barrier facing adolescents is accessibility (e.g. cost and lack of local facilities). The ACTIVE project aims to tackle this barrier through a multi-faceted intervention, giving teenagers vouchers to spend on activities of their choice and empowering young people to improve their fitness and PA levels.

Design: ACTIVE is a mixed methods randomised control trial in 7 secondary schools in Swansea, South Wales. Quantitative and qualitative measures including PA (cooper run test (CRT), accelerometery over 7 days), cardiovascular (CV) measures (blood pressure, pulse wave analysis) and focus groups will be undertaken at 4 separate time points (baseline, 6 months,12 months and follow-up at 18 months). Intervention schools will receive a multi-component intervention involving 12 months of £20 vouchers to spend on physical activities of their choice, a peer mentor scheme and opportunities to attend advocacy meetings. Control schools are encouraged to continue usual practice. The primary aim is to examine the effect of the intervention in improving cardiovascular fitness.

Discussion: This paper describes the protocol for the ACTIVE randomised control trial, which aims to increase fitness, physical activity and socialisation of teenagers in Swansea, UK via a voucher scheme combined with peer mentoring. Results can contribute to the evidence base on teenage physical activity and, if effective, the intervention has the potential to inform future physical activity interventions and policy.

Trial registration: ISRCTN75594310 (Assigned 06/03/2017).

Keywords: Fitness, Physical activity, Peer mentor, Teenagers, Voucher, Mixed methods

 $^1\mathrm{College}$ of Medicine, Swansea University, Data Science Building, Swansea SA2 8PP, UK

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article



© The Author(s). 2017 **Open Access** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated.

^{*} Correspondence: m.l.james@swansea.ac.uk

James et al. BMC Public Health (2018) 18:7

Background

Being active in adolescence is associated with many health benefits [1-6] and physical activity (PA) levels established during this time are likely to be taken into adulthood [2]. However, reports show that many adolescents are not sufficiently active to achieve these benefits [2, 7]. Government recommendations for PA suggest adolescents should be engaging in at least 60 min of moderate to vigorous physical activity (MVPA) every day [8]. A large proportion of young people do not meet this recommendation in Wales [9], with recent evidence showing that only 11% of girls and 20% of boys are sufficiently active [10]. This is concerning, as there is strong evidence to show the increased risk of noncommunicable disease such as CHD, reduced well-being and shortened life expectancy resulting from inactivity and low aerobic fitness levels [11, 12].

Given that 7 million people in the United Kingdom are fighting CV diseases, [13] with physical inactivity a major risk factor, the development of effective interventions to promote activity in adolescence is of urgent public health concern [14]. It is reported that one of the main barriers to PA for teenagers is accessibility (e.g. cost and lack of local facilities) [8, 15], particularly for teenagers from disadvantaged backgrounds [4]. There is also a population trend towards spending more time inside, where technology can increase screen time and sedentary behaviours [3, 6].

The Active Children through Individual Vouchers -Evaluation Project (ACTIVE), funded by the British Heart Foundation (BHF) [16], aims to tackle these barriers and increase PA by giving teenagers vouchers to spend on activities of their choice. The project encourages teenagers to access existing provisions or generate their own in order to tackle accessibility issues and create the opportunity to participate in desired activities [15]. Evidence has shown that empowering teenagers to make their own choices over which activity they engage in, the location where they engage, and the people they participate with, can improve activity levels [17]. AC-TIVE will also encourage teenagers to express the importance of choice and empowerment in advocacy meetings with stakeholders. As a result, the project aims to enhance socialisation and peer support, in order to facilitate PA uptake. This has been positively associated with teenage activity levels [18].

A voucher based intervention to increase PA in the UK has been previously tested amongst adults [19, 20], however, it remains uncertain whether a similar approach could work with teenagers. Financial incentives have been previously tested within a variety of populations [21-24] and have been effective in increasing physical activity levels. However, these focus on financial rewards rather than activity enabling vouchers. The

Page 2 of 8

ACTIVE Project aims to investigate whether a multicomponent voucher based scheme can positively influence teenagers to become more physically active and improve their cardiovascular fitness.

Feasibility study

The ACTIVE feasibility study [15] was a mixed method cohort and process evaluation study of one school in a deprived area of Swansea, South Wales. The school was classed as deprived based on: i) the number of pupils eligible for free school meals (FSM) (54% at time of study) [25], ii) the area's eligibility for community-based initiatives and funding (e.g. Communities First) [15] and iii) the location in one of Wales' most deprived areas for children [26]. The study measured outcomes at three different time points (baseline, 5 months (during intervention) and 12 months (follow-up)). All Year 9 pupils in the school were given activity vouchers (n = 115; 13.3 \pm 0.48 years; 51% boys).

The project found increases in MVPA and decreases in sedentary behaviour, suggesting a positive impact from voucher usage [15]. Process evaluation based on the RE-AIM Framework [27] demonstrated that AC-TIVE was well received by pupils and teachers and was a feasible approach to increasing PA amongst adolescents from low socio-economic backgrounds.

Adjustments were made to the ACTIVE protocol following outcomes, process evaluation and recommendations from funding partners. These adjustments were made to further improve the project and increase its sustainability, prior to conducting a Randomised Controlled Trial (RCT) in order to assess effectiveness rather than its feasibility.

Aims

The current study builds upon the feasibility study by examining the effect of a multi-component voucher based intervention on the cardiovascular fitness and MVPA levels of teenagers aged 13–14 years in seven schools in Swansea (4 intervention and 3 control schools). The specific aims of the ACTIVE Project are as follows:

Primary aims

 To examine evidence of the effect of a multi-component intervention in improving cardiovascular fitness based on Cooper Run Test score.

Secondary aims

- To examine evidence of the effect of a multicomponent intervention in reducing time spent sedentary, as measured by 7-day accelerometry.
- 3. To determine the effectiveness of the ACTIVE intervention to improve the following secondary outcomes:

James et al. BMC Public Health (2018) 18:7

- The amount of teenagers meeting the recommendation of 60 min of MVPA per day.
- Cardiovascular health (blood pressure and pulse wave analysis (PWA) an indicator of arterial stiffness).
- Exercise motivation (BREQ-2).
- The characteristics of teenagers who engage with the scheme, particularly among high risk groups to determine what works for whom, why and in what contexts.
- To examine evidence of the effect on sustained local investment in implementing recommendations of teenagers in promoting PA and cost-effectiveness.
- To provide evidence of whether ACTIVE can have a sustainable effect on fitness and PA (18-month follow-up)
- To provide evidence that ACTIVE can be implemented by the local council with future rollout to other areas.
- To undertake data linkage of quantitative measures through the Secure Anonymised Information Linkage (SAIL) databank [28] to analyse the effects of physical activity levels on educational attainment and GP visits.

Design

ACTIVE is a mixed methods randomised controlled trial based in state secondary schools in Swansea, South Wales. Schools will be approached to take part due to their: i) location in one of Wales' most deprived areas and ii) location in a Communities First catchment area [29, 30]. Randomisation will occur prior to baseline data collection with schools randomised into either the intervention arm or control arm. Due to the nature of the study, participants will be aware of which arm they have been allocated to.

The College of Human and Health Science Ethics Committee at the College of Medicine, Swansea University granted ACTIVE ethical approval on 12/ 05/2016.

Participant recruitment

Following initial school recruitment, participants will be recruited for primary and secondary outcome measures via Year 9 assemblies. During the assemblies, researchers on the project (DC & MJ) will provide information about the project and answer any questions before distributing project information, parental consent and pupil assent forms after the assembly. Once consent and assent has been obtained, participants will be eligible to partake in the study.

Intervention

The ACTIVE intervention consists of three different components; a) physical activity vouchers, b) peer mentor scheme, advocacy meetings and pupil-led video production, and c) support worker engagement.

Physical activity vouchers

The intervention involves provision of vouchers equating to a monetary value of £20 (four vouchers in increments of £5) per pupil each month for 12 months. They are to be distributed in schools with the purpose of being used to; i) spend on existing activities, ii) fund new activities in the schools or communities such as fitness classes, and iii) purchase sporting equipment for themselves or a club. The vouchers are to be treated similar to a cash transaction but without the delivery of change, in order to prevent the purchase of non-PA based items. At the end of each month, vouchers will be collected from each provider with an accompanying invoice for reimbursement of fees. This transaction process has been informed by the ACTIVE feasibility study [7]. Activity providers (for example, leisure centres and sports clubs) have been recruited during the development stages of the project and will continue to be recruited throughout the intervention based on pupil suggestions.

Peer mentoring scheme, advocacy meetings and pupil-led video production

Prior to baseline measures, pupils from each school will be asked to identify key influencers to be peer mentors (10 from each school). A peer nomination questionnaire was given to all pupils in the year and those who received the most nominations were invited to be peer supporters [31]. These individuals will receive training to be 'peer supporters' from the Active Young People team at Swansea Council and a student from the PR and Marketing Taught Masters course at Swansea University. The role of peer supporter is to encourage the uptake and sustainability of physical activity. This approach has been underpinned by ASSIST (A Stop Smoking in Schools Trial); an intervention which involved training Year 8 students to promote the benefits of not smoking amongst their peers. [32].

Peer mentors will be encouraged to produce videos throughout the intervention to explain why activity is important to them, the barriers to being active and any recommendations to improve activity for teenagers. These will help provide an innovative way to display the work of the ACTIVE intervention at advocacy meetings. These videos will be uploaded to YouTube and shown to local stakeholders and providers. Using an ACTIVE profile, videos will be recorded via 'Snapchat', a popular image-messaging app. Studies have shown that 'Snapchat' is used to facilitate relationships and 'bonding' amongst social circles [33, 34] and combined with its use of filters and text will create a novel way of displaying physical activity perceptions of this age group.

Throughout the ACTIVE intervention, advocacy meetings will be held with key stakeholders in order to promote sustainable investment for the provision of physical activities in the local community. These meetings will occur at 6 months and 12 months and involve discussion of needs, barriers to activity and changes that could improve teenager's access and uptake from the peer mentors' point of view.

Support worker engagement

A support worker will regularly attend the participating schools to increase pupil awareness of what is available in the area, provide advice on how to access activities and encourage pupils to design new activities or attract new coaches to the area. The support worker will audit the activities available and monitor voucher usage monthly to identify those engaging well and those not engaging with the project. Each month, the support worker will host drop-in style sessions in school lunchtimes so that pupils can liaise regarding their ideas and current engagement with the vouchers, and raise any questions or clarify any issues they may have. Feedback from these sessions will be used to target new activity providers that pupils have specifically expressed interest in.

Regular contact with the schools will aid communication, and maintain a presence to help pupils and teachers feel supported by the project. Assemblies will be held at the schools, to directly update the year group with important information regarding their vouchers and activity providers, also providing a general summary. The support worker will also communicate with local activity providers to create new activity options and ensure vouchers remain redeemable throughout the 12-month intervention.

Control schools

Control schools are encouraged to continue with their usual practice throughout the duration of the study. They will receive a mindfulness course for staff or pupils because of their participation in the study at baseline, 6 months, 12 months and 18 months.

Data collection

Data collection periods will take place at three time points: baseline, 6 months, 12 months and 18 months follow-up for both intervention and control schools (Fig. 1).



Quantitative measures of fitness, PA, motivation and cardiovascular health will be assessed at all four time points using the measures described below, in addition to focus groups and interviews to assess qualitative aspects of the project.

Cardiovascular fitness (Cooper run test)

The CRT is a 12-min walk/run test that will be performed at all four time points to assess cardiovascular fitness. The validity of the CRT as a predictor of aerobic fitness has been tested by numerous studies in both young males and females [35–37]. The test will be performed as part of normal PE lessons in the schools to avoid disruption to school timetables.

Physical activity (Actigraph accelerometers)

Physical activity will be measured via Actigraph GT3X+ accelerometers (Actigraph, Pensacola, Florida, United States), a tri-axial accelerometer which has previously been used in adolescents both for hip and wrist placement [38, 39]. The accelerometers will be worn on the non-dominant wrist of the participant, as opposed to the hip, for improved compliance [40]; a methodology adopted by the recent National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) between 2011 and 2012. The Actigraphs will be worn for seven full days at all times, apart from bathing or swimming, and will be set to record at a frequency of 30 Hz.

Motivation (exercise motivation questionnaire (BREQ-2))

The modified Behavioural Regulation in Exercise Questionnaire (BREQ-2) is a 19- item questionnaire that provides scores for amotivation and external, introjected, identified and intrinsic regulation. It is an accessible questionnaire, clearly written to aid pupils understanding of the questions. The BREQ-2 has been noted to obtain good psychometric information [41] and has been previously used to provide information regarding teenager's motivation to exercise [42–44]. The questionnaire will be administered at all four time points.

Cardiovascular health (blood pressure and pulse wave analysis)

Blood pressure will be measured through a standardised upper arm cuff methodology using a sphygmomanometer (Omron M2 monitor, OMRON Healthcare UK Ltd., United Kingdom). Participants will be seated for a minimum of five minutes to allow them to be sufficiently rested prior to any measures being taken. The Omron cuff will be positioned on the upper left arm, with the midline of the cuff positioned over the brachial artery, and the arm out straightened, resting gently on a table so as not to influence the blood pressure reading [45]. The cuff size will be chosen in accordance with recommendations to ensure adequate fit for all participants [45]. The cuff will be inflated until a blood pressure recording appears on the Omron M2 monitor screen, at which point the cuff will deflate. This process will be repeated twice more, allowing the average of the three measures to be taken. Should any of the measures be very different (+/– 5 mmHg) an additional measure will be taken.

To further assess vascular function, non-invasive measurement of pulse wave analysis will be undertaken as an indicator of arterial stiffness [46]. Pulse wave analysis will be assessed using the Vicorder (Skidmore Medical Limited, Bristol, United Kingdom). Participants will be seated and a SC10 Hokanson cuff positioned around their upper left arm. Once the participant has rested for five minutes, the cuff will be gradually inflated according to an inbuilt automated protocol, during which the brachial artery pulse-pressure waveform is recorded. Central augmentation pressure and augmentation index are determined from the waveform using a transfer function integral to the software. This process will be performed a second time, if both measures of augmentation pressure are within ±5 mmHg of each other and augmentation index are within ±5% the two measures are accepted, if not a third reading is taken and a mean of all 3 taken.

Adolescents' views (focus groups)

Semi-structured focus groups will consist of 6-8 pupils with boys and girls in separate groups (two focus groups per school). Participants will be asked their opinions regarding what physical activity is, its barriers and what could be done to improve activity in their areas. Intervention schools will discuss the ACTIVE project specifically (See Topic Guides: Appendix one). Baseline focus groups will consist of pupils of randomly selected consented pupils. After this, participants purposively selected from consented pupils to gain a variety of viewpoints from those engaging well with the intervention and those who are not. The focus groups will provide ACTIVE with a greater understanding of the mediating factors that influence teenage physical activity. These will also help provide context to the quantitative measures from baseline to 18 months.

In addition to focus groups with teenagers, focus groups and interviews will be held with stakeholders (e.g. Active Young People Officers from the local council and teachers from intervention schools) to inform the process evaluation of ACTIVE. These will be held at the 6 month, 12 month and 18 months data collection time points.

Analysis

CONSORT guidelines will inform the analysis and presentation of the study [47]. Multilevel regression analyses will test the effect of the intervention on our primary and secondary outcome measures in comparison with the control arm. We will adjust for baseline, 6 month, 12 month and 18 month follow-up scores and baseline characteristics (e.g. sex). Focus groups will be analysed via thematic analysis in order to identify key themes from discussions with pupils involved in the project [48]. Quantitative measures will be linked to the SAIL databank to analyse the impact of physical activity levels on educational attainment and GP visits. COREQ (Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research) will be followed for the qualitative aspects of the research.

This RCT will examine change in the intervention group compared to controls. Findings from the feasibility study showed that sedentary behaviour reduced by 65 min (95% CI: 12.0 to 117.6) from baseline (n = 75). A previous study [49] had an intracluster correlation of fitness scores across 10 schools of 0.16. Therefore, estimating a reduction in sedentary behaviour of 65 min (intervention) and 15 min (control) with a standard deviation of 30 min, and an average cluster size of 150 children per school ICC of 0.16, coefficient of variation of cluster sizes of 0.9, power of 80% and significance of 5% would require 450 children per arm in 3 schools in each arm (6–8 schools in total depending on consent rates).

Fitness improved in the feasibility study in the intervention group by 98 m (95% CI: 19 to 177, children ran 1730 m in 12 min at baseline and 1823.3 m at post intervention). Therefore, estimating improvement in cooper run of 98 m (intervention) and 22 m (control) with average cluster size of 150 children per school and ICC of 0.16 (as above) would require 300 children or 2 schools per cluster (3 schools if consent rate is assumed to be 60%).

Conclusion

ACTIVE is a novel intervention aimed at examining the effect of a multi-component intervention in improving the cardiovascular fitness, arterial physiology and general health, whilst reducing time spent sedentary, in adolescents. Providing insight into the results of the trial, alongside process evaluation can strongly add to the evidence base in this field and can inform future intervention and policy involving teenagers and physical activity.

Appendix 1

INTERVENTION FOCUS GROUP TOPIC GUIDE – PARTICIPANTS – PRE-INTERVENTION.

Activity 1 (5-10 min): What is physical activity? What does it mean to you?

(Ask pupils to discuss/write down what the term means to them).

How active should people your age be? (60 min recommended per day). *Question 1:* How active do you think people in your year are? Do you think you are as active as you can be?

Activity 2 (5–10 min): What do you see as the current barriers to physical activity? How do you feel about your current levels?

(Give post-it notes and ask pupils to list 5–6 barriers to activity. Then rank these barriers in order of most common barriers and discuss the reasoning for this order).

Question 2: Why do you think people your age like/ don't like being active? Is there much to do in your area? If so, how accessible are these activities to your age group?

Question 3: Vouchers are currently accepted by *(refer to list of participants).* What other activities or providers would you like to see included before we start?

Question 4: Having heard the way the scheme is set up; do you think there will be any problems? What do you think we could do about these problems? Do you think we should do things differently?

Question 5: What is the best way of letting everyone in the school know about this scheme? When are the best times for the support worker to be available in the school?

Question 6: Do you have anything else to add about the project?

CONTROL FOCUS GROUP TOPIC GUIDE – PAR-TICIPANTS – PRE-INTERVENTION.

Activity 1 (5-10 min): What is physical activity? What does it mean to you?

(Flipchart/post-its – ask pupils to discuss/write down what the term means to them).

How active should people your age be? (60 min recommended per day).

Question 1: How active do you think people in your year are? Do you think you are as active as you can be?

Activity 2 (5–10 min): What do you see as the current barriers to physical activity? How do you feel about your current levels?

(Give post-it notes and ask pupils to list 5–6 barriers to activity. Then rank these barriers in order of most common barriers and discuss the reasoning for this order).

Question 2: Why do you think people your age like/ don't like being active?

Question 3: Is there much to do in your area? If so, how accessible are these activities to your age group?

Question 4: Are your friends/family active? Does this influence you?

Question 5: What is the best way to get people your age active?

Question 6: Do you have anything else to add?

James et al BMC Public Health (2018) 18-7

Acknowledgements Not applicable

Availability of data and materials Not applicable

Funding

The British Heart Foundation has funded the ACTIVE Project. This funding has facilitated the use of the activity vouchers. The funders have peerreviewed the study protocol.

Authors' contribution:

MJ – Wrote the first draft of the paper and all authors provided critical input and revisions for all further drafts. DC & SB – Designed and carried out feasibility study. DC, MJ, CT & SS - Undertook data collection and data analysis, DC - Wrote accelerometer and cardiovascular measures sections CT, SB, GS, JH, SA, SM – Co-applicant's for funding. EE – Provided contribution to the grant methods and practical assistance with the Arterial assess ment protocol. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Ethics approval and consent to participate

The College of Human and Health Science Ethics Committee at the College of Medicine, Swansea University granted ACTIVE ethical approval on 12/05/ 2016 (Reference: 090516). Participant consent for primary and secondary outcomes was voluntary and involved parental consent and pupil assent forms

Consent for publication lot applica

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests

Author details

College of Medicine, Swansea University, Data Science Building, Swansea SA2 8PP, UK, ²Department of Sport and Physical Activity, Edge Hill University, St Helens Road, Ornskirk, Lancs L39 4QP, UK ³College of Engineering, Bay Campus Swansea University, Fabian Way, Crymlyn Burrows, Skewen, Swansea SA1 8EN, UK ⁴City and County of Swansea Council, Room 153, Guildhall, Swansea SA1 4PE, UK. ⁵College of Medicine, Swansea University, Singleton Park, Swansea SA2 8PP, UK. ⁶School of Social and Community Medicine, Bristol BS8 2PS, UK.

Received: 9 May 2017 Accepted: 29 June 2017 Published online: 11 July 2017

References

- Lawlor DA, Jago R, Noble SM, Chittleborough CR, Campbell R, Mytton J, et al. The Active for Life Year 5 (AFLY5) school based cluster randomised controlled trial: Study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. Trials, 2011: 12:no pagination-no pagination. doi:10.1186/1745-6215-12-181
- Cooper AR, Goodman A, Page AS, Sherar LB, Esliger DW, van Sluijs EM, et al. Objectively measured physical activity and sedentary time in youth: the 2 International children's accelerometry database (ICAD). Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2015;12:113. doi:10.1186/s12966-015-0274-5.
- Garcia JM, Sirard JR, Deutsch NL, Weltman A. The influence of friends and 3 psychosocial factors on physical activity and screen time behavior in adolescents: a mixed-methods analysis. J Behav Med. 2016;39:610–23. doi: 10 1007/s10865-016-9738-6
- Brockman R, Jago R, Fox KR, Thompson JL, Cartwright K, Page AS. "get off the sofa and go and play": family and socioeconomic influences on the physical activity of 10-11 year old children. BMC Public Health. 2009;9:253.
- 5 Bradley RH, Houts RM, Mcritchie SL, Brien MO. From ages 9 to 15 years Child Aust. 2008;300:295–305.
- Dias DF, Loch MR, Ronque ERV. Barreiras percebidas à prática de atividades 6 fisicas no lazer e fatores associados em adolescentes. Cien Saude Colet. 2015;20:339–50. doi:10.1590/1413-812320152011.00592014.
- Riddoch CJ, Mattocks CG, Deere K, Saunders J, Kirkby J, Tilling K, et al. Objective measurement of levels and patterns of physical activity. Arch Dis Child.
- 2007/92963–9. doi:10.1136/adc.2006.112136. Department of Health. Start Active, Stay Active A report on physical activity 8. for health from the four home countries' Chief Medical Officer. Report

2011;:62. https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/ attachment data/file/216370/dh 128210.pdf\nhttps://www.gov.uk/ government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/216370/dh_ 128210.pdf

- 9 Morgan K, Hallingberg B, Littlecott H, Murphy S, Fletcher A, Roberts C, et al. Predictors of physical activity and sedentary behaviours among 11-16 year olds: multilevel analysis of the 2013 health behaviour in school-aged children (HBSC) study in Wales. BMC Public Health. 2016;16:569.
- doi:10.1186/s12889-016-3213-8. HBSC. 2013 / 14 health behaviour in school-aged children Wales : key 10. findings. 2015. Lee IM, Shiroma EJ, Lobelo F, Puska P, Blair SN, Katzmarzyk PT, et al.
- Effect of physical inactivity on major non-communicable diseases worldwide: an analysis of burden of disease and life expectancy. Lancet 2012:380:219-29. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61031-9.
- Li J, Siegrist J. Physical activity and risk of cardiovascular disease-a meta-12. analysis of prospective cohort studies. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2012;9:391-407
- British Heart Foundation, CVD Statistics BHF UK Factsheet, 2016; Cvd. 13 van Sluijs EMF, Kriemler S. Reflections on physical activity interventior
- research in young people dos, don'ts, and critical thoughts. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2016;13:25. doi:10.1186/s12966-016-0348-z. Christian D, Todd C, Hill R, Rance J, Mackintosh K, Stratton G, et al. Active children through incentive vouchers – evaluation (ACTIVE): a mixed 15
- method feasibility study. BMC Public Health. 2016;16:890. doi:10.1186/ s12889-016-3381-6 British Heart Foundation. We fight for every heartbeat - British Heart 16
- Foundation. 2017. https://www.bhf.org.uk/. Accessed 21 Apr 2017. Corder K, Atkin AJ, Ekelund U, van Sluijs EMF. What do adolescents want in
- order to become more active? BMC Public Health. 2013;13:718. doi:10.1186/ 1471-2458-13-718.
- De la Haye K, Robins G, Mohr P, Wilson C. How physical activity shapes and is shaped by, adolescent friendships. Soc Sci Med. 2011;73:719-28. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.06.023.
- Moller AC, Buscemi J, McFadden HG, Hedeker D, Spring B. Financial 19. motivation undermines potential enjoyment in an intensive diet and activity intervention. J Behav Med. 2013;37:819–27.
- Harland J and WM and DC and CD and FL and HD. The Newcastle exercise project: a randomised controlled trial of methods to promote physical 20 activity in primary care. BMJ. 1999;319:828-32. doi:10.1136/bmj.319.7213.828.
- Cuffe HE, Harbaugh WT, Lindo JM, Musto G, Waddell GR. Evidence on the 21. Efficacy of School-Based Incentives for Healthy Living. NBER Working Paper No. 17478. 2011;:0. http://search.proquest.com/docview/ 964174721?accountid=14695\nhttp://athenea.upg.es/search/i2SEARCH=
- Finkelstein EA, Tan Y-T, Malhotra R, Lee C-F, Goh S-S, Saw S-M. A Cluster Randomized Controlled Trial of an Incentive-Based Outdoor Physical Activity Program. J Pediatr. 2013;163:167-172.e1. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2013.01.009.
- Patel MS, Volpp KG, Rosin R, Bellamy SL, Small DS, Fletcher MA, et al. A randomized trial of social comparison feedback and financial incentives to increase physical activity. Am J Health Promot. 2016;30:416–24. 23
- Shin DW, Yun JM, Shin J-H, Kwon H, Min HY, Joh H-K, et al. Enhancing physical activity and reducing obesity through smartcare and financia incentives: a pilot randomized trial. Obesity. 2017;25:302-10. doi:10.1002/ oby.21731.
- 25. Gorard S. Who is eligible for free school meals? Characterising free school meals as a measure of disadvantage in England, Br Educ Res J. 2012;38: 1003-17.
- Database WE, Illness LL, Weight LB, Absenteeism R, Households O. Area 26 Analysis of Child Deprivation 2014 (WIMD Indicators 2014) 1. 2015;2014:1–44. Glasgow RE, Vogt TM, Boles SM. Evaluating the public health impact of
- 27. health promotion interventions: the RE-AIM framework. Am J Public Heal. 1999;89:1322-7.
- The Administrative Data Liaison Service (ADLS). The Secure Anonymised 28 20
- Information Linkage Databan Service (AUS), in Escute Antorynined Information Linkage Databank (SAIL), 2017. https://silidatabank.com/. Government W. COMMUNITIES FIRST AREA PROFILE : 2016;200 November. Government W, Estate PI. COMMUNITIES FIRST AREA PROFILE : 2016;800 30. November
- 31. Starkey F, Audrey S, Holliday J, Moore L, Campbell R. Identifying influential young people to undertake effective peer-led health promotion: the example of a stop smoking in schools trial (ASSIST). Health Educ Res. 2009:24:977-88

James et al BMC Public Health (2018) 18.7

- 32. Hollingworth W, Cohen D, Hawkins J, Hughes RA, Moore LAR, Holliday JC, et al. Reducing smoking in adolescents: cost-effectiveness results from the cluster randomized assist (a stop smoking in schools trial). Nicotine Tob Res. 2012:14:161-8
- Vaterlaus JM, Barnett K, Roche C, Young JA. "snapchat is more personal": an exploratory study on snapchat behaviors and young adult interpersonal 33. relationships. Comput Human Behav. 2016;62:594-601. doi:10.1016/j.chb. 2016.04.029.
- Piwek L, Joinson A. What do they snapchat about. Patterns of use in time limited instant messaging service Comput Human Behav. 2016;54:358–67. 34 doi:10.1016/j.chb.2015.08.026. Bandyopadhyay A. Validity of Cooper's 12-minute run test for estimation of
- 35. maximum oxygen uptake in male university students. Biol Sport. 2015;32:59–63. Calders P, Deforche B, Verschelde S, Bouckaert J, Chevalier F, Bassle E, et al.
- Predictors of 6-minute walk test and 12-minute walk/run test in obese children and adolescents. Eur J Pediatr. 2008;167:563–8. Mayorga-Vega D, Bocanegra-Parrilla R, Ornelas M, Viciana J. Criterion-related
- 37 validity of the distance and time-based walk/run field tests for estimating cardiorespiratory fitness: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2016:11:1-24
- Crouter SE, Flynn JI, Basset DR. Estimating physical activity in youth using a 38. wrist accelerometer. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2015;47:944–51. Sutherland R, Campbell E, Lubans DR, Morgan PJ, Okely AD, Nathan N, et al.
- 39. A cluster randomised trial of a school-based intervention to prevent decline in adolescent physical activity levels: study protocol for the "physical activity 4 everyone" trial. BMC Public Health. 2013;13:57.
- Fairclough SJ, Noonan R, Rowlands AV, Van Hees V, Knowles Z, Boddy LM. Wear compliance and activity in children wearing wrist- and hip-mounted 40. accelerometers. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2016;48:245–53. Murcia JAM, Gimeno EC, Camacho AM. Measuring self-determination
- 41.
- motivation in a physical fitness ... J Sports Med Phys Fitness. 2007;3:366–74. Verloigne M, De Bourdeaudhuij I, Tanghe A, D'Hondt E, Theuwis L, 42. Vansteenkiste M, et al. Self-determined motivation towards physical activity in adolescents treated for obesity: An observational study. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2011;8:no pagination-no pagination. doi:10.1186/1479–5868–8-97. Scarapicchia TMF, Sabiston CM, O'Loughlin E, Brunet J, Chaiton M,
- 43. O'Loughlin JL. Physical activity motivation mediates the association between depression symptoms and moderate-to-vigorous physical activity Prev Med (Baltim). 2014;66:45–8. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2014.05.017.
- Gillison F, Sebire S, Standage M. What motivates girls to take up exercise during adolescence? Learning from those who succeed. Br J Health Psychol. 44 2012:17:536-50
- Pickering TG, Hall JE, Appel LJ, Falkner BE, Graves JW, Hill MN, et al. 45. Recommendations for blood pressure measurement in humans: an AHA scientific statement from the council on high blood pressure research professional and public education subcommittee. J Cinical Hypertens. 2005;7:102-9.
- Laurent S. Cockcroft J. Van Bortel L. Boutouvrie P. Giannattasio C. Havoz D. 46. et al. Expert consensus document on arterial stiffness: methodologica issues and clinical applications. Eur Heart J. 2006;27:2588–605.
- Consort. CONSORT 2010 checklist of information to include when reporting a randomised trial *. Interpret A J Bible Theol. 2010;3:1–2. 47
- Braun V, Clarke V. What can "thematic analysis" offer health and wellbeing researchers? Int J Qual Stud Health Well-being. 2014;9:9–10. 48. 49 Brophy S, Rees A, Knox G, Baker J, Thomas NE. Child fitness and father's BMI
- are important factors in childhood obesity: a school based cross-sectional study. PLoS One. 2012;7:1-7.

Submit your next manuscript to BioMed Central and we will help you at every step:

- We accept pre-submission inquiries
- Our selector tool helps you to find the most relevant journal
- We provide round the clock customer support
- Convenient online submission
- Thorough peer review
- Inclusion in PubMed and all major indexing services
- Maximum visibility for your research

Submit your manuscript at www.biomedcentral.com/submit

() BioMed Central
Appendix 4 Information sheets, parent and pupil consent forms



PARTICIPANT/PARENT INFORMATION SHEET (INTERVENTION GROUP)

Dear participant and parent/guardian,

Your school has agreed to take part in a research study involving Year 9 pupils outlined below. Please read this information sheet carefully before deciding whether to take part. If you decide to volunteer we thank you for your participation. If you decide not to take part there will be no disadvantage to you of any kind and we thank you for considering our request.

Aims of the research

To find out whether adolescents engage in more physical activity if they are given vouchers to fund activities of their choice and have peer mentors to promote and advocate for the importance of physical activity.

What will happen if you decide to volunteer?

You will be given activity vouchers (£20 every month for a period of 12 months). You can only use the vouchers to fund physical activity. For example, you might want to use them for a gym membership for 12 months, to hire an instructor to come into school to teach you and your friends Zumba classes, to buy sports equipment, to have surf lessons, or to attend the skateboard park in Swansea. You can only use these vouchers for exercise and sport; they can only be used by you (you won't be able to give them to anyone else).

We want to know if a voucher scheme like this helps you to be more active. For us to know whether it has made a difference to your exercise habits, you will be asked to complete a fitness test *before* you start using your activity vouchers, *during* the vouchers (6 months) and *after* you have finished using the vouchers. During this session you will complete the cooper run test as part of your usual P.E. lesson (with others in your class) in the school sports hall. This is a test that you are familiar with and involves running around a large circuit to see how much distance you can cover within 12 minutes. You will be encouraged to keep running as long as possible, but you can walk if you get too tired to keep running. You will also be asked to complete a questionnaire that tells us how active you usually are. This will take approximately 15 minutes to complete.

A number of you will also wear accelerometers (watches that tell us how active you are) for seven days and will have your blood pressure and heart rate measured. Some of you will be asked to wear a blood pressure cuff to measure how well your blood circulates through your body via an in-built ultrasound machine. The blood pressure reading will take around 10 minutes and will be done when trained researchers visit the school to carry out fitness measures (before, during and after you finish using the vouchers).

For those of you who want to be involved in group interviews, some of you may be selected at random by researchers to participate in a group discussion with 5 other people (these will be held in the school). This can help us design the ACTIVE study and also tell us how you think it went at the end. There will also be a chance for some pupils to be trained to produce videos for the public to explain the barriers teenagers face with physical activity.

What type of participants do we want?

We want all Year 9 pupils to participate in this study.

What are the risks of participating in the study?

The risks of participating in the study are minimal and this project has been approved by the University Research Ethics Committee (a group of people at the University who decide whether the project is okay to do). The fitness test will be familiar to you but you will feel tired if you have completed the test properly.

Benefits to the participant

You will be given activity vouchers (£20 every month for a period of 12 months). Remember, these vouchers can be used to fund physical activity only. There may also be opportunities for you to gain experience and skills which can help you in getting jobs in the future through receiving training on media production and peer mentoring and advocacy.

What will happen to the information collected?

All the information collected during the ACTIVE Study will be held safely at the University and will only be seen by relevant University staff (Dr Danielle Christian, Charlotte Todd and other members of the research team). If you agree, we will also look into other records such as your exam results and information from your doctor. All linked data can only be looked at by group (for example, whether the group of children who used more vouchers had better health compared to the group who used fewer). Your name will be changed to a number to make sure you cannot be recognised when we analyse the data and all data will be kept on password protected computers in secure offices. Results from the ACTIVE Study may be published but the information included will in no way be able to be linked to any pupil.

What next?

Questions are always welcome at any time. If you should have any questions about the ACTIVE Study then please contact us (details given at bottom of the page). If you would like to participate in the study then the attached forms need to be signed by both you (the participant) and your parent/guardian and returned to the main office.





PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET (CONTROL GROUP)

Dear participant and parent/guardian,

Your school has agreed to take part in a research study involving Year 9 pupils. Please read this information sheet carefully before deciding whether to take part. If you decide to volunteer we thank you for your participation. If you decide not to take part, there will be no disadvantage to you of any kind and we thank you for considering our request.

Aims of the research

The research is being done to look at ways of improving the physical activity levels, fitness and health of teenagers. In order for researchers to do this, we will need to examine current levels of activity and health at different time points.

What will happen if you decide to volunteer?

If you decide to participate, we will ask you to participate in a number of data collection measures (described below).

As part of the research, you will be asked to complete fitness tests as part of your usual PE lesson. During this session you will complete the cooper run test (with others in your class) in the school sports hall. This is a test that you are familiar with and involves running around a large circuit to see how much distance you can cover within 12 minutes. You will be encouraged to keep running as long as possible, but you can walk if you get too tired to keep running. You will also be asked to complete a questionnaire about physical activity. This will take approximately 15 minutes to complete.

A number of you will also wear accelerometers (watches that tell us how active you are) for seven days and some of you will be asked to have your blood pressure and heart rate measured. This will involve wearing a blood pressure cuff to measure how well your blood circulates through your body and using an in-built ultrasound machine. The blood pressure reading will take around 10 minutes and will be done when trained researchers visit the school to carry out the fitness measures.

Also, for those of you who want to be involved in group interviews, some of you may be selected at random by researchers to participate in a group discussion with 5 other people (held in the school). This can help us understand what physical activity and sports are available in your area and what you feel are the barriers to participating in exercise.

What type of participants do we want?

We want all Year 9 pupils to participate in this study.

What are the risks of participating in the study?

The risks of participating in the study are minimal and this project has been approved by the University Research Ethics Committee (a group of people at the University who decide whether the project is okay to do). The fitness test will be familiar to you but you will feel tired if you have completed the test properly.

Benefits to the participant

The results of this study will benefit teenagers in the area through improving community understanding of teenage needs with regards to physical activity, thus having the potential to improve physical activity and health of large numbers of teenagers.

What will happen to the information collected?

All the information collected during the study will be held safely at the University and will only be seen by relevant University staff (Dr Danielle Christian, Charlotte Todd and other members of the research team). If you agree, we will also look into other records such as your exam results and information from your doctor. All linked data can only be looked at by group (for example, whether the group of children who were more active had better school results or visited the doctor less than the less active group). Your name will be changed to a number to make sure you cannot be recognised when we analyse the data and all data will be kept on password protected computers in secure offices. Results from the ACTIVE Study may be published but the information included will in no way be able to be linked to any pupil.

What next?

Questions are always welcome at any time. If you should have any questions about the ACTIVE Study, then please contact me (details given at bottom of the page). If you would like to participate in the study then the attached forms needs to be signed by both you (the participant) and your parent/guardian and returned to the PE office.





PARTICIPANT ASSENT FORM (INTERVENTION GROUP)

(To be completed by the participant with the parent/guardian present)

Full name
Class Date
Participant to circle as appropriate:
1. Have you read the information sheet? YES / NO
2. Has somebody else explained the ACTIVE Study to you? YES / NO
3. Do you understand what the ACTIVE Study is about? YES / NO
4. Have you asked the questions you want? YES / NO
5. Have your questions been answered in a way that you understand? YES / NO
6. Do you understand that it's okay to stop taking part at any time? YES / NO
If you are <u>happy</u> to take part in the ACTIVE study please complete the following table:

I am happy to take part in:	Please initial those that apply
An exercise motivation questionnaire	
A Cooper Run Test as part of P.E. (measures fitness)	
Group interviews	
Wearing an accelerometer (a watch that records activity levels)	
Having my blood pressure measured	
Having my heart health measured via a blood pressure cuff	
Being a peer mentor (speaking to pupils, activity providers and local	
government about teenagers views on physical activity)	
Volunteering to be part of a group making a short video on physical activity	
(may appear in presentations or on Youtube)	
Researchers looking at my school exam results and information from my	
doctors in a way in which I can't be identified	

Please return to the main office within 7 days.

Please check that you have answered **all** questions.



PARTICIPANT ASSENT FORM (CONTROL GROUP) (To be completed by the participant with the parent/guardian present)

Full name
Class Date
Participant to circle as appropriate:
1. Have you read the information sheet? YES / NO
2. Has somebody else explained the ACTIVE Study to you? YES / NO
3. Do you understand what the ACTIVE Study is about? YES / NO
4. Have you asked the questions you want? YES / NO
5. Have your questions been answered in a way that you understand? YES / NO
6. Do you understand that it's okay to stop taking part at any time? $\ensuremath{\text{YES}}$ / $\ensuremath{\text{NO}}$

If you are <u>happy</u> to take part in the ACTIVE study please complete the following table:

I am happy to take part in:	Please initial those that apply
An exercise motivation questionnaire	
A Cooper Run Test as part of P.E. (measures fitness)	
Group interviews	
Wearing an accelerometer (a watch that records activity levels)	
Having my blood pressure measured	
Having my heart health measured via a blood pressure cuff	
Researchers looking at my school exam results and information from my	
doctors in a way in which I can't be identified	

Please return to the Head of your P.E. department within 7 days.

Please check that you have answered **all** questions.



PARENTAL CONSENT FORM (INTERVENTION GROUP)

(To be completed by parent or guardian)

NAME OF CHILD:
Please answer the following if you agree to your child taking part in the survey. For each question circle the appropriate answer.
 Has your child ever suffered from any illness or disease that may affect his or her ability to take part in exercise? YES / NO
If "YES", please give details
 Has your child ever complained of chest pain, wheeziness, headaches or dizziness during or after exercise? YES / NO
If "YES", please give details
 Are you aware of any complaint (e.g. joint soreness) which may prevent your child taking part in normal exercise? YES / NO
If "YES", please give details
 Is your child receiving any medication or medical treatment at present? YES / NO
If "YES", please give details
Has your child ever been in hospital?
If "YES", please give details

• Is your child recovering from a viral complaint (such as 'flu') at present?

YES / NO

If "YES", please give details		
	PLEASE TURN OVER	

If you are happy for your child to take part in the ACTIVE study please complete and return this form to school $\underline{within~7~days}$

Please INITIAL boxes below as appropriate

- I AGREE to my child(name) taking part in the ACTIVE survey.
- I confirm that I have read and understood the information sheet for the research and have had the opportunity to ask questions.
- I understand that participation is voluntary and that my child is free to withdraw at any time, and without giving a reason.
- I am happy for any data collected in this study to be used in future Health and Education related studies, where data collected will be linked to electronic health and educational records without my child being identified.

If you are <u>happy</u> for your child to take part in the ACTIVE study please complete the following table:

I am happy for my child to take part in:	Please INITIAL all those that apply
An exercise motivation questionnaire	
A Cooper Run Test as part of P.E. (measures fitness)	
Group interviews	
Wearing an accelerometer (a watch that records activity levels)	
Having their blood pressure measured	
Having their heart health measured via a blood pressure cuff	
Being a peer mentor (speaking to pupils, activity providers and local	
government about teenagers views on physical activity)	
Volunteering to be part of a group making a short video on physical activity	
(may appear in presentations or on Youtube)	

Signature......(parent) Signature......(pupil)
Please return to the main office within 7 days.

Please check that you have answered all questions.



PARENTAL CONSENT FORM (CONTROL GROUP)

(To be completed by parent or guardian)

NAME OF CHILD:

Please answer the following if you agree to your child taking part in the survey. For each question circle the appropriate answer.

• Has your child ever suffered from any illness or disease that may affect his or her ability to take part in exercise?

YES / NO

If "YES", please give details.....

• Has your child ever complained of chest pain, wheeziness, headaches or dizziness during or after exercise?

YES / NO

If "YES", please give details.....

 Are you aware of any complaint (e.g. joint soreness) which may prevent your child taking part in normal exercise?

YES / NO

If "YES", please give details.....

• Is your child receiving any medication or medical treatment at present?

YES / NO

If "YES", please give details

• Has your child ever been in hospital?

YES / NO

If "YES", please give details.....

• Is your child recovering from a viral complaint (such as 'flu') at present?

YES / NO

If "YES", please give	details
-----------------------	---------

PLEASE TURN OVER ...

If you are happy for your child to take part in the ACTIVE study please complete and return this form to school within 7 days

Please INITIAL boxes below as appropriate

- I AGREE to my child(name)
 taking part in the ACTIVE survey
- I confirm that I have read and understood the information sheet for the research and have had the opportunity to ask questions.
- I understand that participation is voluntary and that my child is free to withdraw at any time, and without giving a reason
- I am happy for any data collected in this study to be used in future Health and Education related studies, where data collected will be linked to electronic health and educational records without my child being identified

If you are <u>happy</u> for your child to take part in the ACTIVE study please complete the following table:

I am happy for my child to take part in:	Please INITIAL all those that apply
An exercise motivation questionnaire	
A Cooper Run Test as part of P.E (measures fitness)	
Group interviews	
Wearing an accelerometer (a watch that records activity levels)	
Having their blood pressure measured	
Having their heart health measured via a blood pressure cuff	

Signature......(pupil) Signature......(pupil)

Please return to the Head of your P.E. department within 7 days. you have answered all questions Please check that

Appendix 5 Behavioural Regulation in Exercise Questionnaire (BREQ-2)



EXERCISE REGULATIONS QUESTIONNAIRE (BREQ-2)

Name:_____

Age: _____ years Sex: male female (please circle)

WHY DO YOU ENGAGE IN EXERCISE?

We are interested in the reasons underlying peoples' decisions to engage, or not engage in physical exercise. Using the scale below, please indicate to what extent each of the following items is true for you. Please note that there are no right or wrong answers and no trick questions. We simply want to know how you personally feel about exercise. Your responses will be held in confidence and only used for our research purposes.

		Not true for me	Son true	for me	s Ve e f	ery true or me
1	I exercise because other people say I should	0	1	2	3	4
2	I feel guilty when I don't exercise	0	1	2	3	4
3	I value the benefits of exercise	0	1	2	3	4
4	I exercise because it's fun	0	1	2	3	4
5	I don't see why I should have to exerci	ise 0	1	2	3	4
6	I take part in exercise because my friends/family/partner say I should	0	1	2	3	4
7	I feel ashamed when I miss an exercise session	0	1	2	3	4
8	It's important to me to exercise regular	rly 0	1	2	3	4

Please turn over...

I	Not true for me	Sor true	netime e for m	s e	Very true for me
9 I can't see why I should bother exercis	ing 0	1	2	3	4
10 I enjoy my exercise sessions	0	1	2	3	4
11 I exercise because others will not be pleased with me if I don't	0	1	2	3	4
12 I don't see the point in exercising	0	1	2	3	4
13 I feel like a failure when I haven't exercised in a while	0	1	2	3	4
14 I think it is important to make the effort exercise regularly	to 0	1	2	3	4
15 I find exercise a pleasurable activity	0	1	2	3	4
16 I feel under pressure from my friends/family to exercise	0	1	2	3	4
17 I get restless if I don't exercise regular	ly 0	1	2	3	4
18 I get pleasure and satisfaction from participating in exercise	0	1	2	3	4
19 I think exercising is a waste of time	0	1	2	3	4

Appendix 6 Topic Guides

FOCUS GROUP TOPIC GUIDE - PARTICIPANTS - PRE-INTERVENTION (ACTIVE)

Focus group rules:

- Try to speak one at a time
- Listen when others are speaking
- Respect each other's views
- Anything discussed is confidential and should not be discussed with others not present in this focus group

Focus group equipment:

- Voice recorder (plus chargers/battery)
 Second recorder as back up
- Topic guide
- Flipchart paper/paper
 Post-it notes
- Pens

<i>Focus group questions:</i> <i>Activity 1 (5 – 10 mins):</i> What i	s physical activity? What does it mean to you? (Flipchart/post-its – ask pupils to discuss/write down what the term means to them)
	How active should people your age be? (60 minutes recommended per day)
Question 1:	How active do you think people in your year are? Do you think you are as active as you can be?
Activity 2 (5 – 10 mins):	What do you see as the current barriers to physical activity? How do you feel about your current levels? (<i>Give post-it notes and ask pupils to list 5-6 barriers to activity. Then</i> <i>rank these barriers in order of most common barriers and discuss the</i> <i>reasoning for this order</i>)
Question 2:	Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Is there much to do in your area? If so, how accessible are these activities to your age group?
Question 3:	Vouchers are currently accepted by (<i>refer to list of participants</i>). What other activities or providers would you like to see included before we start?
Question 4:	Having heard the way the scheme is set up; do you think there will be any problems? What do you think we could do about these problems? Do you think we should do things differently?
Question 5:	What is the best way of letting everyone in the school know about this scheme? When are the best times for the support worker to be available in the school?
Question 6:	Do you have anything else to add about the project?

Activity 1 - What is physical activity?
Question 1 - How active are you year?
Activity 2 - Current barriers to PA?
Question 2a - Why do people like/don't like PA?
Question 2b - Is there much to do in your area? Accessibility?
Question 3- What other activity providers would you like?
Question 4 – Any problems with the scheme?

FOCUS GROUP SUMMARY SHEET- PRE INTERVENTION

Question 5 – What is the best way of letting people know? What time for the support worker?
Question 6 – Anything else to add?
Additional Notes

FOCUS GROUP TOPIC GUIDE – PARTICIPANTS – SIX MONTHS (ACTIVE) INTERVENTION

Focus group rules:

- Try to speak one at a time
- Listen when others are speaking
- Respect each other's views
- Anything discussed is confidential and should not be discussed with others not present in this focus group

Focus group equipment:

- Voice recorder (plus chargers/battery)
- Second recorder as back up
- Topic guide
- Flipchart paper/paper
- Post-it notes
- Pens

Focus group questions:	
Activity 1 (5 – 10 mins):	What is physical activity? What does it mean to you? (Flipchart/post-its – ask pupils to discuss/write down what the term means to them)
Question 1:	Do you think you are/people in your year are as active as they could be? What are the barriers to physical activity?
Question 2:	Is there much to do in your area? If so, how accessible are these activities to your age group?
Activity 2 (5 - 10 mins):	How would you improve physical activity for your year? Are there any better ways to use the vouchers? (Post-its – ask pupils to discuss/write down ideas.)
Question 3:	Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active?
Question 3:	 Now that you've had the vouchers What has worked well? What hasn't worked well? Are vouchers accepted everywhere you wanted them to be? How could it be improved? Are there any particular groups using them? Why do you think not everyone is using them?
Question 5:	 Have you found the peer mentors helpful? Is there anything else they could do to help you be active? Are there any other characteristics you need to be a peer mentor?
Question 6:	Have you found the support worker helpful? What could be improved?
Question 7:	What would you like to see happen in the next six months?

FOCUS GROUP SUMMARY SHEET- SIX MONTHS - INTERVENTION

 Activity 1 - What is physical activity?

 Question 1 - Do you think people in your year are active?

 Question 2 - Is there much to do in your area? How accessible?

 Question 2 - Is there much to do in your area? How accessible?

 Activity 2 - How would you improve physical activity?

 Question 3a - Vouchers - What has worked well/hasn't worked well?

 Question 3b - Vouchers - How could it be improved/everyone use them?

Question 4 – How could we improve the scheme?
Question 5 – Have the peer mentors been helpful? What could they do?
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Question 6 – What would you like to hannen in the next six months?
Question of What would you like to happen in the field six months:
Additional Notes

FOCUS GROUP TOPIC GUIDE – PARTICIPANTS – SIX MONTHS (ACTIVE) CONTROL School Name:

Focus group rules:

Try to speak one at a time Listen when others are speaking Respect each other's views Anything discussed is confidential and should not be discussed with others not present in this focus group

Focus group equipment:

- Voice recorder (plus chargers/battery)
- Second recorder as back up
- Topic guide
- Flipchart paper/paper
- Post-it notes
- Pens

Focus group questions:

Activity 1 (5 – 10 mins): What i	s physical activity? What does it mean to you? (Flipchart/post-its – ask pupils to discuss/write down what the term means to them)
Question 1:	Do you think you are/people in your year are as active as they could be? What are the barriers to being active?
Question 2:	Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Are there any differences?
Question 3:	Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active?
Question 4:	Is there much to do in your area? If so, how accessible are these activities to your age group?
Activity 2 (5 - 10 mins):	If you had a pot of money, what would you do to make people more active?
	(Post-its – ask pupils to discuss/write down ideas. Rank these ideas based on achievability)
Question 5:	What could help you become more active?
Question 6:	Anything to add?

Activity 1 - What is physical activity? Question 1 - Do you think people in your year are active? Question 2 - Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 - Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 - Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 - If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Activity 1 - What is physical activity? Question 1 - Do you think people in your year are active? Question 2 - Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 - Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 - Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 - If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Question 1 - Do you think people in your year are active? Question 2 - Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 - Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 - Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 - If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	2uestion 1 - Do you think people in your year are active? 2uestion 2 - Do you think all schools have the same barriers? 2uestion 3 - Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? 2uestion 4 - Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 - If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Question 1 - Do you think people in your year are active? Question 2 - Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 - Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 - Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 - If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Question 1 - Do you think people in your year are active? Question 2 - Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 - Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 - Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 - If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Question 1 - Do you think people in your year are active? Question 2 - Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 - Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 - Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 - If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Question 1 - Do you think people in your year are active? Question 2 - Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 - Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 - Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 - If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Question 1 - Do you think people in your year are active? Question 2 - Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 - Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 - Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 - If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Question 1 - Do you think people in your year are active? Question 2 - Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 - Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 - Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 - If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Question 1 - Do you think people in your year are active? Question 2 - Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 - Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 - Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 - If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Question 1 - Do you think people in your year are active? Question 2 - Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 - Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 - Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 - If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Question 1 - Do you think people in your year are active? Question 2 - Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 - Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 - Is there much to do in your area?	Question 1 - Do you think people in your year are active? Question 2 - Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 - Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 - Is there much to do in your area?
Question 1 - Do you think people in your year are active? Question 2 - Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 - Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 - Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 - If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Question 1 - Do you think people in your year are active? Question 2 - Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 - Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 - Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 - If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Question 1 - Do you think people in your year are active? Question 2 - Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 - Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 - Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 - If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Question 1 - Do you think people in your year are active? Question 2 - Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 - Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 - Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 - If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Question 1 - Do you think people in your year are active? Question 2 - Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 - Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 - Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 - If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Question 1 - Do you think people in your year are active? Question 2 - Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 - Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 - Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 - If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Question 1 - Do you think people in your year are active? Question 2 - Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 - Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 - Is there much to do in your area?	Question 1 - Do you think people in your year are active? Question 2 - Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 - Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 - Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 - If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Question 1 - Do you think people in your year are active? Question 2 - Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 - Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 - Is there much to do in your area?	Question 1 - Do you think people in your year are active? Question 2 - Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 - Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 - Is there much to do in your area? Question 4 - Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 - If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Question 2 – Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Question 2 - Do you think people in your year are active? Question 2 - Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 - Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 - Is there much to do in your area?
Question 2 – Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Question 2 – Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area?
Question 2 – Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Question 2 – Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Question 2 – Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area?	Question 2 – Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area?
Question 2 – Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Question 2 – Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Question 2 – Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Question 2 – Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Question 2 – Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Question 2 – Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area?
Question 2 – Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Question 2 – Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Question 2 – Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Question 2 – Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area?
Question 2 – Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Question 2 – Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Question 2 – Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Question 2 – Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area?
Question 2 – Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Question 2 – Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area?	Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area?
Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area?	Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area?
Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area?	Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area?
Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area?
Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area?	Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area?
Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area?	Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area?
Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area?	Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area?
Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area?
Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area?	Question 3 – Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area?
Question 3 – Wny do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area?	Question 3 – wny do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area?
Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area?	Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area?	Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area?	Question 4 – Is there much to do in your area? Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Activity 2 – If you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?
Activity 2 – if you had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?	Activity 2 – If you had a por of money, what would do to make people more active?

FOCUS GROUP SUMMARY SHEET- SIX MONTHS - CONTROL

Question 5 – What would beln you become more active?
Question 6 – Anything to add?
• 1 Mar - 1 Mar -
Additional Notes

FOCUS GROUP TOPIC GUIDE – PARTICIPANTS – TWELVE MONTHS (ACTIVE) INTERVENTION

Focus group rules:

- Try to speak one at a time
- Listen when others are speaking
- Respect each other's views
- Anything discussed is confidential and should not be discussed with others not present in this focus group

Focus group equipment:

- Voice recorder (plus chargers/battery)
- Second recorder as back up
- Topic guide
- Flipchart paper/paper
- Post-it notes
- Pens

Focus group questions:	
Activity 1 (5 – 10 mins):	What is physical activity? What does it mean to you? Has this meaning changed since being a part of ACTIVE? (Flipchart/post-its – ask pupils to discuss/write down what the term means to them)
Question 1:	Now that the vouchers have been used for nearly a year, do you think you are/people in your year are as active as they could be? What are the barriers to physical activity?
Question 2:	Is there much to do in your area? If so, how accessible are these activities to your age group?
Question 3:	Do you think your school helps you be more active?
Question 4:	How would you improve physical activity for your year? Are there any better ways to use the vouchers?
Question 5:	Why do you think people your age like/don't like being active? Why do you think people your age have not used the vouchers?
Question 6:	Are there any differences in the ways boys and girls use the vouchers? Why is this? Which group has the vouchers helped more?
Question 7:	 Have you found the peer mentors and support worker helpful? Is there anything else they could do to help you be active? Are there any other characteristics you need to be a peer mentor?
Question 8:	Would you carry on using the vouchers if you could? What would you like to see happen in your local area to improve your activity/health?
Question 9:	For those of you who have been using the vouchers, do you think you'll continue to be as active when the vouchers are no longer available?

FOCUS GROUP SUMMARY SHEET- TWELVE MONTHS - INTERVENTION

Activity 1 - What	is physical activity?
•	
Question 1 - Nov	v that the vouchers have been used for nearly a year, do you think you are/people
in your year are a	as active as they could be?
Question 2 – Is th	ere much to do in your area? How accessible?
Question 3 – Do	you think your school helps you be more active?
Question 4 – Ho	w would you improve physical activity for your year?
Question 5 – Wh	y do you think people your age like/don't like being active?

Quarties $f = Are there any differences in the ways have and girls use the your here?$
Question 6 – Are there any unreferices in the ways boys and girls use the vouchers:
Question 7 – Have the peer mentors been helpful? What could they do?
······································
Question 8 – Would you carry on using the vouchers if you could?
Question 8 – Would you carry on using the vouchers if you could?
Question 8 – Would you carry on using the vouchers if you could?
Question 8 – Would you carry on using the vouchers if you could?
Question 8 – Would you carry on using the vouchers if you could?
Question 8 – Would you carry on using the vouchers if you could?
Question 8 – Would you carry on using the vouchers if you could?
Question 8 – Would you carry on using the vouchers if you could?
Question 8 – Would you carry on using the vouchers if you could?
Question 8 – Would you carry on using the vouchers if you could?
Question 8 – Would you carry on using the vouchers if you could?
Question 8 – Would you carry on using the vouchers if you could?
Question 8 – Would you carry on using the vouchers if you could?
Question 8 – Would you carry on using the vouchers if you could? Question 9 - For those of you who have been using the vouchers, do you think you'll continue to be
Question 8 – Would you carry on using the vouchers if you could? Question 9 - For those of you who have been using the vouchers, do you think you'll continue to be
Question 8 – Would you carry on using the vouchers if you could? Question 9 - For those of you who have been using the vouchers, do you think you'll continue to be as active when the vouchers are no longer available?
Question 8 – Would you carry on using the vouchers if you could? Question 9 - For those of you who have been using the vouchers, do you think you'll continue to be as active when the vouchers are no longer available?
Question 8 – Would you carry on using the vouchers if you could? Question 9 - For those of you who have been using the vouchers, do you think you'll continue to be as active when the vouchers are no longer available?
Question 8 – Would you carry on using the vouchers if you could? Question 9 - For those of you who have been using the vouchers, do you think you'll continue to be as active when the vouchers are no longer available?
Question 8 – Would you carry on using the vouchers if you could? Question 9 - For those of you who have been using the vouchers, do you think you'll continue to be as active when the vouchers are no longer available?
Question 8 – Would you carry on using the vouchers if you could? Question 9 - For those of you who have been using the vouchers, do you think you'll continue to be as active when the vouchers are no longer available?
Question 8 – Would you carry on using the vouchers if you could? Question 9 - For those of you who have been using the vouchers, do you think you'll continue to be as active when the vouchers are no longer available?
Question 8 – Would you carry on using the vouchers if you could? Question 9 - For those of you who have been using the vouchers, do you think you'll continue to be as active when the vouchers are no longer available?
Question 8 – Would you carry on using the vouchers if you could? Question 9 - For those of you who have been using the vouchers, do you think you'll continue to be as active when the vouchers are no longer available?
Question 8 – Would you carry on using the vouchers if you could? Question 9 - For those of you who have been using the vouchers, do you think you'll continue to be as active when the vouchers are no longer available?
Question 8 – Would you carry on using the vouchers if you could? Question 9 - For those of you who have been using the vouchers, do you think you'll continue to be as active when the vouchers are no longer available?
Question 8 – Would you carry on using the vouchers if you could? Question 9 - For those of you who have been using the vouchers, do you think you'll continue to be as active when the vouchers are no longer available?
Question 8 – Would you carry on using the vouchers if you could? Question 9 - For those of you who have been using the vouchers, do you think you'll continue to be as active when the vouchers are no longer available?
Question 8 – Would you carry on using the vouchers if you could? Question 9 - For those of you who have been using the vouchers, do you think you'll continue to be as active when the vouchers are no longer available? Additional Comments

FOCUS GROUP TOPIC GUIDE – PARTICIPANTS – TWELVE MONTHS (ACTIVE) CONTROL School Name:

Focus group rules:

- Try to speak one at a time Listen when others are speaking
- Respect each other's views
- Anything discussed is confidential and should not be discussed with others not present in this focus group

Focus group equipment:

- Voice recorder (plus chargers/battery)
- Second recorder as back up
- Topic guide
- Flipchart paper/paper
- Post-it notes
- Pens

Focus group questions:

Activity 1 (5 – 10 mins):	What is physical activity? What does it mean to you? (Flipchart/post-its – ask pupils to discuss/write down what the term means to them)
Question 1:	Do you think you are/people in your year are as active as they could be? What are the barriers to being active? Are these still the same as when we first spoke to you? Has anything changed?
Question 2:	Do you think all schools have the same barriers? Are there any differences?
Question 3:	Do you think your school helps you be active?
Question 4:	Do you think there is any differences between boys and girls? How would you get boys/girls more active?
Question 5:	Is there much to do in your area? If so, how accessible are these activities to your age group? Has anything changed in the last year?
Question 6:	If you had a pot of money, what would you do to make people more active?
Question 7:	What could help you become more active?
Question 8:	Anything to add?

Activity 1 - What	s physical activity?
Question 1 - Do y	bu think people in your year are active?
0	
Question 2 – Do y	ou think all schools have the same barriers?
Question 3 – Why	do you think people your age like/don't like being active?
Question 4 – Is th	ere much to do in your area?
Activity 2 – If you	had a pot of money, what would do to make people more active?

FOCUS GROUP SUMMARY SHEET- TWELVE MONTHS - CONTROL

Question 5 – What would help you become more active?	
Question 6 – Anything to add?	
Additional Notes	

Name	Description	Source (SAILW435V.[])
ALF_E	Anonymised Linking Field - Encrypted	TECC_CHILD (NCCGD + WDS)
WOB	Week of birth (defaults to the previous Monday)	TECC_CHILD (WDS)
GNDR_CD	Gender code (1 = male, 2 = female)	TECC_CHILD (WDS)
BRTH_WGT	Birth Weight (grams)	TECC_CHILD (NCCHD + ADBE)
BRTH_WGT_CAT	Birth weight category	TECC_CHILD (NCCHD)
GEST_AGE	Gestational age (weeks)	TECC_CHILD (NCCHD)
GEST_AGE_CAT	Gestational age category	TECC_CHILD (NCCHD)
HOUSE_MEMBERS_10	Number of household members at the time of tenth birthday	HOUSEHOLD_MEMBERS_CHIL D
FLAG_MH_10	Flag-Any household member, age=>16 ,has mental health condition at	HOUSEHOLD_MEMBERS_CHIL D

Appendix 7 Variable List

	time of tenth	
	birthday	
FLAG_ALCOHOL_10	Flag-Any household member, age=>16, drinks Alcohol at time of tenth birthday	HOUSEHOLD_MEMBERS_CHIL D
HOUSE_MEMBERS_11	Number of household members at the time of eleventh birthday	HOUSEHOLD_MEMBERS_CHIL D
FLAG_ALCOHOL_11	Flag-Any household member, age=>16, drinks Alcohol at time of eleventh birthday	HOUSEHOLD_MEMBERS_CHIL D
FLAG_MH_11	Flag-Any household member, age=>16 ,has mental health condition at time of eleventh birthday	HOUSEHOLD_MEMBERS_CHIL D
KS2_EXAM_DATE	Approximat e date of KS2 exam ('05-01' +	TECC_DCEL_FINAL_V2

	KS2_YEAR)	
KS2_MATHS	KS2 Maths results	TECC_DCEL_FINAL_V2
KS2_ENG	KS2 English results	TECC_DCEL_FINAL_V2
KS2_SCI	KS2 Science results	TECC_DCEL_FINAL_V2
KS2_CYM	KS2 Welsh results	TECC_DCEL_FINAL_V2
KS2_SEN_FLAG	Special Education Needs flag	TECC_DCEL_FINAL_V2
KS2_SEN_TYPE	Special Education Needs type	TECC_DCEL_FINAL_V2
FREE_SCH_MEAL	Free School Meal	TECC_DCEL_FINAL_V2
FREE_MILK	Free School Milk	TECC_DCEL_FINAL_V2
SESSIONS_POSSIBLE	Total sessions possible	TECC_DCEL_FINAL_V2
ABS_TOTAL	Total absences at KS2	TECC_DCEL_FINAL_V2
ABS_AUTHORISED	Total authorised absences at KS2	TECC_DCEL_FINAL_V2
ABD_UNAUTHORISED	Total unathorised absences at KS2	TECC_DCEL_FINAL_V2
ATTENDANCE	Total sessions	TECC_DCEL_FINAL_V2

	attended at KS2	
ADHD_DATE	Date of ADHD event	ADHD_GP ADHD_DRUGS_GP
ASTHMA_DATE	Date of Asthma event	QOF_ASTHMA_GP ASTHMAMEDICATION_GP
CD_DATE	Date of Conduct Disorder event	CONDUCT_DISORDER_GP
DIABETES_DATE	Date of Diabetes event	DIABETES_GP
EPILEPSY_DATE	Date of Epilepsy event	EPILEPSY_GP EPILEPSY_PEDW
ANXIETY_DATE	Date of Anxiety event	MENTALHEALTH_GP MENTALHEALTH_PEDW
DEPRESSION_DATE	Date of depression event	MENTALHEALTH_GP MENTALHEALTH_PEDW
ED_DATE	Date of eating disorder event	MENTALHEALTH_GP MENTALHEALTH_PEDW
SH_INTENTIONAL_DAT E	Date of intentional self-harm event	MENTALHEALTH_PEDW
SH_UNDETERMINED_D ATE	Date of undetermine d self-harm event	MENTALHEALTH_PEDW
MH_OTHER_DATE	Date of other mental	MENTALHEALTH_GP
	health issue event	
--------------------------	------------------------------------	-------------------------------------
ADHD_FLAG	ADHD flag	PREP_RG_Edu_attainment_ADHD
ASTHMA_FLAG	Asthma flag	PREP_RG_Edu_attainment_ASTH MA
CONDUCT_FLAG	Conduct disorder flag	PREP_RG_Edu_attainment_COND UCT
DIABETES_FLAG	Diabetes flag	PREP_RG_Edu_attainment_DIABE TES
EPILEPSY_FLAG	Epilepsy flag	PREP_RG_Edu_attainment_EPILE PSY
ANXIETY_FLAG	Anxiety flag	PREP_RG_Edu_attainment_MENT AL
DEPRESSION_FLAG	Depression flag	PREP_RG_Edu_attainment_MENT AL
EATING_FLAG	Eating disorder flag	PREP_RG_Edu_attainment_MENT AL
SH_INTENTIAL_FLAG	Intentional self-harm flag	PREP_RG_Edu_attainment_MENT AL
SH_UNDETERMINED_FL AG	Undetermin ed self-harm flag	PREP_RG_Edu_attainment_MENT AL
MH_OTHER_FLAG	Other mental health flag	PREP_RG_Edu_attainment_MENT AL

Exclusion Criteria - Cleaning

TECC_CHILD DATA

- ALF_E
- WOB
- GNDR_CD
- BRTH_WGT
 - Range: -600 7000

- BRTH_WGT_CAT
- GEST_AGE
 - \circ Range: 2 50
 - \circ Clean range: 16 43
- GEST_AGE_CAT

HOUSEHOLD_MEMBERS DATA

- HOUSE_MEMBERS_10
 - Range: 1 336
 - \circ Clean range: 1 10
- FLAG_MH_10
- FLAG_ALCOHOL_10
- HOUSE_MEMBERS_11
 - Range: 1 215
 - \circ Clean range: 1 10
- FLAG_ALCOHOL_11
- FLAG_MH_11

EDUCATION DATA

- KS2_EXAM_DATE
- KS2_MATHS
 - \circ Range: 0-8
- KS2_ENGLISH
 - \circ Range: 0-7
- KS2_SCI
 - \circ Range: 0-6
- KS2_CYM
 - \circ Range: 0-6
- KS2_SEN_FLAG
- KS2_SEN_TYPE

ATTENDANCE DATA

- ABS_TOTAL
 - \circ Range: 0 –
- ABS_AUTHORISED
 - \circ Range: 0 –
- ABS_UNAUTHORISED
 - \circ Range: 0 –
- ATTENDANCE
 - \circ Range: 0 –

GP/PEDW DATA

- ADHD_DATE
- ASTHMA_DATE
- CD_DATE
- DIABETES_DATE
- EPILEPSY_DATE
- ANXIETY_DATE
- DEPRESSION_DATE
- ED_DATE
- SH_INTENTIONAL_DATE
- SH_UNDETERMIND_DATE
- MH_OTHER_DATE
- ADHD_FLAG
- ASTHMA_FLAG
- CONDUCT_FLAG
- DIABETES_FLAG
- EPILEPSY_FLAG
- ANXIETY_FLAG
- DEPRESSION_FLAG
- EATING_FLAG

Appendix 8 Teenage Recommendations To Improve Physical **Activity For Their Age Group**

BMC Public Health

RESEARCH ARTICLE

Open Access CrossMark

Teenage recommendations to improve physical activity for their age group: a qualitative study

Michaela James^{1*}, Charlotte Todd¹, Samantha Scott¹, Gareth Stratton², Sarah McCoubrey³, Danielle Christian⁴, Julian Halcox⁵, Suzanne Audrey⁶, Elizabeth Ellins⁵, Samantha Anderson⁷, Isabel Copp⁸ and Sinead Brophy

Abstract

Background: It is recommended that young people should engage in 60 min of moderate-to-vigorous activity (MVPA) a day for health benefits, but few teenagers actually meet this recommendation. Policy-makers play a vital role in designing physical activity initiatives, but they generally do this with little or no input from the intervention recipients. This study explores the recommendations made by teenagers to improve activity provision, uptake and sustainability of physical activity engagement for both themselves and their peers

Methods: Thirteen focus groups were carried out in seven secondary schools in South Wales, United Kingdom. Participants (n = 78) were recruited from a larger mixed-method randomised control trial, which involved the implementation of a voucher scheme to promote physical activity in teenagers (aged 13–14). Thematic analysis was undertaken to identify key issues from the perspective of the teenage participants.

Results: Six key recommendations were identified following analysis of the focus groups: i) Lower/remove the cost of activities without sacrificing the quality, ii) Make physical activity opportunities more locally accessible, iii) Improve the standards of existing facilities, iv) Make activities more specific to teenagers v) Give teenagers a choice of activities/increase variety of activity and vi) Provide activities that teenage girls enjoy (e.g., fun, sociable and not competitive sport). Throughout the focus groups, the increased opportunity to participate in unstructured activity was a key recommendation echoed by both boys and girls in all themes.

Conclusion: There is a disconnect between what is available and what teenagers want to do. Policy-makers and those involved in physical activity delivery (e.g., schools, local council and local activity providers) should include young people in designing interventions and facilities to ensure they are meeting the needs of this age group and providing the right opportunities for teenagers to be active. That is unstructured, local, low cost, fun, sociable opportunities and the right facilities to be active.

Keywords: Physical activity, Recommendations, Teenagers, Barriers

Background

It is recommended that young people should engage in 60 min of moderate-to-vigorous activity (MVPA) a day for health benefits [1], yet many fail to meet this recommendation [2-4]. It is estimated that 80% of teenagers worldwide are not sufficiently active [5]. Physical activity has been found to positively impact on both physical

* Correspondence: m.l.james@swansea.ac.uk ¹College of Medicine, Data Science Building, Swansea University, Singleton

Park, Swansea SA2 8PP, UK Full list of author information is available at the end of the article

and psychological health [3, 6-10]. The main barriers to being active for teenagers are reported to be cost, accessibility and lack of local facilities [11-17]. Many physical activity interventions have chosen to focus on these to underpin their approaches to activity promotion [3, 11, 18-20]. Policy-makers play a vital role in designing physical activity initiatives but they often have little or no input and feedback from key intervention recipients. This creates a 'policy gap' between professional understandings of young people's health needs and what teenager's actually want from interventions [21].



© The Author(s), 2018 **Open Access** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated

Involving target populations in policy-making processes is said to increase legitimacy, justifiability and feasibility over policies designed through more traditional, top-down methods [22]. Initiatives designed in this way are noted to be more responsive to user's needs and improve the quality of their aims [23, 24]. When discussing activity with teenagers, research has shown that there is a difference between current activity provision and what young people actually want and recommend [11, 14, 15]. Therefore, involving teenagers in the design and implementation of physical activity initiatives may be key in influencing the activity uptake of among this age group [25, 26].

The Active Children through Incentive Vouchers Evaluation (ACTIVE) Project [27] centres upon user involvement, through the provision of physical activity vouchers to all pupils in year nine in four intervention schools. The project gives pupils the choice over access to existing provisions or support in designing their own [11]. The baseline data collection for the project involved focus groups with 13-14 year old pupils in seven schools (four intervention and three control schools). The focus group interviews were conducted to include teenagers in the design of the ACTIVE intervention and give them the opportunity to make their own recommendations to tackle inactivity in young people. The aim of this was to understand the current barriers to physical activity faced by teenagers and understand potential ways in which teenagers feel these barriers could be overcome. The interviews were conducted prior to the ACTIVE intervention, to establish what was missing for teenagers in their local area and what could be done to combat inactivity.

Previous research has focused on adult involvement in the policy making process in clinical settings [21–23, 28, 29]. The recommendations made by teenagers could increase the success of physical activity policies and initiatives and help improve the short and long-term health of young people. This study explores the recommendations made by teenagers to improve activity provision, uptake and sustainability of physical activity engagement for both themselves and their peers. Through doing so, further understanding can be gained of the current barriers, facilitators and motivation [30–32] to being active faced by 13–14 year olds attending secondary schools in deprived areas of Wales.

Methods

Thirteen focus groups were carried out in seven secondary schools in South Wales, United Kingdom. Participants (n = 78) were recruited by purposive sampling to ensure a mix of genders from a larger mixed-method randomised control trial, which involved the implementation of a voucher scheme to promote physical activity in teenagers (aged 13–14). Schools were approached to take part due to their: i) location in one of Wales' most deprived areas and ii) location in a Communities First catchment area [33]. Schools were randomly assigned into either the intervention or control arm of the trial.

Focus groups were selected as the preferred methodology due to their distinguishing feature of group interaction, which can encourage in-depth discussion. The groups consisted of 6-8 pupils selected at random. Boys and girls were mainly in separate groups to establish any gender differences in discussions and recommendations in terms of motivation to be active [30] or differences in activity preferences [34, 35]. This was also because of the trend for girls of this age to drop out of physical activity at a higher rate than boys [34] and therefore, separate focus groups could provide into why this is the case. As a result, two focus groups were conducted in each school, except for one school where, due to time constraints, boys and girls were combined to make one focus group.

Focus groups were carried out at the schools during the school day to ensure pupils remained in a comfortable, familiar setting and lasted 30-60 min (the average length was 38.42 min). A lead moderator, previously experienced in leading focus groups, facilitated the focus groups to allow detailed discussion of the teenager's recommendations and gain a better understanding of their needs; improving the quality of ACTIVE's aims [36]. An assistant moderator was also present at each focus group and was responsible for taking notes and audio recording. The assistant moderator was also responsible for reporting back to participants on their main discussions from the focus groups to ensure correct interpretation and understanding and gain clarity over any points discussed, a method of respondent validation [37] and increasing the trustworthiness of the findings. The pupils involved in the focus groups had previously met the moderator/assistant moderator during data collection at the school. To ensure consistency across all focus groups, a semi-structured topic-guide was used, which reflected the study's aims [38]. This can be found as Additional file 1. This was to provide triggers for discussion rather than a prescriptive structure. Once transcribed in verbatim, NVivo 10 was used to manage, code and analyse the data and two researchers validated the themes derived from the data via triangulation [2]. This was done after the coding process. To protect participants identities, names were removed during transcription. Participants were encouraged to review themes in order to validate findings.

Thematic analysis (TA) was undertaken in order to identify, analyse and report patterns within the

discussion with the teenage participants without the rigidity and inflexibility of other qualitative analysis methods [39, 40]. This analysis approach was used due to the ability of TA to examine the different perspectives of the participants, as well as its usefulness to summarise key points of a large data set [40] helping to produce a clear conclusion, particularly in this instance where many viewpoints needed to be considered. This is due to TA forcing the researcher to take a well-structured approach to handling data [40].

Braun and Clarke's Phases of Thematic Analysis (2006) [41] was used to underpin the coding process. Once familiarised with the transcripts of the focus groups, initial codes were generated, defined and named accordingly with data collated into the relevant theme. This process was ongoing throughout the analysis phase to refine the specifics of each theme and the overall story the analysis told [41]. The analysis was carried out by two researchers independently who compared coding/themes in order to guarantee no new codes/themes have emerged and there are instances of the same theme to ensure data saturation [42]. This also helped achieve inter-rater reliability. Lincoln and Guba's (1985) criteria for trustworthiness was used to ensure trustworthiness by using an audit trail, method and analyst triangulation [2]. Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREO) guidelines were used to inform the analysis and presentation of this study [43].

Ethical approval

All participants provided written assent and parental consent for participation in focus groups. Participation was voluntary and participants were informed of their right to withdraw from any aspects of the study at any time. The College of Human and Health Science Ethics Committee at the College of Medicine, Swansea University granted the ACTIVE Project ethical approval on 12/05/2016 (Reference: 090516).

Findings

Themes emerged following Braun and Clarke's Phases of Thematic Analysis (2006) [41]. Initially, 17 codes were used across the entire data set with these collated into six key recommendations based on similarities in phrases/words used by participants. This was the point in which data saturation occurred and no new codes emerged when researcher's compared analysis.

The six recommendations to improve physical activity for teenagers were: i) Lower/remove the cost of activities without sacrificing the quality, ii) Make physical activity opportunities more locally accessible, iii) Improve the standards of existing facilities, iv) Make activities more specific to teenagers, v) Give teenagers a choice of activities/increase variety of activity and vi) Provide activities that teenage girls enjoy (key quotes from the focus groups are in Table 1).

Lower/remove of the cost of activities without sacrificing the quality

Teenagers identified reducing the cost of being active as a key recommendation. They suggested that there could be a reduction made to the existing price of activities in order to increase accessibility and sustainability. A boy stated that "...if it was like free and all that you'd see loads of other older kids going to try it out because they know it's free and it's something to do with their friends, and they don't have to spend their own money" (Boy, Focus Group 13). Another girl reiterated this point by saying "...and probably if like the leisure centres dropped their prices, you know, maybe people will think, oh that's cheaper, okay I'll go back" (Girl, Focus Group 6).

One girl explained how she would have to ask for money from her parents in order to access activities and this would make her feel bad, as she knew her parents were reluctant to pay. This would deter her from being active. She said "...I feel bad when I have to go up to my parents and ask them for money, because their face is just like, right, and then you can see them as they pass the money over and they don't like it" (Girl, Focus Group 4). Free activities were recommended as an alternative approach; however, teenagers were aware that there is sometimes a trade-off in quality in exchange for lower priced activities. One boy explained that "...they've got like one indoor pitch which costs a lot to play in, or they've just got outdoor pitches which are, like, really cheap to play but it's, like, really cold. They don't put, like, any lights on" (Boy, Focus Group 9).

If the facilities are without heat or are dirty or unsafe due to low investment this will not encourage activity hence, purely lowering cost, without maintaining the quality of provision would not have the desired effect in enhancing teenage activity levels. One way to tackle this is to offer informal activities in a good quality venue, as these incur less cost to run and attend [16]. This would include offering self-directed gym sessions, unstructured football sessions where teenagers can attend and play without coaching, or provision of any venue where a qualified coach is not required to teach technical movements or referee. This focus on quality of facilities is also re-iterated in the theme pertaining to improving the standards of existing facilities.

Improve local access to physical activity opportunities

Throughout the focus groups, it was evident activities should be made more local to where teenagers lived. Similar to the theme of cost, improving access to activity has repeatedly been expressed as a barrier [3, 11, 14, 15]. Teenagers advocated for closer proximity of facilities,

James et al. BMC Public Health (2018) 18:372

 Table 1 Six Key Recommendations to Improve Teenage Activity

 Teenage recommendations

Lower/remove of the cost of activities without sacrificing the quality "And probably if like the leisure centres dropped their prices, you know, maybe people will think, oh that's cheaper, okay I'll go back." (Girl, Focus Group 6)

What they could do is like get like something in a park... if they say it's like a free thing they would all just like come in and do it, instead of... if they say it's like £3 to come in they'd be like oh okay, bye." (Boy, Focus Group 13)

"...if it was like free and all that you'd see loads of other older kids going to try it out because they know it's free and it's something to do with their friends, and they don't have to spend their own money." (Boy, Focus Group 13)

"...they've got like one indoor pitch which costs a lot to play in, or they've just got outdoor pitches which are, like, really cheap to play but it's, like, really cold. They don't put, like, any lights on." (Boy, Focus Group 9)

"...1 feel bad when I have to go up to my parents and ask them for money, because their face is just like, right, and then you can see them as they pass the money over and they don't like it." (Girl, Focus Group 4)

Improving the locality of physical activity opportunities

"Well I would say bring more facilities, bring more stuff so then like more football pitches, basketball pitches, like more stuff so they're going to want to go outside." (Boy, Focus Group 5)

"Just like a little gym, in the park or something, 'cos I would go then 'cos it's like really close." (Girl, Focus Group 6)

"So there's the travel, but if it was, like, in your community, then it wouldn't be so bad." (Girl, Focus Group 10)

"They could spend more money and invest in putting buildings in that area where they could put, for example, badminton, tennis, football, rugby" (Girl, Focus Group 8)

Improving the standards of existing facilities

"Like we said, like, fix the parks and stuff like that." (Girl, Focus Group 10)

"I think they could like, well not even like every year, like every other year they could go round to each park and renew all the apparatus." (Boy, Focus Group 5)

"And in the gym there's umm a few of the machines are broke, you could pay to get them fixed or like help get new ones and stuff like that." (Boy, Focus Group 7)

"They need to make the environment better." (Girl, Focus Group 10) "But why don't they invest in building more things down there for our age because I, you walk through there and you mostly see glass bottles on the floor, on benches and..." (Boy, Focus Group 9)

"Yeah, council investing in, like, one-way systems and everything and they're wasting money on build, on making these one-way systems and everything when they could be looking at our age and start investing in buildings that we can go to and enjoy ourselves after school." (80y, Focus Group 9)

Make activties more specific to teenagers

"And they always do adult things, like they never really aim at anything for teenagers, like people our age." (Girl, Focus Group 6)

"Yeah, the government is complaining saying that we're getting like, there's like less people being fit but there's not really more facilities and stuff for like teenagers." (Girl, Focus Group 6)

"No, and like I just think they should put more activities out for younger people, like..." (Girl, Focus Group 6)

Table 1 Six Key Recommendations to Improve Teenage Activity (Continued)

"For our age group and under 16's, not so much adults..." (Boy, Focus Group 7)

Give teenagers a choice and variety of activities

"There's like clubs on, it's the exact same every single time you go." (Girl, Focus Group 2)

"...they should give you a sheet at the beginning of the year and then choose which ones you want to do and then they go with the majority..." (Girl, Focus Group 12)

"Rather than doing the same thing, like football, hockey, you know...' (Girl, Focus Group 4)

"Yeah, but they could take us out of our PSE when we have it and then maybe at dinner times?"(Boy, Focus Group 1)

"Yeah I think it's as much quantity as it is quality." (Boy, Focus Group 13)

Provide activities that teenage girls can enjoy

"If I don't like it, I won't do it."(Girl, Focus Group 10)

"You could hold like a football game but then for the people who like football and then for the people who like cheerleading they could let them cheerlead, or people who like dancing and things you could just hold a massive event of sports and have people performing." (Girl, Focus Group 12)

"Make sure, like get their friends to do it as well, so then their friends can encourage them, like oh I'm going to go there, oh come with me, be like oh okay. Ask them." (Girl, Focus Group 12)

"Yeah, just ask them if they want to go swimming, like say it's a normal thing, 'cos nobody would think of swimming as like an active thing isn't it, just for fun" (Girl, Focus Group 6)

commenting that they would be more inclined to access activities that are closer to their homes. One boy said, "I would say bring more facilities, bring more stuff so then like more football pitches, basketball pitches, like more stuff so they're going to want to go outside" (Boy, Focus Group 5). A girl noted that the proximity of "...a little gym, in the park or something" would help her be active "...'cos it's like really close" (Girl, Focus Group 6). This was particularly relevant to outdoor spaces like pitches and parks. Teenagers suggested that they need to travel to be able to play outdoors, and this would incur an additional cost.

Removing the need for travel to venues, would go some way to making physical activity more accessible to these teenagers. Both boys and girls provided examples of specific equipment and/or facilities to increase physical activity such as more local "football pitches, basketball hoops" and "little gyms in the park". It was apparent in the focus groups that both teenage boys and girls were happy to organise their own activity if provided with the facilities, as they did not mention the need for formal coaching in these activities. This suggests teenagers would like the increased opportunity and space to participate in unstructured, non-competitive forms of their favourite sports.

Improving the standards of existing facilities

When teenagers discussed their local facilities, they noted their current standards are in need of improvement. This was due to facilities, such as parks, falling into states of neglect and equipment being broken. This conversation focussed on local parks but also extended to discuss gym equipment and the aesthetic features of facilities (e.g., lighting). There were small differences in the way in which boys and girls felt this maintenance could be done. Boys recommended buying new equipment to replace the old, while girls discussed improving what is already there for example, one girl said, "Like we said, like, fix the parks and stuff like that" (Girl, Focus Group 10). One boy stated, "I think they could like, well not even like every year, like every other year they could go round to each park and renew all the apparatus" (Boy, Focus Group 5). Another boy noted the ways in which the council has been investing in other provisions that he did not feel was important, he said, "...yeah, council investing in, like, one-way systems and everything and they're wasting money on build, on making these one-way systems and everything when they could be looking at our age and start investing in buildings that we can go to and enjoy ourselves after school" (Boy, Focus Group 9). It was apparent among focus groups with both genders that local facilities are lacking. The council's control of local provision was frustrating for teenagers because they felt more should be invested to maintain the environment and improve local facilities. It was evident that what is already in the community is not appealing to teenagers due to lack of general maintenance.

By improving and updating local activity provision, teenagers say they are more likely to access them. Their recommendations propose that the local council need to be more proactive in their monitoring and upkeep of facilities. There was a mutual feeling among boys and girls that the local council is avoiding investing in teenagers and have chosen to invest in other developments, such as road maintenance, which teenagers do not value. This point also draws out the need for activities and facilities invested in to be useable and appealing to teenagers and relates strongly to the next theme of ensuring activities provided are specific to teenagers.

Make activities more specific to teenagers

Both girls and boys commented on making activities more age-relevant. Girls in one focus group discussed the ways in which activity provision does not target their age group and wanted more *"encouragement"* or to clearly be included and invited. There is very little that specifically invites teenagers or promotes and provides where they feel it is for them. One girl stated "...they always do adult things, like they never really aim at

anything for teenagers, like people our age" (Girl, Focus Group 6). Another boy echoed this by saying he wanted to see more activity provision for "...our age group and under 16's, not so much adults..." (Boy, Focus Group 7). The provisions suggested by these teenagers included

whole gyms designed for their age group and the ability to be able to attend existing classes for example, currently, there are age restrictions on classes like Zumba and Yoga. The teenagers believed the local council has neglected their age group, one girl said "...yeah, the government is complaining saying that we're getting like, there's like less people being fit but there's not really more facilities and stuff for like teenagers" (Girl, Focus Group 6). Boys also acknowledged the lack of provision for their age group, noting that that most provision is aimed at adults.

Give teenagers a choice and variety of activities

Teenagers in most of the focus groups recommended that they have a choice over which activities are available for their age group. In terms of local community provision, they wanted "quantity as well as quality", allowing them to access a broad variety of activities. The focus groups made it evident that local activity provision is lacking in variety and teenagers do not get a choice as to what activities they would like to do. One girl said that "there's like clubs on, it's the exact same every single time you go" (Girl, Focus Group 2). While another girl requested that activity provision should be varied "rather than doing the same thing, like football, hockey, you know ... " (Girl, Focus Group 4). Like the "improving locality of physical activity" theme, the activities suggested to provide variety were unstructured. For example, one participant suggested they would like more choice to be able to play non-conventional sports like dodgeball in an unstructured format, where they could organise teams and rules themselves.

This lack of choice and variety was evident in the school setting too. The girls discussed this lack of choice in detail, suggesting they were more disengaged with school sport than the boys were. Girls discussed how inflexible Physical Education (PE) lessons were to providing variety and suggested giving each pupil a sheet at the beginning of the year with which they could suggest/pick activities they would like to do. They noted that schools provide traditional, structured forms of sport, whereas they would prefer more unstructured activities. One girl suggested that "...they should give you a sheet at the beginning of the year and then choose which ones you want to do and then they go with the majority..." (Girl, Focus Group 12).

The boys discussed being able to have the ability to choose when they could be active, for example, being able to come out of other lessons to do so. For the boys, it was more of a case of being able to choose to do more activity rather than being discontent with the activity already on offer.

Provide activities that teenage girls can enjoy

It was apparent when discussing types of activity, that teenage girls are more likely to be active if they can access activities they enjoy. It was evident that if they do not like what is on offer, they will not participate in it and would prefer to be inactive. One girl said "if I don't like it, I won't do it" (Girl, Focus Group 10). The idea of being able to enjoy activity was prominent amongst the girls in the focus groups and a greater emphasis was placed on the enjoyment aspect of activity among girls throughout discussions. It was important for girls that the purpose of the activity was not to 'be active' per se, rather they preferred the emphasis to be on the opportunity for them to have fun. The examples of activities that fit this criteria were the local waterpark (with slides and wave machines) and a trampoline park because "it's fun," yet still gets teens active. One focus group also suggested the idea of a girl's only gym in which girls could be the only ones allowed to access it which would make the experience more enjoyable as being red and sweaty in front of boys was described as a barrier.

Inclusivity was a big part of this theme as girls suggested that everyone has a role to play in activities. These different roles included unstructured forms of activity such as cheerleading for school sports teams, which could be led and organised by teenagers. One example of how this could be done was suggested by a girl who said, "You could hold like a football game but then for the people who like football and then for the people who like cheerleading they could let them cheerlead, or people who like dancing and things you could just hold a massive event of sports and have people performing" (Girl, Focus Group 12). Inclusive activities would also mean peers could be actilite to spend with friends and facilitate social networks, which was appealing for teenagers [13].

Discussion

This study aimed to explore the recommendations made by teenagers to improve activity provision, uptake and sustainability of physical activity engagement for both themselves and their peers. The focus groups identified six key themes that would be important to consider in order to improve the success of physical activity policies and initiatives for young people. The study suggests that cost, accessibility and lack of local facilities are perceived by teenagers to be barriers to physical activity as confirmed in other research publications [11–17]. Previous studies have found short-term improvement to physical activity levels when purely addressing the barriers to being active, [19], particularly in the school setting [3, 11, 20]. However, the repeated acknowledgment of these barriers in this study suggests that despite a number of initiatives implemented to tackle these obstacles, the issue has not been adequately addressed long-term.

Throughout the focus groups, the increased opportunity to participate in unstructured activity was a key recommendation echoed by both boys and girls in all themes. This is noteworthy as previous interventions have offered structured activity such as coached dance lessons to combat inactivity, however these have only seen short-term improvements to physical activity and do not show evidence of sustainability [3]. There was no mention of coaches, teams or leagues but there was a universal agreement that activity should allow teenagers the opportunity to enjoy and choose what they would like to do with their friends.

It was clear from this study that current activity provision is not meeting the wants and needs of young people. Teenagers feel frustrated, not encouraged and disengaged with local physical activity provision. This lack of choice means teenagers are bored and disengaged with their local provision as there is difference between what is offered and what teenagers would like to do [24]. For example, teenagers suggested they wanted access to nice facilities for little to no cost and no oversight therefore it could be an idea to increase the accessibility to leisure centres or improve the facilities in local parks so that teenagers can go to the gym or play football with their friends in pleasant environments. This could be as simple as the local council organising an evening where teenagers can use their gyms for free or at a reduced rate. Teenagers would feel valued and allow them to have more choice in what they can do in their local areas.

Involving teenagers in the design and implementation of physical activity initiatives in this way is imperative in empowering teenagers to positively influence their activity levels. Therefore, acknowledging and gaining a better understanding of teenagers' own recommendations and needs would increase the legitimacy and feasibility of activity interventions as agreed with by previous literature involving the public in designing public health initiatives [21, 22]. The recommendations highlight the importance of relevance, choice and motivation for teenagers. Motivation, in particular, is an important correlate and determinant of physical activity [31]. The importance of acknowledging the different types of motivation to be active cannot be understated as this would help policymakers understand why teenagers choose to be active and tailor initiatives to suit motivations. Self-Determination Theory (SDT) [44] has emerged as a popular framework for examining motivation and physical activity [31] as it differentiates between controlled motivation (e.g., regulated by external control or guilt) and autonomous motivation (e.g., regulated by enjoyment and personal values) [30]. The recommendations made suggest teenagers are motivated autonomously due to their focus on enjoyment and personal values of spending money, for example. This is positively related to sustained health behaviours [31]. Therefore, by addressing autonomous motivation, policy-makers are more likely to promote physical activity behaviours that would be valued and sustained by young people. Consequently, addressing accessibility, specificity of activity, choice and enjoyment is paramount to improving teenage activity levels.

During the focus group discussions, there were a few subtle gender differences to emerge. For example, girls placed more emphasis on the enjoyment aspect of activity and the need to be active with friends. Girls also seemed to be more disengaged with school PE than boys, something that has been acknowledged by previous initiatives [10, 17]. More girls are believed to have negative experiences in PE that lower interest and involvement in physical activity in their leisure time [45]. These findings suggest that a focus on reviewing physical activity provision for girls in secondary schools may go some way towards addressing girls' physical activity levels (e.g., allowing them a choice of activities to choose from). This is particularly important as declines in physical activity levels amongst girls are greater than in boys [34]. Gender differences have been acknowledged in physical activity interventions, however they have either been unsuccessful or positive outcomes have been shortlived [3, 34, 46]. This may be due to not considering what motivates teenage girls. For example, implementing a school-based intervention with dance as the activity will not be successful if girls do not enjoy dance. Hence, while certain aspects of physical activity interventions may need to be tailored to specific genders (e.g., greater emphasis on selling the enjoyment and socialisation aspect of the intervention for girls), the overall core components need not differ. Focusing on reducing cost, improving locality and standards of physical activity facilities, lowering age limits on activities and providing choice and variety is likely to enhance participation for both boys and girls in this age group.

Limitations

Whilst the use of focus groups enabled a more in-depth exploration of teenager's barriers to physical activity, the focus groups were conducted with a limited age range and only those children consenting to take part in the study were able to be involved in the focus groups. These children could potentially be the more active and involved children, perhaps not capturing the views of those less engaged with activity and health. Furthermore, the focus groups were conducted with a limited agerange of teenagers (aged 13–14 years old), this means the recommendations made by teenagers aged 15 years old and upwards have not been included and may differ. One focus group was conducted with both boys and girls together, which may also have affected the recommendations made from this particular focus group.

Conclusion

Teenagers believe current physical activity provisions should be low cost, should be local, are in need of improvement, should be specific to their age, need more choice/variety and need to include activities that they enjoy. Based on the recommendations made by teenagers in this paper, physical activity interventions could be influenced and designed more effectively. For example, the six recommendations could be used as a guide for future activity regarding activity levels in young people. In particular, interventions need to consider the motivations of teenagers in reference to Self-Determination Theory [44] as a guiding principle in their development. They should consider whether the group they are targeting are motivated in a controlled or autonomous manner in order to be more effective. Therefore, a consultation phase, could go a long way to improving physical activity in certain groups. As previously mentioned, involving target populations in policy-making processes is said to increase legitimacy, justifiability and feasibility over policies made through more traditional, top-down methods [22].

Throughout the focus groups and spanning across all themes, the increased opportunity to participate in unstructured activity was echoed by both boys and girls in all themes. There was no mention of coaches, instructors, teams or leagues. However, there was a universal agreement that activity should allow teenagers the opportunity to enjoy and choose what they would like to do with their friends. Key examples of this were accessing the local trampoline and water park. In these environments, teenagers can organise their own activity and define their own teams and rules. Therefore, if allocated the correct facilities, resources and opportunities, teenagers believe they would be more active.

Policy-makers and those involved in physical activity delivery (e.g., schools, local council and local activity providers) should include young people in designing interventions and facilities to ensure they are meeting the needs of this age group and providing the right opportunities for teenagers to be active. By acknowledging the recommendations made in this paper, physical activity initiatives can improve uptake, sustainability and overall success of future projects. The ACTIVE Project [27] will use these recommendations to underpin its delivery of a physical activity intervention for young people in Wales focusing upon user involvement in its design and implementation. James et al. BMC Public Health (2018) 18:372

Additional file

Additional file 1: ACTIVE Focus Group Topic Guide PUBH-D-17-02284R2 ACTIVE Focus Group Questions The topic guides for the ACTIVE focus groups for both intervention and control schools. (DOCX 14 kb)

Abbreviations

Abbreviations ACTIVE: Active Children Through Individual VouchersEvaluation; COREQ: Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research; MVPA: Moderate to vigorous physical activity; PE: Physical education; SDT: Self-determination theory; TA: Thematic analysis

Acknowledgements

Not applicable

Funding The British Heart Foundation has funded the ACTIVE Project. This funding has facilitated the use of the activity vouchers. The funders have peer-reviewed the study protocol.

Availability of data and materials

Included as table one

Authors' contribution

MUTORS contributions MJ – Wrote the first draft of the paper and all authors provided critical input and revisions for all further drafts, DC, MJ, CT & SS - Undertook data collection and data analysis. CT, SB, GS, JH, SAudrey, SM, EE – Designed the

Ethics approval and consent to participate

The College of Human and Health Science Ethics Committee at the College of Medicine, Swansea University granted ACTIVE ethical approval on 12/05/2016 (Reference: 090516). Participant consent for primary and secondary outcomes was voluntary and involved parental consent and pupil assent forms

Consent for publication Consent has been obtained to publish from the participant's legal parent or guardian to report individual patient data.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Publisher's Note

nger Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliation

Author details

Author details 'College of Medicine, Data Science Building, Swansea University, Singleton Park, Swansea SA2 BPP, UK. 'College of Engineering, Bay Campus Swansea University, Fabian Way, Crymlyn Burrows, Steven, Swansea SA1 8EN, UK. "City and Council of Swansea, Room 135, Guildhall, Swansea, SA1 8FE, Swansea, UK. 'Department of Sport and Physical Activity, Edge Hill University, St Helens Road, Ormskirk, Lancs, L39 4CP, Wolverhampton, UK. 'Swansea University, Singleton Park, Swansea SA2 8PP, UK. 'Office Room 402, Canying Hill, 20. Metain: Pacel Reirat, 1862. 2012. 'Weichnown Comprehendance's Network Statement's Sansea Statement's Sansea Statement's Sansea University, Singleton Park, Swansea SA2 8PP, UK. 'Office Room 402, Canying Hill, 20. Metain: Pacel Reirat, 1862. 2012. 'Weichnown Comprehendance's Sansea Statement's Sansea Statement's Sansea Statement's Sansea University, Singleton Park, Swansea SA2 8PP, UK. 'Office Room 402, Canying Hill, 20. Metain: Pacel Reirat, 1962. 2012. 'Weichnown Comprehendance's Sansea Statement's Sansea Statement's Sansea Statement's Sansea Sansea Statement's Sansea Statement's Sansea's Oniversity, angleton r and swates a zet of r ot. Omiter footh exact, Cany Hall, 39 Whatey Road, Britch OBS 2PS, UK. "Birchgrove Comphrehensive School, Birchgrove Rd, Birchgrove, Swansea SA7 9NB, Swansea, UK. "Cefn Hengoed Community School, 60 Caldicot Rd, Bon-y-maen, Swansea SA1 7HW, Swansea, UK.

Received: 7 August 2017 Accepted: 8 March 2018 Published online: 20 March 2018

- Department of Health. Physical activity guidelines for children and young people (5-18 years). 2011;11:406414. Evre ELL Duncan ML Birch SL. Cox VM Low socio-economic environmental 2 Eyre ED, Duncari MD, Bitch SL, CoX VM. LOW Socio-economic environmenta determinants of children's physical activity in Coventry, UK: a qualitative study in parents. Prev Med Reports. 2014;1:32–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. pmedr.2014.09.002.
- Jago R. Edwards MJ. Sebire SJ. Cooper AR. Powell JE. Bird EL. et al. Bristol 3 girls dance project (BGDP): protocol for a cluster randomised controlled trial of an after-school dance programme to increase physical activity among 11–12 year old girls. BMC Public Health. 2013;1003 https://doi.org/10.1186/ 1471-2458-13-1003
- Vir Legator Broux van Sluijs EMF, Kriemler S. Reflections on physical activity intervention research in young people dos, don'ts, and critical thoughts. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2016;13:25. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-016-0348-z Coopert AR, Goodman A, Page AS, Sherar LB, Esliger DW, van Sluijs EM, et al.
- Cooper Nr, Goodman, A. Yage A. Sheat Dr, Saller S. M. Sheat M. Sallay E. M., et al. Objectively measured physical activity and sedentary time in youth: the international children's accelerometry database (ICAD). Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2015;12:113. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-015-0274-5. De Ia Haye K, Robins G, Mohr P, Wilson C. How physical activity shapes, and is shaped by, adolescent friendships. Soc Sci Med. 2011;73:719–28. 6. ://doi.org/10.1016/i.socscimed.2011.06.023.
- Lee IM, Shiroma EJ, Lobelo F, Puska P, Blair SN, Katzmarzyk PT, et al. Effect of being sindonia D, boelo T, tosa T, pain SV, additina V, T et al. Elect of hysical inactivity on major non-communicable diseases worldwide an analysis of burden of disease and life expectancy. Lancet. 2012;380:219–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61031-9.
- 8 Garcia JM, Sirard JR, Deutsch NL, Weltman A. The influence of friends and Sarcia JM, shard JM, Deutsch MC, Weithan AK. The influence of menos psychosocial factors on physical activity and screen time behavior in adolescents: a mixed-methods analysis. J Behav Med. 2016;39:610–23. Li J, Siegrist J. Physical activity and risk of cardiovascular disease- a me
- analysis of prospective cohort studies. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2012:9:391-407
- Murphy NM, Ni Dhuinn M, Browne PA, ÓRathaille MM. Physical activity for bone health in inactive teenage girls: is a supervised, teacher-led program or self-led program best? J Adolesc Health. 2006;39:508–14. 10
- Christian D. Todd C. Hill R. Rance J. Mackintosh K. Stratton G. et al. Active 11 children through incentive vouchers – evaluation (ACTIVE): a mixed-method feasibility study. BMC Public Health. 2016;16:890. https://doi.org/10.1186/
- 12. Filippidis FT, Laverty AA. Perceptions of opportunities for physical activity in 13
- Emplois FT, Laverty AA, Perceptions of opportunities for physical activity in 28 European countries. Prev Med (Baltim), 2016;86:136–40. Charlton R, Gravenor MB, Rees A, Knox G, Hill R, Rahman MA, et al. Factors associated with low fitness in adolescents–a mixed methods study. BMC Public Health. 2014;14:764. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-14-764. Brophy S, Crowley A, Mistry R, Hill R, Choudhury S, Thomas NE, et al.
- 14 Recommendations to improve physical activity among teenagers-a qualitative study with ethnic minority and European teenagers. BMC Public Health. 2011;1412. Carlin A, Murphy MH, Gallagher AM. Current influences and approaches to
- 15.
- Canin A, windpi Win, Ganagher Awit (11) 11–13 year olds: a focus group study. BMC Public Health. 2015;15:1270. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-015-2601-9. Sterdt E, Liersch S, Walter U. Correlates of physical activity of children and adolescents: a systematic review of reviews. Health Educ J. 2013;73:1–18. https://doi.org/10.1177/0017896912469578. 16.
- 17 Mitchell E. Grav S. Inchley J. "This choice thing really works..." changes in witcheir , Gay S, inclueg J. This choice timp fearly works ... Catalogs in experiences and engagement of adolescent girls in physical education classes, during a school-based physical activity programme. Phys Educ Sport Pedagog. 2015;205:93–611. https://doi.org/10.1080/17408989.2013.837433. Finkelstein EA, Tan Y-T, Malhora R, Lee C-F, Goh S-S, Saw S-M. A
- 18 cluster randomized controlled trial of an incentive-based outdoor Dysical activity program. J Pediatr. 2013;163:167–172.e1. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jpeds.2013.01.009.
 Shin DW, Yun JM, Shin J-H, Kwon H, Min HY, Joh H-K, et al. Enhancing
- 19. physical activity and reducing obesity through smartcare and financia ncentives: a pilot randomized trial. Obesity. 2017;25:302-10. https://doi.org
- 10.1002/oby.21731.
 Lawlor DA, Jago R, Noble SM, Chittleborough CR, Campbell R, Mytton J, et al. The Active for Life Year 5 (AFLY5) school based cluster randomised

Page 8 of 9

James et al. BMC Public Health (2018) 18:372

- controlled trial: Study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. Trials. 2011;12: no pagination-no pagination. doi:https://doi.org/10.1186/1745-6215-12-181.
 21. Percy-Smith B. "You think you know? __ You have no idea"; youth participation in health policy development. Health Educ Res. 200722:879-94.
 22. Degeling C, Catter SM, Rychetnik L. White, houblic: and why deliberate? a scoping review of public deliberation in public health and health policy research. Soc Sci Med. 2015;131:114–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed. 2015;03.09
- 2015.03.009 23. Hubbard G, Kidd L, Donaghy E, McDonald C, Kearney N. A review of
- Iterature about involving people affected by cancer in research, policy and planning and practice. Patient Educ Couns. 2007;65:21–33. Corder K, Atkin AJ, Ekelund U, van Sluijs EMF. What do adolescents 24
- want in order to become or active? BMC Public Health. 2013;13:718. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-13-718. Kehm R, Davey CS, Nanney MS. The role of family and community
- 25. involvement in the development and implementation of school nutrition. J Sch Health. 2015:85:90-9.
- Jacquez F, Vaughn LM, Wagner E, Youth as Partners, Participants or Passive Recipients: A Review of Children and Adolescents in Community-Based Participatory Research (CBPR). 2013;176–189. 26
- Participatory Research (CBPR). 2013;176–189.
 James M., Christian D, Scott S, Todd C, Stratton G, McCoubrey S, et al. Active children through individual vouchers evaluation (ACTIVE): protocol for a mixed method randomised control trial to increase physical activity levels in teenagers. BMC Public Health. 2018;18:1–8.
 Restall G. Conceptualizing the outcomes of involving people who use mental
- heating and conceptionaling the outcomes of informing people with a menal health services in policy development. Health Expect. 2015;18:1167–79. Souliotis K. Quality in healthcare and the contribution of patient and public involvement: talking the talk and walking the walk? Health Expect. 29. 2015;18:1-2.
- Owen KB, Astell-Burt T, Lonsdale C. The relationship between self-determined 30. Overn KJ, Steinoter T, Lubase C, Her Balaus J, Berner Barnetter Bernetter Birthaten and motivation and physical activity in addescent boys. J Adolesc Health. 2013;53: 420–2. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2013.05.007.
 Owen KB, Smith J, Lubans DR, Ng JYY, Lonsdale C. Self-determined
- motivation and physical activity in children and adolescents: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Prev Med (Baltim). 2014;67:270–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2014.07.033.
 Ntoumanis N, Standage M. Motivation in physical education classes: a
- self-determination theory perspective. Theory Res Educ. 2009;7:194–202. Government W. COMMUNITIES FIRST AREA PROFILE : 2016:200 November 33. 34.
- Miller J, Puglisi L, Perry J. What about the girls? Case study of change in a rural school. Paper presented at the British Educational Research Association London, September 6-8th, 2011.
- London, Scherner Vola, 2011. (Wiljalmsson R, Kristjansdottir G. Gender differences in physical activity in older children and adolescents: the central role of organized sport. Soc Sci Med. 2003;56:363–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0277-9536(02)00042-4. 35 Murray C. Peer led focus groups and young people. Child Soc. 2006:20:273–86. 36
- Murray C. Peer led tocus groups and young people. Child Soc. 2005;02:7-86.
 Torrance H. Triangulation, respondent validation, and democratic participation in mixed methods research. J Mix Methods Res. 2012;6:111–23. https://doi.org/10.1177/155869812437185.
 Hyde A, Howlett E, Brady D, Drennan J. The focus group method: insights from focus group interviews on sexual health with adolescents. Soc Sci Med. 2005;61:2588–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2005.04.040.
- Reau V, Clarke V. What can "thematic analysis" offer health and wellbeing researchers? Int J Qual Stud Health Well-being. 2014;9:9–10. 39.
- 40
- Nowell LS, Norris JM, White DE, Moules NJ. Thematic analysis. Int J Qual Methods. 2017;16:16094069177384. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940691773847. Braun V, Clarke V. Thematic_Analysis_Revised_1__Final_2006;3:77–101. Saunders B, Sim J, Kingstone T, Baker S, Waterfield J, Bartlam B, et al. 41
- 42. Saturation in qualitative research: exploring its conceptualization and
- Saturation in qualitative research: exploring its Conceptualization and operationalization. Qual Quark 2017;1–15. Tong A, Sainsbury P, Craig J. Consolidated criterio for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32- item checklist for interviews and focus group. 43.
- Inr J Qual Heal Care 2007;19:349–57.
 Ryan R, Deci E. Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. Am Psychol. 2000;55:68–78.
 Rees R, Kavanagh J, Harden A, Shepherd J, Brunton G, Oliver S, et al. Young
- people and physical activity: a systematic review matching their views to effective interventions. Health Educ Res. 2006;21:806–25.
- Chely AD, Lubars DR, Morgan PJ, Cotton W, Peralta L, Miller J, et al. Promoting physical activity among adolescent girls: the girls in sport group randomized trial. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2017;14:1–13. 46

Submit your next manuscript to BioMed Central and we will help you at every step:

- We accept pre-submission inquiries
- Our selector tool helps you to find the most relevant journal
- We provide round the clock customer support
- Convenient online submission
- Thorough peer review
- Inclusion in PubMed and all major indexing services Maximum visibility for your research

Submit your manuscript at www.biomedcentral.com/submit

BioMed Central

Appendix 9 Recruitment of Activity Providers



*Indicates provider offering more than one activity on-site.

Appendix 10 Active Children Through Individual Vouchers Evaluation: A Mixed Method RCT

American Journal of Preventive Medicine

RESEARCH ARTICLE

Active Children Through Individual Vouchers Evaluation: A Mixed-Method RCT

<u> </u>	
eck tor	
	Eck for

Michaela L. James, MSc,¹ Danielle Christian, PhD,² Samantha C. Scott, MSc,¹ Charlotte E. Todd, PhD,¹ Gareth Stratton, PhD,³ Joanne Demmler, PhD,¹ Sarah McCoubrey, MSc,⁴ Julian P.J. Halcox, MD,¹ Suzanne Audrey, PhD,⁵ Elizabeth A. Ellins, PhD,¹ Sinead T. Brophy, PhD¹

Introduction: Physical activity declines in adolescence, especially among those in deprived areas. Research suggests this may result from accessibility barriers (e.g., cost and locality). The Active Children Through Individual Vouchers Evaluation RCT aimed to improve the fitness and heart health of teenagers in Wales with the help of teenagers who co-produced the study.

Study design: This study was a mixed-method RCT.

Setting/participants: Before data collection, which took place at baseline, 6 months, and 12 months for both arms, 7 schools were randomized by an external statistician (4 intervention schools, n=524; 3 control schools, n=385).

Intervention: The Active Children Through Individual Vouchers Evaluation intervention included provision of activity vouchers (£20 per month), a peer mentoring scheme, and support worker engagement for 12 months between January and December 2017. Data analysis occurred February–April 2018.

Main outcome measures: Data included measures of cardiovascular fitness, cardiovascular health (blood pressure and pulse wave analysis), motivation, and focus groups.

Results: The intervention showed a trend to improve the distance ran (primary outcome) and was significant in improving the likelihood of intervention teenagers being fit (OR=1.21, 95% CI=1.07, 1.38, *p*=0.002). There was a reduction in teenagers classified as having high blood pressure (secondary outcome) in the intervention group (baseline, 5.3% [28/524]; 12 months, 2.7% [14/524]). Data on where teenagers used vouchers and evidence from focus groups showed that teenagers wanted to access more unstructured, informal, and social activities in their local areas.

Conclusions: Active Children Through Individual Vouchers Evaluation identified methods that may have a positive impact on cardiovascular fitness, cardiovascular health, and perspectives of activity. Consulting with teenagers, empowering them, and providing more local opportunities for them to take part in activities that are fun, unstructured, and social could positively impact teenage physical activity.

Trial registration: ISRCTN, ISRCTN75594310.

Am J Prev Med 2020;58(2):232–243. Crown Copyright © 2019 Published by Elsevier Inc. on behalf of American Journal of Preventive Medicine. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

From the ¹Swansea University Medical School, Swansea University, Swansea, United Kingdom; ²Department of Sport and Physical Activity, Edge Hill University, Ormskirk, United Kingdom; ³College of Engineering, Bay Campus, Swansea University, Swansea, United Kingdom; ⁴City and County of Swansea, Swansea, United Kingdom; and ³Population Health Sciences, Bristol, United Kingdom

Address correspondence to: Michaela James, MSc, Swansea University Medical School, Data Science Building, Swansea University, Singleton Park, Swansea, United Kingdom SA2 8PP. E-mail: m.l.james@swansea.ac.uk.

E-mail: m.l.james@swansea.ac.uk. 0749-3797/\$36.00 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2019.10.005

232 Am J Prev Med 2020;58(2):232–243 Crown Copyright © 2019 Published by Elsevier Inc. on behalf of American Journal of Preventive Medicine. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

James et al / Am J Prev Med 2020;58(2):232-243

INTRODUCTION

B eing physically active in adolescence is associated with health benefits, including a decreased risk of noncommunicable diseases, such as coronary heart disease and type 2 diabetes,^{1,2} as well as increased well-being and self-esteem.^{3,4} Coronary heart disease currently affects more than 7 million people in the United Kingdom.⁵ Therefore, the physical activity (PA) of teenagers is of public health concern.⁶ Public health guidelines recommend 60 minutes of moderate-to-vigorous PA daily.² However, it is reported that only 11% of girls and 20% of boys are sufficiently active in Wales.⁷

Secondary school has been identified as a key period of change in teenagers' PA behaviors³ and is an important setting for promoting PA.⁸ Behaviors adopted during this time are likely to be continued in adulthood.⁹ Teenagers report the main barrier to meeting PA recommendations is accessibility to PA opportunities.^{4,10,11} Accessibility is affected by cost, lack of local facilities, and motivation among teenagers,^{10,12} especially those from disadvantaged backgrounds.¹³

Self-determination theory (SDT)¹⁴ has emerged as a popular framework for examining motivation and PA¹⁵ as it differentiates between controlled motivation (e.g., regulated by external pressure or guilt) and autonomous motivation (e.g., regulated by enjoyment).¹⁵ SDT explains why people engage with, adopt, and maintain PA behaviors.¹⁶

To overcome accessibility barriers, voucher-based interventions to increase PA in the United Kingdom have been tested previously among adults.^{17,18} Financial incentives have been effective in increasing PA in adults,¹⁹⁻²¹ but it remains uncertain whether a similar approach could work with teenagers.²² A mixed-method feasibility study of vouchers has been carried out in 1 school with high levels of deprivation. The vouchers were used to empower teenagers to be consumers and enabled access to activities they normally could not ⁹ The teenagers chose to do unstructured, social afford.10 activities in their local communities. Additional qualitative work identified a disconnect between what teenagers wanted to do and what was available.¹¹ This approach was supported by teachers and teenagers who encouraged the development of a larger trial.

The Active Children Through Individual Vouchers Evaluation (ACTIVE) mixed-method RCT²² was developed following the feasibility study and subsequent conversations with teenagers recommending what they felt was needed to improve PA opportunities and fitness.⁴ This RCT aimed to assess whether a voucher-based, 12-month, multicomponent intervention can improve

February 2020

the cardiovascular fitness and cardiovascular health of participating teenagers in 4 intervention (compared with 3 control) secondary schools in South Wales.

METHODS

Study Population

The ACTIVE RCT was based in secondary schools in South Wales, United Kingdom. All teenagers in Year 9 (aged 13–14 years) were eligible to take part in the study with headteachers granting permission for schools to take part. Randomization occurred before baseline data collection into either intervention or control, with 4 schools assigned to the intervention and 3 schools to the control arm. Control schools were encouraged to continue usual practice and received a mindfulness-based stress reduction course for staff as a thank you for their participation. Schools were not blinded. A detailed protocol has been published.²² The College of Human and Health Science Ethics Committee granted ACTIVE ethical approval (reference: 090516).

The RCT was co-produced by teenagers, which allowed some flexibility as teenagers were able to choose how they used their vouchers. SDT was used in the planning of the intervention to understand the reasons teenagers would be likely to engage with the PA provision promoted by the project. Given the empowering nature of the intervention, autonomous motivation was facilitated, giving teenagers a choice rather than being prescriptive. Prescription would be considered controlled motivation. The latter approach has been used in previous studies with mixed, shortterm success.^{19,23} There were no changes to the methods from the protocol after the trial commenced. CONSORT guidelines²⁴ informed the analysis and presentation of the study.

Data collection took place at baseline, 6 months, and 12 months for both arms. Baseline collection took place between September to December 2016 with follow-up occurring November 2017 to January 2018. The measures examined for this paper are listed below, and a more detailed explanation including power calculations can be found in the protocol paper.²²

A total of 13 schools were assessed for eligibility; 4 did not meet inclusion criteria of being located in one of Wales' most deprived areas. School-level deprivation was derived from the Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation (WIMD), which is used to identify areas of deprivation based on income, employment, health, education, access to services, community safety, environment, and housing.²⁵ Schools were coded into 2 groups from this: either more deprived or less deprived for analysis. Two headteachers declined to participate (1 headteacher declined after randomization occurred). This meant 7 secondary schools took part. The demographics of the schools can be seen in Table 1. Figure 1 shows the participant flow of the study; 51 participants were lost from baseline to 12 months (n=38 in the intervention) because of moving schools or being absent during testing.

Following initial school recruitment, participants (in Year 9, aged 13-14 years) were recruited via school assemblies. Consent was voluntary and involved both written parental consent and pupil assent forms. ACTIVE recruited 909 participants. Members of the local council's sport development team (n=15) were also recruited at 12 months for a focus group to assess how partners, who had helped develop the trial, had perceived ACTIVE.

James et al / Am J Prev Med 2020;58(2):232-243

Table 1. Consent Rates

234

School	Pupils in Year 9, total (boys)	Participants in the study, total (boys)	Consent rate, %
School 1	113 (56)	93 (48)	82
School 2	231 (107)	191 (95)	83
School 3	125 (59)	115 (52)	92
School 4	128 (62)	116 (55)	91
School 5	97 (50)	84 (44)	87
School 6	142 (77)	136 (71)	96
School 7	190 (105)	146 (82)	77



Figure 1. Participant flow of the ACTIVE RCT.

ACTIVE, ACTIVE ACTIVE Children Through Individual Vouchers Evaluation; BREQ-2, Behavioral Regulation in Exercise Questionnaire; FSM, free school meal; PWA, pulse wave analysis.

www.ajpmonline.org

The intervention ran from January to December 2017 and consisted of (1) a voucher scheme, (2) peer mentoring, and (3) support worker engagement. Teenagers received PA vouchers of £20 (4 vouchers in increments of £5) each month for 12 months.²² Vouchers could be spent on existing PA provision (e.g., gym membership or sports clubs) or could be used to bring new activities into communities or schools. They could also purchase equipment. How the vouchers were spent was directed by the teenagers.

Teenagers were asked to identify peer mentors (10 from each school) via a peer nomination questionnaire in a similar approach to the Stop Smoking in School Trial.²⁶ Their role was to support and encourage the use of vouchers. Mentors had training via formal workshops throughout the school year from the local council and the support worker. An initial training session highlighting the peer mentors' purpose and developing mentoring skills was provided at the start of the academic year at an external location for the day, and subsequent sessions (1 every half term) took place at the Schools lasting 1 hour each. The support worker was based at the University and attended schools to increase pupil awareness of activity provision and encourage teenagers to design new activities through drop-in sessions and school assemblies once a month. All schools received the same amount of contact from the support worker.

The primary aim of this study was to assess the effectiveness of a multicomponent intervention in improving cardiovascular fitness. Secondary aims included evaluating the effects of the intervention on cardiovascular health (as assessed by blood pressure [BP] and pulse wave analysis as an indicator of arterial stiffness), as well as on exercise motivation (using the Behavioral Regulation in Exercise Questionnaire [BREQ-2] and the Relative Autonomy Index).

This study also aimed to explore the qualitative experiences of the intervention from teenagers' and stakeholders' perspectives. This helped to provide some further insight into the intervention's effectiveness. The results reported in this paper do not cover all aims from the protocol as some secondary aims will be written as their own standalone papers.

Measures

All teenagers in Year 9 took part in the Cooper Run Test²⁷ in the schools during physical education lessons. This was a 12-minute walk/run test where teenagers were instructed by the research team to complete as many laps of their school's sports hall as possible in the time. Two tests were run during the lesson to allow for peers to record each other's scores. Teenagers were categorized as fit based on whether their total meters ran was considered average and above according to normative data.²⁸

Participants had their BP measured using an Omron M2 sphygmomanometer. After resting and sitting down for 5 minutes, participants had 3 measurements taken from their left arm with 2 minutes between each and the average recorded. Participants with systolic BP >130 mmHg were categorized as having high BP. Researchers received training from the University's cardiology department to measure BP.

Pulse wave analysis was used to indicate arterial stiffness using the Vicorder.^{29,30} Once rested for 5 minutes, participants had 2 measures taken. If both measures of augmentation pressure were within \pm 5 mmHg of each other and augmentation index values were within \pm 5%, the 2 measures were accepted.²² If not, a third

February 2020

was taken, and the mean of all 3 used. Higher augmentation pressure and augmentation index readings can be used as an assessment of arterial stiffness as they indicate cardiovascular disease risk. $^{31-33}$

The BREO-2 questionnaire was used to measure teenagers' motivation to exercise in relation to their Relative Autonomy Index. Higher Relative Autonomy Index scores (larger positive weight) weights indicate more controlled regulation.¹⁶ The questionnaire consists of 19 items relating to 5 subscales: amotivation, external regulation, introjected regulation, identified regulation, and intrinsic regulation.2 Its validity and reliability has been tested in several populations.^{35–37} To gain an insight into the degree of autonomy individuals had for being physically active, the Relative Autonomy Index was calculated: this index has been used in similar studies. The Relative Autonomy Index is calculated by summing the scores of 5 subscales (3 × intrinsic motivation + 2 × identified regulation – introjected – $2 \times$ external regulation – $3 \times$ amotivation).¹⁶ The BREQ-2 was chosen because it is accessible for teenagers, clearly written, and uses a Likert scale for responses. Teenagers were asked to complete the questionnaire individually before either the Cooper Run Test or BP measurements.

Digitally recorded semistructured focus groups were conducted at 12 months (n=8) by 2 researchers, one who led the conversation and one who made notes to provide feedback to participants as a form of respondent validation.²⁹ These consisted of 6–8 teenagers per group, with boys and girls in separate groups, lasting between 20 and 40 minutes, and were conducted at the schools. Participants were selected purposively to gain a variety of viewpoints from those engaging well with the intervention and those whose activity was not based on voucher usage. The aim of the focus groups was to provide a greater understanding of the mediating factors that influenced PA and which aspects of the intervention were successful or unsuccessful.²² Members of the local council's community sport development team also took part in a focus group at 12 months to assess how external partners had perceived the intervention. This meant the total number of focus groups was 9.

Deprivation was measured using the WIMD, the official measure of small area deprivation in Wales.²⁵ This was done using postcode/lower layer super area output to determine a geographical hierarchy from Welsh Government data. This ranks lower layer super area outputs from most to least deprived.

Statistical Analysis

Linear mixed effects multilevel regression with intention-to-treat principles was used to analyze the effects of the intervention on the primary outcome in terms of distance. This was clustered by school and at an individual level in Stata, version 12. Logistic regression was also used to assess whether the intervention had an effect on whether pupils were fit or not fit. For secondary outcomes, comparisons were made between baseline and 12 months with differences and CIs presented for a measure of estimation. Data analysis occurred February–April 2018.

Two independent statisticians carried out parallel data analysis on all outcomes to avoid researcher bias. Multiple imputation of missing data because of absence during some testing was conducted using the chained equations³⁹ command in Stata. Data for the primary outcome of cardiovascular fitness was imputed for

102 participants at baseline and 170 at follow-up using measures of fitness at other timepoints (baseline/follow-up), sex, and deprivation. This generated one complete data set, which was used for analysis.

Transcription of the focus groups were verbatim, and NVivo, version 10 was used to manage, code, and analyze the data with 2 researchers validating the themes derived from the data via trian gulation. Braun and Clarke's Phases of Thematic Analysis⁴⁰ identified and reported codes and themes in the focus groups.

RESULTS

Baseline characteristics of both the intervention and control groups can be seen in Table 2. There was very little difference in the percentages of boys and girls in both arms. The intervention group was more deprived according to the WIMD but received a lower percentage of free school meals.

Regression models were run for the primary outcome (Appendix Table 1, available online) and secondary outcomes (Appendix Table 2, available online). However, for clarity and succinctness, comparison between outcomes for the intervention and control groups can be seen in Table 3.

The 6-month data showed the same observed trends for the outcomes. However, for clarity, comparisons have been presented between baseline and 12 months.

Linear mixed effects multilevel regression (Appendix Table 1, available online) showed that, overall, the intervention group ran fewer meters than the control group. However, the interaction between group and time (being in the intervention at 12 months) showed a trend that the intervention improved the distance run by teenagers, although this was not statistically significant. Therefore, the intervention group showed a trend to run farther than the control group at 12 months.

The number of teenagers categorized as fit in the control group declined by 5.4%, but there was only a reduction of 0.6% in the intervention group at 12 months. Logistic regression showed significantly higher odds of being fit at 12 months in the intervention group than the control group (OR=1.21, 95% CI=1.07, 1.38, p=0.002)

Table 2. Dasenne Gharacteristic	Table 2.	Baseline	Charao	cteristics
---------------------------------	----------	----------	--------	------------

Characteristic	Control	Intervention
Total, n (%)	385 (42)	524 (58)
Sex, n (%)		
Boy	213 (55)	254 (48)
Girl	172 (45)	270 (52)
School deprivation		
WIMD, mean	1,156	531
Free school meal %, mean	33	23

WIMD, Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation

(Appendix Table 1, available online). Girls in the intervention group showed a trend to become fitter (3% more children were fit) and the girls in the control group became less fit (7.5% more children were unfit).

The proportion of participants with high BP in the intervention group fell (baseline, 5.3% [28/524]; 12 months, 2.7% [14/524]), whereas the proportion of participants with high BP in the control increased (baseline, 1.6% [6/384]; 12 months, 3.1% [12/384]). Augmentation pressure and augmentation index improved in both arms. Deprived children in the intervention group saw a significant decrease in augmentation pressure compared with the control group.

Participants were autonomously motivated, with between 96% and 99% of teenagers in both arms autonomously motivated at baseline and 12 months. Total motivation showed a decreasing trend between the 2 timepoints. Girls in the intervention showed a significant decrease (0.6, 95% CI=0.0, 1.1), as well as deprived teenagers (0.6, 95% CI=0.0, 1.1). However, this change in the mean did not impact the percentage of participants who were autonomously motivated in the intervention.

Trampolining accounted for almost half of the voucher usage (49.1%), followed by laser tag (11.5%) and the waterpark (slides and surfing, 7.3%) (Appendix Table 3, available online). ACTIVE helped set up lunch-time clubs in 2 different schools at the request of teenagers, an unstructured football session, dance, and parkour.

The participants used 26.2% (7,545/28,800) of all the vouchers available, and boys made up 52% of the vouchers spent. Common themes for not using the vouchers included the lack of local provision (Appendix Table 4, available online).

Focus group conversations about the impact of the intervention flowed around 2 themes, the breaking down of cost barriers and changes in perception of PA. Teenagers reported they no longer had to ask their parents for money, which had often been a barrier. One boy said he was able to "go places and do different things" because of knowing more about what was available. The local council echoed this, they felt "...they [the vouchers] are making people more aware of what is in the local area so that they can be active..."

Teenagers reported changes in their local area thanks to the vouchers. A leisure center doubled the value of the vouchers to £10. "...they've doubled up, so like one is now worth £10 because it costs more than £5 for some of the sessions" (girl). In addition to this, the local trampoline park added free food, which made PA feel more social and welcoming. One girl stated, "...because then like you go there, you have food as well, it's like more of a thing."

www.ajpmonline.org

James et al / Am J Prev Med 2020;58(2):232-243

 Table 3. Intervention Compared with Control in Terms of Outcomes

Measure	Control	Intervention	Difference
Cooper run (% fit)			
Total, n	384	524	
Baseline, % (n or 95% Cl)	35.9 (138)	33.5 (176)	2.4 (-3.9, 8.6)
12 months, % (n or 95% CI)	30.4 (117)	33.0 (173)	-2.6 (-8.6, 3.6)
Difference, % (95% CI)	5.4 (-0.6, 1.6)	0.5 (-4.5, 5.7)	4.9 (2.7, 7.6)
Boys, n	212	254	
Baseline, % (n or 95% Cl)	22.1 (47)	24.4 (62)	-2.3 (-9.9, 5.5)
12 months, % (n or 95% CI)	18.3 (39)	20.0 (51)	-1.7 (-8.9, 5.5)
Difference, % (95% CI)	3.8 (-3.5, 11.1)	4.4 (-2.1, 10.8)	-0.6 (-0.2, 4.6)
Girls, n	172	270	
Baseline, % (n or 95% Cl)	52.9 (91)	42.2 (114)	10.7 (11.5, 20.2)
12 months, % (n or 95% CI)	45.3 (78)	45.1 (122)	0.2 (-9.4, 9.7)
Difference, % (95% CI)	7.5 (-2.8, 17.9)	-2.9 (-10.8, 4.8)	10.4 (0.4, 9.7)
Deprived, n	146	431	
Baseline, % (n or 95% CI)	36.3 (53)	35.0 (151)	1.3 (-7.7, 10.2)
12 months, % (n or 95% CI)	30.8 (45)	32.4 (140)	-1.6 (-10.4, 7.1)
Difference, % (95% CI)	5.5 (-4.4, 15.4)	2.6 (-3.1, 8.2)	2.9 (-0.4, 7.9)
Not deprived, n	238	93	· · · ·
Baseline, % (n or 95% Cl)	35.7 (85)	26.8 (25)	8.9 (-2.4, 20.1)
12 months, % (n or 95% CI)	30.2 (72)	35.4 (33)	-5.2 (-16.4, 5.9)
Difference, % (95% CI)	5.5 (-2.4, 13.3)	-8.6 (-20.6, 3.4)	14.1 (4.1, 19.2)
Cooper run (distance, m)			
Total, n	384	524	
Baseline, m (SD or 95% CI)	1,811.8 (±365.5)	1,781.9(±373.5)	29.9 (-18.9, 78.6)
12 months, m (SD or 95% CI)	1,756.0 (±384.4)	1,762.3 (±421.1)	-6.3 (-59.8, 47.2)
Difference, m (95% CI)	55.7 (11.1, 100.3)	19.6 (-16.7, 55.9)	36.1 (-93.1, 20.9)
Boys, n	212	254	
Baseline, m (SD or 95% CI)	1,989.9 (±346.0)	2,010.9 (±335.7)	-21 (-83.1, 41.2)
12 months, m (SD or 95% CI)	1,897.1 (±390.7)	1,953.2 (±400.3)	-56.1 (-128.4, 16.3)
Difference, m (95% CI)	92.8 (26.4, 159.1)	57.7 (0.2, 115.2)	35.1 (-122.2, 52.0)
Girls, n	172	270	
Baseline, m (SD or 95% CI)	1,592.2 (±252.1)	1,566.5 (±263.1)	25.7 (-23.9, 75.3)
12 months, m (SD or 95% CI)	1,582.1 (±295.8)	1,582.7 (±356.8)	-0.6 (-64.7, 63.5)
Difference, m (95% Cl)	10.1 (-46.6, 66.9)	-16.1 (-61.4, 29.0)	26.2 (-98.5, 46.1)
Deprived, n	146	431	
Baseline, m (SD or 95% CI)	1,806.2 (±295.4)	1,783.1 (±371.6)	23.1 (-43.4, 89.6)
12 months, m (SD or 95% CI)	1,770.5 (±359.3)	1,763.5 (±412.5)	7 (-68.2, 82.1)
Difference, m (95% Cl)	35.7 (-27.9, 99.4)	19.6 (-19.2, 58.4)	16.1 (-92.2, 60.0)
Not deprived, n	238	93	
Baseline, m (SD or 95% CI)	1,815.2 (±403.0)	1,776.3 (±384.1)	38.9 (-56.7, 134.6)
12 months, m (SD or 95% CI)	1,747.1 (±363.2)	1,756.5 (±461.1)	-9.4 (-109.8, 91.1)
Difference, m (95% Cl)	68.1 (7.3, 128.7)	19.8 (-79.9, 119.5)	48.3 (-163.2, 66.6)
Blood pressure (% high)			
Total, n	384	524	
Baseline, % (n or 95% CI)	1.6 (6)	5.3 (28)	-3.7 (-5.5, 0.2)
12 months, % (n or 95% CI)	3.1 (12)	2.7 (14)	0.4 (-1.7, 2.9)
Difference, % (95% CI)	-1.4 (-3.7, 0.6)	2.6 (-3.0, 5.0)	-4 (-0.9, 3.0)
Boys, n	212	254	,
Baseline, % (n or 95% Cl)	2.4 (5)	6.7 (17)	-4.3 (0.4, 8.3)
12 months, % (n or 95% CI)	4.2 (9)	3.5 (9)	0.7 (-2.9, 4.3)
Difference, % (95% CI)	-1.8 (-1.7, 5.7)	3.2 (-0.7, 7.2)	-1.4 (-1.9, 4.4)
			(continued on next nade)

February 2020

James et al / Am J Prev Med 2020;58(2):232–243

Table 3. Intervention Compared with Control in Terms of Outcomes (continued)

238

Measure	Control	Intervention	Difference
Girls, n	172	270	
Baseline, % (n or 95% Cl)	0.6 (1)	4.1 (11)	-3.5 (0.3, 6.6)
12 months, % (n or 95% CI)	1.7 (3)	1.9 (5)	0.2 (-3.3, 2.7)
Difference, % (95% CI)	-1.1(-1.7, 4.4)	2.2 (-0.7, 5.4)	-3.3 (-2.1, 3.7)
Deprived, n	146	431	
Baseline, % (n or 95% Cl)	2.0 (3)	4.6 (20)	-2.6 (-1.5, 5.3)
12 months, % (n or 95% CI)	3.4 (5)	2.3 (10)	1.1 (-1.6, 5.5)
Difference, % (95% CI)	-1.4 (-2.9, 5.9)	2.3 (-0.1, 4.9)	-3.7 (-2.6, 3.0)
Not deprived, n	238	93	
Baseline, % (n or 95% Cl)	1.3 (3)	8.6 (8)	7.3 (2.5, 14.8)
12 months, % (n or 95% CI)	2.9 (7)	4.3 (4)	-1.4 (-2.6, 7.7)
Difference, % (95% CI)	-1.6 (-1.1, 4.8)	4.3 (-3.2, 12.2)	-5.9 (-1.0, 8.9)
Augmentation pressure (mmHg)			
Total, n	384	524	
Baseline, mmHg (SD or 95% CI)	4.9 (±2.5)	5.0 (±2.6)	-0.1 (-0.5, 0.1)
12 months, mmHg (SD or 95% CI)	4.1 (±2.2)	4.0 (±2.4)	0.1 (-0.2, 0.3)
Difference, mmHg (95% CI)	0.8 (0.4, 1.1)	1 (0.7, 1.3)	0.2 (-0.1, 0.7)
Boys, n	212	254	
Baseline, mmHg (SD or 95% CI)	4.6 (±2.7)	4.6 (±2.6)	0.0 (-0.4, 0.5)
12 months, mmHg (SD or 95% CI)	4.1 (±2.2)	4.2 (±2.5)	0.1 (-0.4, 0.4)
Difference, mmHg (95% CI)	0.5 (-0.0, 0.9)	0.4 (-0.0, 0.8)	0.1 (-0.7, 0.5)
Girls, n	172	270	
Baseline, mmHg (SD or 95% CI)	5.2 (±2.3)	5.5 (±2.4)	-0.3 (-0.7, 0.1)
12 months, mmHg (SD or 95% CI)	4.0 (±2.2)	3.9 (±2.2)	0.1 (-0.3, 0.5)
Difference, mmHg (95% CI)	1.2 (0.7, 1.7)	1.6 (1.2, 2.0)	0.1 (-0.1, 0.9)
Deprived, n	146	431	
Baseline, mmHg (SD or 95% CI)	4.5 (±3.2)	5.2 (±2.4)	- 0.7 (- 1.2 , - 0.1)
12 months, mmHg (SD or 95% CI)	4.0 (±2.0)	4.1 (±2.3)	-1 (-0.5, 0.3)
Difference, mmHg (95% CI)	0.5 (-0.1, 1.1)	1.3 (0.8, 1.4)	0.8 (0.1, 1.4)
Not deprived, n	238	93	
Baseline, mmHg (SD or 95% CI)	5.1 (±2.0)	4.2 (±2.9)	0.9 (0.3, 1.4)
12 months, mmHg (SD or 95% CI)	4.1 (±2.3)	3.6 (±2.6)	0.5 (-0.0, 1.0)
Difference, mmHg (95% CI)	1.0 (0.5, 1.3)	0.6 (-0.2, 1.3)	0.4 (-1.2, 0.4)
Augmentation index (%)			
Total, n	384	524	
Baseline, % (SD or 95% Cl)	9.5 (±4.0)	10.0 (±4.6)	- 0.5 (- 1.1 , 0.0)
12 months, % (SD or 95% CI)	7.4 (±3.2)	7.6 (±4.3)	-0.2 (-0.6, 0.3)
Difference, % (95% CI)	2.1 (1.5, 2.5)	2.4 (1.8, 2.9)	-0.3 (-0.4, 1.0)
Boys, n	212	254	
Baseline, % (SD or 95% Cl)	8.8 (±3.9)	9.1 (±4.8)	-0.3 (-1.1, 0.5)
12 months, % (SD or 95% CI)	7.9 (±3.1)	8.1 (±4.5)	-0.2 (-0.9, 0.5)
Difference, % (95% CI)	0.9 (0.1, 1.5)	1.0 (0.2, 1.7)	-0.1 (-0.9, 1.1)
Girls, n	172	270	
Baseline, % (SD or 95% CI)	10.3 (±3.9)	10.9 (±4.1)	-0.6 (-1.3, 0.2)
12 months, % (SD or 95% CI)	6.9 (±3.2)	7.2 (±4.0)	-0.3 (-1.0, 0.4)
Difference, % (95% CI)	3.4 (2.6, 4.2)	3.7 (3.0, 4.4)	-0.3 (-0.7, 1.3)
Deprived, n	146	431	
Baseline, % (SD or 95% CI)	8.8 (±4.5)	10.4 (±4.3)	-1.6 (-2.4, -0.8)
12 months, % (SD or 95% CI)	7.6 (±3.0)	7.8 (±3.9)	-0.2 (-0.8, 0.5)
Difference, % (95% CI)	1.2 (0.2, 2.1)	2.6 (2.0, 3.1)	-1.4 (-2.5, -0.4)
			(continued on next page)

www.ajpmonline.org

James et al / Am J Prev Med 2020;58(2):232-243

	Table 3.	Intervention	Compared	with	Control in	Terms of	Outcomes	(continued)	1
--	----------	--------------	----------	------	------------	----------	----------	-------------	---

Measure	Control	Intervention	Difference
Not deprived, n	238	93	
Baseline, % (SD or 95% CI)	9.9 (±3.6)	8.3 (±5.2)	1.6 (0.6, 2.6)
12 months, % (SD or 95% CI)	7.4 (±3.3)	7.0 (±5.5)	0.4 (-0.5, 1.3)
Difference, % (95% CI)	2.5 (1.9, 3.2)	1.3 (-0.2, 2.8)	1.2 (-0.1, 2.5)
Motivation, BREQ-2 (% autonomous RAI)			
Total, n	384	524	
Baseline, % (n or 95% Cl)	98.1 (378)	97.1 (509)	1 (-0.9, 3)
12 months, % (n or 95% CI)	97.9 (377)	97.9 (513)	0 (-1.8, 1.9)
Difference, % (95% CI)	0.2 (-1.5, 2.1)	-0.8 (95-2.4, 0.9)	0.9 (-0.7, 1.7)
Boys, n	212	254	
Baseline, % (n or 95% CI)	98.1 (209)	97.6 (248)	0.5 (-2.1, 3.1)
12 months, % (n or 95% CI)	98.5 (210)	97.6 (248)	0.9 (-1.5, 3.4)
Difference, % (95% CI)	-0.4 (-2.9, 1.9)	0 (-2.1, 2.1)	-0.4 (-1.0, 2.6)
Girls, n	172	270	
Baseline, % (n or 95% CI)	98.2 (169)	96.6 (261)	0.6 (-1.5, 4.7)
12 months, % (n or 95% CI)	97.0 (167)	98.1 (265)	-1.1 (-3.9, 1.8)
Difference, % (95% CI)	1.2 (-1.6, 3.9)	-1.5 (-4.0, 1.0)	2.7 (-3.2, 3.0)
Deprived, n	146	431	
Baseline, % (n or 95% Cl)	97.2 (143)	98.1 (423)	-0.9 (-3.5, 1.8)
12 months, % (n or 95% CI)	99.3 (146)	98.1 (423)	1.2 (-1.1, 3.5)
Difference, % (95% CI)	-2.1 (-5.0, 0.9)	0 (-1.5, 1.5)	2.1 (0.4, 5.8)
Not deprived, n	238	93	
Baseline, % (n or 95% CI)	98.7 (235)	92.4 (86)	6.3 (2.1, 10.3)
12 months, % (n or 95% CI)	97.0 (231)	96.7 (90)	3 (-3.8, 4.4)
Difference, % (95% CI)	1.7 (-0.6, 4.0)	-4.3 (-10.3, 17.0)	6 (-1.0, 8.9)
Motivation (total RAI)			
Total, n	384	524	
Baseline, RAI score (SD or 95% CI)	9.1 (±3.5)	9.2 (±4.2)	-0.1 (-0.6, 0.4)
12 months, RAI score (SD or 95% CI)	8.6 (±3.2)	8.8 (±3.4)	-0.2 (-0.6, 0.2)
Difference, RAI score (95% CI)	0.5 (0.1, 1.0)	0.4 (0.0, 0.8)	0.1 (-0.2, 0.6)
Boys, RAI score, n	212	254	
Baseline, RAI score (SD or 95% CI)	9.3 (±3.5)	9.4 (±4.2)	-0.1 (-0.8, 0.5)
12 months, RAI score (SD or 95% CI)	8.8 (±3.0)	9.2 (±3.5)	-0.4 (-1.0, 0.1)
Difference, RAI score (95% CI)	0.4 (-0.1, 1.1)	0.2 (-0.3, 0.8)	0.2 (-0.1, 1.0)
Girls, RAI score, n	172	270	
Baseline, RAI score (SD or 95% CI)	8.9 (±3.4)	9.0 (±4.2)	-0.1 (-0.8, 0.6)
12 months, RAI score (SD or 95% CI)	8.2 (±3.5)	8.4 (±3.2)	-0.1 (-0.7, 0.5)
Difference, RAI score (95% CI)	0.7 (-0.0, 1.3)	0.6 (0.0, 1.1)	0.1 (-0.5, 0.7)
Deprived, RAI score, n	146	431	
Baseline, RAI score (SD or 95% CI)	8.7 (±3.8)	9.4 (±3.7)	-0.7 (-1.4, 0.0)
12 months, RAI score (SD or 95% CI)	8.8 (±3.1)	8.8 (±3.4)	-0.0 (-0.6, 0.5)
Difference, RAI score (95% CI)	-0.1 (-0.7, 0.6)	0.6 (0.1, 0.9)	-0.7 (-5.6, 6.9)
Not deprived, RAI score, n	238	93	
Baseline, RAI score (SD or 95% CI)	9.4 (±3.3)	8.4 (±6.0)	1.0 (-0.0, 1.9)
12 months, RAI score (SD or 95% CI)	8.4 (±3.3)	8.5 (±3.4)	-0.1 (-0.9, 0.6)
Difference, RAI score (95% CI)	1.0 (0.3, 1.5)	-0.1 (-1.3, 1.0)	1.1 (-6.9, 9.4)

Note: Boldface indicates statistical significance (p<0.05). BREQ-2, Behavioral Regulation in Exercise Questionnaire; RAI, Relative Autonomy Index.

February 2020

Some participants noted that the study had changed their view of PA. For example, one girl noted, "you don't realize its exercise. . ." For girls, this change of definition seemed to be very helpful as "you don't have to wear sports clothes, and it doesn't matter, but you can make a day of it, so like you can go to town, and then maybe go to Laser Zone" (girl). Changes in the perception were also present in the council focus group who discussed using ACTIVE's data to change their approach to PA provision. One individual said they would "use the results to shape and inform our planning for our areas" as well as tackling the issues associated with teenage inactivity. They noted that the data could underpin "how we can address them [barriers identified in ACTIVE] within our [school and community] programs.'

There were some aspects of the study that teenagers said were less positive. There was a lack of clarity about who the peer mentors were, and one boy stated "...like I haven't felt the need to like go to one." The participants suggested that the mentors should be chosen differently: "get a gym teacher to look at who does most sports in the school and like who enjoys it most" (boy). One girl said, "I feel like some of the people that have been chosen don't really want to be involved..." and a different selection process may have protected against this.

The teenagers thought that the support worker was beneficial, as they created awareness of what was new or "if anything had changed, which was really informative and nice" (boy, Focus Group 1). However, some teenagers noted that the timings of the support worker were not ideal; in particular, they said morning assemblies were a time when they do not pay attention. Additionally, the local council noted that one intervention school was a Welsh-medium school to which teenagers were likely to have commuted; therefore, the participants would not have benefited from any change in provision around the school.

DISCUSSION

Despite teenagers in the intervention running fewer meters than the control schools at both timepoints, being in the intervention showed trends of improving the distance run and was significant in improving the number of girls classified as fit. This is novel, as it provides evidence that giving teenagers a choice to access unstructured activities can benefit fitness. It is also novel that this study has shown the intervention helped reduce the number of teenagers that had high BP. Teenagers were autonomously motivated¹⁴ even before the implementation of the intervention. This provides a rationale, in line with SDT, as to why teenagers chose to access enjoyable, fun, and social activities on the project rather than more prescriptive, structured forms of PA.

There was some evidence that the intervention decreased autonomous motivation for girls and more deprived teenagers. This could be because the vouchers were perceived as an external pressure to be active.¹ However, the increase in fitness suggests that incentives could be beneficial in the short term while young people explore activity opportunities or used longer term in groups with particularly low fitness. Ultimately, this study highlights that lack of motivation is not the issue; young people do not need to be pressured into being active. What is currently on offer for teenagers is not what they want. The vouchers gave a novel insight into what teenagers enjoy doing and provided evidence that there should be a focus on listening to teenagers^{4,11} as opposed to being prescriptive. Activity providers should consult with teenagers to overcome accessibility barriers.

The study highlights some important baseline findings regarding teenage PA. Namely, approximately 65% of children are unfit and this may increase by 5% per year judging by changes in the control group. This is in line with previous findings.^{37,41} However, listening to what teenagers want and helping them overcome accessibility issues could go some way to preventing this. Previous PA interventions have been prescriptive, with specific activities or teaching strategies given to teenagers.^{3,23,38,42} They have had mixed success to date and are often short term.^{19,23} The findings from ACTIVE suggest there is a need to focus on allowing teenagers to have a say in activity provision.

The way the vouchers were used showed that unstructured fun activities were favored, which supports findings that teenagers see structured activities as a barrier to being active.^{4,10} The popularity of the trampoline park suggests that activities that place emphasis on fun are more appealing to teenagers.^{4,11} This is not to say that trampoline parks are a generalizable provision, but rather the nontraditional and social aspects are elements to implement in the future.

This study provides evidence that a co-produced intervention can have wider community benefits. Teenagers said that there had been changes made to local PA provision; one participant said that cost had been altered in a positive way. In addition, the local council used the feedback from ACTIVE to underpin their future planning. This provides evidence of the sustainability of ACTIVE as it helped inform the delivery of communityand school-based PA for teenagers.

Some barriers still existed that the intervention did not overcome. Participants used 26.2% of the vouchers. Some accessibility barriers were still present⁴³; teenagers stated they found it difficult to travel to activities further

www.ajpmonline.org

away from their homes. This suggests there is a lack of services and facilities in deprived areas and inability to travel for deprived children. Therefore, more research is needed to develop ways of overcoming this issue, whether addressing the transport itself or bringing more activities to local communities. Some community activities had either an upper age limit of 10 years or a minimum age limit of 16 years, and there was little specifically available and advertised for those aged 11–16 years. The high percentage of autonomously motivated teenagers may also have contributed to low voucher use as they may have perceived the vouchers as an external pressure.

The peer support aspect of the intervention was unsuccessful despite seeing success in previous interventions.⁴⁴ Participants noted that the selected individuals were unapproachable, and teenagers would not really ask a peer for advice, help with being active, or take advice on things to do. Care needs to be taken during the selection process of peer mentors. Again, this complements findings that teenagers were autonomously motivated¹⁴ and did not need an external influence to get them more active.

Limitations

Baseline data collection occurred after randomization, and given the nature of the study, participants were not blinded. This study was only able to measure outcomes of teenagers who consented, and they may have been more motivated and interested in being active. Owing to school schedules, there was overlap where some teenagers were still receiving vouchers during the follow-up testing (47%, n=430). This may have influenced some measures. There was also no follow-up after the vouchers stopped, which could have provided evidence of the long-term impact of ACTIVE.

This study was unable to assess whether the vouchers substituted previous activities with more fun activities or added additional PA to the teenagers' weeks. It is unknown if the low voucher use reflects that some students were already very active or if higher voucher use contributed to better outcomes. This is a limitation that could be addressed in future research.

ACTIVE selected deprived schools if they were in a deprived area. However, for one school at least, this was not a good method of identifying deprivation of teenagers. Future work could use free school meal percentage.

CONCLUSIONS

The ACTIVE intervention provides evidence that to improve fitness, health, and perceptions of PA, there should be a focus on listening to teenagers and providing more local opportunities to take part in activities that are

February 2020

fun, unstructured, and social to make a real difference to teenage PA. Future interventions should focus on advocating and empowering teenagers so that PA opportunities are what they want and not what adults think they should have.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

All authors would like to thank the staff at the participating schools for their cooperation during the study, the activity providers for allowing the voucher scheme to run smoothly, and the Year 9 pupils for their views and opinions as well as participation.

Swansea University designed the study and collected, analyzed, and interpreted the data. The University also wrote this study paper and made the decision to submit. MJ wrote the first draft of the paper and all authors provided critical input and revisions for all further drafts. SB wrote analysis and results section and provided critical input and revisions for all further drafts. MJ, CT, SS, JD, and SB undertook data collection and data analysis. DC, CT, SB, GS, JH, SA, SM, and EE designed the study, aided in interpretation of findings, and supervision of study quality. The corresponding author attests that all listed authors meet authorship criteria and that no others meeting the criteria have been omitted.

All authors declare no support from any organization for the submitted work, no financial relationships with any organizations that might have an interest in the submitted work, and no other relationships or activities that could appear to have influenced the submitted work.

This work was supported by the British Heart Foundation who peer reviewed the protocol at the time of grant application but had no further involvement other than providing funding (grant number: PG/16/16/32057). No financial disclosures were reported by the authors of this paper.

The College of Human and Health Science Ethics Committee at the College of Medicine, Swansea University granted Active Children Through Individual Vouchers Evaluation ethical approval on 12/05/2016 (Reference: 090516). Participant consent for primary and secondary outcomes was voluntary and involved parental consent and pupil assent forms.

SUPPLEMENTAL MATERIAL

Supplemental materials associated with this article can be found in the online version at https://doi.org/10.1016/j. amepre.2019.10.005.

REFERENCES

- Lee IM, Shiroma EJ, Lobelo F, et al. Effect of physical inactivity on major non-communicable diseases worldwide: an analysis of burden of disease and life expectancy. *Lancet.* 2012;380(9838):219–229. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61031-9.
- Department of Health. United Kingdom. Start active, stay active: a report on physical activity for health from the four home countries. www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/ file/216370/dh_128210.pdf. Published 2011. Accessed March 9, 2019.
- 3. Jago R, Edwards MJ, Sebire SJ, et al. Bristol girls dance project (BGDP): protocol for a cluster randomised controlled trial of an after-

school dance programme to increase physical activity among 11–12 year old girls. BMC Public Health. 2013;13:1003. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/1471-2458-13-1003.

242

- Brophy S, Crowley A, Mistry R, et al. Recommendations to improve physical activity among teenagers—a qualitative study with ethnic minority and European teenagers. BMC Public Health. 2011;11:412. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-11-412.
- British Heart Foundation. UK factsheet. www.bhf.org.uk/-/media/ files/research/heart-statistics/bhf-cvd-statistics-uk-factsheet.pdf? la=en. Published August2019. Accessed February 7, 2019.
- van Sluijs EMF, Kriemler S. Reflections on physical activity intervention research in young people: dos, don'ts, and critical thoughts. *Int J* Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2016;13:25. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-016-0348-z.
- Welsh Government. 2013/14 Health behaviour in school-aged children (HBSC) Wales: key findings. https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/ statistics-and-research/2019-05/health-behaviour-school-children-2013-14-key-findings.pdf. Published 2015. Accessed March 9, 2019.
 Murphy NM, Ni Dhuinn M, Browne PA, Orathaille MM. Physical
- Murphy NM, Ni Dhuinn M, Browne PA, Orathaille MM. Physical activity for bone health in inactive teenage girls: is a supervised, teacher-led program or self-led program best? J Adolesc Health. 2006;39(4):508–514. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2006.01.008.
- Cooper AR, Goodman A, Page AS, et al. Objectively measured physical activity and sedentary time in youth: the International children's accelerometry database (ICAD). Int J Behrav Nutr Phys Act. 2015;12:113. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-015-0274-5.
- Christian D, Todd C, Hill R, et al. Active children through incentive vouchers – evaluation (ACTIVE): a mixed-method feasibility study. BMC Public Health. 2016;16:890. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-016-3381-6.
- James M, Todd C, Scott S, et al. Teenage recommendations to improve physical activity for their age group: a qualitative study. BMC Public Health. 2018;18:372. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-018-5274-3.
- Charlton R, Gravenor MB, Rees A, et al. Factors associated with low fitness in adolescents—a mixed methods study. BMC Public Health. 2014;14:764. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-14-764.
- Brockman R, Jago R, Fox KR, Thompson JL, Cartwright K, Page AS. "Get off the sofa and go and play": family and socioeconomic influences on the physical activity of 10–11 year old children. BMC Public Health. 2009;9:253. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-9-253.
- Ryan RM, Deci EL. Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. Ann Psychol. 2000;55(1):68–78. https://doi.org/10.1037//0003-066x.55.1.68.
- Owen KB, Astell-Burt T, Lonsdale C. The relationship between self-determined motivation and physical activity in adolescent boys. J Adolesc Health. 2013;55(3):420–422. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jadohealth.2013.05.007.
- Verloigne M, De Bourdeaudhuij I, Tanghe A, et al. Self-determined motivation towards physical activity in adolescents treated for obesity: an observational study. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2011;8:97. https:// doi.org/10.1186/1479-5868-8-97.
- Moller AC, Buscemi J, McFadden HG, Hedeker D, Spring B. Financial motivation undermines potential enjoyment in an intensive diet and activity intervention. J Behav Med. 2014;37(5):819–827. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10865-013-9542-5.
- Harland J, White M, Drinkwater C, Chinn D, Farr L, Howel D. The Newcastle exercise project: a randomised controlled trial of methods to promote physical activity in primary care. *BMJ*. 1999;319 (7213):828–832. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmi319.7213.828
- Finkelstein EA, Tan YT, Malhotra R, Lee CF, Goh SS, Saw SM. A cluster randomized controlled trial of an incentive-based outdoor physical activity program. J Pediatr. 2013;163:167–172. e1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2013.01.009.
- Shin DW, Yun JM, Shin JH, et al. Enhancing physical activity and reducing obesity through SmartCare and financial incentives: a

pilot randomized trial. Obesity. 2017;25(2):302-310. https://doi. org/10.1002/oby.21731.

- Patel MS, Volpp KG, Rosin R, et al. A randomized trial of social comparison feedback and financial incentives to increase physical activity. *Am J Health Promot.* 2016;30(6):416–424. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0890117116658195.
- James M, Christian D, Scott S, et al. Active children through individual vouchers – evaluation (ACTIVE): protocol for a mixed method randomised control trial to increase physical activity levels in teenagers. BMC Public Health. 2017;18:7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-017-4554-7.
- Lawlor DA, Jago R, Noble SM, et al. The Active for Life Year 5 (AFLY5) school based cluster randomised controlled trial: study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. *Trials*. 2011;12:181. https:// doi.org/10.1186/1745-6215-12-181.
- Schulz KF, Altman DG, Moher D. CONSORT 2010 statement: updated guidelines for reporting parallel group randomised trials. *BMJ*. 2010;340(332). https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.c32.
 Welsh Government. Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation 2011.
- Welsh Government. Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation 2011. https://statswales.gov.wales/Cotalogue/Community-Safety-and-Social-Inclusion/Welsh-Index-of-Multiple-Deprivation/Archive/WIMD-2011. Published 2011. Accessed March 9, 2019.
 Starkey F, Audrey S, Holliday J, Moore L, Campbell R. Identifying influ-
- Starkey F, Audrey S, Holliday J, Moore L, Campbell R. Identifying influential young people to undertake effective peer-led health promotion: the example of A Stop Smoking in Schools Trial (ASSIST). *Health Educ Res.* 2009;24(6):977–988. https://doi.org/10.1093/her/cyp045.
- Bandyopadhyay A. Validity of Cooper's 12-minute run test for estimation of maximum oxygen uptake in male university students. *Biol* Sport. 2015;32(1):59–63. https://doi.org/10.5604/20831862.1127283.
- Mackenzie B. Cooper VO2 max test. www.brianmac.co.uk/ge htm. Published 1997. Accessed March 7, 2018.
- Pucci G, Cheriyan J, Hubsch A, et al. Evaluation of the Vicorder, a novel cuff-based device for the noninvasive estimation of central blood pressure. J Hypertens. 2013;31(1):77-85. https:// doi.org/10.1097/HIH.0b013e32855a8eb1.
- Laurent S, Cockcroft J, Van Bortel L, et al. Expert consensus document on arterial stiffness: methodological issues and clinical applications. *Eur Heart J.* 2006;27(21):2588–2605. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/chl254.
- Chirinos JA, Zambrano JP, Chakko S, et al. Aortic pressure augmentation predicts adverse cardiovascular events in patients with established coronary artery disease. *Hypertension*. 2005;45(5):980–985. https:// doi.org/10.1161/01.HYP.0000165025.16381.44.
- Stoner L, Lambrick DM, Westrupp N, Young J, Faulkner J. Validation of oscillometric pulse wave analysis measurements in children. Am J Hypertens. 2014;27(6):865–872. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajh/hpt243.
- Pierce GL, Zhu H, Darracott K, et al. Arterial stiffness and pulse-pressure amplification in overweight/obese African-American adolescents: relation with higher systolic and pulse pressure. *Am J Hypertens.* 2013;26(1):20–26. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajih/nps014.
 Scarapicchia TMF, Sabiston CM, O'Loughlin E, Brunet J, Chaiton M,
- Scarapicchia TMF, Sabiston CM, O'Loughlin E, Brunet J, Chaiton M, O'Loughlin JL. Physical activity motivation mediates the association between depression symptoms and moderate-to-vigorous physical activity. *Prev Med.* 2014;66:45–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed. 2014.05.017.
- D'Abundo ML, Sidman CL, Milroy J, Orsini M, Fiala K. Construct validity of college students' responses to the Behavioral Regulation in Exercise Questionnaire (BREQ-2). *Recreational Sports Journal*. 2014;38(1):40–49. https://doi.org/10.1123/rsj.2013-0006.
- Farmanbar R, Niknami S, Hidarnia A, Lubans DR. Psychometric properties of the Iranian version of the Behavioral Regulation in Exercise Questionnaire-2 (BREQ-2). *Health Promot Perspect*. 2011;1 (2):95–104. https://doi.org/10.5681/hpp.2011.010.
- Murcia JAM, Gimeno EC, Camacho AM. Measuring self-determination motivation in a physical fitness setting: validation of the Behavioral Regulation in Exercise Questionnaire-2 (BREQ-2) in a Spanish

www.ajpmonline.org

James et al / Am J Prev Med 2020;58(2):232-243

sample. J Sports Med Phys Fit. 2007;47(3):366-374. https://www.ncbi.

- sample. J Sports Med Phys Fit. 2007;47(3):366–374. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17641607.
 B Owen KB, Smith J, Lubans DR, Ng JYY, Lonsdale C. Self-determined motivation and physical activity in children and adolescents: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Prev Med. 2014;67:270–279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2014.07.033.
 Stores ULC, White ML Colf. and the observation for the systematic review.
- Sterne JAC, White IR, Carlin JB, et al. Multiple imputation for missing data in epidemiological and clinical research: potential and pitfalls. BMJ. 2009;338:b2393. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj. b2393.
- Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qual Res Psy-chol*. 2006;3(2):77–101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp0630a.
 Garcia JM, Sirard JR, Deutsch NL, Weltman A. The influence of
- friends and psychosocial factors on physical activity and screen time

behavior in adolescents: a mixed-methods analysis. J Behav Med.

- 43. Dwyer JJM, Chulak T, Maitland S, et al. Adolescents' self-efficacy to overcome barriers to physical activity scale. Res Q Exerc Sport. 2012;83 (4):513-521. https://doi.org/10.1080/02701367.2012.10599140.
- Hollingworth W, Cohen D, Hawkins J, et al. Reducing smoking in adolescents: cost-effectiveness results from the cluster randomized assist (a stop smoking in schools trial). *Nicotine Tob Res.* 2012;14(2): 161-168. https://doi.org/10.1093/ntr/ntr155.

February 2020

Appendix 11 What Works Best When Implementing a Physical **Activity Intervention For Teenagers?**

Research

BMJ Open What works best when implementing a physical activity intervention for teenagers? Reflections from the ACTIVE **Project: a qualitative study**

Michaela James,¹ Danielle Christian,² Samantha Scott,¹ Charlotte Todd,¹ Gareth Stratton,³ Joanne Demmler,¹ Sarah McCoubrey,⁴ Julian Halcox, Suzanne Audrey,⁵ Elizabeth A Ellins,⁶ Elizabeth Irvine,¹ Sinead Brophy¹

To cite: James M. Christian D. Scott S, et al. What works best when implementing a physical activity intervention for teenagers? Reflections from the ACTIVE Project: a qualitative study. BMJ Open 2019:9:e025618. doi:10.1136/ bmjopen-2018-025618

Open access

 Prepublication history and additional material for this paper are available online. To view these files, please visit the journal online (http://dx.doi. org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-025618)

Received 30 July 2018 Revised 28 March 2019 Accepted 5 April 2019



C Author(s) (or their

employer(s)) 2019. Re-use permitted under CC BY-NC. No commercial re-use. See rights and permissions. Published by BMJ.

For numbered affiliations see end of article.

Correspondence to Miss Michaela James m.l.iames@swansea.ac.uk

BMJ

ABSTRACT

Objective This paper explores what aspects of a multicomponent intervention were deemed strengths and weaknesses by teenagers and the local council when promoting physical activity to young people. Design Qualitative findings at 12 months from a mixed method randomised control trial.

Methods Active Children Through Incentive Vouchers-Evaluation (ACTIVE) gave teenagers £20 of activity enabling vouchers every month for a year. Peer mentors were also trained and a support worker worked with teenagers to improve knowledge of what was available. Semistructured focus groups took place at 12 months to assess strengths and weaknesses of the intervention. Eight focus groups (n=64 participants) took place with teenagers and one additional focus group was dedicated to the local council's sport development team (n=8 participants). Thematic analysis was used to analyse the data

Results Teenagers used the vouchers on three main activities: trampolining, laser tag or the water park. These appeal to both genders, are social, fun and require no prior skill or training. Choice and financial support for teenagers in deprived areas was considered a strength by teenagers and the local council. Teenagers did not engage with a trained peer mentor but the support worker was considered helpful.

Conclusions The ACTIVE Project's delivery had both strengths and weakness that could be used to underpin future physical activity promotion. Future interventions should focus on improving access to low cost, fun, unstructured and social activities rather than structured organised exercise/sport. The lessons learnt from this project can help bridge the gap between what is promoted to teenagers and what they actually want from activity provision

Trial registration number ISRCTN75594310

BACKGROUND

A notable decline in physical activity is seen in teenagers1 and many are insufficiently active.²⁻⁴ Young people should participate in 60min of moderate to vigorous activity a

Strengths and limitations of this study

- Study methodology is novel. Active Children Through Incentive Vouchers-Evaluation has been coproduced by young people to reflect their wants and needs
- Used a semistructured focus group methodology to promote group interaction, which encourages indepth discussion
- Only children consenting to take part in the study were able to be involved in the focus groups; these children could potentially be the more active and involved children, perhaps not capturing the views of those less engaged with activity.
- Only the council were consulted and the viewpoints of other stakeholders may have differed.

day⁵⁶; however, in Wales, only 11% of girls and 20% of boys meet this recommendation. The main barriers are reported to be cost and location,5 8-10 especially for teenagers from low socioeconomic backgrounds.11 Many interventions to improve activity in teenagers have chosen to focus on the school environment as it is considered a useful setting due to its ability to reach a large amount of teenagers.^{12 13} Previous interventions in this setting have been prescriptive, with specific activities or teaching strategies given to teen-agers.⁴ ^{14–16} These interventions have had mixed success to date, often only increasing activity short-term^{15 17} as they fail to provide ongoing opportunities.

This style of intervention design and implementation is 'top down' with the emphasis on policymakers as the experts and sole designers. This results in a disconnect between what is provided and what teenagers actually need and want to do.^{8 10 18} Research shows that involving participants and those expected to deliver the intervention at an

James M. et al. BMJ Open 2019:9:e025618. doi:10.1136/bmiopen-2018-025618

early stage aids the development of a strong intervention and increases the likelihood of success, effectiveness and sustainability.^{19 20} This approach has underpinned the Active Children Through Incentive Vouchers—Evaluation (ACTIVE) Project² which was coproduced following discussions with teenagers regarding current activity provision in their area.¹⁸

The findings from this research confirmed that accessibility to activities was an issue.^{8 9} Teenagers wanted more opportunity to try new activities that were social and informal rather than more traditional forms of sport. In response to this, the ACTIVE randomised control trial aimed to empower teenagers to make their own activity choices via a voucher scheme, peer mentoring and support worker engagement.² Multicomponent interventions of this nature are thought to be effective approaches to positively change physical activity.²¹ Financial incentives and peer mentoring have previously been shown to be beneficial to behaviour change.¹⁷²²⁻²⁴ A voucher-based intervention to increase activity in the UK has been previously tested in adults.^{25 26} However, it remains uncertain whether a similar approach would be well received by teenagers.

The purpose of this paper is to explore what aspects of ACTIVE's multicomponent intervention (financial support, peer support, adult support) teenagers (the participants) and local council (intervention collaborators) perceived as the strengths and weaknesses when promoting physical activity in teenagers in deprived areas. It will also discuss what teenagers used the vouchers to do.

These findings can help inform the direction and implementation of future activity enabling interventions and policies for teenagers and young people.

METHODS Study design

ACTIVE was a multicomponent intervention based in four secondary schools in Wales. It involved a voucher scheme, where all pupils in year 9 (aged 13-14 years) received £20 to spend on activity/equipment per month for 12 months (January to December) and incorporated peer mentoring and support worker engagement. Pupils selected the peer mentors (10 in each school) to act as 'champions' for physical activity in the school²⁷ (peer nomination questionnaire can be seen as online supplementary file 1). The support worker, who was a university employee, promoted the voucher scheme in the schools and provided a link between the schools and local council's sport development team. This was to promote collaborative working between the schools and the local council and to feedback any findings from ACTIVE or comments from teenagers. The project was funded by the British Heart Foundation²⁸ and a detailed protocol of ACTIVE has been published.² Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research guidelines were used to inform the analysis and presentation of this study.²

Patient and public involvement

ACTIVE was developed as a result of discussions with teenagers regarding activity provision and barriers to be active in their local community.² Initial discussions resulted in a mixed method feasibility study of one school in a deprived area of Swansea, South Wales.8 This study was successful in improving fitness and physical activity⁸ and confirmed that teenagers found accessibility (eg, cost and lack of local facilities) as barriers. As a result, this trial was developed² alongside recommendations made by teenagers. The peer mentoring and support worker aspects were developed to provide ongoing involvement in the project for the teenagers. As findings emerged, ACTIVE reviewed them with the local council and other activity providers to align them better with what teenagers cared about and what they needed most. Findings from the study have been disseminated to participants and collaborators through conferences, social media and videos highlighting the key outcomes of the project.

Outcomes

This paper aims to present what activities teenagers' access when given the opportunity to do so in deprived areas. It also explores what aspects of a multicomponent intervention were deemed strengths and weaknesses when aiming to promote physical activity. Teenagers and the local council's sport development team were both included in this exploration to provide perspectives from those who the intervention targets and those who implement and have the power to change activity provision for this age group.

Participants

To be included in the study, schools needed to be located in one of Wales' Communities First catchment area.³ Four schools were recruited to the ACTIVE intervention (table 1). Following initial school recruitment, year 9 pupils (aged 13-14 years) gave consent to participate in the project's focus groups (n=176), although all pupils in the year group received vouchers (n=524). Participants were selected to be a part of focus groups purposively to ensure the views of those who had/had not engaged with the study were represented (n=64). Pupils were considered engaged if they had spent more than the mean amount of vouchers (n=18 vouchers) used at the time the focus groups were carried out (n=73/176 consented)pupils). The focus groups also included at least one peer mentor. The local council sports development team were recruited via a monthly meeting between them and the project's support worker (n=8). The total number of participants in the focus groups were 72 and 9 separate focus groups were conducted.

Data collection

Semistructured focus groups took place at the 12-month stage in the four intervention schools to assess the strengths and weaknesses of ACTIVE, if there were any recommendations and, whether it had made any

James M, et al. BMJ Open 2019;9:e025618. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2018-025618

BMJ Open: first published as 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-025618 on 10 May

2019. Downloaded from http://bmjopen.bmj.com/ on May 27,

2020 at BVA. Protected by copyright

\mathbf{v}					
Table 1	Demograp	hics of schools			
		Number of pupils in year 9 (n=boys)	Free school meal % in the school	Welsh index of multiple deprivation of the school*	Mean vouchers used per pupil at 12 months
School 1		113 (n=56)	26.4	1660	17
School 2		231 (n=107)	19.2	326	15
School 3		125 (n=59)	10	84	17
School 4		128 (n=62)	38.1	56	21

*The higher the number the more deprived the local area.

difference to physical activity for teenagers. Focus groups were selected as the preferred methodology due to the promotion of group interaction, which encourages in-depth discussion.³¹ Eight focus groups lasting between 20 and 40 min took place, with boys and girls in separate groups to establish any gender differences. Members of the local council's sport development team also participated in an additional focus group to get an insight from the perspective of project collaborators and activity providers. The focus groups took place at the schools to ensure pupils remained in a familiar and convenient setting. The exception being the council focus group, which took place at the local council, chambers as part of a sports development team meeting.

A lead moderator facilitated the focus groups to ensure the discussion remained on the topic of interest.³² A topic guide which reflected the study's aims to ensure consistency across all focus groups and to provide triggers for discussion was used (online supplementary file 2).³³ An assistant moderator was also present and was responsible for taking notes and audio recording. This role allowed key messages to be reported back to participants to ensure interpretation was correct and, to gain clarity over any points were unclear. This was a method of respondent validation.³⁴ Both moderators had previously met participants during data collection and collaboration.

Analysis

The focus groups were transcribed in verbatim and names were removed to ensure anonymity. NVivo V.10 was used to manage and analyse the data.³⁵ Two researchers separately analysed the data and compared coding/themes in order to guarantee no new codes/themes emerged and there were instances of the same theme to ensure data saturation.³⁶ The researchers used thematic analysis (TA) to identify and report patterns in the focus groups. Braun and Clarke's Phases of TA³⁷ underpinned the coding process. The themes can be seen as online supplementary file 3.

RESULTS

A total of 18 codes were consolidated into three themes that discussed the project's strengths and weaknesses: (1) ability to choose own activities, (2) using external influences (eg, peer mentors and a support worker) and (3) the intervention's settings.

James M, et al. BMJ Open 2019;9:e025618. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2018-025618

Ability to choose own activities

Teenagers discussed the ability to choose their own activities with the vouchers as a notable strength of ACTIVE. Table 2 shows what the teenagers chose to do with their vouchers. The vouchers were collected directly from the activity providers by the support worker. Notably, all choices were unstructured and informal activities. Trampolining accounted for almost half of the voucher usage (49.1%), this was followed by laser tag (11.46%) and the water park (slides and surfing) (7.27%). Table 2 shows a detailed breakdown of how the vouchers were used. Teenagers spent the vouchers on unstructured and informal activities.

Both boys and girls used the trampoline parks frequently, one boy explained '... I think the most popular would be [trampoline park] and that's quite a multi-sexual sport then, isn't it?' (boy, focus group 7). The choice allowed boys and girls to participate in the same activities which one boy (focus group 3) believed had made girls more active. Girls acknowledged there were 'loads of things' (girl, focus group 4) they could do with the vouchers that were more chilled than typical activity provision on offer. Boys also agreed that activity had become fun. There were a lot of places young people did not realise would count as activity which they saw as a strength of the project as it had changed perceptions of activity for the teenagers.

As well as this, there was no longer a concern about money. One boy noted that young people would find paying for activities as a barrier but 'now you've got the vouchers to pay for it' (boy, focus group 5). There was an agreement among teenagers who the vouchers had helped improve socialisation for this reason. The vouchers gave them the choice of doing 'something in the nights' (girl, focus group 8), on 'Saturday afternoons and Sunday afternoons' (boy, focus group 3) or when you are 'on holiday' (girl, focus group 6). One girl (focus group 8) stated that by being able to use the vouchers in a social capacity had made her more confident to be active.

The local council agreed that giving teenagers a choice was a strength of ACTIVE. They liked that teenagers could decide where and how and considered the vouchers as more of a leisure pass where teenagers could go and enjoy activities with their friends. They also believed that the choice aspect improved the sustainability of ACTIVE's impact on physical activity as some teenagers found an

Table 2 Frequency of v	oucher u	se		
Activity	Total	%	Girls	Boys
Trampolining	3692	49.10	1914	1778
Laser tag	862	11.46	514	348
Water park	547	7.27	291	256
Football	407	5.41	7	400
Fitness equipment	368	4.89	207	161
Cycling equipment	361	4.80	76	285
Gym membership	357	4.75	182	175
Gym pay and play	211	2.81	134	77
Football equipment	122	1.62	10	112
Skateboard equipment	94	1.25	62	32
Swimming equipment	77	1.02	71	6
Foot golf	69	0.92	19	50
Martial arts equipment	55	0.73	28	27
Parkour	48	0.64	0	48
Swimming	48	0.64	20	28
Miscellaneous equipment	37	0.49	36	1
Equipment from Nash Sport	34	0.45	7	27
Skateboarding	23	0.31	0	23
Equipment for school	19	0.25	0	19
Badminton	13	0.17	5	8
Boxing equipment	13	0.17	0	13
Tennis equipment	13	0.17	0	13
Rock climbing	10	0.13	10	0
Tennis	8	0.11	0	8
Martial arts	6	0.08	6	0
Gymnastics	4	0.05	3	1
Court hire	4	0.05	0	4
Paintballing	4	0.05	4	0
Aqua aerobics	3	0.04	0	3
Kickboxing	3	0.04	0	3
Play area	3	0.04	2	1
Zumba	3	0.04	3	0
Aqua zumba	2	0.03	2	0

activity they really enjoyed or bought equipment that could have a long-term effect.

Using external influences (eg, peer mentors and a support worker) Using external influences to promote physical activity was a contested issue on ACTIVE. When asked about the peer mentoring scheme, most teenagers were unaware of it. The peer mentors themselves said they did not have anything to do, that they needed more 'recognition of who they were' (girl, focus group 8) or that the scheme would have benefit from 'a meeting, once a month, or something' (boy, focus group 7). Some pupils also said 6

they did not feel the need to go to them. There were issues raised with the selection of peer mentors. They suggested that a teacher should select the peer mentors 'to look at who does most sports in the school' as a good role model (boy, focus group 3). One member of the local council suggested that pupils should put themselves forward and then there be a vote, but another felt that 'perhaps the people that put themselves forward might not be the people that you actually want' (council focus group).

The teenagers thought that presence of the support worker was beneficial as they created awareness of what was new or 'if anything had changed, which was really informative and nice' (boy, focus group 1). However, some pupils noted that the timings of the support worker were not ideal; in particular, they said morning assemblies are a time when they do not pay attention. The council focus group noted that the support worker was a difficult role as it had a variety of responsibilities from voucher distribution to activity promotion and drop-in sessions in schools. They perceived the support worker role to be a hard position and that the personality of the individual was the most important factor when considering who should fill it.

The intervention's settings

Most teenagers stated that there was very little within walking distance and that more activities should be put in the local community. However, the local council felt teenagers did not know all that was available and felt there could be a greater awareness created of community provision. One council member suggested that ACTIVE could have promoted the providers better in the schools. The project could have showed a video, for example, as this might capture the kids or activity providers should promote more of 'showing what they [the teenagers] would get if they went to see these providers' (council focus group). They believed the promotion was a weak aspect of ACTIVE.

There was a lot of discussion centred on physical activity lessons in school. Teenagers wanted more opportunities to be active through 'sports clubs at (lunch) dinner break and break' (boy, focus group 5) in school, for timings of activities to be lengthened, school kit for physical education (PE) lessons to be more lenient and more choice offered. The local council discussed teacher's involvement in ACTIVE, as they believed they had a pivotal role in the project's success. Some teachers were really proactive and 'really pushed the project' (council focus group) therefore, the intervention ran well. However, in other schools, 'there wasn't that many links between the PE department' (council focus group) which hindered delivery.

DISCUSSION

This study identifies three key themes were identified that addressed the strengths and weaknesses of the delivery of the ACTIVE Project. While teenagers and the local

James M, et al. BMJ Open 2019;9:e025618. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2018-025618

6

council saw choice and support worker engagement as strengths of the project, there were issues explored around peer mentoring and ACTIVE's settings.

Young people felt the vouchers allowed them to overcome the barrier of cost as they were able to pay for activities. This is a significant strength of the project as it addressed the accessibility barrier.⁸⁻¹⁰ When empowered to choose activities they wanted, teenagers chose accessible, fun, activities that appealed to both genders, needed no prior skill and no prebooking. This suggests to get teenagers active there should be more of these types of activities promoted and made available.8 10 The informality of the activities promoted socialisation, meaning teenagers could meet up with their friends more outside of school. This was influential in giving teenage girls in particular, the confidence and encouragement to be more active.¹⁸ The local council also believed this choice would benefit the long-term success of ACTIVE as the teenagers could also buy equipment. From this intervention, it appears that choice and chance to speak about their activity preferences is a significant factor in a successful physical activity intervention.

Teenagers and the local council agreed that provision of sport was not the way forward but there needed to be more unstructured, informal opportunities.¹⁰ The use of the vouchers suggested they were used for a range of activities including days out, something to do with friends, ways to improve confidence and self-esteem and to buy equipment. Previous interventions have chosen to promote structured activity¹⁴ ¹⁵ and this may be a contributing factor to the lack of long-term success of these interventions. ACTIVE highlights that what is currently provided is not what teenagers want to do. Despite the evidence of peer mentoring working in other health interventions in this age group,^{22 27} most pupils seemed to have little to no awareness of the peer mentors or they believed there was issues with their selection. It was important for teenagers who the mentors act as role models for activity but noted that those selected ended up being the most popular rather than the most active. Therefore, it is essential that correct characteristics be sought after when selecting peer mentors and that a more rigorous selection process be put in place rather than the use of peer nomination questionnaire.²⁷ There is not a one size fits all approach to peer mentoring. However, given the participants wanted to be active with their friends in a social and fun environment, it is possible that the peer mentor approach of a mentor is too structured and an 'expert' peer is the wrong approach for motivating teenagers in deprived areas. The support worker was seen as helpful and an important link between pupils, schools and collaborative partners. However, more could be done to strengthen the impact this role had in terms of school visit timings. In future, it would be useful to involve pupils from the beginning to discuss how an external influence could most benefit them.

In terms of the interventions' setting, some pupils queried how much was actually available in their area

James M, et al. BMJ Open 2019;9:e025618. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2018-025618

suggesting that lack of local facilities and accessibility was a significant barrier for these teenagers.^{8 9 38} The local council argued that there was a lack of awareness and they suggested that the support worker's role could improve awareness. This does highlight one of the difficulties in the support worker role; should they empower teenagers to be able to access activities they want or promote activities that are available but perhaps ignored by the teenagers.

Pupils agreeing that there was too little time and emphasis placed on activity in school. Teenagers wanted more opportunities to be active during school time and a choice in what they would like to participate in.¹⁰ This is something future physical activity promoting interventions should take note of, as teenagers expressed a need for a wider choice of activity in school. The local council noted that the person taking responsibility as the contact in the school was vital in the delivery of an activity intervention and that buy-in from them would ensure success. This is important as the wrong lead in a school could hinder an intervention. Previous research has acknowledged this as well, noting that those in charge (eg, intervention leads and head teachers) need to be willing to allocate time to increase opportunities for teenagers to be active.³⁹ A more standardised approach to school and teacher investment would be beneficial, for example, ensuring the PE department are in charge of the project's delivery. School buy-in and promoting the importance of teenage activity levels and health also underpins this. The school is where teenagers spend a significant amount of time and any successful activity intervention needs to engage and have buy in from the school.¹

LIMITATIONS

The use of focus groups enabled a more in-depth exploration of teenager's barriers to physical activity; only children consenting to take part in the study were able to be involved in the focus groups. These children could potentially be the more active and involved children, perhaps not capturing the views of those less engaged with activity and health and subsequently, the ACTIVE intervention. Only the local council were asked to participate in a focus group from the perspective of a collaborator and activity provider. The viewpoints of other stakeholders may have differed based on their voucher usage, promotion from ACTIVE and funding (eg, if they were a charity or privately funded).

CONCLUSION

The ACTIVE Project's delivery had both strengths and weaknesses that could be used to underpin future physical activity promotion. Providing teenagers a choice coupled with financial support in deprived areas was a strength of the ACTIVE. Teenagers reported to be able to do activities they wanted with their friends and changed their perceptions of physical activity. Thus, providing evidence

that a voucher scheme works to get young people more active.^{25 26} Teenagers would like this choice translated into the school setting and into community provision. However, there is some tension between what teenagers believe is on offer in their local area and what the council believes can be access. The take home message from this study is that more collaboration needs to happen between teenagers, activity provision and policymakers to ensure their wants and needs are met. Further work is needed on how the intervention's strengths and weaknesses can underpin a larger scale project that can reach a bigger number of teenagers. This work highlights recommendations for future work in promoting activity among young people; namely improving access to fun, unstructured and social activities.

Author affiliations

¹College of Medicine, Swansea University, Swansea, UK ²Department of Sport and Physical Activity. Edgehill University. Ormskirk. UK ³College of Engineering, Swansea University, Swansea, UK ⁴Active Young People Department, City and County of Swansea, Swansea, UK ⁵Population Health Sciences, University of Bristol, Bristol, UK 6Institute of Life Sciences, Swansea University, Swansea, UK

Contributors Swansea University designed the study and collected, analysed and interpreted the data. The university also wrote this study paper and made the decision to submit. MJ wrote the first draft of the paper and all authors provided critical input and revisions for all further drafts. SB wrote analysis and results section and provided critical input and revisions for all further drafts. MJ, CT, SS. EI, JD and SB undertook data collection and data analysis. DC, CT, SB, GS, JH, SA, SM and EAE designed the study, aided in interpretation of findings and supervision of study quality. The corresponding author attests that all listed authors meet authorship criteria and that no others meeting the criteria have been omitted. All authors would like to thank the staff at the participating schools for their cooperation during the study and the year 9 pupils for their views and opinions as well as participation.

Funding This work was supported by the British Heart Foundation (PG/16/16/32057) who peer reviewed the protocol at the time of grant application but had no further involvement other than providing funding (grant number: PG/16/16/32057)

Competing interests None declared

6

Patient consent for publication Not required.

Ethics approval The College of Human and Health Science Ethics Committee granted ACTIVE ethical approval (Reference: 090516).

Provenance and peer review Not commissioned; externally peer reviewed.

Data sharing statement Data are available on reasonable request from the corresponding author (http://orcid.org/0000-0001-7047-0049), Additional information regarding the study protocol can be requested. The corresponding author has the right to grant on behalf of all authors and does grant on behalf of all authors, a worldwide licence to the publishers and its licensees in perpetuity in all forms, formats and media (whether known now or created in the future), to (1) publish, reproduce, distribute, display and store the contribution; (2) translate (3) create any other derivative work(s) based on the contribution; (4) to exploit all subsidiary rights in the contribution; (5) the inclusion of electronic links from the contribution to third party material where-ever it may be located and (6) licence any third party to do any or all of the above.

Open access This is an open access article distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited, appropriate credit is given, any changes made indicated, and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/

REFERENCES

- FERENCIES de la Haye K, Robins G, Mohr P, et al. How physical activity shapes, and is shaped by, adolescent friendships. Soc Sci Med 2011;73:719–28. James M, Christian D, Scott S, et al. Active children through individual vouchers evaluation (ACTIVE): protocol for a mixed
- method randomised control trial to increase physical activity levels in teenagers. BMC Public Health 2018;18:1-8
- Faroog MA, Parkinson KN, Adamson AJ, et al. Timing of the decline 3. 4
- Farooq WA, Parkinson KN, Adamson AJ, et al. Timing of the decline in physical activity in childhood and adolescence: Gateshead Millennium Cohort Study, Br J Sports Med 2018;52. Sutherland R, Campbell E, Lubans DR, et al. A cluster randomised trial of a school-based intervention to prevent decline in adolescent physical activity levels: study protocol for the 'Physical Activity 4 Everyone' trial. BMC Public Health 2013;13:57–67. Department of Health. Start Active, Stay Active A report on physical Activity for borth force the four borne or purptice/ Chief Modical Offician
- 5. activity for health from the four home countries' Chief Medical Officer [Internet]. 2011 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/ uploads/attachment_data/file/216370/dh_128210.pdf%5Chttps:// www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/
- www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/ file/21637/04h_128210.pdf.
 Rafferty R, Breslin G, Brennan D, et al. A systematic review of school-based physical activity interventions on children's wellbeing. Int Rev Sport Exerc Psychol 2016;9:215–30.
 Welsh Government. Health Behaviour in School-aged Children Wale: Notifieding 015
- Key findings. 2015. Christian D, Todd C, Hill R, et al. Active children through incentive
- 8. vouchers - evaluation (ACTIVE): a mixed-method feasibility study. BMC Public Health 2016;16:890–903.
- Charlton R, Gravenor MB, Rees A, *et al.* Factors associated with low fitness in adolescents--a mixed methods study. *BMC Public Health* 9 2014:14:764-77 10.
- 2014;14:764-77 James M, Todd C, Scott S, *et al.* Teenage recommendations to improve physical activity for their age group: a qualitative study. *BMC Public Health* 2018;18:1-9. Brockman R, Jago R, Fox KR, *et al.* "Get off the sofa and go and
- 11.
- Brockman R, Jago R, Fox KR, et al. "Get off the sofa and go and play": family and socioeconomic influences on the physical activity of 10-11 year old children. *BMC Public Health* 2009;9:253–60. Kipping RR, Howe LD, Jago R, et al. Effect of intervention aimed at increasing physical activity, reducing sedentary behaviour, and increasing fruit and vegetable consumption in children: active for Life Year 5 (AFLY5) school based cluster randomised controlled trial. *BMJ* 2014;348;32256–13. Borde R, Smith JJ, Sutherland R, et al. Methodological considerations and impact of school. based interventions on 12.
- considerations and impact of school- based interventions on objectively measured physical activity in adolescents : a systematic
- objectively measured physical activity in adolescents : a systematic review and meta-analysis...2017;10:476-90. Jago R, Edwards MJ, Sebire SJ, *et al.* Bristol girls dance project (BGDP); protocol for a cluster randomised controlled trial of an after-school dance programme to increase physical activity among 11-12 year old girls. *BMO Public Health* 2013;13:1003-19. Lawlor DA, Jago R, Noble SM, *et al.* The Active for Life Year 5 (AFLV5) school based cluster randomised controlled trial: study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. *Trials* 2011;12:181-204. B Owen K, Smith J, Lubans DR, *et al.* Self-determined motivation and physical activity in obliden and advacents: a systematic review 14.
- 15.
- 16. and physical activity in children and adolescents: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Prev Med* 2014;67:270–9. Finkelstein EA, Tan YT, Malhotra R, *et al.* A cluster randomized
- 17 controlled trial of an incentive-based outdoor physical activity
- controlled thal of an incentive-based outdoor physical activity program. J Pecifatr 2013;163:167-72. Brophy S, Crowley A, Mistry R, et al. Recommendations to improve physical activity among teenagers-a qualitative study with ethnic minority and European teenagers. BMC Public Health 2011;11:1412-25. Howie EK, Stevick ED. The "ins" and "outs" of physical activity policy implementation; incadeguida capacity, inappropriate 18.
- policy implementation: inadequate capacity, inappropriate outcome measures, and insufficient funds. J Sch Health 2014;84:581-5
- van Sluiis EM. Kriemler S. Beflections on physical activity 20. van Sluijs EM, Kriemler S. Reflections on physical activity intervention research in young people - dos, don'ts, and critical thoughts. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2016;13:25–31. Owen MB, Curry WB, Kerner C, et al. The effectiveness of school-based physical activity interventions for adolescent girls: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Prev Med* 2017;105:237–49. Hollingworth W, Cohen D, Hawkins J, et al. Reducing smoking in adolescents: root-affectiveness results from the cluster randomizer
- 21.
- 22. adolescents: cost-effectiveness results from the cluster randomized ASSIST (A Stop Smoking In Schools Trial). *Nicotine & Tobacco Research* 2012;14:161–8. 23. Patel MS, Volpp KG, Rosin R, *et al.* A randomized trial of social
- comparison feedback and financial incentives to increase physical activity. *Am J Health Promot* 2016;30:416–24.

James M. et al. BMJ Open 2019:9:e025618. doi:10.1136/bmiopen-2018-025618

BMJ

Open:

first

published

as 10.1136/bmjopen

-2018-025618 on 10 May

2019.

Downloaded

from http://bmjopen.bmj

.com,

on May 27 /

2020 at

BVA. Protected

ŝ

copyright

6

- 24. Shin DW, Yun JM, Shin JH, et al. Enhancing physical activity and
- 25. 26.
- 27.
- Shin DW, Yun JM, Shin JH, et al. Enhancing physical activity and reducing obesity through smartcare and financial incentives: a pilot randomized trial. *Obesity* 2017;25:302–10. Moller AC, Buscemi J, McFadden HG, et al. Financial motivation undermines potential enjoyment in an intensive diet and activity intervention. *J Behav Med* 2014;37:819–27. Harland J, White M, Drinkwater C, et al. The Newcastle exercise project: a randomised controlled trial of methods to promote physical activity in primary care. *BMJ* 1999;319:828–32. Starkey F, Audrey S, Holliday J, et al. Identifying influential young people to undertake effective peer-led health promotion: the example of A Stop Smoking In Schools Trial (ASSIST). *Health Educ Res* 2009;24:977–88.
- 2009;24:977–88.
 British Heart Foundation. We fight for every heartbeat British Heart Foundation. 2017 https://www.bhf.org.uk/ (Cited 21 Apr 2017).
 Tong A, Sainsbury P, Craig J. Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-titem checklist for interviews and focus groups. Int J Qual Health Care 2007;19:349–57.
 Welsh Government. Communities first area profile. 2016.
 Brown A. Strategy A. Conducting focus groups with children and young people: strategies for success. J Res Nurs 2010;12:1–31.
 Muray C. Peer led focus groups and young people. Child Soc 2006;20:273–86.

- 33. Hyde A, Howlett E, Brady D, et al. The focus group method: insights from focus group interviews on sexual health with adolescents. Soc Sci Med 2005;61:2588–99.
- Triangulation TH. Respondent validation, and democratic 34. participation in mixed methods research. J Mix Methods Res
- 2012;6:111–23. Eyre ELJ, Duncan MJ, Birch SL, *et al*. Low socio-economic 35. environmental determinants of children's physical activity in Coventry, UK: a qualitative study in parents. *Prev Med Rep* 2014;1:32–42. Saunders B, Sim J, Kingstone T, *et al.* Saturation in qualitative
- 36. Calculation of Control in Migration () et al. Saturation in quantative research: exploring its conceptualization and operationalization. *Qual Quant* 2018;52:1–15. Braun V, Clarke V, Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qual Res Bearbel* (2006;272:104).
- 37. Psychol 2006;3:77-101.
- Brophy S, Rees A, Knox G, *et al.* Correction: child fitness and father's BMI are important factors in childhood obesity: a school based cross-sectional study. *PLoS One* 2012;7:1–7. 38
- Beets MW, Okely A, Weaver RG, et al. The theory of expanded, extended, and enhanced opportunities for youth physical activity promotion. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2016;13:1–15.

James M. et al. BMJ Open 2019:9:e025618. doi:10.1136/bmiopen-2018-025618

Appendix 12 Predictors of Cardiovascular Health in Teenagers (aged 13 – 14 years): A Cross-Sectional Study Linked with Routine Data

Open access

Cardiac risk factors and prevention

What is already known about this subject?

► Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is the leading cause of

death in the Western world. More recently, greater

emphasis has been placed on the role of increased

arterial stiffness, high blood pressure and sedentary

behaviour as predictors of CVD risk in populations.

Identifying and addressing CVD risk factors in early

life could prevent or delay disease in later life. We

reviewed the literature and found that positive as-

sociations have been shown between a child's body

mass index and CVD risk in adulthood, particular-

ly among those from lower socioeconomic status

A meta-analysis of interventions targeting obesity

and activity as methods of prevention in children

concluded that high levels of leisure time activity

benefit cardiovascular health. However, there was

little evidence regarding the prognostic impact of a

child's early environment and cardiovascular phe-

notype on cardiovascular outcomes. Breastfeeding

has been identified in three studies as a protector

against high blood pressure but this link has been

Our study identifies predictors of cardiovascular

health in teenagers through data linkage with the

Secure Anonymised Information Linkage databank

Routine health data was linked with baseline data

collected during a physical activity intervention.

There is relatively little previous research into early

life and environmental impacts on young people's cardiovascular health. Our study suggests that sup-

porting breastfeeding, improving physical activity

opportunities for teenagers in deprived areas, enabling teenagers with chronic health conditions to

be active and encouraging active transport at all

w might this impact on clinical practice?

 Our findings highlight issues where public health interventions (eg, breast feeding, parent groups,

long-term cardiovascular health outcomes

improving physical activity provision) may improve

ages may be beneficial to heart health and reducing CVD risk and warrants prospective evaluation.

described as modest

What does this study add?

openheart Predictors of cardiovascular health in teenagers (aged 13–14 years): a crosssectional study linked with routine data

Michaela James ⁽ⁱ⁾, ¹ Danielle Christian,² Samantha Scott,¹ Charlotte Todd,¹ Gareth Stratton,³ Joanne Demmler,¹ Sarah McCoubrey,⁴ Julian P Halcox,⁵ Suzanne Audrey,⁶ Elizabeth Anne Ellins ⁽ⁱ⁾, ⁵ Sinead Brophy¹

Key questions

 Additional material is published online only. To view please visit the journal online (http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/ openhrt-2019-001147).

To cite: James M, Christian D, Scott S, et al. Predictors of cardiovascular health in teenagers (aged 13–14 years): a cross-sectional study linked with routine data. Open Heart 2019;6:e001147. doi:10.1136/ openhrt-2019-001147

Received 31 July 2019 Revised 19 September 2019 Accepted 14 October 2019

Check for updates

© Author(s) (or their employer(s)) 2019. Re-use permitted under CC BY-NC, No commercial re-use. See rights and permissions. Published by BMJ. ¹Medical School, Swansea University, Swansea, UK ²Faculty of Health and Wellbeing University of Central Lancashire Preston LIK ³College of Engineering Swansea University, Swansea ⁴Sport Development, City and County of Swansea Council, Swansea, UK ⁵Medical School, Institute of Life Science, Swansea University, Swansea, UK ⁶Population Health Sciences, University of Bristol, Bristol, UK

Correspondence to

BMJ

Dr Michaela James; m.l.james@ swansea.ac.uk

ABSTRACT

Objective To examine the predictors of cardiovascular health in teenagers (aged 13–14 years). **Methods** Measures of arterial stiffness (augmentation index (Alx)), blood pressure and cardiovascular fitness were taken from 234 teenage children (n=152 boys) and subsequently linked to routine data (birth and general practice records, education data and hospital admission data). Deprivation at school and at individual level was measured at birth, at 1 year old, at 13 years old and at secondary school using the Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation. Multivariate regression analysis determined associations between routinely collected data and cardiovascular measures.

Results Teenagers had higher Alx (2.41 (95% CI 1.10 to 3.72)), ran fewer metres (-130.08 m (95% CI -234.35 to -25.78)) in the Cooper Run Test if they attended a more deprived school. However, higher individual level deprivation was associated with greater fitness (199.38 m (95% CI 83.90 to 314.84)). Higher systolic blood pressure was observed in first born children (10.23 mm Hg (95% CI 1.58 to 18.88)) and in those who were never breastfed (4.77 mm Hg (95% CI 1.10 to 8.42)).

Conclusions Improving heart health in deprived areas requires multilevel action across childhood namely, active play and programmes that promote physical activity and fitness and, the promotion of breastfeeding. Recognition of the important early indicators and determinants of cardiovascular health supports further development of the evidence base to encourage policy-makers to implement preventative measures in young people.

INTRODUCTION

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) affects seven million people in the UK and is the leading cause of death in the Western world.¹ CVD risk factors should be low in young people, but the rise in childhood inactivity and poor fitness levels has led to an increase in prevalence and potential impact on lifetime CVD risk.^{2,3} Identifying and addressing important CVD risk factors in early life could prevent symptoms in later life. Pathological changes in the arterial wall are well recognised to begin in childhood.⁴

James M. et al. Open Heart 2019:6:e001147. doi:10.1136/openhrt-2019-001147

Ortish 1 Cerdovescular

Positive associations have been shown between a child's body mass index and CVD risk in adulthood, particularly among those from lower socioeconomic status.⁵ Deprivation has been associated with poorer cardiovascular fitness levels, higher obesity levels and consequently higher CVD risk.⁶ Young people with lower socioeconomic status are less likely to engage in activity in the form of structured activities and competitive sports⁷ and are subsequently at an increased risk of more sedentary lifestyles. These traits may also cluster with other health behaviours (eg, diet) which could also contribute to CVD risk when a child is older. Consequently, prevention strategies that decrease sedentary behaviour and improve nutrition have been designed to combat this issue.^{6 8-10}

Early life behaviours may also contribute, for example, breastfeeding may protect against hypertension, ^{11–13} although this relationship has been described as modest. Less is known about the relationship between early life exposures and subsequent cardiovascular phenotype in young people and longer-term CVD risk. Therefore, increased study of these relationships in early life may provide important insights into how best to implement interventions in young people to prevent CVD.

This paper aims to identify predictors of cardiovascular health in teenagers (aged 13-14 years) which is an under-researched area of teenage health. Cardiovascular phenotype data were collected as part of baseline data collection from the Active Children through Individual Vouchers-Evaluation (ACTIVE) project, a mixed method randomised control trial (RCT) based in south Wales, UK. The ACTIVE RCT aimed to improve the cardiovascular fitness, cardiovascular health and motivation of teenagers to be active¹⁰ and, therefore, included measures of augmentation index (AIx), blood pressure and fitness. This paper is a cross-sectional analysis of baseline measures linked with routinely collected data from the National Community Child Health Database (NCCHD) and the Tagged Electronic Cohort Cymru (TECC). These databases include data from the child health system in Wales, including birth registration, maternal health and monitoring of child health examinations.

The relationships between arterial stiffness, blood pressure and fitness with important early life influences (eg, deprivation and maternal influences) at population level are less well known and exploring these will add to knowledge and inform novel approaches to clinical practice regarding CVD risk. Furthermore, findings can inform early public health intervention approaches in this area. This paper assessed if there are any early life indicators that make teenagers more vulnerable to cardiovascular risk.

METHODS

Participants and settings

The ACTIVE Project was a mixed method RCT based in seven secondary schools in South Wales¹⁰ with the aim of improving the cardiovascular fitness and health and

Table 1	Demographics of schools
	Wales Index of Multiple Deprivation of the school*
School 1	1660
School 2	326
School 3	84
School 4	56
School 5	1434
School 6	1610
School 7	426

*The Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation (WIMD) is the official measure of small area deprivation in Wales

motivation of teenagers. A detailed trial protocol (Trial Number: ISRCTN75594310) has been published.¹⁰ A total of 13 schools were assessed for eligibility to take part in ACTIVE; four did not meet inclusion criteria of being located in one of Wales' most deprived areas. School and individual level deprivation was derived from the Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation (WIMD) which is used to identify areas of deprivation based on income, employment, health, education, access to services, community safety, environment and housing.¹⁴ For this study, the continuous WIMD scale was used for individual and school level deprivation with one equating to the most deprived areas and 1909 to the least deprived.

Two headteachers declined to participate, one of whom declined after randomisation occurred. This meant seven secondary schools took part in the RCT. The demographics of the schools can be seen in table 1. This paper examines the baseline data collected from ACTIVE and, therefore, includes one cohort prior to randomisation.

Following initial school recruitment and headteacher approval, participants (in school year 9, aged 13–14 years) were recruited for measures via school assemblies and information sheets. Consent was voluntary and involved both written parental consent and pupil assent forms. All pupils in school year 9 were eligible to participate to create a cohort representative of teenagers from deprived areas. No pupils were excluded from participation. A total of 234 (n=152 boys) out of 1023 pupils across the seven schools (23%) were recruited. Basic demographics of participants can be seen as table 2.

Procedures

Cross-sectional measurements of baseline phenotype data were linked to routine data (general practice, hospital and education records) to develop a retrospective cohort. Routinely collected data from the NCCHD, which contains birth information of children, and the TECC, which provides GP visits and hospital admissions for key comorbidities, were linked via the Secure Anonymised Information Linkage (SAIL) databank. These databases include data from the child health system in Wales, including birth registration, maternal health and

James M, et al. Open Heart 2019;6:e001147. doi:10.1136/openhrt-2019-001147

<u>a</u>

Cardiac risk factors and prevention

Table 2 Population demographics						
Variable	Male (n=129) (SD)	Obs	Female (n=105) (SD)	Obs		
Arterial stiffness (%)	9.54 (5.58)	129	10.17 (4.67)	105		
Blood pressure (mm Hg)	114.47 (13.86)	129	110.42 (11.62)	105		
Cardiovascular fitness (metres ran)	2004.98 (412.92)	129	1604.98 (266.19)	105		
School deprivation	674.60 (677.01)	129	642.76 (688.17)	105		
Deprivation at birth	744.27 (559.9)	109	573.93 (468.94)	86		
Deprivation at 1	665.25 (557.14)	108	595.45 (470.16)	84		
Deprivation at 13	734.07 (534.4)	126	663.6 (482.38)	102		
Birth weight (g)	3368.23 (576.38)	113	3257.35 (597.67)	90		
Gestational age (weeks)	38.99 (1.82)	111	38.81 (2.48)	90		
Birth number	1.02 (0.15)	128	1.01 (0.13)	102		
Maternal age (years)	26.9 (5.78)	120	26.57 (5.88)	94		
Breastfed (%)	48.44 (n=62)	128	40.20 (n=41)	102		
C section (%)	19.38 (n=25)	129	23.81 (n=25)	105		
Hospital admission (total number of admissions)	1.63 (2.01)	125	1.33 (2.85)	101		
General Practice (GP) visits (total number of GP visits)	74.17 (43.24)	98	63.67 (34.00)	78		
Sedentary time (Week) (min)	627.21 (82.53)	129	601.96 (79.08)	105		
Sedentary time (Weekend) (min)	621.55 (115.31)	129	563.62 (120.11)	105		
Moderate to Vigorous Physical Activity (MVPA) (Week) (min)	81.39 (22.10)	129	78.47 (24.25)	105		
Moderate to Vigorous Physical Activity (MVPA) (Weekend) (min)	56.57 (20.67)	129	61.86 (26.06)	105		

monitoring of child health examinations which include exposures that could predict cardiovascular risk.

Further information about the routine data included in the analysis can be seen as online supplementary file 1. All phenotype data included in this study were taken from the baseline data collection of the ACTIVE Project between September and December 2016. Data collection was organised in the schools with the aim of avoiding disruption to school timetables.

This paper uses measures of AIx, systolic blood pressure and cardiovascular fitness (Cooper Run Test (CRT)) as indicators of cardiovascular health. Higher AIx and blood pressure are both associated with increased CVD risk.^{15–17} Poorer fitness has also been attributed to CVD risk.²³

Aim

By using data linkage to routine data, this study assessed if there are predictors of poorer cardiovascular health and CVD risk in teenagers in relation to measures of AIx, systolic blood pressure and cardiovascular fitness.

Augmentation index (Alx)

AIx was assessed using the Vicorder (Skidmore Medical Limited, Bristol, UK). Measurements were taken with the participants seated following a 5min rest during which a SC10 Hokanson cuff was positioned around their upper left arm. The cuff was inflated to measure

James M, et al. Open Heart 2019;6:e001147. doi:10.1136/openhrt-2019-001147

blood pressure; it was then reinflated to record the brachial artery pulse-pressure waveform. Central AIx was determined from the blood pressure and waveform using a transfer function integral to the software. This process was repeated and if both measures of AIx were within $\pm 5\%$, the two measures were accepted, if not, a third reading was taken and a mean of all three readings calculated.

Blood pressure

Blood pressure was measured with a standardised upper arm cuff methodology using an Omron M2 sphygmomanometer. After resting seated for 5 min, participants had three measurements taken from their left arm, with the average calculated. If there was a difference of $\pm 5 \,\mathrm{mm}$ Hg between the readings, researchers took an additional measure. Participants did not fast prior to these measurements.

Cardiovascular fitness

Participants took part in the CRT to assess cardiovascular fitness.¹⁸ This was a 12min walk/run test conducted during physical education (PE) lessons where participants completed as many laps of a school sports hall as possible in the time. This was then converted to the total distance ran (in metres). The validity of the CRT has been tested in numerous studies in both girls and boys.¹⁹

Open Heart

Data linkage

Data linkage was carried out through the SAIL databank²⁰ based at the Swansea University Medical School (UK). This occurred via linking AIx, systolic blood pressure and cardiovascular data with routinely collected health data, for example, deprivation at school and at home, birth weight and hospital admissions. A unique Anonymous Linking Field was assigned to person-based records before it was joined to clinical data via a system linking field.²¹

Routine data came from the NCCHD and the TECC. The full list of covariates and how they were cleaned can be seen as online supplementary file 1. Deprivation at school and individual level was the only variable to be measured at different time points (at birth, at 1 year old and at 13 years old). This was done to explore whether moving in and out of deprived areas during life affects heart health and whether deprivation impacts heart health at a specific age.

Statistical analyses

Linear mixed effects multilevel regression was used to analyse the relationship between routine data on (1) AIx, (2) systolic blood pressure and (3) cardiovascular fitness. Covariates were excluded from the analysis if they had missing data on over 100 participants, and a full list can be seen as online supplementary file 1. Gender was included in the models to assess any differences by gender. The level of significance for the results of statistical analysis was set to p<0.05. Structural equation modelling (SEM) in STATA was also used to show relationships between routinely collected data and the cardiovascular phenotypes collected in this study. Two independent statisticians conducted a parallel data analysis in STATA (V.15.1) to avoid researcher bias.

Multiple imputation of missing data was conducted using chained equations (MICE) command in STATA as data was assumed to be missing at random due to absence during some aspects of baseline testing. Data for the primary outcome of cardiovascular fitness was imputed for 27 participants using gender and deprivation. This generated one complete dataset which was used for analysis.

RESULTS

4

Table 2 shows the demographics of participants. Boys had higher measures across most variables including deprivation levels, hospital and GP visits and sedentary time. However, these differences were marginal except for differences in cardiovascular fitness which shows boys as a population were fitter than girls at this age. Results from the multilevel analysis are presented as tables 3–5, respectively. Figure 1 shows relationships via SEM.

Augmentation index

Analysis showed higher AIx measures was associated with a lower school WIMD score (indicating higher levels

Table 3 Alx (linear mixed effects multilevel regression)					
Variable	Coefficient	P value	95% CI		
School deprivation	-0.003	0.010	-0.005 to -0.0007		
Deprivation at birth	0.0008	0.506	-0.001 to .003		
Deprivation at 1	0.001	0.488	-0.002 to .005		
Deprivation at 13	-0.0002	0.886	-0.003 to .002		
Gender	1.26	0.383	-1.57 to 4.10		
Birth weight	-0.002	0.088	-0.005 to .0003		
Gestational age	0.314	0.403	-0.423 to 1.05		
Birth number	-8.10	0.019	-14.85 to -1.34		
Maternal age	-0.072	0.536	-0.300 to .156		
Breastfed	1.22	0.513	-0.181 to .050		
C-section	0.472	0.780	-2.83 to 3.78		
Hospital admissions	-0.363	0.007	-0.627 to -0.099		
GP visits	0.030	0.006	0.008 to 0.052		
Sedentary time week	-0.011	0.054	-0.046 to .024		
Sedentary time weekend	0.011	0.196	-0.005 to .028		
MVPA time week	-0.054	0.065	-0.113 to .003		
MVPA time weekend	-0.003	0.907	-0.066 to .059		
Blood pressure	-0.065	0.268	-0.181 to .050		
Fitness	-0.001	0.581	-0.005 to .002		

Those highlighted inbold indicate significance (p value < 0.05)

Table 4 Blood pressure (linear mixed effects multilevel regression)					
Variable	Coefficient	P value	95% CI		
School deprivation	-0.001	0.530	-0.008 to 0.004		
Deprivation at birth	0.003	0.000	0.001 to 0.007		
Deprivation at 1	-0.007	0.276	-0.019 to 0.005		
Deprivation at 13	0.004	0.348	-0.005 to 0.014		
Gender	5.32	0.111	-1.22 to 11.87		
Birth weight	-0.0008	0.802	-0.007 to 0.005		
Gestational age	0.333	0.795	-2.18 to 2.84		
Birth number	-29.96	0.000	-46.04 to -13.88		
Maternal age	0.205	0.630	-0.631 to 1.042		
Breastfed	-6.09	0.042	-11.96 to -0.22		
C-section	5.15	0.012	1.13 to 9.16		
Hospital admissions	0.096	0.769	-0.544 to 0.736		
GP visits	-0.011	0.677	-0.064 to 0.041		
Sedentary time week	0.069	0.010	0.28 to 0.11		
Sedentary time weekend	-0.032	0.037	-0.06 to -0.001		
MVPA time week	-0.07	0.972	-0.22 to -0.085		
MVPA time weekend	-0.01	0.839	-0.189 to -0.154		
Alx	-0.44	0.310	-1.29 to 0.40		
Fitness	-0.007	0.079	-0.015 to 0.0008		

Those highlighted inbold indicate significance (p value < 0.05) Alx, augmentation index.

James M, et al. Open Heart 2019;6:e001147. doi:10.1136/openhrt-2019-001147
multilevel regression)			
Variable	Coefficient	P value	95% CI
School deprivation	0.020	0.673	-0.070 to 0.116
Deprivation at birth	0.163	0.007	0.045 to 0.281
Deprivation at 1	-0.002	0.983	-0.233 to 0.228
Deprivation at 13	-0.112	0.371	-0.358 to 0.133
Gender	389.50	0.000	233.693 to 545.307
Birth weight	-0.001	0.987	-0.202 to 0.198
Gestational age	-9.30	0.729	-61.98 to 43.37
Birth number	-1216.631	0.000	-1500.44 to -932.81
Maternal age	16.33	0.044	0.454 to 32.21
Breastfed	195.72	0.063	-10.69 to 402.13
C-section	93.22	0.372	-111.61 to 298.06
Hospital admissions	-3.74	0.800	-32.77 to 25.27
GP visits	1.23	0.341	-1.30 to 3.76
Sedentary time week	-1.24	0.374	-4.42 to 1.92
Sedentary time weekend	1.48	0.099	-0.375 to 3.35
MVPA time week	-2.85	0.052	-5.73 to .026
MVPA time weekend	-2.08	0.448	-8.38 to 4.20
Alx	-5.42	0.606	-26.05 to 15.20
Blood pressure	-5.16	0.013	-9.23 to -1.08

Those highlighted inbold indicate significance (p value < 0.05)

of deprivation) (-0.003 (95% CI -0.005 to -0.0007),table 3). Lower hospital admissions (-0.363 (95% CI -0.627 to -0.099)) but higher number of GP visits (0.030 (95% CI 0.008 to 0.052)) also had significant relationships with higher Alx. School deprivation was also significant the SEM (figure 1).

Blood pressure

Lower systolic blood pressure was observed in teenagers who were first born (-29.96 mm Hg (95% CI -46.04 to -13.88), table 4) and those who were breast fed as infants (-6.09 mm Hg (95% CI -11.96 to -0.22). Being born as a result of caesarean meant blood pressure was higher as a teenager (5.15 mm Hg (95% CI 1.13 to 9.16)). As well



James M, et al. Open Heart 2019;6:e001147. doi:10.1136/openhrt-2019-001147

as this, being more sedentary in the week was associated with higher blood pressure (0.068 mm Hg (95% CI 0.28 to 0.11)). SEM included gender as a predictor of having higher blood pressure too (figure 1).

Fitness

Teenagers who were more deprived at birth ran further in the fitness testing $(0.163 \ (95\% \ CI \ 0.045 \ to \ 0.281)$, table 5). Boys were more likely to run further than girls $(389.50 \ m \ (95\% \ CI \ 233.69 \ to \ 545.30)$, table 4). Interestingly, teenagers were less fit if they were not first born $(-1216.63 \ (95\% \ CI \ -1500.44 \ to \ -932.81))$ but were more fit if their mothers were older $(16.33 \ (95\% \ CI \ 0.45 \ to \ 32.2))$. SEM showed that school deprivation also had a relationship with fitness that was not present in the multilevel regression.

DISCUSSION

Although a relatively small study, our work demonstrates the feasibility and great value of linking paediatric clinical study data to routinely held healthcare records. This study has revealed interesting relationships between school deprivation and the cardiovascular phenotype in teenagers. First, ALx was greater in pupils attending deprived schools (schools in socioeconomically deprived areas) suggested they already had stiffer arteries by their early teens. Other confounders could explain the adverse cardiovascular phenotype in children attending deprived schools such as poor nutrition, tobacco exposure and increased psychosocial stress but this would require further evaluation.

Teenagers whose mothers reported breastfeeding were associated with lower systolic blood pressure consistent with previous literature.¹¹ These findings add to the evidence base supporting a beneficial impact of breastfeeding on blood pressure as a teenager. Longer duration breastfeeding has also been shown to have a beneficial effect on cardiorespiratory fitness.¹² Future research should explore this relationship further as supporting and promoting breastfeeding could provide beneficial long-term implications for teenager's health.

This study has shown that being first-born is better for systolic blood pressure and cardiovascular fitness. There is some evidence that early born children have greater access to resources and attention.²² This may account for better fitness measures if first-born children are having greater access to physical activity opportunities, equipment and facilities. This is worthy of further investigation and, coupled with the finding that older mothers have fitter children, provides evidence that support for larger families, with younger mothers is needed to facilitate equality of activity and socialisation opportunities and resources. Being active in this way at an early age could track into later life and could reduce the risk of poor heart health.⁶ Early physical activity promotion in children may provide an accessible and low-cost method of preventing poor heart health in later life.

Open Heart

Boys were significantly fitter than girls were (based on metres ran in the CRT). This is unsurprising as most literature suggests boys are more active and thus fitter.⁹ 23–25 Boys generally have a higher amount of lean body mass at this age, which could contribute to better cardiovascular fitness levels.²⁶ Programmes that target girls activity and fitness have been implemented,^{27–29} but this study provides evidence there are still differences between boys and girls and more needs to be done. There were no other significant differences between genders for the measures.

Teenagers in more deprived schools appeared fitter. Schools in deprived areas typically offer less PE time³⁰ and provide fewer opportunities for sports and physical activities in and after school.^{30,31} However, this finding suggests that despite being less likely to engage in physical activity, in the form of structured (competitive) sports clubs, it may be that participants from more deprived areas engage more low cost, unstructured activities or active travel due to the cost of running a car or using public transport.⁶ This could account for higher fitness levels as, despite being an exposure, MVPA was not significant in influencing fitness.

Research has shown that there are cardiovascular benefits associated with all levels of activity.³² Active travel in particular has been associated with healthier body compositions and cardiovascular fitness in this age group.³³ As shown by previous research, the importance of promoting different types of activity in young people cannot be overstated,^{2 32 34} particularly in the deprived school settings as highlighted by this study. In this instance, school level deprivation was more strongly associated with an adverse cardiovascular phenotype in teenagers than home deprivation, which is worthy of further study.

Limitations

6

This study was only able to measure cardiovascular measures in teenagers who consented to participate in this study, thus these individuals may have been more motivated and interested in being active. It is possible that the teenagers who did not consent were less interested or motivated to be active. Therefore, this study may be illustrative of the factors associated with the cardiovascular phenotype in predominantly more active teenagers with better cardiovascular fitness and heart health.

This is a relatively small study reporting the findings of 234 teenagers in south Wales; the results may not be generalisable to the wider UK or international populations and will require validation in larger, prospective studies. ACTIVE did not collect data on existing medical conditions, medications, recent infections or anthropometry, which can influence cardiovascular health. This can be seen as a limitation. Future studies could use this level of participant information for more detailed analysis of predictors of cardiovascular health.

The path analysis shows that even though relationships were present, these relationships only explained a small proportion of variation in AIx and blood pressure in particular and warrant further evaluation in larger prospective studies ideally with careful documentation of important covariates including anthropometric and serological measurements to add greater depth to analysis.

CONCLUSION

This study provides evidence of early life indicators, which may make teenagers more vulnerable to poorer cardiovascular health in adolescence and potentially greater lifetime risk of CVD. Interventions could target schools in deprived areas to improve heart health. For example, improving access to and uptake of a variety of activities that promote different types of physical activity, rather than simply aiming to reduce sedentary behaviour such as active travel or low cost, easy to access physical activities outside the school environment. Promotion of breastfeeding and play/socialisation support for younger, larger families may also have a beneficial effect.

Recognition of the important early indicators and determinants of cardiovascular health would warrant further development of the evidence base to encourage policy-makers to implement preventative measures in young people.

Contributors MJ wrote the first draft of the paper and all authors provided critical input and revisions for all further drafts, SB wrote analysis and results section and provided critical input and revisions for all further drafts. MJ, CT, SS, DJ and SB undertook data collection and data analysis. DC, CT, SB, GS, JH, SA, SM, EE designed the study, aided in interpretation of findings and supervision of study quality. The corresponding author attests that all listed authors meet authorship criteria and that no others meeting the criteria have been omitted.

Funding This work was supported by the British Heart Foundation and the National Centre for Population Health and Wellbeing Research. The corresponding author had full access to all the data in the study and had final responsibility for the decision to submit for publication.

Disclaimer The lead author (MJ) affirms that the manuscript is an honest, accurate and transparent account of the study being reported; that no important aspects of the study have been omitted and that any discrepancies from the study as planned (and, if relevant, registered) have been explained.

Competing interests None declared.

Patient consent for publication Not required.

Ethics approval The College of Human and Health Science Ethics Committee granted ACTIVE ethical approval (reference: 090516). The study was linked to anonymised routine data and therefore the need for further ethical approval and participant consent was waived by the approving IBB (Institutional Review Board), UK National Health Service Research Ethics Committee. The SAIL independent Information Governance Review Panel (IGRP), which contains members from the UK National Health Service Research Ethics Committee, experts in information governance and members of the public, approved the study.

Provenance and peer review Not commissioned; internally peer reviewed.

Data availability statement Data are available on reasonable request.

Open access This is an open access article distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited, appropriate credit is given, any changes made indicated, and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/.

ORCID iDs

Michaela James http://orcid.org/0000-0001-7047-0049 Elizabeth Anne Ellins http://orcid.org/0000-0001-5164-6416

James M, et al. Open Heart 2019;6:e001147. doi:10.1136/openhrt-2019-001147

Cardiac risk factors and prevention

Open Heart:

first

published

as

10.1136/openhrt-2019-001147 on

28

October

r 2019.

Downloaded from http://openheart.bmj.com/

on May

27, 2020 at BVA. Protected by copyright

REFERENCES

- REFERENCES
 Lloyd-Jones D, Adams RJ, Brown TM, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics--2010 update: a report from the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 2010;121:e46–215.
 McMurray RG. Insights into physical activity and cardiovascular disease risk in young children: IDEFICS study. *BMC Med* 2013;11:173.
- 2013;11:173.
 30 Oliveira-Santos J, Santos R, Moreira C, et al. Associations betwee anthropometric indicators in early life and low-grade inflammation, insulin resistance and lipid profile in adolescence. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 2019;2783-92.
 4 Donald AE, Charakida M, Falaschetti E, et al. Determinants of Donald AE, Charakida M, Falaschetti E, et al. Determinants of
- vascular phenotype in a large childhood population: the Avon longitudinal study of parents and children (ALSPAC). *Eur Heart J* 2010:31:1502-10
- 2010;31:1502-10. Owen CG, Whincup PH, Orfei L, et al. Is body mass index before middle age related to coronary heart disease risk in later life? Evidence from observational studies. *Int J Obes* 2009;33:866-77. Chartton R, Gravenor MB, Rees A, et al. Factors associated with low fitness in adolescents--a mixed methods study. *BMC Public Health* 5
- 2014;14:764-77.
- Brockman R. Jago R. Fox KR. et al. "Get off the sofa and go and 7 Brockman R, Jago R, Fox KR, et al. "Get off the sofa and go and play": family and socioeconomic influences on the physical activity of 10-11 year old children. BMC Public Health 2009;9:253–60.
 Li J, Slegrist J. Physical activity and risk of cardiovascular disease – a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2012;9:391–407.
 Owen MB, Curry WB, Kerner C, et al. The effectiveness of school-based objectal activiti intermetines for addressent sites. activity
- based physical activity interventions for adolescent girls; a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Prev Med* 2017;105:237-49. James M, Christian D, Scott S, *et al.* Active children through
- 10 James M, Christian D, Scott S, *et al.* Active children through individual vouchers – evaluation (active): protocol for a mixed method randomised control trial to increase physical activity levels teenagers. *BMC Public Health* 2018;18:1–8. Owen CG, Whincup PH, Gilg JA, *et al.* Effect of breast feeding in infancy on blood pressure in later life: systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ* 2003;327:1189–95.
- Labayen I, Ruiz JR, Ortega FB, et al. Exclusive breastfeeding 12 duration and cardiorespiratory fitness in children and adolescents. Am J Clin Nutr 2012;95:498–505.
- Brown A. Maternal trait personality and breastfeeding duration: the importance of confidence and social support. J Adv Nurs 2014;7:0587-98.
 Statistics for Wales. Welsh index of multiple deprivation 2011, 2011.
- Available: www.wales.gov.uk/statistics 15 Chirinos JA, Zambrano JP, Chakko S, et al. Aortic pressure
- augmentation predicts adverse cardiovascular events in patients with established coronary artery disease. *Hypertension* 2005;45:980–5. pat
- Storer L, Lambrick DM, Westrupp N, et al. Validation of Oscillometric pulse wave analysis measurements in children. Am J Hypertens 2014;27:865–72. 16
- 17 Pressure amplification in overweight/obese African- American

- adolescents: relation with higher systolic and pulse pressure. Am J Hypertens 2013:26:20-6.
- Hypertens 2013;2b:20–6.
 18 Bandyopadhyay A. Validity of Cooper's 12-minute run test for estimation of maximum oxygen uptake in male university students. *Biol Sport* 2015;32:59–63.
- 19
- Biol Sport 2015;32:59–63. Calders P, Deforche B, Verschelde S, et al. Predictors of 6-minute walk test and 12-minute walk/run test in obese children and adolescents. Eur J Pecilatr 2008;167:563–8. The Administrative Data Liaison Service (ADLS). The Secure Anonymised Information Linkage Databank (SAIL) [Internet], 2017. Available: http://www.adls.ac.uk/find-administrative-data/linked-administrative data likutes of administrative indetection. 20
- administrative-data/linkage-of-administrative-datasets/ Lyons RA, Jones KH, John G, et al. The SAIL databank: linking 21 nultiple health and social care datasets. BMC Med Inform D Mak 2009-9-3
- 22
- Mak 2009;9:3. Barclay KJ. Birth order and educational attainment: evidence from fully adopted sibling groups. Intelligence 2015;48:109–22. Gillison F, Sebire S, Standage M. What motivates girls to take up exercise during adolescence? learning from those who succeed. Br J Health Psychol 2012;17:536–50. Hallal PC, Andersen LB, Bull FC, et al. Global physical activity levels: surveillance progress, pitfalls, and prospects. Lancet 2012;380:247–57 23 24
- 2012:380:247-57.
- 2012;300:241-57. Cooper AR, Goodman A, Page AS, et al. Objectively measured physical activity and sedentary time in youth: the International children's accelerometry database (ICAD). Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act Control Co 25
- children's accelerometry database (ICAD). Int J Behav Nutr Phys 2015;12.
 Kirchengast S. Gender differences in body composition from childhood to old age: an evolutionary point of view. J Life Sci 2010;2:1–10.
 Jago R, Edwards NJ, Sebire SJ, et al. Bristol girls dance project (PCDP) wertbeen for a children renderinged controlled trial for a relation. 26
- (BGDP): protocol for a cluster randomised controlled trial of an after-school dance programme to increase physical activity among 11–12 year old girls. *BMC Public Health* 2013;13:1003–19. Murphy NM, Ni Dhuinn M, Browne PA, et al. Physical activity
- 28 Murphy NM, Ni Dhuinn M, Browne PA, et al. Physical activity for bone health in inactive teenang girls: is a supervised, teacher-led program or self-led program best? J Adolesc Health 2006;39:508–14. Okely AD, Lubans DR, Morgan PJ, et al. Promoting physical activity among adolescent girls: the girls in sport group randomized trial. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2017;14:1–13. Morgan K, Hallingberg B, Littlecott H, et al. Predictors of physical activity and sedentary behaviours among 11–16 vear olds: multilevel 29
- 30 activity and sedentary behaviours among 11-16 year olds: multilevel analysis of the 2013 health behaviour in school-aged children (HBSC) study in Wales. *BMC Public Health* 2016;16:569. Wales S. Sport and active lifestyles: state of the nation, 2018. 31
- Wates S. Sport and active lifestyles: state of the nation, 2018.
 Der PHP, Hillsdon M. Is sedentary behaviour just physical inactivity by another name ? 2017: 1-8.
 Lubans DR, Boreham CA, Kelly P, et al. The relationship between active travel to school and health-related fitness in children and adolescents: a systematic review. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2011;ef: 6 adolescents: a systematic review. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2011;8:5. Sterdt E, Liersch S, Walter U. Correlates of physical activity of
- children and adolescents: a systematic review of reviews. *Health Educ J* 2014;73:72–89.

James M. et al. Open Heart 2019:6:e001147. doi:10.1136/openhrt-2019-001147